# PRODUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC EMBRYOS USING CHEMICAL ACTIVATION OF OOCYTES IN MURINE, BOVINE AND CAPRINE SPECIES

# SITI KHADIJAH BINTI IDRIS

# FACULTY OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2014

## PRODUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC EMBRYOS USING CHEMICAL ACTIVATION OF OOCYTES IN MURINE, BOVINE AND CAPRINE SPECIES

SITI KHADIJAH BINTI IDRIS

DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENT FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

> INSTITUTE OF BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES FACULTY OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

> > 2014

#### UNIVERSITI MALAYA

#### **ORIGINAL LITERARY WORK DECLARATION**

Name of Candidate	: SITI KHADIJAH BINTI IDRIS
Registration/Matric No.	: SGR 090101
Name of Degree	: MASTER OF SCIENCE
Title of Dissertation/Thesis (this Work)	: PRODUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC EMBRYOS USING CHEMICAL ACTIVATION OF OOCYTES IN MURINE, BOVINE AND CAPRINE SPECIES
Field of Study	: ANIMAL REPRODUCTIVE BIOTECHNOLOGY
I do solemnly and sincerely declare that:	
<ol> <li>I am the sole author/writer of this Work;</li> <li>This Work is original;</li> <li>Any use of any work in which copyright exists was done by way of fair dealing and for permitted purposes a any excerpt or extract from, or reference to or reproduction of any copyright work has been disclosed express and sufficiently and the title of the Work and its authorship have been acknowledged in this Work;</li> <li>I do not have any actual knowledge nor do I ought reasonably to know that the making of this work constitu an infringement of any copyright work;</li> <li>I hereby assign all and every rights in the copyright to this Work to the University of Malaya ("UM"), whenceforth shall be owner of the copyright in this Work and that any reproduction or use in any form or by a means whatsoever is prohibited without the written consent of UM having been first had and obtained;</li> <li>I am fully aware that if in the course of making this Work I have infringed any copyright whether intentiona or otherwise, I may be subject to legal action or any other action as may be determined by UM.</li> </ol>	
Subscribed and solemnly declared before,	
Witness''s Signature:	Date:
Name Designation :	

Name Designation :

Witness''s Signature:

Date:

#### ABSTRACT

Since the crucial step in successful nuclear transfer protocols is the activation of recipient oocytes, incomplete oocyte activation may result in inability of pronuclear formation which leads to unsuccessful nuclear transfer. Therefore, it is important to establish an optimal method to activate caprine oocytes in order to proceed to the next step of cloning technique. The main aims of this study were to produce and evaluate the embryonic development of parthenogenetic murine, bovine and caprine embryos using various activation chemicals either by single or combination treatments as well as to evaluate the effect of post-hCG duration (in murine) and IVM duration (in caprine) on the subsequent parthenote development.

In Experiment 1, the effects of the different combinations of activation chemical on the production of parthenogenetic murine embryos as model animals were studied. Four different groups were compared which are: Group 1 was to evaluate the optimal SrCl<sub>2</sub> concentration (2, 4, 6, 8 and 10 mM) + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB; Group 2 was to evaluate the optimal duration incubation in 10 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> (1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 hours) + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB; Group 3 was to compare the optimal combination agent (6-DMAP, CHX and CB) + 5  $\mu$ M A23187; and Group 4 was to compare the optimal concentration of EtOH (7, 8 and 9%) + 2 mM 6-DMAP. Generally, the results showed that treatment of murine oocytes in combination of 10 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB for 3 hours was significantly (P<0.05) the highest when compared to the optimal treatments from each group.

In Experiment 2, even though there was insignificant difference (P>0.05) in the percent of murine oocytes with polar body between two groups of post-hCG duration  $[70.69\pm1.04\% (13-15 \text{ hours}) \text{ vs. } 70.08\pm1.05\% (16-18 \text{ hours})]$ , 13-15 hours duration gave

significantly (P<0.05) the highest embryonic development at all stages [81.90 $\pm$ 1.53% vs. 76.41 $\pm$ 1.64% (2-cell); 67.87 $\pm$ 2.02% vs. 60.20 $\pm$ 1.92% (4-cell); 55.50 $\pm$ 2.25% vs. 48.37 $\pm$ 1.96% (8-cell); 43.68 $\pm$ 2.42% vs. 35.19 $\pm$ 2.01% (morula); and 34.36 $\pm$ 2.34% vs. 26.04 $\pm$ 1.88% (blastocyst), respectively] compared to those of 16-18 hours duration.

In Experiment 3, bovine was used as a model species of livestock animals and the effect of different combinations of activation chemical was evaluated. There were five treatments evaluated in this experiment included Treatment 1: A23187 + 6-DMAP; Treatment 2: Iono + 6-DMAP; Treatment 3: EtOH + 6-DMAP; Treatment 4: Iono + CHX; and Treatment 5: IVF control. Generally, there was no significant difference (P>0.05) in all treatments. However, treatment with combination of 10  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (4 hours) gave the highest embryonic cleavage rates compared to the other combination treatments.

In Experiment 4, effect of different combinations of activation chemical on the production of parthenogenetic caprine embryos obtained from LOPU procedure was studied. No significant difference (P>0.05) was observed in the comparison of activation by single chemical (Iono vs. A23187). For the activation by combination treatments, four group of combinations were evaluated included Group 1: 5  $\mu$ M A23187 + 2 mM 6-DMAP (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours); Group 2: 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 2 mM 6-DMAP (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours); Group 3: 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 10  $\mu$ g/ml CHX (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours); and Group 4: 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours). There were insignificant differences (P>0.05) when comparing the parthenote development from the optimal treatments in each group with IVF control. However, treatment with 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 2 mM 6-DMAP for 6 hours exhibited the highest cleavage (96.15±3.85%) and blastocyst (35.00±13.72%) rates. Cleavage rates from 8-cell to blastocyst were significantly higher (P<0.05) than IVF control.

In Experiment 5, two groups of IVM duration was compared (18-21 vs. 22-25 hours) for LOPU-derived oocytes. At 18-21 hours IVM duration, Grade D oocytes showed significantly lower (P>0.05) in maturation rate compared to Grades A and B oocytes. Similarly, at 22-25 hours IVM duration, the maturation rates of Grades A and B oocytes were significantly higher (P<0.05) than Grade D oocytes. In addition, maturation rate of Grades A and B oocytes from group of 18-21 hours IVM was significantly higher (P<0.05) than Grade D oocytes from 22-25 hours IVM group. No differences (P>0.05) were observed in cleavage and blastocyst rates for all oocyte grades from Group 18-21 hours IVM duration. In contrast, at 22-25 hours IVM duration, cleavage rate of Grade C oocytes was significantly lower (P<0.05) than Grade D oocytes (84.75±4.73% vs. 96.15±3.85%, respectively), whereas blastocyst rate of Grade A oocytes was significantly higher (P<0.05) than Grade D oocytes (23.22±6.36% vs. 7.69±5.21%, respectively).

In conclusion, for murine study, combination of 10 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB for 3 hours is the optimal way to produce parthenogenetic murine embryos and duration of 13-15 hours post-hCG injection was found to be a better choice to give higher percentage of oocytes with polar body and subsequent parthenote development. As for bovine study, treatment with combination of 10  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (4 hours) was the optimal method to produce parthenogenetic bovine embryos. As for caprine species, combination of 10  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (6 hours) is the optimal protocol to produce parthenogenetic caprine embryos and duration of 18-21 hours IVM is a better choice to give higher percentage in maturation rate and subsequent parthenote development. These findings are useful to be considered in future experiments involving nuclear transfer protocols and other advanced reproductive technologies in mammalian species.

#### ABSTRAK

Oleh kerana langkah penting dalam protokol pemindahan nukleus yang berjaya adalah pengaktifan oosit penerima, pengaktifan oosit yang tidak lengkap boleh mengakibatkan ketidakupayaan pembentukan pronukleus yang membawa kepada kegagalan pemindahan nukleus. Oleh itu, adalah penting untuk mewujudkan satu kaedah optimum untuk mengaktifkan oosit kaprin bagi meneruskan langkah teknik pengklonan. Matlamat utama kajian ini adalah untuk menghasilkan serta menilai perkembangan embrio murin, bovin dan kaprin secara aktivasi partenogenetik dengan menggunakan pelbagai kimia pengaktifan sama ada dengan perlakuan tunggal atau gabungan serta menilai kesan tempoh pasca-hCG (dalam murin) dan tempoh IVM (dalam kaprin) ke atas perkembangan partenot.

Dalam Eksperimen 1, untuk mengkaji kesan kombinasi kimia pengaktifan yang berlainan ke atas penghasilan embrio murin secara aktivasi partenogenetik sebagai model haiwan, empat kumpulan yang berbeza telah dibandingkan. Kumpulan 1 adalah untuk menilai kepekatan SrCl<sub>2</sub> yang optimum (2, 4, 6, 8 dan 10 mM) + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB; Kumpulan 2 adalah untuk menilai tempoh pengeraman dalam 10 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> yang optimum (1, 2, 3, 4 dan 5 jam) + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB; Kumpulan 3 adalah untuk membandingkan kimia gabungan yang optimum (6-DMAP, CHX dan CB) + 5  $\mu$ M A23187; dan Kumpulan 4 adalah untuk membandingkan kepekatan EtOH yang optimum (7, 8 dan 9%) + 2 mM 6-DMAP. Secara umumnya, hasil kajian menunjukkan bahawa perlakuan oosit murin dengan gabungan 10 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> + 5  $\mu$ g / ml CB untuk 3 jam adalah berbeza dengan signifikan (P<0.05) apabila di bandingkan dengan perlakuan terbaik dari setiap kumpulan.

Dalam Eksperimen 2, walaupun tiada perbezaan (P>0.05) dalam peratus oosit yang mempunyai jasad kutub antara dua kumpulan tempoh pasca-hCG [70.69 $\pm$ 1.04% (13-15 jam) vs. 70.08 $\pm$ 1.05% (16-18 jam)], tempoh 13-15 jam pasca-hCG menunjukkan perbezaan yang signifikan (P<0.05) di semua peringkat pembahagian embrio [81.90 $\pm$ 1.53% vs. 76.41 $\pm$ 1.64% (2-sel); 67.87 $\pm$ 2.02% vs. 60.20 $\pm$ 1.92% (4-sel); 55.50 $\pm$ 2.25% vs. 48.37 $\pm$ 1.96% (8-sel); 43.68 $\pm$ 2.42% vs. 35.19 $\pm$ 2.01% (morula); and 34.36 $\pm$ 2.34% vs. 26.04 $\pm$ 1.88% (blastosis), masing-masing] daripada Kumpulan 16-18 jam pasca-hCG.

Dalam Eksperimen 3, bovin telah digunakan sebagai rujukan untuk haiwan ternakan dan kesan kombinasi bahan kimia pengaktifan yang berlainan telah dinilai. Terdapat lima perlakuan dinilai dalam eksperimen ini temasuk Perlakuan 1: A23187 + 6-DMAP; Perlakuan 2: Iono + 6-DMAP; Perlakuan 3: EtOH + 6-DMAP; Perlakuan 4: Iono + CHX; dan Perlakuan 5: IVF sebagai kawalan. Secara umumnya, tiada perbezaan yang signifikan (P>0.05) diperhatikan dalam semua perlakuan. Walau bagaimanapun, perlakuan dengan gabungan 10  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minit) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (4 jam) memberikan peratusan pembahagian embrio tertinggi berbanding kombinasi perlakuan lain.

Dalam Eksperimen 4, kesan kombinasi kimia pengaktifan yang berlainan ke atas penghasilan embrio kaprin secara aktivasi partenogenetik telah dikaji. Tiada perbezaan (P>0.05) diperhatikan dalam perbandingan pengaktifan secara tunggal (Iono vs. A23187). Untuk pengaktifan dengan rawatan gabungan, empat kumpulan telah dinilai termasuk Kumpulan 1: 5  $\mu$ M A23187 + 2 mM 6-DMAP (3, 4, 5 dan 6 jam); Kumpulan 2: 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 2 mM 6-DMAP (3, 4, 5 dan 6 jam); Kumpulan 3: 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 10  $\mu$ g / ml CHX (3, 4, 5 dan 6 jam); dan Kumpulan 4: 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 5  $\mu$ g / ml CB (3, 4, 5 dan 6 jam). Tiada perbezaan (P>0.05) apabila perkembangan partenot daripada rawatan yang terbaik dalam

setiap kumpulan dibandingkan dengan kawalan IVF. Walaubagaimanapun, rawatan dengan 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 2 mM 6-DMAP selama 6 jam menunjukkan peratusan 2-sel (96.15±3.85%) dan blastosis (35.00±13.72%) tertinggi. Kadar pembahagian embrio dari 8-sel hingga blastosis adalah berbeza dengan signifikan (P<0.05) daripada kawalan IVF.

Dalam Eksperimen 5, terdapat dua kumpulan tempoh IVM dibandingkan (18-21 vs. 22-25 jam) bagi oosit LOPU. Pada 18-21 jam tempoh IVM, oosit Gred D menunjukkan perbezaan yang signifikan (P>0.05) dalam kadar kematangan oosit berbanding oosit Gred A dan B. begitu juga pada 22-25 jam tempoh IVM, kadar kematangan oosit Gred A dan B adalah berbeza dengan ketara (P<0.05) daripada oosit Gred D. Tiada perbezaan (P>0.05) dalam peratusan 2-sel dan blastosis untuk semua gred oosit dari Kumpulan 18-21 jam IVM. Sebaliknya, pada 22-25 jam tempoh IVM, peratusan 2-sel Gred C oosit adalah rendah (P<0.05) daripada Gred D oosit (84.75±4.73% vs. 96.15±3.85%, masing-masing) manakala peratusan blastosis Gred A oosit adalah tinggi (P<0.05) daripada Gred D oosit (23.22±6.36% vs. 7.69±5.21%, masing-masing).

Kesimpulannya, dalam kajian murin, gabungan 10 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB selama 3 jam adalah kaedah yang optimum untuk menghasilkan embrio kaprin secara aktivasi partenogenetik dan tempoh 13-15 jam suntikan pasca-hCG adalah pilihan terbaik untuk memberikan peratusan oosit dengan jasad kutub yang tinggi serta perkembangan partenot berikutnya. Untuk kajian bovin, perlakuan dengan gabungan 10  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minit) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (4 jam) adalah kaedah yang optimum untuk menghasilkan embrio bovin secara aktivasi partenogenetik. Dalam kajian kaprin, perlakuan dengan gabungan 10  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minit) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (6 jam) adalah kaedah yang optimum untuk menghasilkan embrio kaprin secara aktivasi partenogenetik dan tempoh 18-21 jam adalah pilihan terbaik untuk menghasilkan kadar kematangan yang tinggi serta perkembangan partenot berikutnya. Penemuan ini adalah berguna untuk dipertimbangkan dalam eksperimen di masa hadapan yang melibatkan protokol pemindahan nukleus serta teknologi pembiakan mamalia yang lain.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, thank you Allah for granting me a chance and ability to allow me pursue my study and successfully complete this research.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest appreciation and sincerest gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Dr. Wan Khadijah Embong and my cosupervisor Professor Dr. Ramli Abdullah for their encouragement, guidance, genuine support and supervision throughout this study, from the initial to the final step, which enabled me to develop a high quality of understanding with their knowledge, experience, patience and valuable advices in order to helped me finish this study to attribute the level of my Master''s degree. Most importantly, I appreciate their physical and moral supports in performing laparoscopic ooocyte pick-up (LOPU) surgeries with their excellent skill and experiences throughout this research. Without this provided support, this thesis would not have been completed or written.

I am also very grateful to Dr. Mukesh Kumar Gupta, who have taught me hands-on practical for one week and it really benefits and helps me in solving all the laboratory issues that I face during my Master<sup>\*\*</sup>s candidature. His patience, advices, encouragement, knowledge and guidance has ensured the success of this project.

I would like to express a million thanks and sincere appreciation to all Animal Biotechnology-Embryo Laboratory (ABEL) members for sharing their knowledge and suggestion as well as providing constant help, excellent advice and supportive ideas despite of their tight schedules during the whole course of this work. I would like to offer my special thanks to all ABEL members namely Mr. Parani Baya, Dr. Mohammad Mijanur Rahman, Dr. Kwong Phek Jin, Mrs. Azietul Ashikin Abdul Aziz, Mrs. Nor Farizah Abdul Hamid, Ms. Asdiana Amri, Ms. Kong Sow Chan, Ms. Soh Hui Hui, Ms. Goh Siew Ying, Ms. Tan Wei Lun, Dr. Nor Fadilah Awang, Mr. Mohamad Nizam Abdul Rashid, Mr. Shahrulzaman Shaharuddin, Mr. Rokibur Rahman, Mrs. Raja Ili Raja Khalif and Mr. Xiao Zhi Chao for sweet and unforgettable memories which inspire me and lighten up the atmosphere in ABEL during my difficult moment.

I am also profoundly indebted to ISB Mini Farm staffs especially Mr. Razali Jonit, Mr. Mohd Nor Azman Mat Nong, Mr. Jamaludin Alias and Mr. Ravichandran s/o K. Gopalan for their support, inspiration, assistance and co-operation particularly during the surgery preparation.

I would like to acknowledge Institute of Biological Sciences (ISB), Faculty of Science, Institute of Graduate Studies (IPS), Research, Management and Monitoring (IPPP) and University of Malaya (UM) to allow me to pursue Master's Degree in Science and provide me a scholarship as well as funding my research experiments (PPP Research Grant: PS293/2010A) throughout the study duration.

Lastly, I am greatly indebted to my parents, husband, sisters, brothers and I offer my regards, blessings and love to them, who supported me in various aspects throughout this work and my study at University Malaya with their assistance, advice, support, encouragement, motivation, love and understanding, particularly during my laboratory research works and dissertation writing-up. Without them this study would never have been possible. This dissertation is dedicated to my 2 years old beloved son, Rayyan Safwan.

#### LIST OF PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS

#### **Publications**

**Siti Khadijah I.,** R. B. Abdullah, W. E. Wan Khadijah and M. M. Rahman. 2013. Comparison between Different Combinations of Chemical Treatments on Parthenogenetic Activation of Mouse Oocytes and Its Subsequent Embryonic Development. Manuscript submitted to Molecular Reproduction and Development. Animal Cells and Systems. 17(3): 196-202. (ISI publication)

#### **Conferences (Poster Presentations)**

**Siti Khadijah, I.,** W. E. Wan Khadijah and R. B. Abdullah. 2010. Production of Parthenogenetic Murine Embryos by Chemical Activation of Oocytes. Proceedings of the 31<sup>st</sup> Malaysian Society of Animal Production (MSAP). June 6-8. Kota Bharu, Kelantan, Malaysia. pp. 182-183.

**Siti Khadijah, I.,** W. E. Wan Khadijah and R. B. Abdullah. 2010. Effect of Oocytes Quality on the Chemical Activated Caprine Oocytes. Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> Asian Reproductive Biotechnology Society (ARBS). November 8-10. Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. pp. 37.

**Siti Khadijah, I.,** W. E. Wan Khadijah and R. B. Abdullah. 2011. Production of Parthenogenetic Caprine Embryos from Different Activation Chemicals. Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> Asian Reproductive Biotechnology Society (ARBS). October, 25-28. Guangxi, China. pp. 117.

W. E. W. Khadijah, **I., Siti Khadijah** and R. B. Abdullah. 2012. Comparison of the embryonic development of parthenogenetic caprine oocytes activated using various single and combination treatments. Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> Asian Reproductive Biotechnology Society (ARBS). October, 23-26. Manila, Philippines. pp. 54.

W. E. Wan Khadijah, I., Siti Khadijah and R. B. Abdullah. 2012. Comparison between single and combined chemical treatments of parthenogenetic activated caprine LOPU oocytes and its subsequent embryonic development. Proceedings of the 15<sup>th</sup> Asian Australation Animal Production (AAAP) Animal Science Congress. November, 26-30. Bangkok, Thailand. pp. 467.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Cont	tents	Page
DEC	LARATION	ii
ABS	TRACT	iii
ABS	TRAK	vi
ACK	INOWLEDGEMENTS	Х
LIST	OF PUBLICATION AND PRESENTATIONS	xii
TAB	LE OF CONTENTS	xiii
LIST	OF TABLES	xxiii
LIST	OF FIGURES	xxvi
LIST	OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS	xxix
LIST	OF APPENDIX TABLES	XXXV
LIST	OF APPENDIX FIGURES	xxxvii
СНА	PTERS	
Chaj	pter 1	1-7
1.0	INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	BACKGROUND	1
1.2	JUSTIFICATION OF THE STUDY	3
1.3	SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY	4
1.4	OBJECTIVES OF STUDY	6

Char	oter 2	8-64
2.0	REVIEW OF LITERATURE	8
2.1	HISTORICAL BACKGROUND	8
2.2	MILESTONE OF PARTHENOGENETIC ACTIVATION	9
2.3	OESTRUS SYNCHRONISATION AND SUPEROVULATION	16
	2.3.1 Oestrus Synchronisation	16
	2.3.2 Ovarian Superovulation	17
	2.3.2.1 Factors influencing superovulation	18
	2.3.2.1 (a) Donor breed/strain	19
	2.3.2.1 (b) <i>Age</i>	19
	2.3.2.1 (c) Weight and nutrition	20
	2.3.2.1 (d) Dosage of hormonal treatment	20
	2.3.2.1 (e) Timing of hormonal injection	21
	2.3.3 Adverse Effect of Superovulation	22
2.4	RECOVERY OF OOCYTES	23
	2.4.1 Laparoscopic Oocytes Pick-up (LOPU)	24
	2.4.2 Abattoir-derived Oocytes	24
2.5		26
2.5	IN VITRO MATURATION (IVM)	
	2.5.1 Events in Oocytes Maturation	27
	2.5.2 Factors Affecting IVM	28
	2.5.2.1 Donor age	29
	2.5.2.2 Follicle size and oocyte diameter	30
	2.5.2.3 IVM duration	32

	2.5.2.4 IVM culture media	33
2.6	OOCYTE ACTIVATION	36
	2.6.1 Normal Fertilisation	36
	2.6.2 Parthenogenetic Activation	39
	2.6.3 Mechanism of Oocyte Activation	41
	2.6.3.1 Biochemical changes during oocyte activation	42
	2.6.3.2 Morphological changes during oocyte activation	46
	2.6.4 Types of Artificial Oocyte Activation	50
	2.6.4.1 Chemical activation	51
	2.6.4.2 Electroactivation	55
	2.6.4.3 Mechanical activation	56
	2.6.5 Constraints in Artificial Activation	56
2.7	IN VITRO CULTURE (IVC)	57
	2.7.1 Donor Strains	58
	2.7.2 In Vitro Culture Media	58
	2.7.3 In Vitro Culture System	60
	2.7.3.1 Temperature	61
	2.7.3.2 pH	61
	2.7.3.3 Water quality	62
	2.7.3.4 Osmolarity	63
	2.7.3.5 Volume of the culture medium and embryo density	63
	2.7.3.6 Superovulation quality	63
		(5.100

### Chapter 3

65-128

3.0	MATERIALS AND METHODS	65
3.1	GENERAL INTRODUCTION	65
3.2	MATERIALS	65
	3.2.1 Facilities	65
	3.2.2 Experimental Animals	66
	3.2.3 Equipment and Instruments	67
	3.2.4 Labwares, Glasswares and Disposable Materials	67
	3.2.5 Chemicals, Reagents and Media	68
3.3	METHODS	68
	3.3.1 Preparation of Ambience for a Successful <i>In Vitro</i> Production (IVP)	68
	3.3.1.1 Water quality	69
	3.3.1.2 Air quality	69
	3.3.1.3 General cleanliness and sterilisation of research laboratory	70
	3.3.1.4 Maintenance of carbon dioxide (CO <sub>2</sub> ) incubator	71
	3.3.1.5 Mineral oil and silicone oil	72
	3.3.2 Preparation of Hormone	73
	3.3.2.1 Preparation of pregnant mare"s serum gonadotrophin (PMSG)	73
	3.3.2.2 Preparation of human chorionic gonodotrophin (hCG)	74
	3.3.2.3 Preparation of ovidrel	74
	3.3.3 Preparation of Stock Solutions and Media	75
	3.3.3.1 Preparation of stocks and media for murine samples	76
	3.3.3.1 (a) Preparation of modified hepes Whitten's medium (HWM) stock solution	76
	3.3.3.1 (b) Preparation of modified Whitten's medium (WM) stock solution	77

3.3.3.1 (c) Preparation of Chatot, Ziomek and Bavier (CZB) $Ca^{2+}$ free activation medium	78
3.3.3.1 (d) Preparation of parthenogenetic activation medium	79
3.3.3.1 (d) (i) Preparation of cytochalasin B (CB) stock solution	79
3.3.3.1 (d) (ii) Preparation of strontium chloride (SrCl <sub>2</sub> ) stock solution	80
3.3.3.1 (d) (iii) Preparation of calcium ionophore (A23187) stock solution	81
3.3.3.1 (d) (iv) Preparation of ethanol (EtOH) stock solution	81
3.3.3.1 (d) (v) Preparation of 6-dimethylaminopurine (6-DMAP) stock solution	82
3.3.3.1 (d) (vi) Preparation of cycloheximide (CHX) stock solution	82
3.3.3.2 Preparation of stocks and media for caprine and bovine samples	83
3.3.3.2 (a) Preparation of normal saline	83
3.3.3.1 (b) Preparation of flushing medium for laparoscopic oocyte pick-up (LOPU)	83
3.3.3.2 (c) Preparation of ovary collection medium	84
3.3.3.2 (d) Preparation of ovary slicing medium	85
3.3.3.2 (e) Preparation of in vitro maturation (IVM) medium	86
3.3.3.2 (e) (i) Preparation of TCM-pyruvate stock	87
3.3.3.2 (e) (ii) Preparation of bFSH stock	87
3.3.3.2 (e) (iii) Preparation of gentamicin stock	87
3.3.3.2 (e) (iv) Preparation of $17\beta$ -oestradiol stock	88
3.3.3.2 (e) (v) Preparation of foetal bovine serum (FBS) stock	88
3.3.3.2 (e) (vi) Preparation of oestrus goat serum (OGS) stock	88
3.3.3.2 (f) Preparation of hyaluronidase solution	89
3.3.3.2 (g) Preparation of potassium simplex optimisation medium (KSOM) stock solution	90
3.3.3.2 (h) Preparation of parthenogenetic activation medium	91
3.3.3.2 (h) (i) Preparation of calcium ionophore (A23187) stock solution	91

3.3.3.2 (h) (ii) Preparation of ionomycin (Iono) stock solution	91
3.3.3.2 (h) (iii) Preparation of ethanol (EtOH) stock solution	92
3.3.3.2 (h) (iv) Preparation of 6-dimethylaminopurine (6-DMAP) stock solution	92
3.3.3.2 (h) (v) Preparation of cycloheximide (CHX) stock solution	92
3.3.3.2 (h) (vi) Preparation of cytochalasin B (CB) stock solution	92
3.3.3.2 (i) Preparation of sperm capacitation medium (Sp-TALP) stock solution	93
3.3.3.2 (j) Preparation of in vitro fertilisation medium (IVF-TALP) stock solution	94
3.3.4 Preparation of Microtools and Accessories	95
3.3.4.1 Preparation of mouth-controlled pipette	95
3.3.4.2 Preparation of glass Pasteur pipettes	96
3.3.5 Experimental Procedures	97
3.3.5.1 Procedures in murine species	97
3.3.5.1 (a) Superovulation of female murine as oocytes donor	97
3.3.5.1 (b) Oocytes retrieval and collection in murine	98
3.3.5.1 (c) Activation of murine oocytes	100
3.3.5.1 (c) (i) Activation of murine oocytes by $SrCl_2$ and CB in CZB $Ca^{2+}$ free medium	100
3.3.5.1 (c) (ii) Activation of murine oocytes by A23187and 6-DMAP	100
3.3.5.1 (c) (iii) Activation of murine oocytes by A23187 and CHX	100
3.3.5.1 (c) (iv) Activation of murine oocytes by A23187 and CB	101
3.3.5.1 (c) (v) Activation of murine oocytes by EtOH and 6-DMAP	101
3.3.5.1 (d) In vitro culture (IVC) of activated murine oocytes	102
3.3.5.2 Procedures in caprine and bovine species	102
3.3.5.2 (a) Caprine oocytes retrieval through laparoscopic oocytes pick up (LOPU)	103
3.3.5.2 (a) (i) Oestrus synchronisation and superovulation of caprine donor	103

3.3.5.2 (a) (ii) <i>Pre-LOPU preparation and anaesthetisation of caprine donor</i>	105
3.3.5.1 (a) (iii) Preparation and setting up of surgical instruments, aspiration-flushing system, CO <sub>2</sub> insufflator, light system and imaging device for LOPU	106
3.3.5.2 (a) (iv) Disinfection surgical skin area of caprine donor	109
3.3.5.2 (a) (v) Procedure during LOPU commencement	110
3.3.5.2 (a) (vi) Post-LOPU management	113
3.3.5.2 (b) Bovine oocytes from abattoir-derived ovaries	113
3.3.5.2 (b) (i) <i>Ovary slicing</i>	114
3.3.5.2 (c) <i>Caprine/bovine oocytes grading</i>	115
3.3.5.2 (d) In vitro maturation (IVM) procedure in caprine/bovine	116
oocytes 3.3.5.2 (e) Cumulus oocyte complexes (COCs) denuding	116
3.3.5.2 (f) Activation of caprine/bovine oocytes	117
3.3.5.2 (f) (i) Activation of caprine oocytes by A23187or Iono	117
3.3.5.2 (f) (ii) Activation of caprine/bovine oocytes by A23187 and 6- DMAP	117
3.3.5.2 (f) (iii) Activation of caprine/bovine oocytes by Iono and 6- DMAP	118
3.3.5.2 (f) (iv) Activation of caprine/bovine oocytes by Iono and CHX	118
3.3.5.2 (f) (v) Activation of caprine oocytes by Iono and CB	119
3.3.5.2 (f) (vi) Activation of bovine oocytes by EtOH and 6-DMAP	119
3.3.5.2 (g) In vitro fertilisation (IVF) of caprine/bovine oocytes	120
3.3.5.2 (g) (i) Sperm capacitation	120
3.3.5.2 (g) (ii) Preparation of oocytes for IVF	121
3.3.5.2 (g) (iii) Insemination process of caprine/bovine	121
3.3.5.2 (h) In vitro culture (IVC) of activated and in vitro fertilised caprine/bovine embryos	122
3.3.5.3 Hoechst Staining of Parthenotes	122

# 3.4 EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN

	3.4.1	Effect of Different Combinations of Activation Chemical on the Production of Parthenogenetic Murine Embryos as Model Animals (Experiment 1)	123
	3.4.2	Effect of Post-hCG Duration on the Production of Murine Oocytes and its Subsequent Parthenote Development (Experiment 2)	124
	3.4.3	Effect of Different Combinations of Activation Chemical on the Production of Parthenogenetic Bovine Embryos as a Model Species of Livestock Animals (Experiment 3)	124
	3.4.4	Effect of Different Combinations of Activation Chemical on the Production of Parthenogenetic Caprine Embryos (Experiment 4)	125
	3.4.5	Effect of <i>In Vitro</i> Maturation (IVM) Duration on the Production of Caprine Oocytes and its Subsequent Parthenote Development (Experiment 5)	126
3.5	STAT	ISTICAL ANALYSIS	126
Chapt	er 4		129-164
4.0	RESU	LTS	129
4.1	CHEM	CT OF DIFFERENT COMBINATIONS OF ACTIVATION MICAL ON THE PRODUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC NE EMBRYOS AS MODEL ANIMALS (EXPERIMENT 1)	129
4.2	MURI	CT OF POST-hCG DURATION ON THE PRODUCTION OF NE OOCYTES AND ITS SUBSEQUENT PARTHENOTE LOPMENT (EXPERIMENT 2)	138
4.3	CHEM BOVI	CT OF DIFFERENT COMBINATIONS OF ACTIVATION MICAL ON THE PRODUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC NE EMBRYOS AS A REFERENCE TO LIVESTOCK TALS (EXPERIMENT 3)	140
4.4	CHEM	CT OF DIFFERENT COMBINATIONS OF ACTIVATION MICAL ON THE PRODUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC INE EMBRYOS (EXPERIMENT 4)	147
4.5	THE	CT OF <i>IN VITRO</i> MATURATION (IVM) DURATION ON PRODUCTION OF CAPRINE OOCYTES AND ITS EQUENT PARTHENOTE DEVELOPMENT (EXPERIMENT	162

xx

123

Chapt	ter 5	165-201
5.0	DISCUSSION	165
5.1	EFFECT OF DIFFERENT COMBINATIONS OF ACTIVATION CHEMICAL ON THE PRODUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC MURINE EMBRYOS AS MODEL ANIMALS (EXPERIMENT 1)	165
5.2	EFFECT OF POST-hCG DURATION ON THE PRODUCTION OF MURINE OOCYTES AND ITS SUBSEQUENT PARTHENOTE DEVELOPMENT (EXPERIMENT 2)	172
5.3	EFFECT OF DIFFERENT COMBINATIONS OF ACTIVATION CHEMICAL ON THE PRODUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC BOVINE EMBRYOS AS A REFERENCE OF LIVESTOCK ANIMALS (EXPERIMENT 3)	176
5.4	EFFECT OF DIFFERENT COMBINATIONS OF ACTIVATION CHEMICAL ON THE PRODUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC CAPRINE EMBRYOS (EXPERIMENT 4)	180
5.5	EFFECT OF <i>IN VITRO</i> MATURATION (IVM) DURATION THE PRODUCTION OF CAPRINE OOCYTES AND ITS SUBSEQUENT PARTHENOTES DEVELOPMENT (EXPERIMENT 5)	190
5.6	GENERAL DISCUSSION	194
	5.6.1 Summary of Significant Findings	195
	5.6.2 Oestrus Synchronisation and Superovulation	195
	5.6.3 Oocyte Quality	197
	5.6.4 In Vitro Culture (IVC) System	197
	5.6.5 Constraints of the Studies	199
	5.6.5.1 Skill attainment	199
	5.6.5.2 Facilities	199
	5.6.5.3 Source of oocytes	200
	5.6.5.4 Embryo developmental arrest	200
	5.6.6 Future Directions	200

Cha	apter 6	202-203
6.0	CONCLUSION	202
RE	FERENCES	204-244
AP	PENDICES	245-306
	APPENDIX 1: LIST OF MATERIALS	245
	APPENDIX 2: SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES	250
	APPENDIX 3: STATISTICAL DATA	252
	APPENDIX 4: LIST OF PROCEEDINGS & ISI PUBLICATION	293

## LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
2.1	Timelines for the significant findings of parthenogenetic activation in murine species	9
2.2	Timelines for the significant findings of parthenogenetic activation in bovine species	12
2.3	Timelines for the significant findings of parthenogenetic activation in caprine species	13
2.4	Timelines for the significant findings of parthenogenetic activation in various animal species	14
2.5	Types of artificial oocyte activation methods and reported cases in clinical research. Adapted from Yanagida <i>et al.</i> (2008)	40
3.1	Composition of modified HWM stock solution	76
3.2	Composition of modified HWM working solution	77
3.3	Composition of modified WM stock solution	77
3.4	Composition of modified WM working solution	78
3.5	Composition of CZB Ca <sup>2+</sup> free activation medium stock	79
3.6	Composition of CZB-Ca <sup>2+</sup> free working solution	81
3.7	Composition of normal saline	83
3.8	Composition of flushing medium	84
3.9	Composition of ovary collection medium	84
3.10	Composition of TL-Hepes stock solution	85
3.11	Composition of TL-Hepes working solution	86
3.12	Composition of IVM medium	86
3.13	Composition of hyaluronidase stock solution	89
3.14	Composition of hyaluronidase working solution (0.1%)	89

3.15	Composition of KSOM stock solution	90
3.16	Composition of KSOM working solution	91
3.17	Composition of Sp-TALP stock solution	93
3.18	Composition of Sp-TALP working solution	93
3.19	Composition of IVF-TALP stock solution	94
3.20	Composition of IVF-TALP working solution	95
3.21	Oocyte grading based on cumulus cell layers and cytoplasm uniformity	115
4. 1	Number and percentages of oocytes obtained through oviduct oocytes retrieval	131
4.2	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of murine parthenotes after activation by using five different concentrations of SrCl <sub>2</sub>	132
4.3	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of murine parthenotes after activation by using five different incubation durations of $SrCl_2$	133
4.4	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of murine parthenotes after activation by using calcium ionophore (A23187), followed by different combination (6-DMAP, CHX or CB)	134
4.5	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of murine parthenotes after activation by using three different concentrations of ethanol followed by 6-DMAP	135
4.6	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of murine parthenotes between three best results of oocytes activation using SrCl <sub>2</sub> +CB, A23187+DMAP and EtOH+DMAP	136
4.7	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of murine parthenotes between two different post-hCG durations	139
4.8	Number and percentage of oocytes obtained from ovary slicing	142
4.9	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of bovine parthenotes after activation by various combination treatments	143
4.10	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of bovine parthenotes according to oocyte grades from every activation	144

protocols

4.11	Number and percentages of oocytes obtained from LOPU	151
4.12	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of caprine parthenotes after activation by a single chemical	152
4.13	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of caprine parthenotes after activation by combination treatment using 5 $\mu$ M A23187 (5 min) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours)	153
4.14	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of caprine parthenotes after activation by combination treatment using 10 $\mu$ M Iono (5 min) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours)	154
4.15	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of caprine parthenotes after activation by combination treatment using 10 $\mu$ M Iono (5 min) + 10 $\mu$ g/ml CHX (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours)	155
4.16	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of caprine parthenotes after activation by combination treatment using 10 $\mu$ M Iono (5 min) + 5 $\mu$ g/ml CB (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours)	156
4.17	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of caprine parthenotes after activation by various optimal combination treatments and IVF control	157
4.18	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of caprine parthenotes according to the oocyte grades regardless activation protocols	158
4.19	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of caprine parthenotes according to oocyte grades from the optimal activation protocol in each group	159
4.20	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> caprine parthenotes development at different IVM duration according to the grade of oocytes derived from LOPU	164

#### LIST OF FIGURES

#### Figure

- 2.1 The receptor models which suggested the binding and activation of a surface receptor coupled by either: (A) G-protein or (B) tyrosine kinase signal transduction pathway which activate phospholipase C (PLC) and production of inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP3). PIP2, phosphatidylinositol 4,5- biphosphate; DAG, diacylglycerol; IP3R, IP3 receptor. Adapted from Fissore *et al.* (2002a).
- 2.2 The mechanism of fusion/sperm factor theory where sperm 39 releases factor into oocyte cytoplasm, though the sperm factor is unknown. Adapted from Fissore *et al.* (2002a).
- 2.3 Cellular and molecular changes in mammalian oocytes that may underlie fragmentation or development arrest after activation or fertilisation. Adapted from Fissore *et al.* (2002b).
- 2.4 Schematic diagram illustrating the calcium-induced relief from metaphase II arrest and cell cycle resumption. The Ca2+-CaM-CamKII axis directly and thus rapidly activates APC (\*\*) and also promotes the degradation of CSF, a process with slower kinetics (\*). CSF degradation releases the inhibition of APC. Activated APC (APC+) promotes the degradation of Cyclin B and as a consequence, results in MPF deactivation. This culminates in the abolishment of MII arrest and resumption of the cell cycle. Adapted from Heytens *et al.* (2008).
- 2.5 Summary of the mammalian egg activation events. Small vertical arrows indicate the activity of effector increases or decreases to promote the pathway with which it is associated. New protein synthesis (Syn) results from the maternal mRNAs; anaphase promoting complex; PTase phosphate; MAPK, MAP kinase; MEK, MAPK kinase, 2nd PB, second polar body; PN, pronucleus, CG, cortical granule; CAMKII, calmodulin dependent protein kinase II; MPK, maturating protein factor. Synaptotagmin is a calcium-sensitive protein which regulates secretion in other cells. Adapted from Ducibella *et al.* (2002).

38

47

46

3.1	(a) Swollen ampulla at murine oviduct that contains cumulus oocyte complexes (COCs). (b) Cumulus oocyte complexes (COCs) which contain oocytes. (c) Naked oocyte with the presence of polar body.	99
3.2	A schematic diagram of the treatments performed on a donor caprine to synchronise oestrus cycle for LOPU.	104
3.3	(a) Controlled intravaginal drug releasing (CIDR) device, CIDR applicator, gloves and K-Y Jelly. (b) Insertion of CIDR. (c) Removal of CIDR.	105
3.4	(a) Flushing and aspiration system. (b) Light system and imaging device. (c) Surgical instrument that used for laparoscopic oocyte pick-up (LOPU).	109
3.5	LOPU commencement.	112
3.6	Caprine ovary observation through endoscopic camera system during LOPU.	112
3.7	Morphology of different grades of caprine oocytes based on the cumulus cells evaluation: (a) Grade A, (b) Grade B, (c) Grade C, (d) Grade D and (e) Grade E.	115
3.8	Flow chart of experimental design.	128
4.1	Pie chart of percentage of murine oocytes obtained through oviduct retreival.	131
4.2	Morphological changes of parthenogenetic murine embryos activated by 10 mM SrCl <sub>2</sub> + 5 $\mu$ g/ml CB in CZB Ca <sup>2+</sup> -free medium for 3 h at different cell stages at (a) 1-cell, (b) 2-cell, (c) 4-cell, (d) 8-cell, (e) morula, (f) expanding blastocyst, (g) fully expanded blastocyst, (h) hatching blastocyst and (i) hatched blastocyst stage.	137
4.3	Pie chart of percentage of bovine oocytes obtained from abattoir.	142
4.4	Activated bovine oocytes with polar body.	146
4.5	Parthenogenetic bovine embryos at: (a) 2-cell, (b) 4-cell, (c) 8-cell, (d) compacting morula and (e) early blastocyst.	146
4.6	Pie chart of percentage of caprine oocytes obtained from LOPU procedure.	151

- 4.7 Activated caprine oocytes with polar body. 161
- 4.8 Parthenogenetic caprine embryos at: (a) 2-cell, (b) 4-cell, (c) 8cell, (d) compacting morula, (e) fully expended blastocyst and (f) hatched blastocyst.

university

## LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

%	percentage
°C	degree Celcius
β	beta
μl	microlitre
μm	micrometer
μΜ	microMolar
μsec	microsecond
$(Ca^{2+})_i$	intracellular calcium
$[(Ca^{2+})_i]$	intracellular calcium concentration
6-DMAP	6-dimethylaminopurine
A23187	calcium ionophore A23187
ABEL	Animal Biotechnology-Embryo Laboratory
ABP	actin-binding proteins
AI	artificial insemination
AII	anaphase II
APC	anaphase promoting complex
ANOVA	analysis of variance
ARTs	assisted reproductive technologies
bFSH	bovine FSH
BME	basal medium eagle
BSA	bovine serum albumin
BSA-FAF	bovine serum albumin-fatty acid free
BSA-FV	bovine serum albumin-fraction V
Ca <sup>2+</sup>	calcium ion
CaCl <sub>2</sub>	calcium chloride
CaCl <sub>2</sub> .2H <sub>2</sub> O	calcium chloride dehydrate
CaMK II	calcium/calmodulin dependent protein kinase II
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CB	cytochalasin B
cdc2	gene that encode cdk
cdk	cyclin-dependent kinase 1

CG	corticol granule
CGE	cortical granule exocytosis
СНХ	cycloheximide
CIDR	controlled intravaginal drug release device
CL	corpus luteum
cm	centimeter
CO <sub>2</sub>	carbon dioxide
COCs	cumulus oocyte complexes
CSF	cytostatic factor
CZB	Chatot, Ziomek, Bavister medium
D-Glucose	Deoxy-Glucose
DAG	diacylglycerol
DMRT	Duncan's Multiple Range Tests
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DPBS	diphosphate buffered saline
e.g.	for example; exempli gratia
$E_2$	oestradiol
eCG	equine chorionic gonadotrophin
EDTA	ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid
EGTA	ethylene glycol tetraacetic acid
EMiL	Embryo Micromanipulation Laboratory
EP	electric pulse
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ESC	embryonic stem cell
ET	embryo transfer
EtOH	ethanol
et al.	et alii (and others)
F1	first generation
FBS	fetal bovine serum
FCS	fetal calf serum
FF	follicular fluid
FGA	fluorogestone acetate

FSH	follicle stimulating hormone
G	gauge (needle size)
g	Gravity
g	gramme
GV	germinal vesicle
GVBD	germinal vesicle breakdown
hCG	human chorionic ganadotrophin
hr	hour
HWM	Hepes Whitten's medium
i.e.	that is; <i>id est</i>
i.m.	intramuscular
i.p.	intraperitoneal
ICM	inner cell mass
ICSI	intracytoplasmic sperm injection
IFAP	filament-associated protein
Iono	ionomycin
IP <sub>3</sub>	inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate
IP <sub>3</sub> R	phosphatidylinositol 4,5-biphosphate
IPPP	Institute of Research Management and Monitoring
IPS	Institute of Postgraduate Studies
ISB	Institute of Biological Science
ISBMF	ISB Mini Farm
IU	international unit
IVC	<i>in vitro</i> culture
IVF	in vitro fertilisation
IVF-TALP	in vitro fertilisation-Tyrode-Albumin-Lactate-Pyruvate
IVM	in vitro maturation
IVP	in vitro production
KCl	potassium chloride
kDa	kilo Dalton
KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	potassium phosphate monobasic
KSOM	Potassium Simplex Optimisation Medium
kV	kiloVolt

L-Glutamine	(Left)-glutamine
LH	luteinising hormone
LN2	liquid nitrogen
LOPU	laparoscopic oocyte pick-up
Μ	molar
MI	metaphase I
MII	metaphase II
MAP	medroxyprogestrone acetate
MAP	microtubule associated proteins
МАРК	mitogen-activated protein kinase
mean±SEM	mean plus or minus standard error of means
MBP	myosin-binding protein
MEK 1	MAPK kinase
MEKK	MAPK kinase kinase
MEM	minimum essential medium
mg	milligramme
$Mg^{2+}$	magnesium ion
MgCl <sub>2</sub> .6H <sub>2</sub> O	magnesium chloride hexahydrate
$MgSO_4$	magnesium sulphate
MgSO <sub>4</sub> .7H <sub>2</sub> O	magnesium sulphate heptahydrate
min	minute
ml	millilitre
mm	millimeter
mM	millimolar
MOET	multiple ovulation and embryo transfer
mOsm	milliosmole
MPF	maturation promoting factor
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
MTOC	microtubule-organising centre
n	number
NaTuRe	Nuclear Transfer and Reprogramming Laboratory
Na <sub>2</sub> HPO <sub>4</sub>	sodium pyrophosphate

NaCl	sodium chloride
NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	sodium bicarbonate
NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub> .H <sub>2</sub> O	sodium phosphate monobasic monohydrate
Na lactate	sodium lactate
Na pyruvate	sodium pyruvate
NT	nuclear transfer
O <sub>2</sub>	oxygen
OAG	phorbol esters
OGS	oestrus goat serum
РА	parthenogenetic activation
PB	polar body
PBI	first polar body
PBII	second polar body
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PE	phorbol ester
pFSH	porcine follicle stimulating hormone
pН	hydrogen potential
$PGF_{2\alpha}$	prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$
PIP2	phosphatidylinositol 4,5- biphosphate
PLC	phospholipase C
PMSG	pregnant mare"s serum gonadotrophin
PNI	pronucleus I
PNII	pronucleus II
PVP	polyvinylpyrrolidone
RO	reverse osmosis
rpm	rotation per minute
SCNT	somatic cell nuclear transfer
SEM	standard error of means
SOF	Synthetic Oviductal Fluid
SPSS	Statistical Package for Social Science
sp-TALP	sperm-Tyrode-Albumin-Lactate-Pyruvate
SS	steer serum

	strontium ion
Sr <sup>2+</sup> SrCl <sub>2</sub>	strontium ion strontium chloride
TCM 199	tissue culture medium 199
TCM-Py	tissue culture media-pyruvate
TII	telophase II
UM	University of Malaya
UV	ultraviolet
VS.	versus
WM	Whitten's medium
ZP	zona pellucida

## LIST OF APPENDIX TABLES

Appendix Table		Page
1.1	List of equipment and instruments	245
1.2	List of labwares and disposable items	247
1.3	List of chemicals, reagents and media	248
3.1	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of murine parthenotes after activation by using five different concentrations of $SrCl_2$	252
3.2	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of murine parthenotes after activation by using five different incubation durations of $SrCl_2$	254
3.3	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of murine parthenotes after activation by using calcium ionophore (A23187), followed by different combination (6-DMAP, CHX or CB)	256
3.4	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of murine parthenotes after activation by using three different concentrations of ethanol followed by 6-DMAP	258
3.5	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of parthenotes between three best results of oocytes activation using SrCl <sub>2</sub> +CB, CaI+DMAP and EtOH+DMAP	260
3.6	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of murine parthenotes between two different post-hCG durations	263
3.7	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of bovine parthenotes after activation by various combination treatments	265
3.8	Comparison of <i>in vitro</i> embryonic development of bovine parthenotes according to oocyte grades from every activation protocols	267
3.9 Comparison of in vitro embryonic development of caprine 273 parthenotes after activation by a single chemical 3.10 Comparison of in vitro embryonic development of caprine 274 parthenotes after activation by combination treatment using 5 µM A23187 (5 min) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours)3.11 Comparison of in vitro embryonic development of caprine 276 parthenotes after activation by combination treatment using 10  $\mu$ M Iono (5 min) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours) 3.12 Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of caprine 278 parthenotes after activation by combination treatment using 10  $\mu$ M Iono (5 min) + 10  $\mu$ g/ml CHX (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours) 3.13 Comparison of in vitro embryonic development of caprine 280 parthenotes after activation by combination treatment using 10  $\mu$ M Iono (5 min) + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours) 3.14 Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of caprine 282 parthenotes after activation by various optimal combination treatments and IVF control 3.15 Comparison of in vitro embryonic development of caprine 285 parthenotes according to oocyte grades from the optimal activation protocol in each group 3.16 Comparison of in vitro caprine parthenotes development at 290 different IVM durations according to the grade of oocytes derived from LOPU

## LIST OF APPENDIX FIGURES

#### Appendix Page Figure Superovulation of murine via i.p. injection. 2.1 250 Reproductive tract of murine. 2.2 250 (a) Bovine ovaries from abattoir. (b) Equipment needed for 2.3 251 ovary slicing. (c) Technique of ovary slicing (checkerboard). 4.1 Proceeding"s poster of 31st MSAP Annual Conference 2010. 293 Abstract of 31st MSAP Annual Conference 2010. 4.2 295 Proceeding"s poster of 7<sup>th</sup> ARBS Annual Conference 2010. 4.3 296 Abstract of 7<sup>th</sup> ARBS Annual Conference 2010. 4.4 297 Proceeding"s poster of 8<sup>th</sup> ARBS Annual Conference 2011. 4.5 298 Abstract of 8<sup>th</sup> ARBS Annual Conference 2011. 4.6 299 Proceeding"s poster of 9<sup>th</sup> ARBS Annual Conference 2012. 4.7 300 Abstract of 9<sup>th</sup> ARBS Annual Conference 2012. 4.8 301 Proceeding"s poster of 15<sup>th</sup> AAAP Annual Conference 2012. 4.9 302 Abstract of 15<sup>th</sup> AAAP Annual Conference 2012. 4.10 303 ISI publication: Animal Cells and Systems. 17(3): 196-202. 4.11 304

Chapter 1

**1.0 INTRODUCTION** 

#### Chapter 1

#### **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

## 1.1 BACKGROUND

Domestic animals, such as caprine, bovine, ovine and porcine undergo infertility or subfertility which results in reducing the number of offspring produced as well as lowering their economic productivity. Consequently, a lot of research activities have been focused worldwide on understanding the related reproductive processes and developing various assisted reproductive technologies (ARTs) to increase the reproductive efficiency of animals

Modern techniques of bioengineering of farm animals involve microinsemination; recombination of DNA; *in vitro* manipulation (Hafez and Hafez, 2000) of gametes and embryos such as *in vitro* maturation (IVM), *in vitro* fertilisation (IVF) and *in vitro* culture (IVC), which collectively known as *in vitro* production (IVP); intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI); cryopreservation of sperm, oocytes as well as embryos; parthenogenetic activation (PA); embryo transfer (ET); nuclear transfer (NT); gene transfer as well as intraand interspecies cloning and stem cell research.

In the process of normal fertilisation, interaction between a sperm cell and an oocyte triggers off a series of morphological and biochemical transformations, known as oocyte activation. The key fertilisation mechanism is a calcium signal as observed in most animal species. Several minutes after the penetration of a sperm cell into an oocyte, a quick and transitory drawing occurs from intracellular reserve of calcium. This is the calcium collected in endoplasmic reticulum (although extracellular calcium can also be used to supplement the reserve), thus enabling continuation of the calcium signal (Tosti *et al.*, 2002). The activation of oocytes leads to meiosis resumption and extrusion of the second

polar body into the perivitalline space. Consequently, male and female pronuclei are formed, DNA synthesis begins and embryonic cleavage is initiated (Grabeic *et al.*, 2007).

In contrast, parthenogenesis is the resumption of meiosis without sperm penetration into the ooplasm of oocytes (absence of sperm), which later results in formation of zygotes. The mechanism of parthenogenetic activation in oocytes is triggered by oscillation of intracellular free-calcium concentration and destruction of maturation promoting factor (MPF), resulting in activation of oocytes, similar as in normal fertilisation (Presicce and Yang, 1994b).

Parthenogenesis is the production of an embryo from a female gamete without the involvement of a male gamete and with or without eventual development into an adult (Beatty, 1957). This process is related to exogenous hormonal administration by controlling the ovulatory process and oocyte retrieval from donor ovaries before activating and culturing the parthenogenotes in appropriate culture media (Beatty, 1957).

In the metaphase stage of the second meiotic stage (MII), mammalian oocytes were arrested until fertilisation or artificial activation occurred (Fissore *et al.*, 2002a). As normal fertilisation by sperm cell or artificial activation took place, oocytes were being activated. Oocyte activation occurs when oocyte exits MII and oocyte starts to divide until it reaches embryonic development (Fissore *et al.*, 2002a. During activation, the oocyte would undergo a series of biochemical transformation and morphological changes (Navarro *et al.*, 2005).

There are three main methods of oocyte activation, which are by chemical activation, electrical activation and physical activation (Liu *et al.*, 1998b; Meo *et al.*, 2004). The activation by chemical can be by using ethanol (EtOH), calcium ionophore (A23187), ionomycin (Iono), strontium chloride (SrCl<sub>2</sub>), 6-dimetylaminopurine (6-

DMAP), cytochalasin B (CB) and cycloheximide (CHX) which can be used in order to induce embryonic development artificially. Electrical activation also plays the same role, such as using electrofusing pulse set, similar as in cloning protocol. As for physical activation, oocytes were being exposed to heat treatment or Sham injection to trigger the process of parthenogenesis.

## **1.2 JUSTIFICATION OF THE STUDY**

The present research was undertaken to produce caprine embryos by parthenogenetic activation method to induce the oocytes and subsequently form embryos. However, the literature on activation protocols for caprine oocytes is scarce; therefore, this study was carried out to increase the basic parthenogenetic information as well as its application in this species. Murine model was used for learning curve because abundant murine oocytes are easily obtained and the murine management is simple compared to larger animals. Bovine oocytes obtained from abattoir were also used for comparison in parthenogenesis between the two ruminant species of livestock.

Several parthenogenetic protocols are normally used to activate the oocytes to produce pre-implantation embryos. It has been reported that different parthenogenetic activation treatments will result in different effects on the oocytes, thus affecting efficiency of pronuclear formation, cleavage rate and embryo size. The activation of oocytes depends on superovulation protocols such as types of hormone used and the duration between gonadotrophin treatment and oocytes retrieval. Aged oocytes are more prone to activation by each method of activation than younger oocytes, and some even underwent spontaneous activation without treatment and exhibited pronuclear formation and blastocyst development. The methods of oocytes activation by parthenogenesis in this study, as recommended in the literature, involved various chemicals as activation agent, different activation protocol which was either single or combined activation as well as control in each activation protocol. The detailed approach of caprine oocytes activation by parthenogenesis involved considering the screening process of maturation, morphology of oocytes, testing on chemical treatments as well as the observation of subsequent embryonic development *in vitro* during the pre-implantation stage. These factors were often observed in producing embryos while carrying out the *in vitro* production of embryos.

## **1.3 SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY**

A phenomenon of parthenogenesis plays an important role in the production of large numbers of individual species in the case of unsuitable conditions or absence of male sex, in the production of oocytes to be used for many research experiments as well as in the aid for the assisted reproductive technologies (ARTs). Oocytes activation plays a crucial role and was also considered as key step in most assisted reproductive technologies, such as intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) and somatic cell nuclear transfer (SCNT) (Tian *et al.*, 2006; Meo *et. al.*, 2007; Heindryckx *et al.*, 2008).

Thus, parthenogenesis helps to provide more knowledge on oocyte activation by providing a greater understanding on the vital molecular components and morphological changes during the early stage of the activation of oocytes (Liu *et al.*, 1998b) as well as knowledge on the natural fertilisation. The changes and abnormalities during the spontaneous activation mechanisms and the entire chemical and the physical changes of the oocytes during the early stages of the embryonic development can also be observed and examined (Inoue *et al.*, 2008). This valuable information would help to overcome the

limitation of cloning in nuclear transfer, besides increasing the efficiency of cloning in the nuclear transfer programme (Liu *et al.*, 1998a; Meo *et al.*, 2004). This is because, for successful nuclear transfer in cloning to be possible, full activation of the cytoplast in the recipient was required which was hardly achievable in nuclear transfer alone to induce sufficient activation for oocytes (Liu *et al.*, 1998a; Kishikawa *et al.*, 1999). Besides, parthenogenetic activation could also provide better understanding in spontaneous activating mechanism.

Furthermore, since parthenogenetic embryos were easier to produce in high numbers compared to cloned embryos (De Sousa *et al.*, 2002) or *in vitro* fertilised embryos (Kikuchi *et al.*, 2002; Yoshioka *et al.*, 2003), therefore parthenogenetic embryos which were artificially activated could be used in co-transfer experiments such as establishment of pregnancies in studies of somatic cell nuclear transfer (Fahrudin *et al.*, 2000). Moreover, reviewed studies showed that parthenogenetic activation combined with assisted reproductive technologies, including ICSI can help in pregnancies and the subsequent deliveries (Tejera *et al.*, 2008).

It was also reported that embryos produced by parthenogenetic activation could also be further used in cloning techniques, as well as in the production of embryonic stem cell (ESC) lines (Cevik *et al.*, 2009). In order to enhance the study on certain aspects in embryonic development, oocytes which were parthenogenetically activated could be used as a model (Liu *et al.*, 2002a). To date, parthenogenesis was used as tool for the production of stem cells, whereby stem cell lines were established via parthenogenesis (Winnerger, 2004). Since, oocytes which were artificially activated only have maternal genes in the cytoplasm, thus it acts as a very valuable tool in genomic imprinting studies (Liu *et al.*, 2002a; Meo *et al.*, 2007). Because of all the functions of the artificial parthenogenesis, and how it is important to search for the optimum protocol, this study was conducted in order to obtain the best conditions for artificial activation protocols which later will provide the efficient results that can be used to improve the assisted reproductive techniques and other clinical and research purposes.

## **1.4 OBJECTIVES OF STUDY**

The main objective of this study was to produce caprine embryos *in vitro* by parthenogenetic activation of oocytes. The specific objectives are shown as below:

- a) To develop activation protocol for production of murine embryos by parthenogenesis as a learning curve.
- b) To determine the effects of different activation protocols on the parthenogenetic murine oocytes and its subsequent *in vitro* embryonic development.
- c) To determine the effect of post-hCG duration on the *in vitro* embryonic development of murine after parthenogenesis.
- d) To develop activation protocol for production of bovine embryos *in vitro* by parthenogenetic activation of oocytes as a model species of livestock animals.
- e) To determine the effects of different activation protocols on the parthenogenetic bovine oocytes and its subsequent *in vitro* embryonic development.
- f) To develop activation protocol for production of caprine embryos *in vitro* by parthenogenetic activation of oocytes.

- g) To determine the effects of different activation protocols on the parthenogenetic caprine oocytes and its subsequent *in vitro* embryonic development.
- h) To determine the effect of IVM duration on the *in vitro* embryonic development of caprine after parthenogenesis.

university

Chapter 2

2.0 REVIEW OF LITERATURE

#### Chapter 2

## 2.0 **REVIEW OF LITRATURE**

## 2.1 HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Parthenogenesis occurs naturally in some invertebrates and vertebrates animal species and it has been induced artificially in some fishes and amphibians. The beginning of venture of the parthenogenesis phenomenon was as early as 16<sup>th</sup> century in the 1690s by a Dutch biologist, where Anton van Leeuwenhoek who was the first to discovered parthenogenesis in the female aphids where it reproduced with absence of males. In the 1700s, Charles Bonnet, a Swiss naturalist discovered that aphids could be reproducing parthenogenetically following the finding of Anton van Leeuwenhoek (Mount and List, 1994). Moreover, observation on natural parthenogenesis which occurs on *Bombyx mori* also leads to the high interest in artificial study of artificial parthenogenesis. Later then in 1847, a French author, Bousier stated that he managed to obtained caterpillars when he laid eggs under the sunlight. His ideas later on lead to many further investigations on the possibilities of temperature as a factor of artificial parthenogenesis (Loeb, 1913).

Even so, in 1899, Jacques Loeb was the one who managed to achieved and accomplished a clear case in artificial parthenogenesis, where he puncture an unfertilised frog eggs with a needle, subsequently found that some embryonic development occurred. Later in the 19<sup>th</sup> century, the first parthenogenetically mammalian birth was engineered by Gregory Goodwin Pincus from United State where he activated the rabbit eggs by manipulating the temperature treatments in 1930s (Winnerger, 2004). Following the finding, in 1950s, he activated rabbit eggs by harvesting ovum from a female rabbit, then fertilised with hormones and salt solution *in vitro* and subsequently implanted the fertilised

ovum in the rabbit's uterus. The egg developed into an embryo and later formed foetus (Mount and List, 1994).

The molecular events that lead to oocyte activation has been studied extensively in invertebrates, amphibians and murine, which subsequently lead to the activation models involving the increased of intracellular calcium transients (Winnerger, 2004). Various activation agents have been applied to activate mammalian oocytes during the cloning of sheep, goats, pigs, cattle, and mice. However, activation protocols must be optimised for use in each species (Krivokharchenko *et al.*, 2003) as different species has different specific effect on the different kind of chemicals. Parthenogenetic activation of murine oocytes *in vivo* was first reported using ether anaesthesia (Braden and Austin, 1954a) followed by heat shock treatment (Braden and Austin, 1954b) and later on by electric stimulation of the oviduct (Tarkowski *et al.*, 1970; Witkowska, 1973). In the other hand, the first *in vitro* induction of murine oocytes artificially was done using hyaluronidase (Graham, 1970; Kaufman, 1973) and later trial was done by filtrates of sperm suspensions (Kaufman, 1973) as well as heat shock (Komar, 1973).

## 2.2 MILESTONE OF PARTHENOGENETIC ACTIVATION

**Table 2.1:** Timelines for the significant findings of parthenogenetic activation in murine species

Year	Author	Significant finding
1954a	Braden and Austin	First <i>in vivo</i> parthenogenetic activation using ether anaesthesia
1954b	Braden and Austin	First <i>in vivo</i> parthenogenetic activation using heat shock treatment

1970	Graham	First in vitro induction artificially using hyaluronidase	
1970	Tarkowski <i>et al</i> .	First <i>in vivo</i> parthenogenetic activation using electrical stimulation of the oviduct	
1973	Kaufman	First <i>in vitro</i> induction artificially using filtrates of sperm suspensions	
1973	Komar	First in vitro induction artificially using heat shock	
1973	Witkowska	First <i>in vivo</i> parthenogenetic activation using electrica stimulation of the oviduct	
1975	Kaufman	Oocyte activated using avertin anaesthesia	
1978	Siracusa <i>et al</i> .	Activation response increases progressively with th concentration of protein synthesis inhibitors (CHX more than 70%	
1995b	Jones <i>et al</i> .	Fertilisation of CHX-treated oocytes revealed that continuous $Ca^{2+}$ oscillations in response to sperm were observed after nuclear envelope breakdown but no during interphase which suggests that the ability of the sperm to trigger repetitive $Ca^{2+}$ transients in oocytes is modulated in a cell cycle-dependent manner	
1996	Moos <i>et al</i> .	Effects CHX-induced activation of mouse eggs or cdc2/cyclin B and MAPK activities	
1996	Uranga <i>et al</i> .	Blastocyst rate of oocytes treated with A23187 + phorbol esters (OAG) significantly higher (42.1%) compared to treatment with A23187 (32.3%) or OAC (17.7%)	
2002	Tong <i>et al</i> .	Egg activation by CHX + A23187 was suppressed by okadaic acid which partially reversed MAPK dephosphorylation	
2004	Winnerger	Establishment of stem cell lines via parthenogenesis	
2005	Navarro <i>et al.</i>	Study on spindle dynamics during mammalian oocyte	

2006	Rogers et al.	Absence of a Ca <sup>2+</sup> signal not affect in parthenogenetic events, but influence later g expression and development as blastocyst CI activated embryos have a smaller ICM number ar greater rate of apoptosis than Sr <sup>2+</sup> -activated embryos
2007	Kishigami and Wakayama	Addition of 2 mM EGTA with 5 mM $SrCl_2$ in C M16 or KSOM activate more 80% oocytes compare in $Ca^{2+}$ -free medium
2007	Wang <i>et al</i> .	Treatment of oocytes with 10 mM $SrCl_2$ for 6 ho was the best condition for activation as well as in development of mouse somatic cell cloned embr (blastocyst rate: 76.9%)
2008	Ju <i>et al</i> .	ESC line establishment rate was higher fr parthenogenetically activated oocytes (15.7%) to nuclear transferred (4.3%) or sham-manipula oocytes (12.5%)
2008	Roh <i>et al</i> .	Microtube culture system enhances the in w development of parthenogenetic murine embractivated by 10 mM SrCl <sub>2</sub> with 5 $\mu$ g/mL CB in C free CZB for 5 hours with blastocyst rate 54.1% 39.9% in droplet culture
2009	Xing <i>et al</i> .	Parthenogenetic mouse ESC line was confirm propagated in an undifferentiated state for more than passages and maintained a diploid karyotype to be u for autologous stem cell therapy
2012	Cheng <i>et al</i> .	Culturing oocytes in CZB medium indu spontaneous activation in F1 hybrid oocytes wh indicates a dominant trait from C57BL/6

Year	Author	Significant finding	
1995	Landa and Kopeeny	DNA synthesis and distribution in parthenoenetic bovine embryos by <sup>3</sup> H-thymidine autoradiography	
1996	White and Yue	Study of intracellular receptors and agents that induc activation in bovine oocytes showed that IP <sub>3</sub> receptor plays a role in early events associated with activation is bovine oocytes	
1998	Lechniak et al.	Cytogenetic analysis of 24 bovine parthenotes after spontaneous activation revealed that 62.5% exhibited a normal, diploid chromosome complement, wherea 37.5% had various ploidy anomalies	
1998a	Liu <i>et al</i> .	Effects of protein phosphorylation inhibitor using calcium ionophore and combination treatment with 6 DMAP towards histone H1 kinase and MAPR activities	
1999	Chung	The cleavage rate of sham-injected control oocyte treated with Iono + 6-DMAP six times higher that oocytes treated with Iono alone (44.3 vs. 7.4%)	
2000	Suttner <i>et al</i> .	Highest activation rates of ICSI bovine oocytes wa obtained after treatment with Iono + 6-DMAP	
2003	Galli <i>et al</i> .	Blastocyst rate of dithiothreitol-ICSI embryos wer higher than Iono + CHX-ICSI embryos (24.3 vs 16.7%)	
2004	Meo <i>et al</i> .	Combination of EtOH + $SrCl_2$ and $SrCl_2$ + EtOF resulted in similar pronuclear formation (36.7-83.9% vs. 53.1-90.3%) and cleavage rates (31.3-81.3% vs 65.6-80.7%) respectively	
2005	Oikawa <i>et al</i> .	Pregnancy and birth rates for blastocysts of boving embryos derived from the EtOH activation treatment (58.8 and 47.4%) were significantly higher than those of the Iono + 6-DMAP treatment (12.5 and 9.2%)	
2006	Bhak <i>et al</i> .	Blastocyst rate of Iono + 6-DMAP treated SCN bovine embryos were greater that Iono + CHX SCN embryos (16.3% vs. 13.1%)	
		(continue	

Table 2.2: Timelines for the significant findings of parthened	genetic activation in bovine
species	

(contin	ued)	
2007	Talbot <i>et al</i> .	Comparative analysis of embryos created <i>in vivo</i> and by IVF, SCNT or PA in the establishment of a bovine blastocyst-derived cell line
2008	Wang <i>et al</i> .	Study of apoptosis in bovine parthenotes showed that EtOH + CHX + CB treatment (7.0%) significantly lower blastocyst apoptosis index compared to Iono + 6- DAMP treatment (9.1%)
2008	Hosseini <i>et al.</i>	Exposure of bovine oocytes to CaI + 6-DMAP or ET + SrCl <sub>2</sub> + 6-DMAP were found as the optimal artificial activation protocol for <i>in vitro</i> development for activation protocol in cloning procedure
2009	Abdalla <i>et al</i> .	ICSI oocytes activated with Iono + EtOH improved the blastocyst yield (29-30%) compared with that of non-treated oocytes (12%)
2009	Cevik <i>et al</i> .	Compare the effect of parthenogenetic activation and <i>in vitro</i> fertilisation of <i>in vitro</i> matured oocytes
2009	Hou <i>et al</i> .	Clevage and blastocyst rate of parthenogenetic vitrified-warmed bovine oocytes were optimal with 9% EtOH + 6-DMAP treatment (61.1 and 30.6%)
2010	Bevacqua <i>et al</i> .	Transgene expression rates were higher when ICSI- mediated gene transfer embryo were treated with Iono + 6-DMAP, Iono + Iono + 6-DMAP and Iono + SrCl <sub>2</sub>

**Table 2.3:** Timelines for the significant findings of parthenogenetic activation in caprine species

Year	Author	Significant finding
2001	Ongeri <i>et al.</i>	Blastocyst development of embryos treated in Iono + 6- DMAP and EtOH + 6-DMAP id greater compared to IVF embryos (28.5, 27.4 and 10.3 %) respectively
2005	Jimenez-Macedo et al.	Prepubertal goat oocytes needed additional chemical stimulation (5 $\mu$ M Iono for 5 minutes and 2 mM 6-DMAP for 4 hours) after conventional ICSI, to form zygotes with male and female pronuclei (2PN)

(continued)

	,	
2006	Shen <i>et al</i> .	Cleavage rate of the NT-embryos activated with 2.33 kV/cm EP + 6-DMAP was greater than that activated with 1.67 kV/cm EP + 6-DMAP ( $65.6\%$ vs. 19.6\%)
2011	Akshey et al.	Treatment of donor cells with roscovitine significantly increased the blastocyst rate and EP activation improves the production of handmade cloned goat embryos
2012	De et al.	Significant increase in cleavage rate and blastocyst yield when oocytes were activated by EP (76.29 and 19.07% respectively) than when A23187 was used for activation (63.45 and 14.09% respectively)
2012	Jena <i>et al</i> .	Cloned and parthenogenetic caprine embryonic development was higher in the RVCL medium in a comparison of embryo development in different culture media
2012	Kharche <i>et al</i> .	Activation of <i>in vitro</i> matured oocytes by 7% ethanol for 5 minutes in KSOM is most favorable for parthenogenetic caprine embryos production (cleavage rate: 40.32% and morula rate: 8.28%)

# **Table 2.4:** Timelines for the significant findings of parthenogenetic activation in various animal species

Year	Author	Species	Significant finding
1690	Leeuwenhoek	Aphid	First to discover parthenogenesis in female aphids
1899	Loeb	Sea urchin	Found embryonic occurrence in unfertilised eggs
1930	Pincus	Rabbit	First parthenogenetically mammalian birth by activating the eggs in manipulating temperature treatments
1950	Pincus	Rabbit	Activated eggs, fertilised with hormones and salt solution and implanted the fertilised ovum in uterus where egg developed into embryo and foetus

/	. •	1
1001	atin	110dl
тсон		ued)
(001		acaj

1990	Whitaker and Patel	Sea urchin	Oocyte activation was triggered by release of calcium ion
1992	Iwamatsu	Medaka	Influence of calcium in oocytes activation which were activated by sperm cell and artificial activation
1995	Hoshi <i>et al</i> .	Human	First pregnancy in ICSI using A23187 as treatment for oocyte activation
1997	Simili <i>et al.</i>	Chinese hamster	6-DMAP inhibition of early cell cycle events and induction of mitotic abnormalities
2002a	Liu <i>et al</i> .	Rabbit	Parthenogenetic activation using A23187, ethanol and thimerosal
2002	Takeuchi et al.	Rat	Study on the effect of Ca <sup>2+</sup> and Mg <sup>2+</sup> -free culture condition on spontaneous first cleavage in oocytes
2004	Gasparrini et. al	Buffalo	Aging negatively affects post-parthenogenetic (18-30 hours IVM) and post-fertilisation (18- 30 hours IVM) development
2005	Yin <i>et al</i> .	Pig	Parthenogenetic activation in oocytes using A23187
2007	Lee et al.	Dog	Oocytes treated with 5 mM Ca-EDTA for 48 hours or 1 mM Ca-EDTA for 72 hours formed a parthenogenetic pronucleus
2008	Koh <i>et al</i> .	Crayfish	Parthenogenesis-derived multipotents stems cells adapted for tissue engineering applications
2008	Mishra <i>et al</i> .	Buffalo	Compare the effect of parthenogenetic activation and <i>in vitro</i> fertilised of oocytes
2008	Varga <i>et al</i> .	Pig	Parthenogenetic development of <i>in vitro</i> matured oocytes treated with chemical agents
2008	Wani	Camel	Protocol for chemical activation of dromedary camel oocytes was optimised with Iono + 6- DMAP combination
			(continued)

(continued)				
2010	Bebbere <i>et al</i> .	Sheep	Study indicates that oocyte parthenogenetic activation does not impair <i>in vitro</i> pre- implantation development to the blastocyst stage, but affects the gene expression status of the embryo after the activation of its own genome	

## 2.3 OESTRUS SYNCHRONISATION AND SUPEROVULATION

Oestrus synchronisation and superovulation is a crucial component of all the ARTprotocols and has a major influence in the overall efficiencies of these programmes (Baldassarre and Karatzas, 2004). In small ruminants (e.g., caprine), induction and synchronisation of oestrus is usually achieved by insertion of progesterone-impregnated intravaginal devices combined with an injection of a luteolytic dose of prostaglandin (Holtz *et al.*, 2008). In murine, the pheromone phenomenon (odour of a male) was to stimulate the oestrous cycle and to synchonise the females in high percentage on the third day of pairing (Whitten, 1956). Superovulation was normally carried out through exogenous gonadotrophin treatment.

## 2.3.1 Oestrus Synchronisation

Exogenous progesterone or progestagen is a fundamental part of all superovulation protocols in small ruminants. These protocols enable the reliable timing of oestrus as well as producing increased numbers of follicles or embryos which are necessary for many assisted reproductive technologies (ARTs) (Ayres *et al.*, 2012). In most superovulation protocols, exogenous progesterone are used to control oestrus in combination with prostaglandin  $F_{2\alpha}$  (PGF<sub>2\alpha</sub>), while FSH is used to increase the number of follicles that ovulate (Baldassarre and Karatzas, 2004; Gonzalez-Bulnes *et al.*, 2004). A single injection

of an appropriate dose (Greyling and Van Niekerk, 1986; Corteel and Leboeuf, 1990) of  $PGF_{2\alpha}$  or one of its analogues is effective in inducing luteolysis. The exogenous progesterone supplements and replaces the endogenous progesterone that is normally produced by the corpus luteum (CL). Naturally occurring CL are then lysed by the administration of  $PGF_{2\alpha}$ , leaving only the exogenous source of progesterone which can then be removed at a precise interval, relative to the administration of follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) (Cognie, 1999; Gonzalez-Bulnes *et al.*, 2004).

There are several types of exogenous sources of progesterone including intravaginal sponges containing fluorogestone acetate (FGA) (Freitas *et al.*, 1997; Leboeuf *et al.*, 2003) or medroxyprogestrone acetate (MAP) (Fonseca *et al.*, 2005), subcutaneous implants containing norgestomet (such as ear/tail implants-Synchromate B, Crestar) (Freitas *et al.*, 1997) and controlled internal drug releasing devices containing progesterone (CIDR<sup>®</sup>-Eazi-breed) (Whitley and Jackson, 2004). Protocols using these exogenous sources of progesterone combined with FSH have then been successfully utilised by many researchers and breeders.

## 2.3.2 Ovarian Superovulation

The basis of superovulation is by manipulating the hormones which are associated with dominant follicle development, as well as regression of subordinate follicles (Meyers-Brown *et al.*, 2010). The action of FSH and luteinizing hormone (LH) on oocyte follicle can be stimulated by superovulation using exogenous gonadotrophin (Martin-Coello *et al.*, 2008).

The action of exogenous gonadotrophin is it helps to promote multiple follicle growth in a single cycle (Liu *et al.*, 2010). Studies shows that gonadotrophins hormones such as equine chorionic gonadotrophin (eCG), pregnant mare"s serum gonadotrophin (PMSG) and human chorionic gonadotrophin (hCG) can be administered during superovulation (Fowler and Edwards, 1957).

In caprine, superovulatory treatment typically consists of a combination of oestrus cycle control with an elevated dose of a gonadotropin, to induce the ovary to release more than the usual number of oocytes. FSH usually of porcine origin (pFSH), proved to be more efficacious than eCG (Armstrong *et al.*, 1983; Mahmood *et al.*, 1991; and Nowshari *et al.*, 1992), provided it contains an appropriate admixture of LH. Nowshari *et al.* (1995) proved that LH content in the range of 40% does not only provide the best superovulatory response but also superior embryo viability. Similarly as in caprine, in murine, superovulation is performed by administering exogenous gonadotrophin in order to obtain a large amount of fertilisable eggs (Vergara *et al.*, 1997).

PMSG is commonly used for superovulation because it is easy to be obtained, easy to used, effective and inexpensive (Goulding *et al.*, 1996). In addition, PMSG also has long half-life especially in bovine. The benefit of long half-life is it triggers extra follicular growth during the first follicular wave after ovulation (Goulding *et al.*, 1996). hCG hormone is also commonly being administered during superovulation since it induces ovulation and oestrus (Fowler and Edwards, 1957). Combination of two hormones such as PMSG/hCG and PMSG/LH are used to induce superovulation where hormonal treatments are found successful especially on rodent species (Martin-Coello *et al.*, 2008).

## **2.3.2.1 Factors influencing superovulation**

The success rate of superovulation is variable and it can be due by many other factors such as type of donor breed/strain, age, weight and nutritional status, health as well as the housing conditions, the dosage of hormonal treatment and timing of hormonal injection (Fowler and Edwards, 1957; Edgar *et al.*, 1987a,b).

#### **2.3.2.1 (a)** Donor breed/strain

Number of oocytes produced varies among breed/strain, as some strain responses differently towards the hormonal treatment. This has been reported in murine (Gates and Bozarth, 1978; Hogan *et al.*, 1986; Spearow, 1998, Zudova *et al.*, 2004, Byers *et al.*, 2006), ovine (Torres *et al.*, 1987; Vivanco *et al.*, 1994), caprine (Amoah and Gelaye, 1990; Mohd Noor Hisham, 2006) and bovine (Crister *at al.*, 1979; Holness *et al.*, 1980; Donaldson, 1984). Studies compared between outbred, inbred and hybrid murine strains shows that inbred murine are least responsive to hormonal treatment (Fowler and Edwards, 1957; Vergara *et al.*, 1997).

## 2.3.2.1 (b) Age

Another factor that which influences superovulation is age. A study by Lerner *et al.* (1986) shows that the number of oocytes collected in murine decrease with the increase in age. The poor superovulatory response in aged animal is probably due to the reduction in capability of number of follicles responding toward the gonadotrophin treatment. This finding was supported by a study conducted by Maurer and Foote (1971) on superovulation in rabbits and murine which shows low number of available oocytes in aged murine is due in low number in growing follicles (Lerner *et al.*, 1986). On the other hand, Hasler (1992) reported that the age of the animal was not considered to be main factor in superovulatory response whereby no significant age effects were shown on quantity and quality of oocytes obtained (Katska and Smorg, 1984; Wani *et al.*, 1999; Kong, 2010) as well as no similar effect on the total number of embryos obtained (Donaldson, 1984; Kong, 2010).

#### 2.3.2.1 (c) Weight and nutrition

Body weight of animals and nutrition were significantly related to the reproductive performance. The nutritional and health status of animals may affect the body weight of the females. The optimal yield of oocytes through superovulated murine was from weight between 12.5 to 14.0 g. In murine, the low body weight may cause less superovulatory response as lower number of oocytes obtained after superovulation (Hogan *et al.*, 1986).

Different dietary regimes were shown to change the endocrine signaling pathways. However, the effect of these changes on fertility is unclear. O'Callaghan *et al.* (2000) reported that oocyte morphology, oocyte development and embryo production were affected by dietary intake. The spoil oocyte quality, embryo mortality and late embryo development *in vivo* (Mantovani *et al.*, 1993; McEvoy *et al.*, 1995; Negrao *et al.*, 1997) and *in vitro* (Papadopaulos *et al.*, 2001) were affected by overfed animals. Overfeeding can lead to reduced pregnancy rates (Parr *et al.*, 1987) and decreased the presence of embryos collected on Day-2 after fertilisation (Creed *et al.*, 1994). In contrast, embryo development was delayed during first two weeks after fertilisation (Parr *et al.*, 1987; Abecia *et al.*, 1995) whereas embryo motality was higher during the first two weeks of pregnancy (Rhind *et al.*, 1989; Abecia *et al.*, 1995) during under-nutrition.

However, the variable responses and inconsistent outcomes in relation to nutrition and reproduction in ruminants are complex. In order to optimise the oocytes and embryo production, good nutritional management of donor caprine for superovulation programme and LOPU is required (Scaramuzzi and Murray, 1994).

## 2.3.2.1 (d) Dosage of hormonal treatment

Superovulation rate also affected by the concentration of hormone administered. A study by Fowler and Edwards (1957) shows that different concentration of hormone will result in

different number of oocyte retrieved. 3 IU PMSG and hCG produced more oocytes compared to 1 IU PMSG, followed by 2 IU hCG treatment. Moreover, excess stimulation will also suppress ovulation by the formation of atretic CL and atretic follicles. In addition, excess amount of hormone can reduced mating response (Fowler and Edwards, 1957; Edwards *et al.*, 1963). Though superovulation produce large number of oocytes in short time, however, if being administered excessively it will result to decrease in rate of fertilisation and increase in incidence of oocyte and embryo degeneration in murine. Besides, it will also increase the frequency of triploidy and sister chromatid exchange in early murine embryos (Edgar *et al.* 1987a).

## 2.3.2.1 (e) Timing of hormonal injection

Other factors that affect superovulation rate are time interval of hormone administration. Time interval between the administration of FSH (e.g., PMSG) and LH (e.g., hCG) plays an important role in both follicle and oocyte development. Edgar *et al.* (1987b) stated that by decreasing the time interval between the administration of constant doses of PMSG and hCG shows no significant different in 2-cell stage, but show a reduce in the frequency of blastocyst development. Both mice strain and post-hCG treatment significantly affect the superovulation rate where Hashlamoun and Killian (1985) showed that in a study on C57BL/6 and Swiss-Webster mice, 14 to 17 hours post-hCG produced the greatest rate of oocyte recovery (Vergara *et al.*, 1997). In addition, time interval of 36 to 48 hours between PMSG and hCG administration in C57BL/6 X CBA/Ca F1 hybrids shows no significant differences in 2-cell embryos; contradictorily, time interval of 60 hours shows significant increase in 2-cell embryos development up to blastocyst (Vergara *et al.*, 1997).

#### 2.3.3 Adverse Effect of Superovulation

The superovulation protocol (synchronisation-hyperstimulation) was known influencing the variety in oocytes and embryos viability and quality (Leyva *et al.*, 1998). The progestagen treatment during synchronisation could contribute to alteration in endocrine (Scaramuzzi *et al.*, 1988) and follicular function (Leyva *et al.*, 1998) by lack of complete suppressive effect on LH secretion (Kojima *et al.*, 1992). Greve *et al.* (1995) shows that the alteration in follicular function led to the ovulation of oocytes with the abnormalities of their development competence diminished potential fertility and alteration in the normal process of early embryo development.

There are two important factors which impact on the superovulation response, which are the presence or absence of a dominant follicle as well as the presence or absence of CLs at the time of FSH administration. All follicles in a given wave have a potential to become dominant follicles and ovulate (Ginther *et al.*, 2003). However, it has been shown that if dominant follicles form, they have a detrimental effect upon the smaller follicles which later leads to an increase in non-ovulatory follicles (Veiga-Lopez *et al.*, 2006) as well as a decrease in the total number of embryos and number of viable embryos collected in caprine (Gonzalez-Bulnes *et al.*, 2003a) and ovine (Gonzalez-Bulnes *et al.*, 2003b; Veiga-Lopez *et al.*, 2005). Therefore, administration of FSH prior to the development of the dominant follicles would be expected to produce the maximum number of quality oocytes.

The uses of PMSG in superovulation regime treatment may cause a high number of non-ovulated follicles, early regression of CL, short or irregular oestrus cycle and potential risk of embryo expulsion (Amoah and Gelaye, 1990). Superovulation with PMSG-hCG combination has been claimed to lead the number of fragmented, degenerated and denuded

oocytes (Miller and Amstrong, 1981; Walton and Amstrong, 1981; Moor *et al.*, 1985; Lehtonen and Kankondi, 1987).

In addition, in a some caprine population, repeated use of eCG has been reported to result in poor fertility in fixed-time AI programs. These results have been attributed to the presence of anti-eCG antibodies developed as an immune response to previous treatments (Baril *et al.*, 1996; Roy *et al.*, 1999; Drion *et al.*, 2001; Herve *et al.*, 2004). The presence of these antibodies linked to a delay in the occurrence of oestrus, LH peak and ovulation in the synchronised animals which later on not fit with the timing of the fixed-time insemination which subsequently results in low fertility rate.

Moreover, it is well known that superovulatory treatments are followed by a shorter time period from the induction of luteolysis to ovulations. Consequently, the process of the oocyte maturation may be modified, and this may lead to ovulations of less mature oocytes which may have a reduced ability to undergo normal fertilisation and a normal embryonic development (Callesen *et al.*, 1987; Hyttel *et al.*, 1988; Assey *et al.*, 1994; Dominko and First, 1997).

## 2.4 RECOVERY OF OOCYTES

In order to achieve a successful *in vitro* production (IVP) system such as parthenogenetic activation and *in vitro* fertilisation, viable and continuous supply of adequate oocytes is important. Oocytes can be collected from both live and sacrificed donors. Caprine oocytes usually collected through laparoscopic oocyte pick-up (LOPU) and ovariectomy procedures from live donor or from slaughtered does at abattoir. Bovine oocytes usually obtained from the collected ovaries from the slaughterhouse. As for murine, oocytes were obtained from the sacrificed donor by laparotomy.

#### 2.4.1 Laparoscopic Oocyte Pick-up (LOPU)

First described LOPU was in 1974 by Snyder and Dukelow. They aspirated 21 follicles and recovered 6 oocytes from an ovine by laparoscopy. However, the potential of LOPU was not fully appreciated until IVP technologies were developed (Baldassarre *et al.*, 1994, 2002; Graff *et al.*, 1999). IVP of embryos using immature oocytes recovered by LOPU has the potential to overcome some of the problems associated with standard multiple ovulation and embryo transfer (MOET) techniques (Tervit, 1996; Baldassarre *et al.*, 2002; Cognié *et al.*, 2003).

Basically, the donor was given general anesthesia and oocytes were collected by the aspiration of ovarian follicles after surgical exposure of the ovary by laparotomy or through LOPU under laparoscopic observation (laparoscopy camera and monitor) using a 20 G aspiration needle connected to a collection tube and a vacuum line. In order to recover high number of good quality oocytes, the donor caprine were oestrus synchronised and stimulated with several doses of gonadotropins (Paramio, 2010). The procedure normally takes between 10 to 20 minutes per caprine, depending on the number of follicles to be aspirated. LOPU procedure can be repeated more times since it is less traumatic than other surgical methods (Baldassarre and Karatzas, 2004). This procedure was normally performed to retrieve the immature oocytes. Therefore, the oocytes obtained need to be *in vitro* matured in IVM medium before underwent the next experiment. Baldassarre and Karatzas (2004) reported that an average oocytes obtained is 13.5 oocytes per caprine.

#### 2.4.2 Abattoir-derived Oocytes

Basically, oocytes from the slaughtered animal from abattoir were non-superovulated. Slaughterhouse ovaries are the other alternative source for oocyte retrieval as they are less expensive and most abundant source of immature oocytes for large scale (Kharche *et al.*, 2011). The main advantage of oocyte recovery by this technique is speed of operation, quality of oocytes and quantity of oocytes (Martino *et al.*, 1995a).

There are several approaches used for harvesting the oocytes from ovaries collected from slaughterhouse. These approaches includes oocyte liberation from aspiration of follicles, puncture of follicles and slicing or dissection of follicles (Martino *et al.*, 1995a; Wani *et al.*, 2000; Alm *et al.*, 2008; Rahman *et al.*, 2009; Hoque *et al.*, 2011). In adult caprine ovaries, oocytes are normally recovered by follicle aspiration by selecting follicles bigger than 3 mm diameter whereas for prepubertal caprine ovaries, ovary slicing or dissection allows collection of more oocytes per ovary than by follicle aspiration (1.27 vs. 6.05 oocytes), but the morphological quality of oocytes is lower (Martino *et al.*, 1994).

Ovary slicing was reported as simple and more efficient method compared to follicle aspiration (Martino *et al.*, 1994; Pawshe *et al.*, 1994). However, recently, Majeed *et al.* (2011) reported that follicles aspiration technique showed higher recovery rate compared to the ovary slicing method (76.93% vs. 69.93%). This result was approved by the previous study in caprine and ovine (Sogorescu *et al.*, 2010). In contrast, in the previous studies in caprine (Wang *et al.*, 2007) and sheep (Wani *et al.*, 1999), they indicated that ovary slicing and puncture yielded significantly more oocytes per ovary than follicles aspiration.

High recovery rate with follicles aspiration might be due to aspiration was the most common techniques for obtaining good quality and quantity of oocytes while the presence of ovarian tissue debris in slicing or puncture technique interfere the searching of oocytes under the microscope (Kharche *et al.*, 2011) and also required more washing when compared to aspiration (Hoque *et al.*, 2011). As a result, a number of cumulus oocyte complexes (COCs) were denuded from cumulus cells due to repeated washing and ultimately resulted in lower number of normal COCs when compared to aspiration (Majeed *et al.*, 2011).

### 2.5 *IN VITRO* MATURATION (IVM)

Every immature oocytes retrieved from any oocytes recovery procedures must be *in vitro* matured first before undergo the subsequent experiments. Embryo development is influenced by events occurring during oocyte maturation. For successful IVM, oocytes must undergo synchronically nuclear and cytoplasmic maturation (Paramio, 2010). In mammals, primary oocytes enter meiosis in early prenatal life and progress to the diplotene stage of prophase I (Geminal Vesicle; GV stage), and remain arrested shortly before the time of ovulation (Sharma *et al.*, 1996). Resumption of meiosis *in vivo* is assisted by hormonal stimulation (Zuckermann, 1960; Ireland and Roche, 1982; Dieleman *et al.*, 1983; Callesen *et al.*, 1986). However, in *in vitro* production of embryos, immature oocytes were cultured in IVM medium under suitable conditions for a particular period of time (Pincus and Enzyman, 1935; Edwards, 1965; Thibault and Gerard, 1973). Different species also require different period of IVM duration (Motlik *et al.*, 1986; Fukui *et al.*, 1988; Zhang *et al.*, 1992; Coonrod *et al.*, 1994).

During meiotic maturation, many intracellular changes occur including nuclear maturation, spindle formation and cytoplasmic distribution of organelles (Thibault *et al.*, 1987). At the same time, the nuclear membrane of oocytes disappears, germinal vesicle breakdown (GVBD) and followed by chromosome decondensation which happened at metaphase I (MI) stage. Subsequently, the presence of first polar body shows that the oocytes were entered metaphase I (MII) stage and was ready for the next IVP process. Maturation of oocytes was assessed by cumulus expansion and the extrusion of the first polar body.

Rajikin *et al.* (1994) described good quality of caprine oocytes will appear either golden, golden yellow or brownish in colour and have granulated appearance in the ooplasm. Size of oocytes also very important for the acquirement of maturation. De Smedt *et al.* (1992) mentioned that there are 86% of caprine oocytes with follicles 2 to 6 mm in diameter progressed to MII, whereas only 24% of oocytes with follicles 1 to 1.8 mm reached MII stage.

### 2.5.1 Events in Oocytes Maturation

Generally, oocytes of all species go through similar nuclear and chromosomal changes during meiosis. Development of mammalian oocytes is arrested at early prophase I (PI) of first meiotic division, shortly before birth (Habsah, 1996) and oocytes remain at the dormant stage, called a dictate nucleus. At this stage, nuclear material is enveloped and this structure known as GV. The oocytes remain at this stage until the onset of puberty. Oocytes then resume meiosis under influence of preovulatory surge of gonadotrophins and particularly in response to the LH surge (Tsafiri, 1978; Westergaard et al., 1984; Downs et al., 1988). At the same time, nuclear membrane of the oocytes disappears and germinal vesicle breakdown (GVBD), followed by chromosome condensation with the occurrence of the MI, anaphase I (AI) and telophase I (TI). Subsequently, oocytes reach MII stage with the extrusion of first polar body and remain at this stage until oocytes is activated either by sperm penetration or by parthenogenetic activation. Meiotic maturation involves two step processes which are: (i) oocytes resume the meiotic process evidenced by GVBD and (ii) completes this process and arresting at MII stage (Szybek, 1972; Tsafiri and Channing; 1975; Wassarman et al., 1976).

Schmitt and Nebreda (2002) described that there are three steps involve in meiotic maturation in caprine which are: (i) resumption of meiosis I which includes GVBD,

chromosome condensation and spindle formation; (ii) the transition between meiosis I and meiosis II and (iii) arrest in MII because of cytostatic factor (CSF) activity.

Oocytes maturation involves the activation of signal transduction pathways that converge to activate maturation promoting factor (MPF) which is the key activity that catalyses entry into metaphase of meiosis I and meiosis II. MPF is activated after the resumption of meiotic division (Masui and Markert, 1971), then transiently inactivated and reactivated again to induce meiosis II. After GVBD, mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) is also activated and the activation of MAPK is required for a further increase and continuous in MPF activity and meiotic progression beyond the MI stage (Shimada and Terada, 2001; Shimada *et al.*, 2002).

## 2.5.2 Factors Affecting IVM

Embryonic development can be influenced by the incident occurring during oocyte maturation process (Rajikin *et al.*, 1994, Rajikin, 1995; Teotia *et al.*, 2001). There were several factor has been reported affecting the process during the maturation process, such as, donor age (Izquierdo *et al.*, 2002), follicle size (Pavlok *et al.*, 1992; Blondin and Sirard, 1995), oocyte diameter (Hyttel *et al.*, 1997), oocyte developmental stage (Hagemann *et al.*, 1999), media composition (Lonergan *et al.*, 1997), hormones (Zuelke and Brackett, 1990) and serum (Avery *et al.*, 1998) as well as duration of maturation. Improper timing of maturation could lead impaired development (Marston and Chang, 1964), abnormal chromatin formation (Dominko and First, 1997) and oocyte aging (Hunter, 1989; Hunter and Greve, 1997).

#### 2.5.2.1 Donor age

The developmental competence of IVM oocytes can be influenced by the oocyte"s donor age which the oocytes are recovered. In bovine and porcine, oocytes from prepubertal donors display poor meiotic maturation and embryo development compared to oocytes from adult females (Marchal *et al.*, 2001; de Matos *et al.*, 2003; Sherrer *et al.*, 2004). Oocytes from sexually immature females display morphological, biochemical and physiologic alternations or anomalies that could partially account for their reduced competence, consistent with their lesser meiotic and developmental potential (Zheng, 2007).

In prepubertal calves, Presicce *et al.* (1996) demonstrated that the acquisition of oocyte"s competence for normal embryo development associated with age and hormonal treatment. Earlier studies (Armstrong *et al.*, 1992; Duby *et al.*, 1995; Looney *et al.*, 1995; Presicce *et al.*, 1995) with bovine oocytes collected from prepubertal calves following *in vitro* maturation, fertilisation and culture (IVMFC) have shown that these oocytes can resume meiosis, undergo GVBD, reach MII and fertilised. The developmental ability for *in vitro* cleavage and blastocyst formation is still lower in prepubertal and pubertal calves than adult bovine even though the establishment of pregnancies and birth of live calves have been reported (Kajihara *et al.*, 1991; Palma *et al.*, 1993; Otio *et al.*, 1995; Revel *et al.*, 1995).

The reasons for low embryonic development of pre-pubertal calf oocytes are unknown and have been attributed to insufficient, delayed or abnormal nuclear maturation as well as cytoplasmic maturation (Damiani *et al.*, 1996; Khatir *et al.*, 1996). Nuclear morphology of calf oocytes was attributed to incomplete nuclear maturation, while some delay in organelle migration and redistribution such as cortical granules, mitochondria, and lipids was related to delayed cytoplasmic maturation. Differences in oocyte diameter,

29

protein synthesis and energy metabolism have been also suggested as reasons for poor *in vitro* development between calf and cow oocytes (Gandolfi *et al.*, 1988; Steeves *et al.*, 1999).

#### 2.5.2.2 Follicle size and oocyte diameter

The relatively low level of efficiency achieved after *in vitro* maturation of oocytes, compared to those produced *in vivo*, is almost certainly related to the quality of the oocytes at the outset of IVM (Cognie *et al.*, 2003). The physical characteristics of follicles and oocytes before the onset of maturation are very important as the maturation is associated by the changes in the cumulus cells (Young, 1961). Oocytes without a cumulus investment or with a fragmented cytoplasm are typically considered to be low quality which later on will affect the ability to complete meiotic maturation *in vitro* (Warriach and Chohan, 2004).

When collecting oocytes for any IVP procedures, the size of the follicles where oocytes come from is also an important factor which affects oocytes maturation (Cognie, 1999). The relationship between follicular size and oocytes quality can be explained by some cause: (i) the larger follicles may provide a better environment to induce cytoplasmic maturation for the subsequent embryonic development; (ii) a factor inherent in the oocytes derived from smaller follicles limits their future development; (iii) the cytoplasm of oocytes derived from larger follicles may have some factors required for improved development (Qian *et al.*, 2001). Crozet *et al.* (1995) suggested that the acquisition of meiotic competence and the subsequent development of caprine oocytes occur progressively during follicular growth.

Zheng (2007) suggested that oocytes from larger follicles display a greater ability to complete meiotic maturation and its subsequent embryonic development than those from smaller follicles in almost all mammalian species. The reason why oocytes from small follicles has lower maturation rate is may be due to the incomplete accumulation of a sufficient store of mRNAs and proteins (Pavlok *et al.*, 1992, 1993). Acquisition of developmental competence involves the synthesis and storage of a wide range of molecules during oocyte growth, including mRNA and proteins, followed by the reprogramming and ordered utilisation of these stored products during maturation, fertilisation and early embryogenesis (Moor *et al.*, 1998).

Caprine oocytes derived from small follicles (<0.5 mm) have been reported to be unable to matured *in vitro* and produced a significantly lower blastocyst rate compared to those obtained from large follicles (Cognie *et al.*, 1995a; Crozet *et al.*, 1995). The smallest follicles (2 to 3 mm) were only able to grow until preovulatory stages, however, not able to release viable oocytes (Gonzalez-Bulnes *et al.*, 2003a,b). Han *et al.* (2006) reported that majority of caprine oocytes acquire competence for development up to 8- to 16-cell stage in follicles >2 mm, but do not gain the ability to form morula or blastocyst until follicles larger than >3 mm in diameter. Zheng (2007) also suggested that follicles smaller than 3 mm have not yet attained the full RNA complement required for developing beyond the stage or time when embryonic transcription is initiated.

Martino *et al.* (1994) reported that large follicles (>3 mm) with more cumulus layers are tend to give better result when matured *in vitro* as caprine oocytes complete their growth and reach meiotic competence when the follicular diameter increase. The decrease in the developmental competence was suggested due to insufficient cytoplasmic maturity (Blondin and Sirard, 1995). Moreover, Crozet *et al.* (1993, 1995) reported that significantly higher number of blastocyst (26 vs. 9%) was obtained by the caprine oocytes from large follicles (>5 mm) compared to those from small to medium follicles (<5 mm).

In caprine oocytes, meiotic oocyte competence has been classified in term of oocyte diameter: (i) incompetent oocytes (<110  $\mu$ m); (ii) partially competent oocytes (110 to 125  $\mu$ m); (iii) competent oocytes (>125  $\mu$ m) (De Smedt *et al.*, 1994; Martino *et al.*, 1995a; Anguita *et al.*, 2009). Increasing in size of oocyte occurs when it undergoes intensive synthesis of RNA during maturation which the length of oocyte diameter shows the level of oocyte growth (Lazzari *et al.*, 1994; Lonergan *et al.*, 1994). Lechniak *et al.* (2002) suggested that the smaller oocytes tend to follow the abnormal path of meiotic maturation and may cause disturbances in maturation process.

## 2.5.2.3 IVM duration

Edwards (1965) found that the rate of maturation *in vitro* and *in vivo* appears to be similar with some asynchrony as regards to the time taken to reach MII (Donahue, 1972). COCs required longer period to undergo GVBD in both BSA and serum supplemented media, i.e. an additional 2 to 4 hours as compared to the time taken by cumulus-free oocytes (Vanderhyden and Armstrong, 1989).

Researches from earlier study suggested that a wide range of time required for completion of meiosis in caprine, ranging from 24 to 32 hours (Crozet *et al.*, 1995). Such differences might be due to variety in culture conditions and recording procedure (Chan, 2008). Kong (2010) has shown that 22 to 25 hours of IVM culture is the best time for caprine oocytes derived from LOPU whereas the optimal maturation rate of abattoir-derived caprine oocytes for goat was when oocytes underwent maturation for 32 hours (Sharma *et al.*, 1996). The time required for maturation of ooeytes *in vitro* is slightly longer (27 hours) in caprine than in ovine and bovine (De Smedt *et al.*, 1994; Keskintepe *et al.*, 1994; Martino *et al.*, 1994; Crozet *et al.*, 1995; Cognie, 1999).
Younis *et al.* (1991) found that, a five-time increase in maturation rate has been observed in the *in vivo* matured oocytes collected from gonadotrophin-treated donors compared to those from non-treated caprine. De Smedt *et al.* (1992) suggested that when follicles are stimulated by gonadotrophin treatment and oocytes are cultured in the medium containing oestrus serum, oestradiol and gonadotrophin, maturation peak was reported at 27 hours. However, El-Gayar and Holtz (2001) showed that oocytes from non-stimulated surface follicles obtained maturation peak at 32 hours of culture.

The selection of oocytes and optimal temperature, which ranging from 38.5 to 39°C are the key of successes in maturation process at 27 hours in caprine (Crozet *et al.*, 1995). Crozet *et al.* (2000) also demonstrated that extending the culture period maybe necessary to promote full meiotic competence as well as to allow a large number of oocytes gain the ability to resume meiosis and complete meiotic maturation.

Some researchers (Shea *et al.*, 1976; McGaughey, 1977; Deb and Goswami, 1990) reported that during the later stages of maturation, there is an increase of oocytes with abnormal chromosome constitution, which probably due to the change in pH, osmolarity or accumulation of toxic materials in the media. Moreover, the differences in duration of oocyte maturation may be influenced by the medium used, medium concentration, serum percentage and the culture system (Samaké *et al.*, 2000; Teotia *et al.*, 2001; Cognie *et al.*, 2003).

## 2.5.2.4 IVM culture media

Successful *in vitro* maturation (IVM) is more complex than simply ensuring an optimal culture environment that promotes nuclear maturation. However, oocyte maturation could be influenced by culture media components and culture conditions used for IVM (Cognie *et al.*, 2003). It is necessary to indicate that the selection of culture media is of extreme

importance, since it can condition the success of the oocyte maturation, fertilisation and later, the development of the embryos (Gliedt *et al.*, 1996).

The most commonly used culture system for maturation of oocytes *in vitro* is a culture medium supplemented with FSH, LH, oestradiol ( $E_2$ ) and 10% fetal calf serum (FCS) (Moor and Trounson, 1977). For IVM of ovine and caprine oocytes, follicular fluid (FF) recovered from large follicles (>4 mm) can be used as a supplement in maturation medium containing TCM 199 and 100 ng of oFSH. This positive effect is enhanced when FF is recovered from non-atretic (Cognie *et al.*, 1995a) or gonadotropin-stimulated follicles (Cognie and Poulin, 2000). During *in vitro* maturation under these conditions, the extrusion of the first polar body at MII in ovine and caprine oocytes occurs between 16 and 24 hours after the start of maturation.

Gonadotropins are the primary regulators of nuclear maturation in mammalian oocyte *in vitro*. Saeki *et al.* (1996) and Totey *et al.* (1993) suggested that oocytes matured *in vitro* in the presence of gonadotropins and  $E_2$  showed high maturation and fertilisation rates compared with those matured without hormones. Gonadotropins alter the metabolism of the cumulus cells and later induce resumption of meiosis (Salustri and Siracusa, 1983) by interrupting the mode of inhibitory substances through the gap junctions (Ball *et al.*, 1983). Pawshe *et al.* (1996) observed that gonadotropins and  $E_2$  usually cause synergistic enhancement of nuclear maturation, depending on the type of serum supplement used in the maturation medium.

FSH was found to enhance early embryo development rather than meiotic maturation (Eyestone and De Boer, 1993).  $E_2$  improves the completion of maturational changes, including the synthesis of presumed male pronucleus growth factor.  $E_2$  is involved in oocyte maturation *in vitro* in numerous ungulates, including bovine (Younis *et al.*, 1989; Sirotkin, 1992; Choi *et al.*, 2001), ovine (Guler *et al.*, 2000), and caprine

(Pawshe *et al.*, 1996). Younis *et al.* (1989) demonstrated that in the bovine system, supplementing IVM medium with 1  $\mu$ g/ml E<sub>2</sub> enhanced oocyte maturation rate in some cases, however, Beker-van Woudenberg *et al.* (2004) found that it was deleterious in others. Tesarik and Mendoza (1995) suggested that E<sub>2</sub> supported cytoplasmic maturation of human oocytes, thereby facilitating fertilisation and early embryonic development.

FCS was found to be necessary for FSH induced cumulus expansion. The maturation rate increase significantly with the media supplemented with 10% FCS (Pawshe et al., 1996). Some studies (Younis et al., 1989) have shown that oestrus serum has a beneficial effect on maturation and subsequent development whereas others (Totey et al., 1993) have reported that FCS has the most favorable effect on IVM and subsequent development. Oestrus serum has been employed recently instead of FCS in the bovine (Lu et al., 1987; Xu et al., 1987) in caprine (Mogas et al., 1992, 1993; Keskintepe et al., 1994) and in buffalo (Totey et al., 1992; Madan et al., 1994). In caprine, the concentration of heat-activated serum in IVM media is 10 to 20%. Wani (2002) suggested that serum provides nutrients to cells in COC and prevents zona pelucida (ZP) hardening. Different kinds of serum were used in IVM medium in caprine including homologous and heterologous oestrus goat serum (OGS) (Agrawal et al., 1995; Sharma et al., 1996; Malik et al., 1999), steer serum (SS) (Jimenez-Macedo et al., 2005; Jimenez-Macedo et al., 2007), FCS (Crozet et al., 1995; Gall et al., 1996; Rho et al., 2001) and FBS (Martino et al., 1995b; Keskintepe et al., 1997; Crozet et al., 2000; Velilla et al., 2002). Pawshe et al. (1994) reported that FCS has been successfully used for IVM of caprine oocytes.

Antibiotics such as penicillin and streptomycin (Zhou *et al.*, 2000) have been applied in IVM medium in order to avoid bacterial and fungal contamination. Schafer *et al.* (1972) suggested that gentamicin has a wider range of pH stability compared to penicillin

and streptomycin as well as it has an ability to maintain the biological activity in presence of serum.

#### **2.6 OOCYTE ACTIVATION**

Oocytes can be activated either by normal fertilisation with sperm or by artificial activation using chemical activation, physical activation or electrical activation (Liu *et al.*, 1998a). Activated oocytes will undergo a series of events such as sperm penetration, serial events in biochemical pathway and finally the resumption of meiosis which subsequently leads to the formation of zygote.

## 2.6.1 Normal Fertilisation

In the process of fertilisation, interaction between a sperm cell and a secondary oocytes triggers off a series of morphological and biochemical transformations which is known as oocyte activation. The key mechanism of oocyte activation in most animal species is a calcium signal (Whitaker and Patel, 1990). Once sperm cell penetrated into an oocyte, a quick and transitory drawing occurs from intracellular reserve of calcium which collected in endoplasmic reticulum, thus enabling continuation of the calcium signal (Tosti *et al.*, 2002). Meiotic maturation of mammalian oocytes is spontaneously arrested at the MII stage and further nuclear progress depends on sperm-induced activation (Grabeic *et al.*, 2007).

The early events of fertilisation by sperm cell include depolarisation of egg plasma membrane, sperm penetration, cortical granule exocytosis, perivitelline space formation and also resumption of meiosis (Iwamatsu, 1992). Fertilisation cause an increase in intracellular calcium;  $(Ca^{2+})_i$  stored, which leads to oocyte activation (Kline, 1996; Meo *et* 

*al.*, 2004). There are two postulated theories of how normal fertilisation by sperm could trigger calcium release which are: (i) receptor release and (ii) fusion/sperm factor (Kline, 1996; Fissore *et al.*, 2002a).

The receptor theory suggested that the ligand for receptor of the plasma membrane of oocytes is sperm cell. This theory is based on the assumption that oocytes may behave as somatic cells, together with the addition of hormones which initiates the generation of  $(Ca^{2+})_i$  oscillations following stimulation of specific surface receptors (Whitaker and Swann, 1993; Schultz and Kopf, 1995). There are two proposed receptor for sperm cell of receptor theory which is G-protein linked receptor (Miyazaki, 1988) and tyrosine kinase receptor (Carroll *et al.*, 1997; Jaffe *et al.*, 2001). In both of the proposed theory, the mechanism suggested is as sperm cells bind to the receptor (G-protein linked receptor or tyrosine kinase receptor) it will trigger the activation of phospholipase C (PLC) which can be either PLC $\beta$  or PLC $\gamma$  (Carroll *et al.*, 1997) as shown in Figure 2.1. The activation of PLC will result to activation of inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) which will induce the release of intracellular stored calcium (Iwamatsu, 1992; Kline, 1996; Fissore *et al.*, 2002a).

Another theory is the fusion/sperm factor theory was shown in Figure 2.2. This theory suggested that after fertilisation of gametes, sperm cells will deliver sperm product into oocyte cytoplasm after gamete fusion which will subsequently trigger an increase in  $(Ca^{2+})_i$  stored as well as responsible in initiating  $(Ca^{2+})_i$  oscillation (Fissore *et al.*, 2002a). The theory is supported by studies where the initiation of calcium oscillations was monitored by monitoring transfer of fluorescent dyes between sperm and oocytes after fertilisation occur (Lawrence *et al.*, 1997; Jones *et al.*, 1998).



**Figure 2.1:** The receptor models which suggested the binding and activation of a surface receptor coupled by either: (A) G-protein or (B) tyrosine kinase signal transduction pathway which activate phospholipase C (PLC) and production of inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>). PIP2: phosphatidylinositol 4,5-biphosphate, DAG: diacylglycerol, IP<sub>3</sub>R: IP<sub>3</sub> receptor. Adapted from Fissore *et al.* (2002a).



Figure 2.2: The mechanism of fusion/sperm factor theory where sperm releases factor into oocyte cytoplasm, though the sperm factor is unknown. Adapted from Fissore *et al.* (2002a).

# 2.6.2 Parthenogenetic Activation

Meiotic maturation of mammalian oocytes is spontaneously arrested at the MII stage and further nuclear progress depends on sperm-induced activation. Beatty (1957) described parthenogenesis as the production of an embryo from a female gamete without any genetic contribution from a male gamete (absence of sperm), and with or without eventual development into an adult. Embryos produced are known as uniparental embryos. The mechanism of parthenogenetic activation in oocytes is based on oscillation of intracellular calcium concentration;  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$ . The activation leads to meiosis resumption and extrusion of the second polar body. Consequently, pronuclei are formed, DNA synthesis begins and embryonic cleavage is initiated of artificial activation, caused by external stimuli (Grabeic *et al.*, 2007).

Unlike fertilisation, in which sperm penetration is sufficient to stimulate oocyte activation, both nuclear fusion and oocyte activation must be simultaneously induced by either chemical, mechanical or electrical pulse (Ongeri et al., 2000) Additional stimuli are often required to achieve adequate activation of the oocyte during IVP processes. Parthenogenetic activation often used as model in order to study biochemical changes and morphological events that involved during early embryonic development (Collas et al., 1993b). Parthenogenetic activation has been conducted in order to mimic the action carried out by the sperm cells during fertilisation to activate oocytes which are arrested at MII of meiosis division (Liu et al., 1998a; Meo et al., 2007). Oocyte activation can be done artificially either by chemical, mechanical or electrical (Liu et al., 1998a; Jilek et al., 2000; Tian et al., 2006). Regardless of the types of the parthenogenetic activation treatment, the main objective of parthenogenetic treatment is to allow resumption of meiosis for oocytes that are arrested at MII by increasing the level of intracellular calcium (Meo et al., 2007). Increase in  $(Ca^{2+})_i$  store will inactivate MPF and MAPK which later on allowing MII arrested oocyte to complete meiosis division (Meo et al., 2007). Table 2.5 shows types of artificial oocyte activation methods.

**Table 2.5:** Types of artificial oocyte activation methods and reported cases in clinical research.

Types of artificial oocyte activation methods	Mechanism of oocyte activation	Cases of pregnancy and delivery in clinical research
Calcium ionophore†	Increase in Ca <sup>2+</sup> permeability of cell membrane	+ (Hoshi et al. 1995 A2318727)
Electrostimulation	Pore formation in cell membrane, entry of extracellular Ca2+	+ (Yanagida et al. 199928)
Strontium	Release of endogenous Ca2+	+ (Yanagida et al. 200629)
Ethanol	Increase in Ca2+ permeability of cell membrane	
Puromycin‡	Inhibition of protein synthesis	+ (Murase et al. 2004 <sup>30</sup> )
Cycloheximide	Inhibition of protein synthesis	

Adapted from Yanagida et al. (2008).

#### 2.6.3 Mechanism of Oocyte Activation

Mammalian oocytes which are ovulated were arrested in second meiotic division at MII until oocytes were activated by means of normal fertilisation or artificial activation, subsequently resulting to embryonic development (Zernicka-Goetz *et al.*, 1995; Fissore *et al.*, 2002a). The process of activating the oocytes by releasing oocyte from MII is known as oocyte activation (Fissore *et. al.*, 2002a). Oocyte activation can be monitored by changes that occur at the cortical granules, zona proteins, cell cycle kinases and intracellular calcium stores (Ducibella, 1998). Oocytes which are arrested at MII stage are characterised by biochemical substances which are active MPF, mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) and cytostatic factor (CSF) (Navarro *et al.*, 2005). Thus, as the oocytes were activated either by means of fertilisation or artificial activations, it will trigger a biochemical cascade which allows the exit of oocytes from arrested at MII. Moreover, oocyte activation will also had an impact on the sequence of cellular changes which result to morphological changes in the oocytes, as well assured embryonic development (Fissore *et. al.*, 2002a; Navarro *et al.*, 2005).

During the oocyte activation, a series of events in the cellular changes take place where it can be organised into either early or late events as stated by Schultz and Kopf (Fissore *et al.*, 2002a; Iwamatsu, 1992). The early event during cellular change in oocyte activation include the initiation of  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  oscillation or a series of spike in  $Ca^{2+}$  which will trigger other events of activation of oocyte. Increase in intracellular calcium concentration in the early events will result to: (i) cortical granule exocytosis to prevent polyspermy, (ii) recruitment of maternal mRNAs, and (iii) the resumption of meiosis with extrusion of the second polar body (Grabeic *et al.*, 2007). As for the late cellular events in oocyte activation, there are three main cellular changes which include the: (i) formation of male and female pronuclei, (ii) synthesis of DNA, and (iii) first mitotic cleavage on oocytes (Fissore *et al.*, 2002a; Navarro *et. al.*, 2005). The mechanism of oocyte activation will be sub-divided into two sub-topics which are: i) biochemical changes during oocyte activation, and ii) morphological changes during oocyte activation.

## 2.6.3.1 Biochemical changes during oocyte activation

Before matured oocytes are being activated, mammalian oocytes which are MIIarrested is characterised by the presence of CSF which contained other molecules such MPF, MAPK, *c-mos* and p90<sup>rsk</sup> which inhibits oocyte from resuming meiotic division (Navarro et al., 2005; Nanassy et al., 2007). In order for oocytes to continue the completion of meiotic division and to start mitotic cell cycles, MII-arrested oocytes must first be release from MII stage by oocyte activation (Swan and Jones, 2002). The activity of CSF is responsible in maintaining the matured oocytes from exiting MII stage (Kline, 1996; Heytens et al., 2008). Besides, activity of CSF also stabilises and regulates MPF activity (Heytens et al., 2008). MPF is a protein kinase which is the product of catalytic subunit (tyrosine-phosphorylated  $p34^{cdc2}$ ) and cyclin subunit gene (cyclin B) which causes MII-arrested oocytes (Kline, 1996; Lee and Kirschner, 1996; Tatemoto and Terada, 1996; Wolgemuth et al., 2002; Wun and Dittman, 2008). Besides CSF and MPF, presence of cmos and MAPK also caused oocytes to be arrested in MII. This is because proto-oncogenes *c-mos* product prevents the degradation cyclins (Meo *et al.*, 2004; Navarro *et al.*, 2005; Nanassy et al., 2007). MAPK which is serine/theorine kinases, helps oocytes to remain arrested at MII by maintaining the degradation of cyclin B (Liu et al., 1998a; Meo et al., 2004).

In order for biochemical changes to occur in oocyte activation, the concentration of calcium plays a significant role, as oocyte activation in mammalian is dependent on the increase of  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  (Kline, 1996). This is because, Heytens *et al.* (2008) suggested that the

universal secondary messengers of cells is calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>), where calcium plays a significant role in controlling a wide range of biological process including proliferation, differentiation, axis formation, transcriptional activation, as well as apoptosis. This is including the oocyte activation by normal fertilisation which calcium plays an important role where sperm cell triggers the increase in Ca<sup>2+</sup>, besides transferring genetic material into the egg cell (Heytens *et al.*, 2008). The increase in  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  during oocyte activation allows exit of oocytes from MII-arrested stage, resulting to meiotic resumption until embryonic development (Iwamatsu, 1992; Swan and Jones, 2002; Heytes *et al.*, 2008).

Since oocyte activation is dependent on the oscillations of  $Ca^{2+}$ , thus increase of  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  will also cause biochemical changes on MPF, MAPK and CSF by inactivating them (Kline, 1996; Meo *et al.*, 2004). In artificial activation, chemical stimuli such as ethanol, strontium chloride, calcium ionophore, ionomycin, and phorbol ester trigger the release of  $Ca^{2+}$  which results to increase in  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  (Alberio *et al.*, 2001). The release of  $Ca^{2+}$  into the oocytes is controlled by  $Ca^{2+}$  release mechanisms which are extremely sensitive (Jones and Whittingham, 1996). The agents which trigger  $Ca^{2+}$  release mechanisms to release  $Ca^{2+}$  are sperm and IP<sub>3</sub> (Jones and Whittingham, 1996; Kline, 1996).

In early study, the mechanisms on how sperm promotes rise in  $Ca^{2+}$  level in still unclear, but date to 2008, study found that sperm induces rise in  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  due to presence of sperm specific PLC $\delta$  in the oocyte cytoplasm (Jones and Whittingham, 1996; Kline, 1996; Heytens *et al.*, 2008). As sperm protein bind to oocyte receptor, activated PLC $\delta$  will produce IP<sub>3</sub> (Heytens *et al.*, 2008). IP<sub>3</sub> is known to stimulate increase in  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  is produced from hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-biphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>R) where PLC act as an enzyme. After IP<sub>3</sub> is produced, it will bind to IP<sub>3</sub>R which is a ligand-gated receptor. Since IP<sub>3</sub>R is found in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) which functions to store Ca<sup>2+</sup>, IP<sub>3</sub> which is bind to IP<sub>3</sub>R will trigger release of stored Ca<sup>2+</sup>, allowing oocyte activation to take place (Fissore *et al.*, 2002a) as shown in Figure 2.3.

As the oocyte activation take place, biochemical substances (MPF, MAPK and CSF) changes which helps in the mechanism of oocyte activation can also be observed (Fissore *et al.*, 2002a; Navarro *et al.*, 2005; Nanassy *et al.*, 2007). CSF which held oocytes to be arrested at MII stage regulates the activity of MPF. In order for oocytes to remain in MII stage, CSF need to prevent MPF from being destructed which can be achieve by ensuring the anaphase promoting complex (APC) inactived (Heytens *et al.*, 2008). However, due to the increase in  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  concentration, CSF will be inactivated, which will cause the degradation in cyclin B. Since cyclin B is a subunit of MPF, thus degradation of cyclin B will indirectly cause MPF to be inactivated. As MPF is being inactivated, dephosphorylation will reduce the level of MPF which later cause oocytes to release from MII stage (Nanassy *et al.*, 2007). Moreover, increase in  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  can also be cause inactivation of MPF and MAPK by calcium/calmodulin dependent protein kinase II (CaMK II) (Zernicka-Goetz *et al.*, 1995; Johnson *et al.*, 1998).

As shown in Figure 2.4, increase in  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  will cause  $Ca^{2+}$  to bind to calmodulin, producing  $Ca^{2+}/Calmodulin$  complex which subsequently activates CaMK II. CaMK II will result two effects which are activating APC directly and also promotes CSF degradation. As APC is being inactivated, it will then trigger the degradation of cyclin B by stimulating cyclin ubiquitination and also by activating proteasome degradation machinery (Johnson *et al.*, 1998). As cyclin B is being degraded, MPF is begun to be inactivated. Degraded CSF, however, will not activate the APC (Heytens *et al.*, 2008).

Enzymes present in MAPK are serine/theorine protein kinase which act together with their downstream substrate can stabilise MPF. MOS protein is the product for protooncogene *c-mos*. The function of MOS protein is a MAPK kinase kinase (MEKK) where it will activate MAPK kinase (MEK 1). As MEK 1 is activated it will result to the activation of MAPK via phosphorylation. Activated MAPK will then phosphorylates, subsequently active serine/threonine kinase p90<sup>rsk</sup> causing Myt 1 inhibitory kinase to be inhibited. The cascade of MEKK/MEK 1/MAPK/ p90<sup>rsk</sup> will also decrease the activity of MPF, which will cause dephosphorylation resulting to degradation of MOS (Nanassy *et al.*, 2007).



**Figure 2.3:** Cellular and molecular changes in mammalian oocytes that may underlie fragmentation or development arrest after activation or fertilisation. Adapted from Fissore *et al.* (2002b).



**Figure 2.4:** Schematic diagram illustrating the calcium-induced relief from metaphase II arrest and cell cycle resumption. The Ca<sup>2+</sup>-CaM-CamKII axis directly and thus rapidly activates APC (\*\*) and also promotes the degradation of CSF, a process with slower kinetics (\*). CSF degradation releases the inhibition of APC. Activated APC (APC<sup>+</sup>) promotes the degradation of Cyclin B and as a consequence, results in MPF deactivation. This culminates in the abolishment of MII arrest and resumption of the cell cycle. Adapted from Heytens *et al.* (2008).

# 2.6.3.2 Morphological changes during oocyte activation

Once oocytes were activated, it not only causes changes in the biochemical components, but it also lead to some morphological changes in the oocytes cytoskeleton (Fissore *et. al.,* 2002a; Navarro *et al.,* 2005). The morphological changes in oocyte cytoskeleton during oocytes activation includes: (i) meiosis resumption, (ii) migration of the cortical granule which anchor at the cortex and exocytosis (iii) condensation of chromosome, (iv) formation and migration of spindle, (v) emission of polar body (PB), (vi) formation of pronuclear (PN), and (vii) syngamy (Ducibella *et al.,* 2002) as shown in Figure 2.5.



Figure 2.5: Summary of the mammalian egg activation events. Small vertical arrows indicate the activity of effector increases or decreases to promote the pathway with which it is associated. New protein synthesis (Syn) results from the maternal mRNAs; anaphase promoting complex; PTase phosphate; MAPK, MAP kinase; MEK, MAPK kinase, 2nd PB, second polar body; PN, pronucleus, CG, cortical granule; CAMKII, calmodulin dependent protein kinase II; MPK, maturating protein factor. Synaptotagmin is a calcium-sensitive protein which regulates secretion in other cells. Adapted from Ducibella *et al.* (2002).

Changes in the cytoskeleton organisation after fertilisation includes changes in microtubules and microfilaments (Sun *et al.*, 2001). Alteration on the ZP glycoprotein occurred after the cortical granule exocytosis (CGE), where the alteration of ZP will subsequently prevent polyspermy in the oocyte (Wassarman *et al.*, 2001; Talmor-Cohen *et al.*, 2002; Sun, 2003). The protein component present in ZP are ZP1, ZP2, ZP3 and ZP4 (Wassarman *et al.*, 2001; Conner *et al.*, 2005). Corticol granule (CG) will release its content into the perivitelline space of the oocytes which later will alter ZP2, ZP3 and ZP1 to prevent polysyngamy (Tsaadon *et al.*, 2006). Prevention of polyspermy is important in

order to prevent abnormal development. Syngamy is achieveable when zona and/or plasma membrane blocks to prevent other sperm from entering (Florman and Ducibella, 2006).

The formation of pronucleus also occurs after fertilisation takes place, forming two pronuclei during the S phase of first mitotic phase in order to produce two copies of each chromosome (Florman and Ducibella, 2006). The importance of pronuclear stage after fertilisation is, it allows identification of fertilised egg, prevent polyspermy, and disassemble of pronuclear envelopes as well as chromosome condensation which indicate the start of first mitotic division. The formation of pronuclei is dependent on the factors present in the egg cytoplasm where in mammals the starting point for pronuclei formation is the disassemble of sperm"s nuclear envelope and inactivation of cell cycle kinases such as MAPK (Moos *et al.*, 1995). The formation of female pronucleus I (PNI) is indicated with the condensation of chromosomes and the start of ana-telophase II of second meiotic division, whereas the formation of pronucleus II (PNII) is indicated by the extrusion of second polar body and completion of the second meiosis stage. Also, chromosomes are begun to undergo decondensation and second polar body can be located near the pronucleus (Mogas *et al.*, 1997).

After sperm penetrate into the oocytes, the  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  store increases which allow meiosis resumption and as well as CGE (Ducibella, 1998a,b; Florman and Ducibella, 2006; Tsaadon *et al.*, 2006). The origin of CG is from Golgi apparatus where during oocyte growth CG will increase in number and migrated towards the cortex. CG will continue to migrate until it reaches the periphery of oocyte, and forming a CG-free area which will surround the oocyte''s spindle in MII stage during oocyte maturation (Tsaadon *et al.*, 2006). Due to the increase in  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$ , CGE is triggered which caused alteration to the ZP gylcoproteins and subsequently allowing syngamy to be established by blocking polyspermy (Ducibella, 1998a,b; Tsaadon *et al.*, 2006). One of the mechanisms that trigger CGE is by calmodulin 17 kDa and Ca2+/CaMK II where both are found at the MII stage spindle and at the cortex of egg (CaMKII) (Tsaadon *et al.*, 2006).

Calmodulin is a ubiquitious intracellular protein with stored  $Ca^{2+}$  while CaMKII is a multifunctional  $Ca^{2+}$  effector that can phosphorylate proteins such as synaptotagmin, synapsin, and synaptophysin (Tsaadon *et al.*, 2006). The action of  $Ca^{2+}/CaMKII$  triggers the CGE by inactivating CSF and MPF (Tsaadon *et al.*, 2006). Studies showed that by activating the activity of CaMKII by using artificial activation such as ethanol can trigger the CGE (Tsaadon *et al.*, 2006). Besides, increase in  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  will also allow PKC (multigene of serine-threonine kinases) to carry out its activity (Tsaadon *et al.*, 2006). As fertilisation or artificial activation occur, phosphatidyl inositol 4,5-biphosphate (PIP2) will stimulate the release of second messengers such as IP<sub>3</sub> and diacyl glycerol (DAG) (Jones and Whittingham, 1996; Ducibella, 1998a,b; Kline, 1996; Fissore *et al.*, 2002a). Binding of IP<sub>3</sub> to IP<sub>3</sub>R which is found in the endoplasmic reticulum subsequently trigger the release of  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  where the increase in  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  will result to CGE (Ducibella, 1998a,b; Tsaadon *et al.*, 2006).

In addition, cytoskeleton also undergoes some changes involving both microtubules and microfilament which are composed of actin, tubulin and intermediate filament proteins. In addition, cytoskeleton also has accessory proteins with different function such as microtubule associated proteins (MAP), actin-binding proteins (ABP), intermediatefilament-associated protein (IFAP) and myosin-binding protein (MBP). Presence of cytoskeleton in cytoplasm was discovered in the 1980s by Porter; Bershadsky and Vasiliev (Malhotra and Shnitka, 1996). Microfilaments are composed by thin filaments known as actin. Microtubules which are the largest filament in the cytoskeletal is made of tubulins and associated protein. The tubulin of microfilaments is composed of  $\alpha$ -tubulin and  $\beta$ - tubulin (Malhotra and Shnitka, 1996; Joshi, 1998). Tubulins play a significant in cytoskeleton during oocyte activation where it acts as a machinery of chromosomes in mitosis, locomotion of cell and cell shape maintenance. Besides, presence of cilia and flagella and mitotic spindle fibers form a more stable structure for microtubules (Gapco, 1996; Malhotra and Shnitka, 1996). Assembles of microtubule with tubulin in the cytosol by polymerisation and unidirectional elongation is regulated by factors such as ion concentrations, microtubule-associated proteins and microtubule-organising-centers (MTOC) (Malthotra and Shnitka, 1996; Tachibana, 2005). The assembles of tubulin can be inhibited by temperature and calcium ions (Malhotra and Shnitka, 1996).

The stability of microtubules is regulated by phosphorylation of the MAP which is catalysed by kinases such as calcium-calmodulin. Thus if MAP is inhibited, it reduce MAP ability to bind to tubulin, causing a decrease in microtubulins stability (Malhotra and Shnitka, 1996). Microtubule-organising centre (MTOC) plays an important role during cell division where duplicated centrioles that formed MTOC will migrate to spindle poles regions. Kinetochores which are formed at the centromic regions of chromotids and attached to spindle fiber during the early prophase stage. Kinotochore fibers will produce force causing chromosome to be at the equator in the metaphase stage. The kinetochore fibers are shortening in the anaphase stage accompanied elongation of the polar fibers, thus allowing the chromosome to move to the opposite poles during anaphase stage. Moreover, MPF also helps to regulate mitosis and meiosis division, where the activity of MPF increase as cells undergoes mitosis division (Malhotra and Shnitka, 1996).

# 2.6.4 Types of Artificial Oocyte Activation

Since increase in intracellular calcium level  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  is the key that permits resumption of meiosis division in fertilisation, numerous procedures on artificial activation has been

established including mechanical, chemical and electrical stimuli that elicit one or several  $Ca^{2+}$  transients in the oocyte (Alberio *et al.*, 2001). The efficiency and success of each mechanisms to activate oocyte are varies depending on the species involved.

#### 2.6.4.1 Chemical activation

There are two ways to activate oocyte using chemical either by single or combined treatment. Chemicals such as calcium ionophore (A23187), strontium chloride (SrCl<sub>2</sub>), phorbol ester (PE), ionomycin (Iono), ethanol (EtOH) and thimerosal help to generate calcium transient (Nakada and Mizuno, 1998). Calcium ionophore induces release of  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  by facilitates influx of extracellular calcium ions (Kline and Kline, 1992). As for ionomycin, it depletes calcium store in order to mobilise  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  (Cibelli *et al.*, 1998; Wells *et al.*, 1999). Study by Presicce and Yang (1994b) showed that treatment of oocytes using 7% of ethanol for 5 to 7 minutes allows pronuclear formation and successful activation. This is achievable as 7% ethanol promotes IP<sub>3</sub> formation and influx of extracellular calcium. These chemical generate a single Ca<sup>2+</sup> rise in oocytes (Alberio *et al.*, 2001).

Various chemicals have been applied to activate oocytes. However, activation protocols must be optimised for use in each species (Krivokharchenko *et al.*, 2003) as different species have different specific effect on the different kinds of chemicals.  $SrCl_2$ induces multiple  $Ca^{2+}$  transients by displacing bound  $Ca^{2+}$  in the oocyte (Whittingham and Siracussa, 1978) and also by inducing intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  release (Kline and Kline, 1992). Earlier study conducted by Wakayama *et al.* (1998) had shown that  $SrCl_2$  is the best chemical treatment which able to activate mouse oocytes after nuclear transfer successfully with higher mean cell numbers in blastocysts compared to the oocytes treated with ethanol. Moreover,  $SrCl_2$  is the only parthenogenetic agent for mouse oocytes that induces repetitive intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> releases in a similar way to normal fertilisation process by sperm (Bos-Mikich *et al.*, 1995a; Kline, 1996). However, in bovine oocytes, study conducted by Meo *et al.* (2004) showed that there are no significant differences on pronuclear formation and cleavage rate when comparing the treatment using SrCl<sub>2</sub> and ethanol. Indeed, Fissore *et al.* (1999) also reported that SrCl<sub>2</sub> does not induce Ca<sup>2+</sup> responses in bovine or porcine oocytes.

The action of endogenous DAG which activates phospholipid-dependent-protein kinase C is mimicked by PE in artificial activation (Nishizuka, 1984). Besides, PE also induces  $Ca^{2+}$  transients and formation of pronuclear in mouse oocytes (Cuthbertson and Cobbold, 1985). Since the activation rate of calcium ionophore is higher compared to PE (Uranga *et al.*, 1996), thus the latter is not used in other mammalian oocytes. Thimerosal which a sulfhydryl-oxidising agents produce repetitive  $Ca^{2+}$  oscillations though the peak and duration of  $Ca^{2+}$  oscillation are shorter compared to activation by sperm cell (Nakada and Mizuno, 1998).

While Fissore *et al.* (1995) demonstrated that thimerosal is found to be effective on bovine oocytes, Cheek *et al.* (1993) found that no oocyte activation was observed in mouse oocytes. However, combination treatment of thimerosal and its inhibitor allow successful embryonic development to blastocyst in pig oocytes (Macháty *et al.*, 1997). Despite the good side of thimerosal, Cheek *et al.* (1993) suggested that, after tubulin and chromatin were stained, destruction in meiotic spindle were detected.

In addition with treatment that increase the calcium level, inhibitors of protein synthesis, protein phosphorylation or histone kinase are used as secondary treatments as a combination during parthenogenetic activation in order to improve oocyte activation (Navara *et al.*, 1994; Susko-Parrish *et al.*, 1994). The parthenogenetic procedures were developed with the idea of combining the need for a rise in  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$ , induced by a brief

exposure to a  $Ca^{2+}$  generator such as calcium ionophore, with persistent kinase inactivation, which was provided by 4 to 6 hours of exposure either to a kinase inhibitor such as 6-dimethylaminopurine (6-DMAP) (Susko-Parrish *et al.*, 1994) or to a protein synthesis inhibitor such as cycloheximide (CHX) (Presicce and Yang, 1994b).

Histone kinase inhibitor prevents reaccumulation of MPF. Parthenogenetic activation is made possible with 6-DMAP as 6-DMAP acts as a protein phosphorylation (serine threonine kinase) inhibitor by inhibiting protein kinase functions and promoting mitosis in both murine and bovine oocytes (Takeuchi *et al.*, 2002). Besides, 6-DMAP also enhances the formation of pronuclear. In the other hand, 6-DMAP can also inhibit extrusion of second polar body, similarly cause second meiotic spindle to disintegrate thus allowing oocyte to enter interphase stage directly with one diploid pronucleus (Ongeri *et al.*, 2001; Tian *et al.*, 2006).

Ongeri *et al.* (2001) also reported that another protein kinase inhibitor such as CHX and CD prevent the reaccumulation of maturating promoting factor (MPF). Studies showed that when treatment of oocytes using single treatment such as calcium ionophore, ethanol, 6-DMAP and CHX alone does not result to optimal parthenogenetic activation. In contrast, sequential combined treatments of calcium ionophore or ethanol with 6-DMAP or CHX plus CD resulted in a higher rate of pronuclear formation and significantly increased the rates of cleavage and blastocyst development (Ongeri *et al.*, 2001; Meo *et al.*, 2007). Another protein synthesis inhibitor i.e. CHX and puromycin are reported to be capable to induce oocyte activation in murine (Moses and Kline, 1995) and human oocytes (Balakier and Casper, 1993). However, these inhibitors are not sufficient to induce activation in rat (Zernicka-Goetz *et al.*, 1993) and porcine oocytes (Nussbaum and Prather, 1995).

The combination of a  $Ca^{2+}$  stimulating substance with a protein synthesis inhibitor has been widely used for activation in murine, caprine, ovine and bovine oocytes (Alberio *et al.*, 2001). Studies in murine showed that combination of calcium ionophore with CHX not only increase the embryonic development to blastocyst, but also gave higher rate in pronuclear formation (Hagemann *et al.*, 1995). In bovine, oocytes treated with ethanol and CHX showed success in producing several offspring in somatic NT (Presicce and Yang, 1994a). However, Soloy *et al.* (1997) found that CHX not only inhibit the proteins that maintaining MPF activity, but also inhibits proteins translations which are responsible for initiating DNA replication. Indeed, Alberio *et al.* (2001) also demonstrated that the initiation of DNA synthesis is delayed in NT embryos activated by ethanol plus CHX.

Combination treatment of calcium ionophore with 6-DMAP in ovine (Loi *et al.*, 1998) and bovine (Liu *et al.*, 1998b) oocytes also result to high activation rate, formation of pronuclear and successful embryonic development to blastocyst stage. However, mouse and bovine oocytes are not activated when incubated in 6-DMAP without previous  $Ca^{2+}$  release (Szöllösi *et al.*, 1993; Liu *et al.*, 1998b). Ongeri *et al.* (2001) and Hou *et al.* (2009) reported that development rate to blastocyst stage of bovine oocytes was higher in ionomycin + 6-DMAP than in ethanol + 6-DMAP treatment. However, oocytes activated with ionomycin + 6-DMAP displays some alterations in the DNA content, reflecting an abnormal pattern of karyokinesis during the first cell cycle (de la Fuente and King, 1998).

In addition, Liu *et al.* (1998b) reported that when bovine oocytes are activated using ethanol + 6-DMAP, it appeared that delayed blastocyst formation with no hatching blastocyst was observed. In contrast, cloned calves are successfully produced when combination treatment of calcium ionophore and 6-DMAP is applied after somatic NT (Alberio *et al.*, 2001). Alberio *et al.* (2001) stated that using protein kinase inhibitors is an efficient way to induce oocyte activation, however, it should be considered that these inhibitors are not interfering with other kinase which involved in other cell functions, whose inhibition may be deleterious in subsequent cellular events after activation.

# **2.6.4.2 Electroactivation**

Activation by electrical pulse can also induce calcium oscillations by forming pores to the plasma membrane. The success rate of this activation treatment is very much dependent on the size of pores, the ionic content in the medium and also cell type (Zimmermann *et al.,* 1985). In this procedure, oocytes were placed between parallel electrodes plates and electric field is generated by direct current voltage. This process would cause protein to be charged in lipid bilayer of the cell membrane to move and pores were formed in the membrane (Zimmerman and Vienken, 1982). The activation oocytes occurred when the extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> transient elevating the [(Ca<sup>2+</sup>)<sub>i</sub>] through the pores during generating the electric field. The process will take about 10 to 40 minutes at 37°C for pore to repair and will take longer duration if the temperature is lower (Bates *et al.,* 1987). This protocol has been used in activating porcine oocytes after nuclear transfer (Tian *et al.,* 2006).

Temperature, together with fluidity of protein and lipids in the membrane will determine the time require for restoring membrane integrity (Zimmermann *et al.*, 1985). When rabbit oocytes are pulsed in the presence of lithium (which prevents the production of IP<sub>3</sub>) oocyte activation is inhibited (Ozil, 1990). This suggests that electrical stimulation induces the production of IP<sub>3</sub> that leads to intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> release (Alberio *et al.*, 2001). Combined treatment of IP<sub>3</sub> electroporation in Ca<sup>2+</sup> or Mg<sup>2+</sup>-free medium followed by 6-DMAP had successfully activated parthenogenetic and NT rabbit oocytes (Mitalipov *et al.*, 1999).

## 2.6.4.3 Mechanical activation

Ca<sup>2+</sup> level can be increased by mechanical disruption of oocyte plasma membrane using a fine needle. Study done by Kawamura (1939) proved that plasma membrane of frog oocytes that were disrupted mechanically could initiate development. Mechanical activation can also be done by inducing the oocytes with the injection needle such as during the ICSI procedure. The injection of sperm into oocyte during ICSI was found to lower the MPF activity of oocyte after ICSI. Other than that, using the Sham-injection or Piezo-drive injection is another alternative to increase the oocyte activation and cleavage rates. Previous research has been reported in murine (Kimura and Yanagimachi, 1995), caprine (Wang *et al.*, 2003) and bovine (Katayose *et al.*, 1999; Wei and Fukui, 2002).

Microinjection of  $Ca^{2+}$  is another way to increase  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  using mechanical stimuli. Studies showed that microinjection of  $Ca^{2+}$  are effective in activating porcine oocytes where it shows similarity in event presence during fertilisation when injecting with  $CaCl_2$  (Macháty *et al.*, 1996). In addition, temperature is also another type of physical stimuli where Stice *et al.* (1994) exposed oocytes to room temperature before nuclear transfer procedure to activate oocytes.

# 2.6.5 Constraints in Artificial Activation

Some drawbacks are cannot be avoided when activating oocytes artificially. One of the important contributing factors is the age of oocyte which related to the time of maturation (Presicce and Yang, 1994a; Bordignon and Smith, 1998). Activation was found to be easily achieved in aged oocytes due to the spontaneous reduction on MPF activity with aging of oocytes (Kikuchi *et al.*, 1995; Wu *et al.*, 1997) and changes in sensitivity of MII oocytes to the internal calcium perturbation provoked by an artificial stimulus (Kubiak, 1989).

However, aging also have a negative effects on oocyte itself. Negative cytoplasmic changes in oocyte causes alterations in components of the cytoskeleton (Collas and Robl, 1990; Kim *et al.*, 1996; Adenot *et al.*, 1997), impairs enucleation through changes in the location and organisation of the second meiotic spindle (Takano *et al.*, 1993; Dominko *et al.*, 2000), which later on affects the embryonic development after fusion (Collas and Robl, 1990; Adenot *et al.*, 1997; Wu *et al.*, 1997; Bordignon and Smith, 1998; Liu *et al.*, 1998b) and increases the frequency of fragmentation and caspases activation which responsible for cell apoptosis (Gordo *et al.*, 2000). Previous studies demonstrated that the dependence on oocyte age for parthenogenetic activation can be reduced by promoting multiple intracellular calcium pulses (Vitullo and Ozil, 1992) or by combining different artificial activation stimulus (Yazawa *et al.*, 1997; Liu *et al.*, 1998a).

Ware *et al.* (1989) and Tsunoda and Kato (1993) suggested that the response of young oocytes to parthenogenetic activation is low in certain species and aged oocytes are often used as recipient oocytes for nuclear transfer of embryonic nuclei (Takano *et al.*, 1993). The chance of aged NT oocytes develop into blastocyst is higher than that of young oocytes in mouse (Taniguchi *et al.*, 1996) and rabbit (Adenot *et al.*, 1997). Contradictorily, there are reports indicating the lower developmental potential of aged bovine (Takano *et al.*, 1996) and murine (Liu *et al.*, 2007) oocytes after parthenogenetic activation compared to the young oocytes.

# 2.7 IN VITRO CULTURE (IVC)

There are various factors that affect the performance of IVC which later on affect the success rate of oocyte and embryo developments either direct or indirect ways. These factors are donor strain, *in vitro* culture media and *in vitro* culture system which included

the pH, temperature, osmolarity, water quality, volume of the culture medium and embryo density, superovulation quality as well as the activation treatment used.

#### **2.7.1 Donor Strains**

Different strains of donor have proven to be crucial components in superovulation responses, *in vitro* fertilisation (IVF) as well as embryonic development of parthenotes. As for murine, it shows that 96% of hybrids of B6CB F1 oocytes recovered after 15 hours of post-hCG which are treated with 10 mM of SrCl<sub>2</sub> for two hours exhibit similar results with Kunming murine oocyte which was treated with the same activation procedure (Bos-Mikich *et al*, 1995a). This will then affect the blastocyst rate (Mizutani *et al.*, 2004).

Mizutani *et al.* (2004) reported that genetic background also can affect parthenogenetic activation of oocyte response *in vitro*. Though the activation treatment used is similar, different strain will result in different response towards the treatment (Kato *et al.* 2001). Similar findings were also reported on rat, where is shows that oocytes from Sprague-Dawley (SD) rats were more readily activated in 1.25 mM strontium for six hours treatment than Wistar strain (Kato *et al.*, 2001).

## 2.7.2 In Vitro Culture Media

van der Valk *et al.* (2010) reported that almost every cell type has its own requirements concerning medium supplements. Different cell types have different receptors involved in cell survival, growth and differentiation and release different factors to their environment. To achieve optimal experimental results, the composition of the culture medium is essential. The simplest medium is the classical Ringer's solution (Ringer and Buxton, 1887), which was developed as a solution with optimal concentrations of different salts to preserve frog heart muscle tissue. In order to maintain cells and tissues for longer periods

of time, the medium should contain components such as nutrients and pH buffering substances. This type of medium was later formulated by Harry Eagle, who developed Eagle's minimal essential medium (MEM) which also contained amino acids, glucose and vitamins (Eagle, 1955).

Mammalian preimplantation embryos have species-specific stages when they are very sensitive to the culture environment and will often fail to develop if exposed to inappropriate conditions (Bavister, 1995). Up to date, recent studies of preimplantation embryos have overcome this block phenomenon in many species, such as murine, hamster, rat, porcine, bovine and ovine, resulting in an increased number of blastocysts rate *in vitro* (Bavister, 1995).

There were various types of chemical semi-defined and defined media used as a basal culture medium depending on the species. For examples, Chatot-Ziomek-Bavister (CZB) (Chatot *et al.*, 1989; Ellington *et al.*, 1990), CR1aa and CR2 (Rosenkrans and First, 1991), potassium Simplex Optimisation Medium (KSOM) (Erbach *et al.*, 1994), G1.2 and G2.2 (Gardner, 1994), Synthetic Oviductal Fluid (SOF) (Tervit *et al.*, 1972; Krisher *et al.*, 1999), BECM (Dobrinsky *et al.*, 1996; Lim *et al.*, 1999), G1 (Krisher *et al.*, 1999) and IVD101 (Abe and Hoshi, 2003).

Several reports has shown that in order to achieve successful embryonic development, oocytes which are treated in  $Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+}$ -free CZB medium can be used to activated enucleated oocytes (Takeuchi *et al.*, 2002). Such condition plays vital role commonly in oocytes treated with strontium, as to prevent excess amount of extracellular calcium ion from interfering the action of strontium in inducing  $(Ca^{2+})_i$  (Takeuchi *et al.*, 2002).

Another important component in culture media is serum which the function is to maintain and proliferate cells. FBS and bovine serum albumin (BSA) commonly serve

most purposes of the standard cells necessity. FBS and BSA are a complex mixture of different factors and contains a large number of components which make it essential for the growth and maintenance of cells like growth factors, energy substrates, proteins, vitamins, trace elements, hormones and amino acids (van der Valk *et al.*, 2010). In addition, it shows that presence of BSA and 0.5 mg/ml of hyaluronic acids in WM medium also improved the development to blastocyst stage in porcine oocytes with lower degenerated embryos observed (Miyano *et al.*, 1994).

The toxic heavy metal and free radical production may remove and prevent from IVC medium by using the antioxidant. The ethylene diaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) could be used for this purpose (Nasr-Esfahani and Johnson, 1992). Moreover, study in ICR strain mouse oocytes culture shows that EDTA in WM medium also improved the success rate of development to blastocyst stage up to 70%. Similar results were observed in C57BL/6 mouse strain oocytes with 65-90% of oocytes successfully develop to blastocyst stage. However, without EDTA, ICR oocytes which developed to blastocysts stages are decreased to 15-30% (Abramczuk *et al.*, 1977). Other antioxidants could be used are thioredoxin and superoxide dismutase (Nonogaki *et al.*, 1991), catalase (Nasr-Esfahani and Johnson, 1992) and vitamin (C and E) (Vermeiden and Bast, 1995).

# 2.7.3 In Vitro Culture System

Culture medium is the place where all the oocytes/embryos get the needed substances, chemicals and ion concentrations from. Many oocyte damages and arresting stages effects the embryonic developments of the matured oocyte was due to the extreme exposure of some chemicals or pH levels which brought to the oocytes by the cultured medium (Hannoun *et al.*, 2010).

Mammalian cells are generally grown under well-established conditions in incubators, where the temperature is typically kept at 37°C with a controlled humidified gas mixture of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 95% O<sub>2</sub>. The physical nature of embryo culture, temperature, pH, osmolarity, oxygen concentration, degree of humidification, oil used and embryo density are varied among laboratories.

## 2.7.3.1 Temperature

The suitable temperature was obtained in many previous research is 37°C in the IVF cases with follicular fluid temperatures between 36.4 to 36.9°C during egg retrieval had higher rates of blastocyst development, rates of embryo implantation and live birth success rates compared to cases that had lower or higher or much lower temperatures. The well-established optimal temperature for culturing mammalian embryos is around 37°C (Lenz *et al.*, 1983). However, in bovine oocytes it showed that oocytes which are incubated at higher than 39°C temperature has higher viability compared than those being incubated at 35°C and 37°C. Besides, bovine oocytes which are incubated at 39°C also showed higher number of oocytes that develop from 1-cell to blastocysts stage (Staigmiller, 1988). As the temperatures of media were different between species, we use 37.5°C and 38.5°C as the optimal incubation temperature for murine and caprine/bovine respectively.

## 2.7.3.2 pH

Each organism has a specific range of pH levels they can survive. pH is an important parameter which effect on embryonic development. Any sudden changes in pH level can harm organisms. Due to the limited ability of embryos to regulate their internal pH, an optimal external pH of culture is vital during embryos culture (Swain, 2010). This was the reason why all the living cells, tissues and organs have constant level of pH along the life

and during the development processes. Studies showed that when bovine oocytes placed in acidic pH, the rate of blastocyst development decreases, which suggest a suitable pH is important for both laboratory procedures as well as for embryo quality (Swain, 2010 and Ocon and Hansen, 2010). The optimum pH for embryo culture as conducted by Iwamatsu and Chang is pH 6 to 7 (Iwamatsu and Chang, 1971). Furthermore, Ikuta *et al.* (2002) also reported that the optimal and suitable pH level for the living cell is 6 to 7. However, in our lab, the pH of IVC medium was maintained at range 7.2 to 7.4 for murine, caprine as well as bovine embryo cultivation.

## 2.7.3.3 Water quality

Water is the most crucial component in preparing culture medium for embryonic development (Fukuda *et al.*, 1987). Besides, the basis of all culture media is water (Loutradis *et al.*, 2006). Therefore, uncontrolled water quality will have a detrimental effect on embryonic development. A research was conducted on bovine oocytes where oocytes were cultured in four different types of water preparation which are tap water, deionized water, twice-distilled water and purified water using Milli-Q system. The result obtained shows that a higher embryonic development to blastocyst in media prepared with Milli-Q water compared to other three types of water preparation (Nagao *et al.*, 1995). In addition, the duration of storage of water also plays an important role. Study conducted by Nagao *et al.* (1995) shows that a higher frequency in embryos development to blastocyst when oocytes were cultured in media with freshly prepared Milli-Q compared to the oocytes cultured in media prepared by Milli-Q stored for one week. Also, fresh Milli-Q water has the lowest organic compounds concentration, total organic carbon, endotoxin concentrations and electrical conductivity (Nagao *et al.*, 1995; Elsheikh *et al.*, 2003).

#### 2.7.3.4 Osmolarity

Although mammalian cells express a reasonable wide tolerance to osmolarity, osmolarity should always be carefully checked and coordinated properly in order to provide the optimal environment for development. The osmolarity of media was kept at 270 to 280 mOsm/kg (Tervit *et al.,* 1972; Younis *et al.,* 1991) or 280 to 300 mOsm/kg (Brackett and Oliphant, 1975; Takahashi and First, 1992).

#### 2.7.3.5 Volume of the culture medium and embryo density

In order to support *in vitro* development, embryos from laboratory animals (murine, rats, hamsters, rabbits) and domestic animals (bovine, caprine, ovine) have been empirically cultured in drops of medium (e.g., 50 to 200  $\mu$ l) covered with mineral oil. Recent studies in murine and ovine showed that the volume of medium and embryo density (number per unit volume) are important factors that influence early embryo development (Wiley *et al.*, 1986; Lane and Gardner, 1992; Gardner *et al.*, 1994; Kato and Tsunoda, 1994). Embryo development was found stimulated when zygotes or embryos were cultured in a small volume of medium (10  $\mu$ l) with high embryo density in these species. Some investigators have interpreted this as indicating that embryos secrete a stimulators that acts on the embryos in an autocrine and/or paracrine manner. The concentration of the putative stimulator may be maintained high enough to affect embryo development in a small drop (Kite *et al.*, 1997).

## 2.7.3.6 Superovulation quality

Superovulation is a very important method in order to obtain large numbers of good quality oocytes. It is necessary to be done very carefully to successfully get the needed amount of oocytes which can later on proceed to the various experiment needed. Any disturbance of superovulation process either directly or indirectly can negatively impact the quality of the oocytes obtained.

Chapter 3

# 3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Chapter 3

#### **3.0 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

## **3.1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

In this present research, there were 3 main laboratories used to conduct the experiments, namely Animal Biotechnology-Embryo Laboratory (ABEL), Embryo Micromanipulation Laboratory (EMiL) which both were located at the Institute of Biological Sciences (ISB) and Nuclear Transfer and Reprogramming Laboratory (NaTuRe) located at the Institute of Postgraduate Studies (IPS) at the University of Malaya. There were 3 species of experimental animals used in this study, which were murine, caprine and bovine species. Murine species, used as model animals, were bred at the Animal House, ISB Mini Farm (ISBMF). Caprine oocyte samples were obtained from the ISBMF whereas for bovine samples, the ovaries were collected abattoirs of the Department of Veterinary Services Abattoir Complex at Shah Alam and Senawang. This research was conducted from November 2009 to April 2012.

# **3.2 MATERIALS**

The materials used in this present research include various facilities, experimental animals, equipment, instruments, labwares, glasswares, disposable materials, chemicals, reagents and media.

#### 3.2.1 Facilities

The facilities used in this study included Animal House which supplied murine as experimental animals; Department of Veterinary Services Abattoir Complex at Shah Alam and Senawang as a source of ovary samples of bovine; ISBMF which was a source of live experimental caprine; NaTuRe Laboratory for laparoscopic oocytes pick-up (LOPU) surgery and ovariectomy; ABEL and EMiL Laboratory for parthenogenetic experiments.

#### **3.2.2** Experimental Animals

In this study, there were 3 experimental animals used which were murine, caprine and bovine species. For murine, there were 3 different strains used which were ICR strain (white), C57BL/6J strain (black) and CBA/ca strain (brown). Only murine females, aged between 6 to 8 weeks, were used as oocyte donors for the model experiments. The murine were kept in a clean cage with sawdust as bedding purpose and separated based on its gender, strain and age. Some were mixed between male (8 to 10 weeks) and female (6 to 8 weeks) with ratio of 2:3 male to female to allow mating in order to provide more offspring for experiments. The pregnant females were separated into a single cage until the pups were born and weaned about 1 month old, sorted according to gender. The condition of breeding area in the Animal House was maintained with suitable temperature with natural light and dark cycles. Natural light period was approximately 12 hours (0600 to 1800 hours) per day, while the natural dark period was approximately 12 hours (1800 to 0600 hours) per day. Besides, Animal House was also maintained with sufficient air supply as well as good ventilation. The murine were provided with commercial feed pellet and clean drinking water *ad libitum*. They were checked from time to time to ensure enough feed and clean drinking water.

Whereas for caprine, Jamnapari crossbred, Boer crossbred and local mixed breed does age ranging from 12 to 60 months old were used in this research. For LOPU, the does were treated for oestrus synchronisation and superovulation, according to specific regiment before surgery was performed. Oocytes were collected from 2 ovaries from each doe.

#### **3.2.3** Equipment and Instruments

The model number, manufacturer's and supplier's name for all the equipment used in the present study are listed in Appendix Table 1.1. The commonly used equipment includes flushing and aspiration system (Cook Australia, Australia), laparoscopic system (Aesculap A.G. and Company, Germany), surgical set (Aesculap A.G. and Company, Germany), inverted microscope (Olympus Optical CO., Ltd., Japan) with micromanipulators (Narishige Co., Ltd., Japan), laminar flow (Gelman Sciences Pty. Ltd., Australia), stereomicroscope (Olympus Optical Co., Ltd., Japan), stage warmer (Linkam Scientific Instrument, England), La banana (self-assembled), and micropipette dispenser (Eppendorf, Germany), CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (Kendro Laboratory Products, Germany), autoclave (Hirayama Manufacturing Corporation, Tokyo, Japan), oven (Memmert GmbH, Germany), water bath (Memmert GmbH, Germany), ultrapure water system (Millipore, USA), pH meter (Hanna Instruments, Singapore), osmometer (Wescor, Inc., USA), centrifuge machine (Kendro Laboratory Products, Germany), mater bath (MVE, USA) and fluorescent microscope (Carl-Zeiss Inc., Germany).

## 3.2.4 Labwares, Glasswares and Disposable Materials

The model number, manufacturer's and supplier's name for each of the labwares, glassware and disposable materials used in this study are presented in the Appendix Table 1.2. Some of the common disposable materials used were graduated test tubes (14 ml, Becton Dickinson Labware, USA), Nunc 4-well dishes (Nunc, Denmark), small polysterene culture dish (11 mm; Becton Dickinson Labware, USA), medium polystyrene culture dishes (35 mm; Becton Dickinson Labware, USA), syringe (Terumo Corporation, Japan) and aluminium foil (Reynolds Consumer, USA).
#### 3.2.5 Chemicals, Reagents and Media

All chemicals, reagents and media used were purchased mainly from Sigma-Aldrich Co., USA. The model number, manufacturer's and supplier's name for all the chemicals, reagents and media involved in this research are listed in Appendix Table 1.3. The pH for all the media prepared were adjusted to pH 7.2 to 7.4, while the osmolarity was adjusted to 280 to 285 mOsm.

#### **3.3 METHODS**

The methodology section was divided into 4 main sub-sections: (1) preparation of ambience for a successful *in vitro* production (IVP); (2) preparation of hormones, stocks and media; (3) preparation of microtools; and (4) experimental procedures. In order to provide easy description, the sub-sections were then further sub-divided into sub-sub-sections.

#### 3.3.1 Preparation of Ambience for a Successful *In Vitro* Production (IVP)

Before conducting any IVP experiments involving *in vitro* maturation, *in vitro* fertilisation and parthenogenesis, it is very vital to ensure that the laboratory follows a strict cleanliness and sterile protocols throughout the experiments. In other words, to prevent contamination by bacteria and fungus on every culture, cleanliness and sterilisation is very important right from the commencement of the experiments. Besides, the laboratory must also be in accident-free environment to prevent untoward circumstances as well as to ensure successful outcomes in IVP. Moreover, it is also important to minimise potential infection and contamination from any sources. Every laboratory user is responsible to keep the laboratory and equipment inside in a very good condition and maintain it throughout the experimental duration, especially when handling embryo culture which can be easily contaminated. In this research, all necessary preparations were taken before conducting IVP or parthenogenesis experiments as described below.

### **3.3.1.1** Water quality

All the media used in this study were self-prepared using ultrapure water as a based medium. Thus, it is important to have a reliable source of ultrapure water system. This is because ultrapure water is necessary to prevent bacterial contamination from surrounding environment. To prepare all the media, we used ultrapure water system (Milli-Q UF Plus) which included particular filtration, activated carbon cartridge filtration, reverse osmosis (RO) and electrodeionisation (EDI), ultraviolet oxidation system followed by Milli-Q UF Plus of at least 18 M $\Omega$  cm. The filtration of the ultrapure water system was through a membrane filter (0.22 µm) to eliminate trace particles as well as to prevent bacterial contamination in the environment from contaminating the media.

### 3.3.1.2 Air quality

Similar to water quality, air quality also plays an important role to ensure success in every IVP experiment. This is because the incubator used in the laboratory obtained air directly from the laboratory itself. Besides, since oocytes have no defense mechanism like other organism, whose first line of defense against any environmental hazards are vulnerable, thus it is very critical to maintain good air quality within the laboratory itself.

Some of the most common air pollutants as described by Elder and Dale (2000) include 1) volatile compounds which are released by cleaning procedures such as ethanol, besides which is being produced by laboratory instruments such as microscopes; 2) small inorganic molecules such as sulphur dioxide (SO<sub>2</sub>) and carbon monoxide (CO); 3) substances from building materials such as aldehydes from flooring adhesives and 4) other

polluting compounds which may release from perfume or even propellant aerosols. Therefore, it is very important to minimise the level of air pollution in the laboratory. In our laboratory, we ensured that the air quality was conducive to embryo development.

### **3.3.1.3** General cleanliness and sterilisation of research laboratory

All the media and solutions used for experiments in this study were prepared in laminar flow work station (Gelman Sciences, Australia) under fluorescent light when it is necessary.

Before conducting any experiment in the laminar flow work station, the surface of the laminar flow work station, bench work, microscopes, microscopes stages and other equipment such as micropipettes were wiped with ethanol (70%; HmBG Chemicals, Germany). Any residual ethanol left was allowed to evaporate for at least 20 minutes before conducting experiments. The bottles containing reagents and media, and apparatus such as glass pipettes were flamed before used to make it more sterile. Any spillage were wiped with dry tissue and if necessary, with 70% ethanol. After completing experiment, the surface of laminar flow work station and microscopes stages were wiped once again with 70% ethanol. Water bath (Memmert GmBh, Germany) was also cleaned and the water was changed frequently.

All labwares and Pyrex glasswares used for medium preparation and surgical instruments were initially soaked in 1% v/v 7X detergent (Linbro, Flow Laboratories, Australia) for about half an hour before scrubbed thoroughly using a brush or sponge and then washed under running tap water. The glasswares and surgical instruments were then rinsed thoroughly with reverse-osmosis (RO) water (Milli-Q System, Millipore Products, USA). After that, the cap of glasswares were loosely placed and covered with a layer of aluminium foil. Autoclave tape was placed onto the aluminium cover for identification

later. On the other hand, conical tubes and micropipette tips were placed in an autoclave bag and sealed tightly, and a piece of autoclave tape was placed on the autoclave bag. All of these instruments and glasswares then were autoclaved (Hiclave Model HA-300M11, Hirayama, Japan) for 20 minutes at 121°C with pressure (15 lb/sq in) and later dried in an oven (60°C) before stored in a cool, dry plastic container at room temperature (25°C). After autoclaving was finished, the glassware caps were tightened a little bit to prevent any contaminants from entering. As a precaution, the caps were not tightened completely until the glasswares had cooled to prevent a vacuum forming in the glasswares.

Pre-packed disposable and sterile Falcon tubes (Becton Dickinson, USA) plastic Petri dishes and pipettes were used for conventional tissue culture and manipulation. Rubber tubing of La banana, which was connected to the Pasteur pipette, was sterilised with alcohol (70%) first before leaving it in UV light for 15 to 30 minutes for sterilisation purposes.

### 3.3.1.4 Maintenance of carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) incubator

In vitro culture of embryos needs to be conducted in  $CO_2$  (5%) incubator to maintain the pH at 7.2 to 7.4 in bicarbonate-buffered culture medium system. The  $CO_2$  incubator (HERAcell 240; Kendro Laboratory Products, Germany) was carefully calibrated and controlled by monitoring it regularly and the LED display of temperature was checked with independent readings. It is vital to maintain the temperature at 38.5°C for caprine and bovine samples whereas for murine sample the optimum temperature was 37°C throughout the culture to obtain the highest cleavage rates. Besides  $CO_2$  (5%) in humidified air, triple gas mixture of  $CO_2$  (5%),  $O_2$  (5%) and  $N_2$  (90%) gas phase was needed to increase the optimum environment for embryos development *in vitro*.

Basically, the  $CO_2$  incubator was cleaned at least once a month. The cleaning regime of  $CO_2$  incubator includes wiping the inside walls, doors and racks with sterile RO water using sterile towel. The water in the incubator was changed and the tray was filled with sterile RO water during every cleaning. Moreover, the process of repeating opening and closing of the incubator door was kept to minimum, if possible, in order to stabilise the culture environment inside the incubator.

### 3.3.1.5 Mineral oil and silicone oil

It is very important to cover the microdroplets when culturing oocytes and embryos. There were various types of oil that were used to overlay the microdroplets which include mineral oil, paraffin oil and silicone oil. In this study, mineral oil (M8410; Sigma-Aldrich Co., USA) was used to overlay *in vitro* maturation, parthenogenetic activation culture and *in vitro* culture microdroplets for caprine and bovine. However, silicone oil (SI380-00; Systerm<sup>®</sup>, Malaysia) was used for parthenogenetic activation culture and *in vitro* culture microdroplets for murine.

The reason of using mineral oil and silicone oil is because they have a very clear appearance as well as less toxic to oocytes and embryos. Thus, usage of equilibrated mineral oil and silicone oil allow good results to be achieved, beside able to maintain the quality laboratory environment. The main purpose of covering the microdroplets by overlaying the equilibrated mineral oil or silicone oil is to prevent evaporation and delay gas diffusion as well as to stabilise the pH, temperature and osmolarity of the microenvironment surrounding the oocytes and embryos during taking outside the  $CO_2$  incubator. Besides, these oils can serve as physical barrier by separating the microdroplets from atmosphere and also airborne particles or pathogens.

#### **3.3.2** Preparation of Hormone

Each experiment conducted requires a large numbers of oocytes at one time to save time, energy, materials and also chemicals. Gonadotrophins such as pregnant mare's serum gonadotrophin (PMSG) and human chorionic gonadotrophin (hCG) were the hormones used to induce the superovulation in caprine and murine donors. PMSG mimics the endogenous effect of follicle stimulating hormone (FSH), whereas hCG mimics the effect of luteinising hormone (LH) in the donor to increase the rate of ovulation.

The importance of administered the hormone treatment in two folds, as not only to increase the rate of ovulation in female donors, but similarly to control the timing of ovulation of female donors, so that it is independent from the natural oestrous cycle. Hormones prepared were filter-sterilised using Millipore filter (0.22  $\mu$ m) to prevent contamination. Moreover, the hormones were kept frozen at -20°C and thawed at room temperature prior used.

### 3.3.2.1 Preparation of pregnant mare's serum gonadotrophin (PMSG)

PMSG is a natural glycoprotein which consists of two sub-units (alpha and beta). PMSG (Folligon, Intervet International B.V., Boxmeer, Holland) has FSH-like and LH-like activities. Besides, PMSG also mimic the endogenous effect of FSH. PMSG was administered in order to increase number of follicles, as well as to stimulate the ovarian function and activity of the female donor. Furthermore, it also helped to improve fertility in oestrus-synchronised animals as well as to induce superovulation.

PMSG was presented as white freeze-dried crystalline powder (1000 IU per vial). As for the preparation of PMSG for caprine donor, 2 vials of PMSG (1000 IU x 2) were dissolved in sterile solvent (2 ml each vial) which comes along with PMSG packaging. The solution was mixed thoroughly by sucking in and out several times. 3 ml of the solution was sucked into 5 ml syringe to make the concentration at 1500 IU and stored at -20°C until used. The rest of the solution was sealed and kept frozen. As for the preparation of PMSG for murine, 1 vial of PMSG was mixed thoroughly with 20 ml of sterile solvent by sucking in and out few times to ensure all of the crystalline powder mixed perfectly. The PMSG solution then was sucked into 1 ml syringe 1 ml each, to make 20 syringes where the concentration now is 50 IU each syringe. All the syringes then kept frozen at -20°C until used. PMSG can be stored up to 3 months without deterioration in quality of the hormone.

### **3.3.2.2** Preparation of human chorionic gonodotrophin (hCG)

hCG was used to increase the ovulation rate in the female murine donor. hCG (Chorulon, Intervet International B.V., Boxmeer, Holland) was administered to the female donor because it mimics the effect of LH. hCG was presented as white freeze-dried crystalline powder (5000 IU per vial). hCG was prepared by dissolving 1 vial of hCG into 100 ml of sterile solvent which comes along with hCG packaging. The solution was mixed thoroughly by sucking in and out few times to ensure all of the crystalline powder mixed perfectly. The hCG solution then was sucked into 1 ml syringe 1 ml each, to make 100 syringes where the concentration now is 50 IU each syringe. All the syringes then kept frozen at -20°C until used. Similar with PMSG, hCG also can be stored in this form for three months without deterioration in its quality.

### **3.3.2.3** Preparation of ovidrel

Ovidrel<sup>TM</sup> (Merck Serono S.p.A., Switzerland) is a gonadotrophin ovulation stimulator which is used to increase the ovulation rate in the female caprine donor. It has a similar function as hCG. Ovidrel was administered to the female donor because it mimics

the effect of LH. Ovidrel was presented in a pre-filled syringe as a ready-made solution (250  $\mu$ g/0.5 ml). Ovidrel was prepared by mixing 0.5 ml ready-made ovidrel into of Milli-Q water (25.5 ml) to make a total 26 ml solution. The solution was mixed thoroughly by sucking in and out few times to ensure all of the crystalline powder mixed perfectly. The ovidrel solution then was sucked into 1 ml syringe 1 ml each, to make 26 syringes where the concentration now is 250 IU each syringe. All the syringes then kept frozen at -20°C until used. Similar with PMSG, ovidrel also can be stored in this form for 3 months without deterioration in its quality.

# 3.3.3 Preparation of Stock Solutions and Media

All of the media used this study were freshly prepared before each experiments in laminar flow work station, to ensure they were in a fresh and sterile condition. For sterility purpose, purified Milli-Q water was used as a base medium with the aim to prevent contamination. In order to measure the chemicals in powder form, digital analytical balance (Model AB204, Mettler Toledo, Switzerland) was used, whereas the chemicals in liquid form were measured using sterile disposable plastic pipette.

As for the pH of the medium, it was adjusted to pH 7.2-7.4 using pH meter (HI 8417, HANNA Instruments, Singapore). Besides keeping the chemical weight precise and also maintaining the pH of the chemical and medium, it is also important to maintain the osmolarity of the medium. The osmolarity of medium was adjusted to 280 to 285 mOsm using osmometer (Model 5500, WESCOR Instrument, USA). In order to prevent the medium from contamination, the medium was sterilised by filtration using disposable syringe-driven Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m; Schleicher and Schuell, Germany). The entire medium prepared was either stored in bottles (100 to 1000 ml) or aliquot in microcentrifuge tubes (0.2 to 1 ml; Eppendorf GmbH, Germany) and they were kept in a

refrigerator at  $(4^{\circ}C)$  or freezer  $(-20^{\circ}C)$  as needed. Media without addition of bovine serum albumin (BSA) can be kept for 3 or 6 months. On the other hand, media with addition of BSA had to be used within a week, and was stored in a refrigerator at  $4^{\circ}C$ .

### **3.3.3.1** Preparation of stocks and media for murine samples

# **3.3.3.1 (a)** Preparation of modified hepes Whitten's medium (HWM) stock solution

Modified HWM medium was used as a holding medium in murine species for manipulation outside the incubator such as collecting oviduct, washing, rinsing oocytes after oocytes retrieval. Modified HWM medium was actually based on the HWM medium prepared by Whittingham (1971) which later was modified by Whitten (1971). Table 3.1 represents HWM medium stock preparation:

Component	Sigma Cat. No.	g/100 ml
NaCl	S5886	0.5140
KCl	P5405	0.0356
KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	P5655	0.0162
MgSO <sub>4</sub> .7H <sub>2</sub> O	M8150	0.0294
NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	S5761	0.0304
Na Hepes	H3784	0.6508
Ca Lactate	L4388	0.0338
Na Lactate (60% syrup)	L7900	0.3700 ml
Na Pyruvate	P4562	0.0029
D-Glucose	G6152	0.1000
Penicillin G	PENNA	0.0075
Streptomycin	S9137	0.0050
Phenol Red	P3532	0.0010
BSA	A7906	0.3000
Autoclaved Milli-Q water		100 ml
Total volume		100 ml

**Table 3.1:** Composition of modified HWM stock solution

The stock solution was checked for pH (7.25±0.5) and osmolarity (255 to 270 mOsm). The stock was then filter-sterilised using syringe-driven Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m) into sterile bottles (100 ml) and stored (4°C) for 6 months. The stock medium needs to be supplemented with the following chemicals before being used:

**Table 3.2:** Composition of modified HWM working solution

Amount/10 ml
10 ml
0.03 g
10 ml

Modified HWM working solution was filter-sterilised by Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m;) into centrifuge tube (15 ml; Becton Dickinson, USA) and warmed up in a water bath (37°C) before used. However, it only can be stored up to 1 week in a refrigerator (4°C).

# **3.3.3.1 (b)** Preparation of modified Whitten's medium (WM) stock solution

Modified WM medium was prepared based on Whitten's medium (Whitten, 1971) with some modification. Modified WM medium was used as *in vitro* culture medium in murine species as well as a base medium in parthenogenetic chemical preparation. Table 3.3 represents WM medium stock preparation:

**Table 3.3:** Composition of modified WM stock solution

Component	Sigma Cat. No.	g/100 ml
NaCl	S5886	0.5140
KCl	P5405	0.0356
KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	P5655	0.0162
MgSO <sub>4</sub> .7H <sub>2</sub> O	M8150	0.0294
NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	S5761	0.1900
Na Hepes	H3784	0.6508

(continued)

(continued)		
Ca Lactate	L4388	0.0338
Na Lactate (60% syrup)	L7900	0.3700 ml
Na Pyruvate	P4562	0.0029
D-Glucose	G6152	0.1000
Penicillin G	PENNA	0.0075
Streptomycin	S9137	0.0050
L-Glutamine	G3126	0.0146
Taurine	T0625	0.0125
Phenol Red	15100-43	0.0010
BSA	A7906	0.3000
Autoclaved Milli-Q water		100 ml
Total volume		100 ml

The stock solution was checked for pH (7.25±0.5) and osmolarity (255 to 270 mOsm). The stock was then filter-sterilised using syringe-driven Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m) into sterile bottles (100 ml) and stored (4°C) for 6 months. Modified WM stock solution needs to be supplemented with the following chemicals before being used:

**Table 3.4:** Composition of modified WM working solution

Component	Amount/10 ml
WM stock solution	10 ml
BSA (Sigma; A7906)	0.03 g
Total volume	10 ml

Modified WM working solution was filter-sterilised by Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m) into centrifuge tube (15 ml) and preincubated for at least 3 hours in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%) at 37°C before used. However, it only can be stored up to 1 week in a refrigerator (4°C).

# **3.3.3.1 (c)** Preparation of Chatot, Ziomek and Bavier (CZB) Ca<sup>2+</sup> free activation medium

Basically, CZB  $Ca^{2+}$  free activation medium was formulated by Chatot *et al.* (1989). CZB  $Ca^{2+}$  free activation medium was used as a base medium in parthenogenetic chemical

preparation for strontium chloride (SrCl<sub>2</sub>) and cytochalasin B (CB) combination in murine.

Table 3.5 represents CZB Ca<sup>2+</sup> free activation medium stock preparation:

Component	Sigma Cat. No.	g/100 ml
NaCl	S5886	0.4790
KCl	P5405	0.0360
KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	P5655	0.0160
MgSO <sub>4</sub> .7H <sub>2</sub> O	M8150	0.0290
NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	S5761	0.2100
Na Lactate (60% syrup)	L7900	0.5300 ml
D-Glucose	G6152	0.1000
Phenol Red	15100-43	0.0010
BSA	A7906	0.5000
Autoclaved Milli-Q water		99 ml
Total volume		100 ml

**Table 3.5:** Composition of CZB Ca<sup>2+</sup> free activation medium stock

The stock solution was checked for pH (7.25±0.5) and osmolarity (255 to 270 mOsm). The stock was then filter-sterilised using syringe-driven Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m) into sterile bottles (100 ml) and stored (4°C) for 3 months. CZB Ca<sup>2+</sup> free activation medium stock can be straight away mixed with SrCl<sub>2</sub> and CB in a proper amount and preincubated for at least 3 hours in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%) at 37°C before used.

## 3.3.3.1 (d) Preparation of parthenogenetic activation medium

There were several types of chemical used as an activation medium in order to activate murine oocytes. All the preparations of stock medium were sub-divided as below.

### 3.3.3.1 (d) (i) Preparation of cytochalasin B (CB) stock solution

CB (Sigma; C6762) was one of the several options used to activate murine oocytes. It was used along with calcium elevator such as calcium ionophore (A23187), ionomycin (Iono) and ethanol (EtOH) as a combination treatment. Whole content of CB vial (1 mg) was

dissolved into DMSO (2 ml; Sigma; D8779) to make the intial concentration as 500  $\mu$ g/ml and labeled as "Stock A". "Stock A" was aliquot (10  $\mu$ l) into microcentrifuge tubes (1.5 ml), wrapped in aluminium foil and stored up to 6 months in a freezer (-20°C). On the day of experiment, one tube of Stock A was taken out from the freezer and equilibrated CZB Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free medium (890  $\mu$ l) and SrCl<sub>2</sub> (100  $\mu$ l) were added and mixed well. The final concentration of this working solution now was 5  $\mu$ g/ml and can be immediately used to make a microdroplet culture.

### 3.3.3.1 (d) (ii) Preparation of strontium chloride (SrCl<sub>2</sub>) stock solution

SrCl<sub>2</sub> (Sigma; 255521) was one of the several options used to activate murine oocytes. It was used along with CB as a combination treatment. There were five concentrations of SrCl<sub>2</sub> used in this experiment. SrCl<sub>2</sub> powder (0.0053, 0.0107, 0.0160, 0.0213 and 0.0266 g) was mixed with Milli-Q water (1 ml) separately in microcentrifuge tubes (1.5 ml) to make the initial concentration (20, 40, 60, 80 and 100  $\mu$ M) respectively and labeled as "Stock A". "Stock A" was aliquot (100  $\mu$ I) into microcentrifuge tubes (1.5 ml), wrapped in aluminium foil and stored up to 6 months in a freezer (-20°C). On the day of experiment, one tube of "Stock A" was taken out from the freezer and CB stock (10  $\mu$ I) along with CZB-Ca<sup>2+</sup> free activation medium (890  $\mu$ I) was added and mixed well (the final concentration: 2, 4, 6, 8 and 10  $\mu$ M). These working solutions can be immediately used to make a microdroplet culture. The culture dishes were pre-incubated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%) at 37°C for at least 3 hours before used. Table 3.6 shows the preparation of SrCl<sub>2</sub>+ CB in CZB-Ca<sup>2+</sup> free activation medium:

Component	Concentration	Amount/1000 µl
CZB-Ca <sup>2+</sup> free activation medium		890 µl
SrCl <sub>2</sub> stock	20, 40, 60, 80 or 100 µM	100 µl
CB stock	5 μg/ml	10 µl
Total volume		1000 µl

**Table 3.6:** Composition of CZB-Ca<sup>2+</sup> free working solution

### 3.3.3.1 (d) (iii) Preparation of calcium ionophore (A23187) stock solution

Calcium ionophore A23187 (Sigma; C7522) was used as one of the several options to activate murine oocytes right after denuding the cumulus cells after IVM culture. A whole content of calcium ionophore bottle (10 mg) was dissolved into dimethyl sulfoxide; DMSO (32.8 ml; Sigma; D8779) to make the initial concentration as 500  $\mu$ M and labeled as "Stock A". "Stock A" was aliquot (10  $\mu$ l) into microcentrifuge tubes (1.5 ml), wrapped in aluminium foil and stored up to 6 months in a freezer (-20°C). On the day of experiment, one tube of "Stock A" was taken out from the freezer and equilibrated *in vitro* culture medium; WM (990  $\mu$ l) was added and mixed well. The final concentration of this working solution was 5  $\mu$ M and can be immediately used to make a microdroplet culture.

## 3.3.3.1 (d) (iv) Preparation of ethanol (EtOH) stock solution

Ethanol (System ChemAR<sup>®</sup>; ET 150-50) was used as one of the several options to activate murine oocytes right after denuding the cumulus cells after IVM culture. The initial concentration of commercial absolute EtOH is 100%. Absolute EtOH needs to be stored in a refrigerator (4°C) and took out prior oocytes activation in order ensure that the final concentration was not deviated as the absolute EtOH easy to evaporate. Absolute EtOH (70  $\mu$ l, 80  $\mu$ l and 90  $\mu$ l) was respectively dispensed into microcentrifuge tubes (1.5 ml) and mixed with equilibrated *in vitro* culture medium (WM; 930  $\mu$ l, 920  $\mu$ l and 910  $\mu$ l) to make the final concentration of EtOH (7%, 8% and 9%). EtOH working solution can be immediately used to make a microdroplet culture.

### 3.3.3.1 (d) (v) Preparation of 6-dimethylaminopurine (6-DMAP) stock solution

6-DMAP (Sigma; D2629) was one of the several options used to activate murine oocytes. It was used along with calcium elevator such as calcium ionophore, ionomycin or ethanol as a combination treatment. Whole content of 6-DMAP bottle (250 mg) was dissolved into Milli-Q water (7.7 ml) to make the intial concentration as 200 mM and labeled as "Stock A". "Stock A" was aliquot (10  $\mu$ l) into microcentrifuge tubes (1.5 ml), wrapped in aluminium foil and stored up to 6 months in a freezer (-20°C). On the day of experiment, one tube of "Stock A" was taken out from the freezer and equilibrated *in vitro* culture medium; WM (990  $\mu$ l) was added and mixed well. The final concentration of this working solution was 2 mM and can be immediately used to make a microdroplet culture.

### 3.3.3.1 (d) (vi) Preparation of cycloheximide (CHX) stock solution

CHX (Sigma; C4859) was one of the several options used to activate murine oocytes. It was used along with calcium elevator such as calcium ionophore, ionomycin or ethanol as a combination treatment. The initial concentration of CHX ready-made solution is 100 mg/ml in 1 ml vial. Whole content of CHX stock was dissolved into DMSO (100 ml; Sigma; D8779) to make the initial concentration as 1 mg/ml and labeled as "Stock A". "Stock A" was aliquot (10  $\mu$ l) into microcentrifuge tubes (1.5 ml), wrapped in aluminium foil and stored up to 6 months in a refrigerator (4°C). On the day of experiment, one tube of "Stock A" was taken out from the refrigerator and equilibrated *in vitro* culture medium; WM (990  $\mu$ l) was added and mixed well. The final concentration of this working solution was 10  $\mu$ g/ml and can be immediately used to make a microdroplet culture.

### 3.3.3.2 Preparation of stocks and media for caprine and bovine samples

Basically, the media used in caprine IVP were similar as the media used in bovine IVP. Therefore, the preparation of all of the media was done once for both caprine and bovine usage.

# **3.3.3.2 (a)** *Preparation of normal saline*

Basically, normal saline was prepared in a 1 L bottle (Duran®, Germany) by adding up sodium chloride and heparin in 1 L of Milli-Q water as listed in Table 3.7 below. Normal saline was inserted into animal body as a replacement of body fluid lost during surgery. Normal saline was autoclaved to make it sterile and kept in the refrigerator (4°C) up to 3 months for future use and warmed in a water bath (38.5°C) prior used.

<b>Table 3.7:</b> Composition of normal saline
--

Components	Volume/weight
Autoclaved Milli-Q water	1 L
Sodium chloride (Sigma; S5886)	9 g
Heparin (Sigma; H0777)	0.1 g
Total volume	1 L

# 3.3.3.1 (b) Preparation of flushing medium for laparoscopic oocyte pick-up (LOPU)

Flushing medium was used for flushing microvolumes of fluid into the ovarian follicle, and aspirated the oocytes together with fluid from the follicle which connected to a flushing and aspiration system. Flushing medium was prepared a day before oocytes retrieval by LOPU. The aspirated medium was collected in a flushing tube to be searched for oocytes under a stereomicroscope later. The flushing medium consisted of Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline (DPBS) supplemented with several chemicals as listed in Table

Table 3.8: (	Composition	of flushing	medium
--------------	-------------	-------------	--------

Components	Volume/weight
Autoclaved Milli-Q water	1 L
DPBS (Oxoid; Dulbecco A, BR0014G)	10 tablets
Polyvinylpyrrolidone (Sigma; PVP360)	1 g
Penicillin-streptomycin solution (Sigma; P0930)	1 ml
Total volume	1 L

The flushing medium was filter-sterilised using syringe-driven Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m) and kept in room temperature (25°C). Prior to oocytes retrieval (LOPU), flushing medium was warmed in a water bath (38.5°C) and aliquot into syringe (50 ml; Terumo Corporation, Japan) and maintained at this temperature.

# **3.3.3.2 (c)** Preparation of ovary collection medium

Ovary collection medium was prepared purposely for washing and collecting ovaries from abattoir. Ovary collection medium was prepared similar as normal saline, except without heparin instead supplemented with penicillin-streptomycin solution (P0930; Sigma-Aldrich Co., USA). Penicillin-streptomycin (1 ml) solution was added to normal saline (1 L) to make the concentration of antibacterial solution as (1 ml/L). The medium was prepared one day earlier and kept in the refrigerator (4°C) and warmed in a water bath (38.5°C) prior used (Table 3.9).

 Table 3.9: Composition of ovary collection medium

Components	Volume/weight
Autoclaved Milli-Q water	1 L
Sodium chloride (Sigma; S5886)	9 g
Penicillin-streptomycin solution (Sigma; P0930)	1 ml
Total volume	1 L

### **3.3.3.2 (d)** Preparation of ovary slicing medium

Ovary slicing medium also known as TL-Hepes was used for washing, rinsing and during slicing of ovaries collected from abattoir as well as during searching the oocytes before transferring into the maturation medium. The TL-Hepes stock solution was prepared as below (Table 3.10):

Components	Sigma Cat. No.	Final Conc. (mM)	g/1000 ml
NaCl	S5886	114	6.6600
KCl	P5405	3.2	0.2400
NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	S5761	2.0	0.1680
NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4.</sub> H <sub>2</sub> O	S9638	0.4	0.0560
Na Lactate (60%Syrup)	L7900	10.0	1.8600 ml
CaCl <sub>2</sub> .2H <sub>2</sub> O	C3881	2.0	0.3000
MgCl <sub>2.</sub> 6H <sub>2</sub> O	M2393	0.5	0.1000
Hepes C <sub>8</sub> H <sub>17</sub> N <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> SNa	H0763 or H3784	10.0	1.2000
Hepes $C_8H_{18}N_2O_4S$	H3375 or H6147	10.0	1.2000
Penicillin G	PENNA	100 IU/ml	0.0650
Phenol Red	P3532		0.0050
Autoclaved Milli-Q water			1000 ml
Total volume			1000 ml

Table 3.10: Composition of TL-Hepes stock solution

The stock solution was checked for pH (7.4±0.5) and osmolarity (255 to 270 mOsm). The stock was then filter-sterilised using syringe-driven Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m) into sterile bottles (1 L) and stored (4°C) for 1 to 2 weeks. TL-Hepes stock solution need to be supplemented with the following chemicals before being used (Table 3.11):

Components	Volume/weight
TL-Hepes stock solution	100 ml
Gentamicin stock solution	50 µl
Sodium Pyruvate (Sigma; P4562)	0.0022 g
BSA-FV (Sigma; 7030)	0.1 g
Total volume	100 ml

Table 3.11: Composition of TL-Hepes working solution

Working solution was freshly prepared on the day of use, filter-sterilised using syringe-driven Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m) and warmed in a water bath (38.5°C) before used. However, TL-Hepes working solution can be stored up to 3 to 4 days in a refrigerator (4°C).

# 3.3.3.2 (e) Preparation of in vitro maturation (IVM) medium

IVM medium was prepared a day before ovary slicing or oocytes retrieval session (LOPU). IVM needed to be equilibrated overnight in the CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%) at 38.5°C. The base medium for maturation was TCM 199 (Sigma; M4530) supplemented with fetal bovine serum (FBS) or oestrus goat serum (OGS), bFSH, 17 $\beta$ -oestradiol, gentamicin and sodium pyruvate (Table 3.12).

Table 3.12: Composition of IVM medium

Components	Volume/weight
TCM 199	8.9 ml
FBS/OGS	1 ml
TCM-Pyruvate	100 µl
bFSH	10 µl
Gentamicin stock	5 µl
Total volume	10 ml

All chemicals above was added and filter-sterilised using syringe-driven  $Millex^{\mathbb{C}}$ -GS filter (0.22 µm) into a centrifuge tube (15 ml; Falcon<sup>TM</sup>, USA). 17 $\beta$ -oestradiol was

added as  $(1 \ \mu l/ml)$  basis into the filtered solution and mixed thoroughly. Maturation medium can be stored up to 1 week in a refrigerator (4°C).

The components used in maturation medium were prepared as stock solution and can be stored until certain duration accordingly. The following sub-divisions show the details to prepare stock of components used in maturation medium.

### **3.3.3.2 (e) (i)** Preparation of TCM-pyruvate stock

Sodium pyruvate (0.0022 g; Sigma; P4562) and cystein (0.0085 g; Sigma; C2529) were weighed and added to TCM 199 (1 ml; Sigma; M4530) in microcentrifuge tube (1.5 ml), and slowly vortexed for 10 seconds. This stock was stored in a refrigerator (4°C) for 2-3 days.

### **3.3.3.2 (e) (ii)** *Preparation of bFSH stock*

Folltropin-V<sup>R</sup>, (0.0050 g; Vetripharm; L032-B053) was dissolved into a solution (1 ml) provided, aliquot into microcentrifuge tubes (1.5 ml), covered with aluminium foil and stored in a freezer ( $-20^{\circ}$ C).

### 3.3.3.2 (e) (iii) Preparation of gentamicin stock

Gentamicin (1 g; Sigma; G3632) was weighed and added into DPBS (20 ml; Gibco; 21600-010). Gentamicin solution was filter-sterilised using syringe-driven Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m), aliquot into microcentrifuge tubes (1.5 ml), covered with aluminium foil and stored in a refrigerator (4<sup>o</sup>C).

### **3.3.3.2** (e) (iv) *Preparation of 17\beta-oestradiol stock*

17β-oestradiol (0.001g; Sigma; E8875) was weighed and added into ethanol (1 ml; GR grade: filter-sterilised using syringe-driven Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m), aliquot into microcentrifuge tubes (1.5 ml), covered with aluminium foil and stored in a refrigerator (4<sup>o</sup>C) up to 6 months.

# **3.3.3.2 (e) (v)** Preparation of foetal bovine serum (FBS) stock

FBS (Gibco; 16000-044) was heat-inactivated at 56°C for 30 minutes, filter-sterilised (0.45  $\mu$ m), aliquot (1 ml) into microcentrifuge tubes (1.5 ml), covered with aluminium foil and stored in a freezer (-20°C) for 6 months.

### 3.3.3.2 (e) (vi) Preparation of oestrus goat serum (OGS) stock

OGS has a similar function as FBS and can be used in maturation medium instead of FBS. It provides additional growth factors and hormones needed by oocytes/embryos development.

The caprine blood samples were collected aseptically through jugular vein of oestrus caprine by puncturing using vacutainer tubes (without heparin) with a needle (21 G). The freshly collected blood in vacutainer tubes was centrifuged (3000 rpm) for 10 minutes at room temperature (25°C) to let the sediment (clotted blood) separated from the supernatant (serum). The serum was aspirated out from the vacutainer tubes into sterile centrifuge tubes (15 ml) and heat-inactivated in a water bath for 30 minutes at 56°C to destroy components that might lead to cell lysis by antibody binding.

The serum was removed from the water bath after 30 minutes and was cooled at room temperature (25°C). Prolonged heat treatment could cause deterioration of some

components of the serum. The serum was centrifuged (1000 rpm) again for 10 minutes at room temperature (25°C) to let the residual erythrocytes sediment to the bottom of the tube in order to get more pure serum. The supernatant (serum) was aliquot (1 ml) into microcentrifuge tubes (1.5 ml), covered with aluminium foil and stored in a freezer (-20°C) for 6 months.

### **3.3.3.2 (f)** *Preparation of hyaluronidase solution*

Hyaluronidase solution was purposely used to denude cumulus cells surrounding cumulus oocytes complexes (COC) after maturation. A type IV-S hyaluronidase from bovine testes (Sigma; H4272) was used to prepare hyaluronidase solution. The preparation of hyaluronidase stock solution is depicted as in a Table 3.13 below:

Table 3.13: Composition of hyaluronidase stock solution

Components	Volume/weight
Autoclaved Milli-Q water	1 ml
Type IV-S Hyaluronidase (Sigma; H4272)	1 mg

Hyaluronidase stock solution was filter-sterilised by Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m) and aliquot (1 ml) into microcentrifuge tubes (1.5 ml), covered with aluminium foil and stored at -20°C for 6 months. The concentration of stock solution was 1 mg/ml. To remove the cumulus cells, hyaluronidase solution (0.1%) was needed. The dilution of hyaluronidase is shown in Table 3.14 below:

**Table 3.14:** Composition of hyaluronidase working solution (0.1%)

Components	Volume/weight
Hyaluronidase stock solution	100 µl
Hepes TCM 199 (Gibco; 12340-030)	900 μl
Total volume	1000 µl

The prepared solution was filter-sterilised by Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m) and aliquot (100  $\mu$ l) into microcentrifuge tubes (1.5 ml), and stored in a freezer (-20°C) for 6 months.

# **3.3.3.2 (g)** *Preparation of potassium simplex optimisation medium (KSOM) stock solution*

KSOM was used as *in vitro* culture medium in caprine and bovine species as well as a base medium in parthenogenetic chemical preparation. KSOM was actually originated from simplex optimisation medium (SOM) developed by Lawitts and Biggers (1991) and later on was modified to KSOM (Lawitts and Biggers, 1993). Table 3.15 represents KSOM stock preparation:

Component	Sigma Cat. No.	Final conc. (mmol/l)	g/100 ml
NaCl	S5886	95	0.5553
KCl	P5405	2.5	0.0186
KH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	P5655	0.35	0.0048
MgSO <sub>4</sub>	M7506	0.2	0.0024
Lactate	L7900	10	0.1860 ml
Pyruvate	P4562	0.2	0.0022
D-Glucose	G6152	0.2	0.0036
NaHCO <sub>3</sub>	S5761	25	0.2101
CaCl <sub>2</sub>	C5670	1.71	0.0190
L-Glutamine	G3126	1	0.0146
EDTA	E9884	0.01	0.0004
Autoclaved Milli-Q water			100 ml
Total volume			100 ml

Table 3.15: Composition of KSOM stock solution

KSOM stock solution was stirred well with magnetic stirrer and filter-sterilised by  $Millex^{\circ}$ -GS filter (0.22 µm) into stock bottle (100 ml) and stored in a refrigerator (4°C) up to 4 weeks. Before KSOM can be used for culture medium, KSOM stock solution needed to be prepared freshly as presented in Table 3.16.

Components	Amount/10 ml
KSOM stock solution	9.85 ml
BSA (Sigma; A6003)	0.0400 g
MEM (Sigma; M7145)	50 µl
BME (Sigma; B6766)	100 µl
Total volume	10 ml

**Table 3.16:** Composition of KSOM working solution

KSOM working solution was filter-sterilised by Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m) into centrifuge tube (15 ml) and preincubated for at least 3 hours in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%) at 38.5°C before used. D-glucose (0.004 g; Sigma; G6152) was added into KSOM working solution (10 ml) for culturing later stage of bovine and caprine embryos (Kwong, P.J., personal communication, 2011).

### **3.3.3.2 (h)** Preparation of parthenogenetic activation medium

There were several types of chemical used as an activation medium in order to activate caprine and bovine oocytes. All the preparations of stock medium were sub-divided as below.

# **3.3.3.2 (h) (i)** Preparation of calcium ionophore (A23187) stock solution

Preparation of calcium ionophore stock solution for caprine and bovine was similar as in calcium ionophore preparation for murine activation medium. [Sub-section 3.3.3.1 (d) (iii)]

### 3.3.3.2 (h) (ii) Preparation of ionomycin (Iono) stock solution

Ionomycin (Sigma; I3909) was used as one of the several options to activate caprine and bovine oocytes right after denuding the cumulus cells after IVM culture. The initial concentration of ionomycin ready-made solution (1 ml) is 1 mM in DMSO. Subsequently,

ionomycin solution was aliqout (10  $\mu$ l) into microcentrifuge tubes (1.5 ml), wrapped in aluminium foil and stored up to 6 months in a freezer (-20°C) and labeled as "Stock A". On the day of experiment, one tube of "Stock A" was taken out from the freezer and equilibrated *in vitro* culture medium; KSOM (990  $\mu$ l) was added and mixed well. The final concentration of this working solution was 10  $\mu$ M and can be immediately used to make a microdroplet culture.

### 3.3.3.2 (h) (iii) Preparation of ethanol (EtOH) stock solution

Preparation of ethanol stock solution for caprine and bovine was similar as in ethanol preparation for murine activation medium. [Sub-section 3.3.3.1 (d) (iv)]

# 3.3.3.2 (h) (iv) Preparation of 6-dimethylaminopurine (6-DMAP) stock solution

Preparation of 6-DMAP stock solution for caprine and bovine was similar as in 6-DMAP preparation for murine activation medium. [Sub-section 3.3.3.1 (d) (v)]

### 3.3.3.2 (h) (v) Preparation of cycloheximide (CHX) stock solution

Preparation of CHX stock solution for caprine and bovine was similar as in CHX preparation for murine activation medium. [Sub-section 3.3.3.1 (d) (vi)]

## 3.3.3.2 (h) (vi) Preparation of cytochalasin B (CB) stock solution

Preparation of CB stock solution for caprine and bovine was similar as in CB preparation for murine activation medium. [Sub-section 3.3.3.1 (d) (i)]

### **3.3.3.2 (i)** Preparation of sperm capacitation medium (Sp-TALP) stock solution

Sp-TALP was used as a holding medium for caprine and bovine sperm as well as a sperm capacitation medium while capacitating it for several hours in  $CO_2$  (5%) incubator. Sp-TALP stock solution preparation was portrayed as in Table 3.17.

Compone	ent	Sigma Cat. No.	g/100 ml
NaCl		S5886	0.584
KCl		P5405	0.0023
NaHCO <sub>3</sub>		S5761	0.21
NaH <sub>2</sub> PO <sub>4</sub>	H <sub>2</sub> O	S9638	0.004
Na Lactat	e (60%Syrup)	L7900	0.368 ml
CaCl <sub>2</sub> .2H	20	C3881	0.031
MgCl <sub>2.</sub> 6H	I <sub>2</sub> O	M2393	0.008
HEPES	C <sub>8</sub> H <sub>17</sub> N <sub>2</sub> O <sub>4</sub> SNa	H0763 or H3784	0.119
	$C_8H_{18}N_2O_4S$	H3375 or H6147	0.119
Phenol Re	ed	P3532	0.001
Total volu	ime		100 ml

Table 3.17: Composition of Sp-TALP stock solution

Sp-TALP stock solution was mixed well and filter-sterilised by Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m) into stock bottle (100 ml) and stored at 4°C up to 4 weeks. Before Sp-TALP can be used for holding and capacitation medium, Sp-TALP stock solution needed to be freshly prepared and added by these chemicals below (Table 3.18):

Table 3.18: Composition of Sp-TALP working solution

Component	Amount/10 ml
Sp-TALP stock solution	10 ml
BSA (Sigma; A6003)	0.06 g
Sodium Pyruvate (Sigma; P4562)	0.0011 g
Gentamicin stock solution	5 µl
Total volume	10 ml

Sp-TALP working solution was filter-sterilised by Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m) into centrifuge tube (15 ml) and preincubated for at least 3 hours in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%) at 38.5°C before used.

### 3.3.3.2 (j) Preparation of in vitro fertilisation medium (IVF-TALP) stock solution

IVF-TALP was used as a holding medium and equilibration medium for caprine and bovine oocyte in  $CO_2$  (5%) incubator as well as *in vitro* fertilisation medium. IVF-TALP stock solution preparation is depicted as shown in Table 3.19.

Sigma Cat. No.	g/100 ml	
S5886	0.6660	
P5405	0.0235	
S5761	0.2104	
S9638	0.0055	
L7900	0.368 ml	
C3881	0.0300	
M2393	0.0100	
PENNA	0.0065	
P3532	0.001	
	100 ml	
	S5886 P5405 S5761 S9638 L7900 C3881 M2393 PENNA	S5886         0.6660           P5405         0.0235           S5761         0.2104           S9638         0.0055           L7900         0.368 ml           C3881         0.0300           M2393         0.0100           PENNA         0.0065           P3532         0.001

 Table 3.19: Composition of IVF-TALP stock solution

IVF-TALP stock solution was mixed well and filter-sterilised by Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m) into stock bottle (100 ml) and stored at 4°C up to 4 weeks. Before IVF-TALP can be used, IVF-TALP stock solution needs to prepared fresh and added by these chemicals below (Table 3.20):

Component	Amount/10 ml
IVF-TALP stock solution	10 ml
BSA (Sigma; A6003)	0.06 g
*IVF-Pyruvate	100 µl
Gentamicin stock solution	5 µl
Total volume	10 ml

Table 3.20: Composition of IVF-TALP working solution

(\*IVF-Pyruvate was prepared by mixing sodium pyruvate (0.0022 g; Sigma; P4562) into IVF-TALP stock solution (1 ml) in microcentrifuge tube (1.5 ml), and slowly vortexed for around 10 seconds. IVF-Pyruvate can be stored for 2-3 days at 4°C).

IVF-TALP working solution was filter-sterilised by Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter (0.22  $\mu$ m) into centrifuge tube (15 ml) and preincubated for at least 3 hours in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%) at 38.5°C before used.

### **3.3.4 Preparation of Microtools and Accessories**

Microtools that used in this study were pick-up glass pipette and mouth-controlled pipette.

All the preparation of microtools was done in the laboratory.

### 3.3.4.1 Preparation of mouth-controlled pipette

Mouth-controlled pipette was purposely used for handling the oocytes and embryos such as picking up, transfer from one droplet to another and denuding. This type of pipette was functioned based on the sucking air in and out controlled by mouth which results in sucking medium in and out through the glass Pasteur pipette. Mouth-controlled pipette was assembled with a two parts of long silicone tube, syringe filter (Millex<sup>©</sup>-GS filter; 0.22  $\mu$ m; Schleicher and Schuell, Germany), 1000  $\mu$ l microtip and glass Pasteur pipette. One part of silicone tube was attached to a 1000  $\mu$ l microtip while the other end was attached to one end of syringe filter. The other end of syringe filter was attached to the second part of

silicone tube and the other end of silicone tube was attached to 1000  $\mu$ l microtip which this end will later attached to the glass Pasteur pipette. All the assembled part was sealed with Parafilm<sup>®</sup> (Pechiney Plastic Packaging, USA) tightly to avoid disjunction.

### 3.3.4.2 Preparation of glass Pasteur pipettes

Glass Pasteur pipettes (Paul Marienfeld GmbH, Germany) were used in handling oocytes and embryos along with mouth-controlled pipette. Before glass Pasteur pipettes can be used, it needs to be soaked overnight in RO water and rinsed thoroughly before sealed in autoclave bag for sterilisation. The sterile Pasteur pipettes were dried in oven (56°C) and can be straight away used each time during experiments. The glass Pasteur pipettes was softened by rotating it in a fine flame until the glass became soft and the glass was immediately withdrawn from the heat and both ends were quickly pulled away smoothly from each other to produce a tube with an internal diameter of approximately 200 to 400 µm for oocytes or embryos and cumulus oocyte complexes accordingly.

During the pulling of the glass, it should not be pulled when the glass was still in flame. Besides, a special care was taken during the pulling of the glass Pasteur pipette where the glass was pulled straight. This is important, as not to produce two resulting pipette which will bend in the area where the glass had been melted. For a neat break, the glass tube was scored using a diamond stone and the tip was broken by gently bent the stone to snap on it. It is also important to produce an evenly broken straight tip, as it is difficult to handle embryo, if the capillary end was jagged. Besides, uneven tip, chipped tip and also tip which was not exactly at 90°C angle cannot be used.

The tip of the pipette was fire polished by touching it on the flame quickly to produce a blunt end, in order to minimise the damage of zona pellucida during manipulation. Sharp edges of pipette were easily caught by the plastic surface of the culture dish and causing the pipette to break, consequently will tend to collect more debris during the oocytes transfer. Besides, the diameter of the micropipette opening should be sufficient to hold the embryos, but not too large.

### 3.3.5 Experimental Procedures

Following are different experimental procedures to obtain caprine, bovine and murine embryos derived from different manipulation in chemicals via parthenogenetic activation.

### 3.3.5.1 Procedures in murine species

Murine used in the present study were self-bred and sourced from Animal House at ISB Mini Farm, University of Malaya.

### **3.3.5.1** (a) Superovulation of female murine as oocytes donor

To obtain the optimum quality and quantity of murine oocytes to conduct the experimental procedures, mature females murine aged 8 to 12 weeks were superovulated by intraperitoneal (i.p.) injection of PMSG (10 IU; 0.2 ml) on day 1 at 1800 hours followed by i.p. injection of hCG (10 IU; 0.2 ml) at 48 hours apart. Murine was picked up by the scruff of its neck as close as possible to the ears. Extra care must be taken not to suffocate or hurt the murine in the process by grabbing enough skin but not squeezing the murine neck. The murine tail was held firmly by twisting it around the little finger to properly hold it to

prevent the murine struggled and move while being injected. Hormones were injected intraperitoneally at the centre point between the 4 tits of the ventral abdomen by sterile hypodermic needles (26 G). The needle was stayed for a few seconds after injected before withdrawn out to prevent the hormone from seeping out.

### **3.3.5.1 (b)** *Oocytes retrieval and collection in murine*

The superovulated female murine was humanely sacrificed by cervical dislocation around 13 to 18 hours post-hCG injection and the body wall (peritoneum) was cut open. Coil of guts were push out of the way and two horns of the uterus, the oviducts and the ovaries were located. The upper end of the uterine horns was grasped with fine forceps and the uterus, oviduct, ovary and fat pad was gently pulled away from the body cavity to reveal a fine membrane (the mesometrium) which connects the reproductive tract to the body wall and carries prominent blood vessels. A hole was poked in the membrane close to the oviduct with the closed tips of a pair of fine forceps or scissors. The oviduct, ovary and fat pad were pulled with fine scissors and a cut between the oviduct and ovary was made with fine scissors. The forceps was repositioned to cut the uterus near the oviduct. The oviduct was transferred into the HWM microdroplet in Petri dish.

Newly ovulated oocyte which was surrounded with cumulus cell can be found in the upper part of the oviduct (ampulla) which was much enlarged after 12 hours of postovulation. The fimbriae end of the oviduct (infundibulum) was also swollen during ovulation and can be easily located under 20x magnifications under the stereomicroscope. A pair of fine forceps was used to grasp the oviduct next to the swollen infundibulum and was held firmly on the bottom of the dish while a pair of needle (26 G) was used to tear the ampulla, releasing clutch of cumulus mass (eggs surrounded with cumulus cells). If the oocytes do not flow out by themselves, the needle was used to push them out by gently squeezing the oviduct. If the oocytes stick the needle, the needle was lifted out of the Petri dish and they will retained by the surface tension of the medium and will fall back to the bottom of the dish. The COCs was straight away placed in hyaluronidase solution (0.1%; 100  $\mu$ l) and denuded using micropipettor (100  $\mu$ l) to removed the cumulus cells. The naked oocytes were rinsed in HWM medium three times and only oocytes with the presence of first extruding polar body were chosen for the subsequent experiments (Figure 3.1).



**Figure 3.1:** (a) Swollen ampulla at murine oviduct that contains cumulus oocyte complexes (COCs). (b) COCs which contain oocytes. (c) Naked oocyte with the presence of polar body.

### **3.3.5.1** (c) (i) Activation of murine oocytes by $SrCl_2$ and CB in CZB $Ca^{2+}$ free medium

Basically, a culture dish was made for activation medium, contain the mixture on  $SrCl_2$ and CB in CZB Ca<sup>2+</sup> free medium. Each culture dish (35 mm; Nunc, Denmark) contains 7 microdroplets (100 µl/microdroplet) of activation medium overlaid with silicone oil and equilibrated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 37°C) overnight. The naked oocytes were treated in activation medium microdroplet for 1 to 5 hours according to the experiment and cultured inside CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 37°C) before transferred into IVC medium.

### 3.3.5.1 (c) (ii) Activation of murine oocytes by A23187and 6-DMAP

Basically, two culture dishes were made for activation medium, one for A23187 and the other one for 6-DMAP. Each culture dish (35 mm) contains 7 microdroplets (100  $\mu$ l/microdroplet) of activation medium overlaid with silicone oil and equilibrated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 37°C) overnight. The naked oocytes were first treated in A23187 microdroplet for 5 minutes in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 37°C) and rinsed in modified HWM three times followed by equilibrated modified WM three times to wash off the A23187 residue before transferred into 6-DMAP microdroplet. The culture dish were culture inside CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 37°C) 4 hours before transferred into IVC medium.

### 3.3.5.1 (c) (iii) Activation of murine oocytes by A23187 and CHX

Basically, two culture dishes were made for activation medium, one for A23187 and the other one for CHX. Each culture dish (35 mm) contains 7 microdroplets (100

 $\mu$ l/microdroplet) of activation medium overlaid with silicone oil and equilibrated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 37°C) overnight. The naked oocytes were first treated in A23187 microdroplet for 5 minutes in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 37°C) and rinsed in modified HWM three times followed by equilibrated modified WM three times to wash off the A23187 residue before transferred into CHX microdroplet. The culture dish were culture inside CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 37°C) 4 hours before transferred into IVC medium.

# 3.3.5.1 (c) (iv) Activation of murine oocytes by A23187 and CB

Basically, two culture dishes were made for activation medium, one for A23187 and the other one for CB. Each culture dish (35 mm) contains 7 microdroplets (100  $\mu$ l/microdroplet) of activation medium overlaid with silicone oil and equilibrated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 37°C) overnight. The naked oocytes were first treated in A23187 microdroplet for 5 minutes in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 37°C) and rinsed in modified HWM three times followed by equilibrated modified WM three times to wash off the A23187 residue before transferred into CB microdroplet. The culture dish were culture inside CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 37°C) 4 hours before transferred into IVC medium.

### 3.3.5.1 (c) (v) Activation of murine oocytes by EtOH and 6-DMAP

Basically, two culture dishes were made for activation medium, one for EtOH and the other one for 6-DMAP. Each culture dish (35 mm) contains 7 microdroplets (100  $\mu$ l/microdroplet) of activation medium overlaid with silicone oil. Only 6-DMAP culture dish was equilibrated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) overnight while EtOH culture dish was prepared fresh prior experiment to ensure that the concentration of the EtOH will not

deviated from the required concentration as EtOH was easy to evaporate. The naked oocytes were first treated in EtOH microdroplet for 5 minutes inside the laminar flow and rinsed in modified HWM three times followed by equilibrated modified WM three times to wash off the EtOH residue before transferred into 6-DMAP microdroplet. The culture dish were culture inside  $CO_2$  incubator (5%; 37°C) 4 hours before transferred into IVC medium.

# 3.3.5.1 (d) In vitro culture (IVC) of activated murine oocytes

Culture dish (35 mm) contains 7 microdroplets (80  $\mu$ l/microdroplet) of modified WM working solution was overlaid with silicone oil and equilibrated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 37°C) overnight. All the activated oocytes were washed thrice respectively in modified HWM followed by equilibrated modified WM after the few hours of the respective treatments in order to wash off the residue of activation medium (PA). Activated oocytes were then transferred into WM microdroplet (10-15 oocytes/microdroplet) respectively, and subsequently cultured in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 37°C) for later embryos development. The embryos were checked at Day-2, -4 and -6 accordingly and their development was recorded.

### 3.3.5.2 Procedures in Caprine and Bovine Species

As for caprine, oocytes were retrieved from LOPU procedure whereas for bovine, oocytes were obtained from the local abattoir.

### **3.3.5.2 (a)** Caprine oocytes retrieval through laparoscopic oocytes pick up (LOPU)

There were several important steps carried out in order to retrieve caprine oocytes through LOPU procedure including oestrus synchronisation, superovulation, anaesthesia and sedation, disinfection of surgical instruments and surgical area of does as well as the preparation pre-LOPU, during LOPU and post-LOPU.

# 3.3.5.2 (a) (i) Oestrus synchronisation and superovulation of caprine donor

Before retrieving the oocytes through laparoscopic oocytes pick-up procedure, the experimental does underwent oestrus synchronisation to manipulate the oestrus cycle of the subjected does in order to manage time of oocytes retrieval during LOPU. In order to synchronise the oestrous cycle, a Controlled Intravaginal Drug Release device (CIDR<sup>®</sup>, 0.3 g progesterone; EAZI BREED<sup>TM</sup>, CIDR<sup>®</sup>, Pharmacia and Upjohn, New Zealand) was inserted into the vagina of the caprine donor with the help of a clean and sterile CIDR<sup>®</sup> applicator (Pharmacia and Upjohn, New Zealand) with the application of water-based lubricant (K-Y Jelly, Pharmedica Lab, South Africa).

The controlled intravaginal drug release device remained in the vagina for 14 days (at 0900 hours on day 0 of CIDR insertion) before being removed. The CIDR device is made of an inert silicone elastomer that is non-porous and does not readily absorb bodily fluids; once properly inserted deep into the donor"s vagina, the controlled intravaginal drug release device unfolds into a "T" like formation that aids in retention. Daily monitoring of the device was performed to confirm that it had not been inadvertently removed. At approximately 36 hours prior to controlled intravaginal drug release device removal, a luteolytic treatment (125 µg cloprostenol; Estrumate®; Schering-plough, Australia) was
injected intramuscularly (at 0900 hours on day 12 of CIDR insertion) to regress the corpus luteum that facilitates initiation of pro-oestrus and eventually resulted in oestrogen surge for the onset of oestrus (heat).

On the next day (at 1600 hours on day 13 of CIDR imsertion), follicle stimulating hormone (1500 IU; Folligon®, Intervet International, Holland) was injected intramuscularly. Upon removal of controlled intravaginal drug release device (at 2100 hours on day 13 of CIDR insertion), a gonadotrophin treatment of (250 IU; Ovidrel<sup>TM</sup>, Merck Serono, Switzerland) was injected intramuscularly. Two days after the controlled intravaginal drug release device removal, the female caprine was prepared for laparoscopic oocytes pick-up. The oestrus was detected by the twigling of its tail and by using a teaser buck. Surgery was done 60 hours post-ovidrel (at 0900 hours on day 16) to stimulate multiple follicular developments (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2: A schematic diagram of the treatments performed on a donor caprine to synchronise oestrus cycle for LOPU.



**Figure 3.3:** (a) Controlled intravaginal drug releasing (CIDR) device, CIDR applicator, gloves and K-Y Jelly. (b) Insertion of CIDR. (c) Removal of CIDR.

# **3.3.5.2** (a) (ii) *Pre-LOPU* preparation and anaesthetisation of caprine donor

Identification tag of the caprine was determined and the caprine donors were off-feed and water (at 1500 hours on day 15 of CIDR insertion) for 18 to 24 hours before to oocyte retrieval surgery (at 0900 hours on day16 of CIDR insertion). The caprine donors were put in a separated area specifically in off-feed pen and were brought to NaTuRe laboratory in the morning day of surgery. Anaesthesia was administrated to a caprine with mixture of xylazine hydrochloride (0.22 mg/kg body weight; Ilium Xylazine-20; Troy Laboratorries, Australia) and ketamine hydrochloride (11 mg/kg body weight; Ketamil; Troy

Laboratorries, Australia) via intramascular (i.m.) injection. The caprine donor was maintained under anaesthesia with Ketamine hydrochloride (0.1 mg/kg bwt) injected intramuscularly as maintenance doses every 20 to 30 minutes or as required.

# 3.3.5.1 (a) (iii) Preparation and setting up of surgical instruments, aspiration-flushing system, CO<sub>2</sub> insufflator, light system and imaging device for LOPU

Prior to surgery, non-autoclavable surgical instruments (trocar and cannula, atraumatic grasper, fibre optic cable, light probe for endoscope, flushing system silicone tubing and CO<sub>2</sub> silicone tubing) were exposed under UV light radiation for 20-30 minutes as a procedure for disinfection. For the autoclavable surgical instruments, it was ready to be used as long as the autoclave package was not torn and dry. The outer wrapping of the sterile surgical package (surgical set, catgut suture, scalpel blade, round-bottom test tubes, aspiration needle, sterile gauze, sterile surgical gloves, sterile towels, sterile drapes and sterile table cloth) was opened and unfolded carefully without touching the sterilized instruments inside. All the sterile surgical instruments were assembled and arranged properly on a sterile table-cum-trolley which was covered with a sterile table cloth.

The laparoscopic system and equipment used were purchased from Aesculap A.G. and Company, Germany consist of a paediatric Storz laparoscope (7.0 mm; PE 688A), an Aesculap endoscopic camera system (PV431), a charge couple device (CCD) camera (David3; PV430), a light probe with fibre optic cable (OP913), a light system (Light source 300 W; OP927), an electronic  $CO_2$  gas insufflators unit (PG001), a Verrus needle (PG3) attached to a silicone tubing, a trocar and canula (7.0 mm) for the endoscope (EJ457), an antraumatic grasping forceps or paediatric grasper (PO951R) and a small trocar with cannula (5.5 mm; EJ456) for passing the grasper. The light probe was

connected to a light system via fibre optic cable. The light system was also connected to a CCD camera and computer monitor. The lens of the light probe and the entire length of the fibre optic cable were disinfected by wiping with 70% ethanol and white balance was adjusted using sterile gauze as a reference.

The flushing and aspiration system was purchased from Cook, Australia composed of a pedal operated aspiration pump (Aspiration system, K-MAR-5100; Cook, Australia) for providing a constant vacuum for LOPU, a flushing pump (a microprocessor controlled pump for automated follicle flushing) (Flushing system; K-MAR-4000; Cook, Australia), a test tube heater (K-FTH-1012; Cook, Australia) for maintaining a constant temperature (38.5°C) during LOPU, a silicone connecting tubing that connects an aspiration needle to a vacuum pump and a series of collection tubes. A pair of flushing and aspiration pedal (Herga Electric Limited, UK), connected, respectively, to the flushing and aspiration system through cable.

A follicle puncture or aspiration needle (FAS Set C2) was purchased from Gynetics Medical Product, Belgium. The collection medium (flushing medium) for oocytes collection was pre-warmed ( $38.5^{\circ}$ C) and filled in a sterile luer slip syringe (50 ml; Terumo, USA) and placed horizontally in the electronic vacuum pump (aspiration system). The other sterile luer slip syringes filled with flushing medium were kept in a polysterene box with a glass bottle with luke-warm water in it to keep the temperature of the flushing medium consistent during LOPU commencement. The collection tubes used were disposable round-bottom test tubes (14 ml; Falcon<sup>TM</sup>; Becton Dickinson Labware, USA) with inlet and outlet ports in the stopper were placed in a test tube heater to maintain constant temperature ( $38.5^{\circ}$ C) during LOPU. The inlet and outlet ports were connected to the aspiration needle and to a vacuum pump respectively, with silicone tubing. The

vacuum pressure was regulated with a flow valve (-100 mm Hg) and measured as drops of collection medium per minute entering the collection tube. Usually, it was adjusted to 50 to 70 drops per minute. The complete aspiration set was gas sterilised and rinsed with collection medium prior to use (Figure 3.4).



(continued)



**Figure 3.4:** (a) Flushing and aspiration system. (b) Light system and imaging device. (c) Surgical instrument that used for laparoscopic oocyte pick-up (LOPU).

### 3.3.5.2 (a) (iv) Disinfection surgical skin area of donor caprine

The anaesthetised caprine donor was placed on a clean small ruminant restraining cradle. The restraining cradle was set at a 45° angle where the head of the animal lowered to facilitate the laparoscopy procedure. By using clean gauzes, the abdominal area of the caprine donor was disinfected with diluted Hibiscrub (10%; International Plc, UK) and the hair was shaved. After shaving, the bare skin was disinfected again with absolute Hibiscrub (100%) and subsequently with iodine solution (10%; Weak iodine; ICN Biomedicals, USA). The caprine donor was then covered with a sterile drape with an opening to reveal the disinfected bare skin and was ready for oocyte retrieval surgery. The drape used was isolated the surgical site and minimise wound contamination. The drape was positioned without the fabric dragging across a non-sterile surface and secured in place with towel clamps at the 4 corners of the surgical site.

#### 3.3.5.2 (a) (v) Procedure during LOPU commencement

LOPU is a microsurgical procedure to retrieve oocytes from matured follicles which can be visualised as "pimple-like" protrusions on the surface of the ovary via four minor incisions on the abdomen of donor caprine. Oocytes were retrieved by aspiration of follicular contents under laparoscopic observation. The anaesthetised caprine was restrained in a cradle in the standard position for laparoscopic surgery, a small incision was made on the disinfected abdominal area and a trocar connected to a  $CO_2$  gas insufflator was inserted into the incision to insufflate the abdominal cavity with  $CO_2$ . The peritoneum cavity was filled with filtered  $CO_2$  in order to facilitate visualisation of the reproductive tract.

Another three small incision (3 to 5 mm) were made once the peritoneum cavity was expended enough with CO<sub>2</sub>. One incision was made near the umbilicus to facilitate the insertion of trocar for passing the light probe, one on the right side of lower-ventral abdomen to insert the trocar for passing the grasping forceps and the other one on the left side of lower-ventral abdomen for passing aspiration needle. The uterine horns were gently manipulated by the grasper to allow visualisation of each stimulated ovary. Once an ovary was identified, the ovarian ligament was grasped using a forceps without damaging the oviduct, to effectively stabilise the ovary for follicular puncture. The ovarian characteristics (size of ovary, estimated number of follicles and the stimulation response) were observed and recorded for each experimental donor before follicular puncture. When flushing the follicles, extra care was taken to avoid leakage of follicular fluid and the inadvertent oocytes loss from the follicle. During the surgery, the ovaries were exposed by pulling the fimbria in different directions by manipulation the grasping forceps to ensure that all the follicles content were collected. The collection tube containing aspirated fluid (3-5 ml) was dispensed into a sterile Petri dish (60 mm) for oocytes searching and identification by embryologist under a stage warmer stereomicroscope (38.5°C). Oocytes were then washed in flushing medium three times followed by IVM medium and cultured in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) according to oocyte grades for the subsequent post-IVM experiments.

After aspiration, the ovary was rinsed repeatedly with warm heparinised physiological saline (38.5°C) using a syringe (50 ml) introduced through one of the trocars to aid in reducing adhesion following oocytes aspiration. The ovary was then released and the contra-lateral ovary was similarly aspirated. The incisions were closed with suture and the incision area was sprayed with antisecptic and insecticide containing cyphenothrin i.e. iodine solution (10%; Weak iodine; ICN Biomedicals, USA) and wound spray (Wound Sarex, Canaan Alpha Sdn. Bhd., Malaysia). The donor caprine was carefully lifted and removed from the cradle to be sent back to the farm. The donor caprine was administrated with oxytetracycline (20 mg/kg bwt) via i.m injection once in 4 days for 2 weeks period to avoid the possible post-surgical infection.



Figure 3.5: LOPU commencement.



Figure 3.6: Caprine ovary observation through endoscopic camera system during LOPU.

#### 3.3.5.2 (a) (vi) Post-LOPU management

As the surgery was completely finished, all the surgical instruments were washed and cleaned using a smooth sponge with a diluted 7X<sup>®</sup>-PF solution and immediately rinsed thoroughly running tap water and immersed completely in Gigasept<sup>®</sup> and subsequently rinsed with sterile autoclaved distilled water. The instruments then drain dried on a sterile paper towel before separated according to the autoclavable and non-autoclavable instruments into autoclave bag and sealed. Non-autoclavable instruments were straight away dried in oven while autoclavable instruments were autoclaved fisrt before dried in oven (56°C). for the aspiration needle, each opening ends were flushed with ethanol (70%) three times followed by sterile autoclaved distilled water three times before dried in oven for the next surgery procedure. The cradle and the table-cum-trolley was sterilised and wiped by ethanol (70%) while the floor was sweep and mopped with diluted Dettol antiseptic solution.

# **3.3.5.2 (b)** Bovine oocytes from abattoir-derived ovaries

The bovine ovaries were obtained from the Department of Veterinary Services and Abattoir Complex, Shah Alam (Selangor) and Senawang (Negeri Sembilan). Two thermoses (one for rinsing the ovaries and another one for collecting the ovaries) were filled with warmed (38.5°C) saline supplemented with penicillin G and streptomycin sulphate. A pair of surgical scissors was brought over and used to cut the ovaries from the slaughtered caprine. The excess tissues of the ovaries were trimmed and some blood was rinsed with the warmed saline before put into the thermos.

The ovaries that were collected from slaughterhouse were transported to the laboratory within 1 to 2 hours in warm saline medium which were maintained between 30°C to 38°C. After arriving at the laboratory, the ovaries were rinsed thoroughly with warm saline medium (38.5°C) and placed in a beaker (100 ml) containing warm saline medium (38.5°C). The bovine ovaries were placed in a Petri dish (60 mm) containing TL-Hepes working solution on a stage warmer (38.5°C). The ovary was sliced individually and the COCs were searched and later cultured in IVM medium.

#### **3.3.5.2 (b) (i)** Ovary slicing

Each collected ovary was freed from the surrounding tissues and overlaying bursa using surgical scissors and forceps under the laminar flow and rinsed three times using flushing medium. The ovary was placed in a Petri dish (60 mm) containing warm (38.5°C) TL-Hepes working solution on a stage warmer at 38.5°C. The ovary was held with the help of forceps and each ovary was sliced individually by checker-board incision technique on the whole ovarian surface. Systematic slices were given along the whole ovarian surface using a sharp razor blade held with sterile haemostat. While retrieving the oocytes by slicing method, the ovary was kept completely dipped in the TL-Hepes working solution. The Petri dish was examined under warmer stage stereomicroscope (38.5°C) (magnification 20x or 40x). Oocytes were then washed in TL-Hepes working solution followed by IVM medium and subsequently cultured in  $CO_2$  incubator (5%; 38.5°C), according to oocyte grades for subsequently post-IVM experiments.

# 3.3.5.2 (c) Caprine/bovine oocytes grading

The caprine/bovine oocytes were identified and graded base on the criteria stated below:

Table 3.21: Oocyte grading based on cumulus cell layers and cytoplasm uniformity

<b>Oocyte grade</b>	Cumulus cell layers and cytoplasm uniformity					
Grade A	COC with $\geq$ 5 multi-layered compact cumulus cells with evenly					
	granulated cytoplasm					
Grade B	COC with partially 5 layers or complete 3 to 4 layers of cumulus cells					
	with evenly granulated cytoplasm					
Grade C	COC with partially 3 to 4 layer s or complete 1 to 2 layers of cumulus					
	cells with evenly granulated cytoplasm					
Grade D	COC with partially 1 to 2 layers of cumulus cells with evenly					
	granulated cytoplasm					
Grade E	Naked oocytes with pale-coloured or heterogeneous cytoplasm*					
*Heterogeneous cytoplasm: non-homogenous cytoplasm, in which the oocyte cytoplasm						

showed pigmentation in some areas.

(Adapted from Rahman, 2008)



Figure 3.7: Morphology of different grades of caprine oocytes based on the cumulus cells evaluation: (a) Grade A, (b) Grade B, (c) Grade C, (d) Grade D and (e) Grade E.

#### **3.3.5.2 (d)** In vitro maturation (IVM) procedure in caprine/bovine oocytes

IVM medium was prepared in a small polystyrene culture dish (35 mm) in the size of microdroplets (80  $\mu$ l each droplet; 7 microdroplets per culture dish) and overlaid with equilibrated mineral oil. The prepared dish was placed in the CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) and equilibrated overnight. Basically, after finished washing and grading, the caprine oocytes were separately placed in IVM microdroplets (10 to 20 oocytes/80  $\mu$ l) according to the oocytes grading. The COCs were cultured in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) for 18 to 25 hours (LOPU-derived oocytes). As for bovine, maturation was done for 24 hours duration.

#### **3.3.5.2 (e)** Cumulus oocyte complexes COCs denuding

After the respective IVM duration, the COCs were transferred into hyaluronidase droplet (0.1%; 100  $\mu$ l). Using the disposable yellow tips (100  $\mu$ l), attached with micropipettor (10 to 100  $\mu$ l), the hyaluronidase medium contains COCs were suck in and out a few times to make the cumulus cells dispersed and totally removed from oocytes. If the cumulus cells still surround the oocytes after denuding, the oocyte were denuded again by gentle pipetting in and out using a narrow-bored Pasture pipette (80 to 100  $\mu$ m) in hyaluronidase (0.1%) covered with mineral oil (<5 minutes) and washed 5 times in TL-Hepes working solution (100  $\mu$ l/microdroplet). Only the matured oocytes (MII) with first extruding polar body were chosen for the subsequent experiments. Oocytes without first polar bodies were considered immature and discarded.

#### **3.3.5.2 (f)** Activation of caprine/bovine oocytes

Mature oocytes subjected to activation were divided into several different groups based on the type of the activation chemical used, duration of the treatment and the concentration of the chemicals.

# 3.3.5.2 (f) (i) Activation of caprine oocytes by A23187or Iono

For single activation, one culture dishes were made for activation medium, either for A23187 or for Iono. Each culture dish (35 mm) contains 7 microdroplets (100  $\mu$ l/microdroplet) of activation medium overlaid with mineral oil and equilibrated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) overnight. The naked oocytes were treated in A23187 or with Iono microdroplet respectively for 5 minutes in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) and rinsed in TL-Hepes three times followed by equilibrated KSOM three times to wash off the A23187 or Iono residue before transferred directly into IVC medium (KSOM) and culture inside CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C).

# 3.3.5.2 (f) (ii) Activation of caprine/bovine oocytes by A23187 and 6-DMAP

Basically, two culture dishes were made for activation medium, one for A23187 and the other one for 6-DMAP. Each culture dish (35 mm) contains 7 microdroplets (100  $\mu$ l/microdroplet) of activation medium overlaid with mineral oil and equilibrated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) overnight. The naked oocytes were first treated in A23187 microdroplet for 5 minutes in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) and rinsed in TL-Hepes three times followed by equilibrated KSOM three times to wash off the A23187 residue before

transferred into 6-DMAP microdroplet. The culture dish were culture inside  $CO_2$  incubator (5%; 38.5°C) for 3 to 6 hours accordingly.

#### 3.3.5.2 (f) (iii) Activation of caprine/bovine oocytes by Iono and 6-DMAP

Basically, two culture dishes were made for activation medium, one for Iono and the other one for 6-DMAP. Each culture dish (35 mm) contains 7 microdroplets (100  $\mu$ l/microdroplet) of activation medium overlaid with mineral oil and equilibrated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) overnight. The naked oocytes were first treated in Iono microdroplet for 5 minutes in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) and rinsed in TL-Hepes three times followed by equilibrated KSOM three times to wash off the Iono residue before transferred into 6-DMAP microdroplet. The culture dish were culture inside CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) for 3 to 6 hours accordingly.

# 3.3.5.2 (f) (iv) Activation of caprine/bovine oocytes by Iono and CHX

Basically, two culture dishes were made for activation medium, one for Iono and the other one for CHX. Each culture dish (35 mm) contains 7 microdroplets (100  $\mu$ l/microdroplet) of activation medium overlaid with mineral oil and equilibrated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) overnight. The naked oocytes were first treated in Iono microdroplet for 5 minutes in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) and rinsed in TL-Hepes three times followed by equilibrated KSOM three times to wash off the Iono residue before transferred into CHX microdroplet. The culture dish were culture inside CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) for 3 to 6 hours accordingly.

#### 3.3.5.2 (f) (v) Activation of caprine oocytes by Iono and CB

Basically, two culture dishes were made for activation medium, one for Iono and the other one for CB. Each culture dish (35 mm) contains 7 microdroplets (100  $\mu$ l/microdroplet) of activation medium overlaid with mineral oil and equilibrated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) overnight. The naked oocytes were first treated in Iono microdroplet for 5 minutes in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) and rinsed in TL-Hepes three times followed by equilibrated KSOM three times to wash off the Iono residue before transferred into CB microdroplet. The culture dish were culture inside CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) for 3 to 6 hours accordingly.

### 3.3.5.2 (f) (vi) Activation of bovine oocytes by EtOH and 6-DMAP

Basically, two culture dishes were made for activation medium, one for EtOH and the other one for 6-DMAP. Each culture dish (35 mm) contains 7 microdroplets (100  $\mu$ l/microdroplet) of activation medium overlaid with mineral oil and equilibrated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) overnight. The naked oocytes were first treated in EtOH microdroplet for 5 minutes in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) and rinsed in TL-Hepes three times followed by equilibrated KSOM three times to wash off the EtOH residue before transferred into 6-DMAP microdroplet. The culture dish were culture inside CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) for 4 hours.

#### **3.3.5.2** (g) In vitro fertilisation (IVF) of caprine/bovine oocytes

A few hours after IVM treatment, cumulus cells of COCs were partially removed by gentle repeated pipetting to leave few layers of corona cells surrounding the oocytes in order to make oocytes ready for IVF procedure.

#### 3.3.5.2 (g) (i) Sperm capacitation

Equilibrated Sp-TALP medium was divided into 2 parts (5 ml) in each centrifuge tube (15 ml). Meanwhile, three straws of frozen semen was removed aseptically from the liquid nitrogen ( $LN_2$ ) tank using a pair of long forceps and pre-thawed at room temperature (25°C; 1 minute) followed by thawing in a water bath (37°C; 3 minutes). The straws were removed from the water bath and the outer surface was disinfected with ethanol (70%) and allowed to dry. Using a pair of sterile scissors, the straws were cut at both ends (first was the end with cotton plug, then the sealed end) and the semen was slowly released into the one of the centrifuge tube. The tube was closed tightly and put inside the centrifuge machine (200 x g; 5 minutes).

After that, the supernatant of the semen was carefully sucked out using micropipettor (1000  $\mu$ l) to leave the sediment and a small amount of the supernatant. The sediment was mixed well with the supernatant residue and sucked out and dispensed at the bottom of the other centrifuge contain equilibrated Sp-TALP. The tube was closely capped and centrifuged again (200 x g; 5 minutes). The supernatant was carefully discarded without agitating the sperm pallet and the bottom layer of the supernatant was left (800  $\mu$ l). The bottommost part of supernatant (upper layer of sediment) was carefully sucked out and dispensed at the bottom part of a microcentrifuge tube (1.5 ml) contain 1 ml of equilibrated

Sp-TALP. The tube was cultured inside  $CO_2$  incubator (5%; 38.5°C) for 45 minutes to 1 hour to allow the sperm swim-up.

### 3.3.5.2 (g) (ii) Preparation of oocytes for IVF

Oocytes were transferred from IVM medium into hyaluronidase solution (0.1%; 100  $\mu$ l) and partially denuded by sucking it in and out of the pipette. Oocytes with 1 to 2 layers of cumulus cells left were washed thrice in a microdroplet of equilibrated IVF-TALP before being transferred into IVF-TALP culture dish (80  $\mu$ l/microdroplet; 5-10 oocytes/microdroplet) overlaid with mineral oil. The culture dish was cultured inside CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) to allow oocytes ready for insemination later.

# 3.3.5.2 (g) (iii) Insemination process of caprine/bovine

After 1 hour of sperm capacitation and oocytes were ready for insemination process, 10  $\mu$ l of sperm suspension from Sp-TALP microcentrifuge tube incubated earlier was took out and dispensed on the glass slide and observed under inverted microscope to examine the sperm motility and availability. When the sperm confirmed present (alive; concentration  $1.0 \times 10^6$  sperm/ml), 20  $\mu$ l of sperm suspension from Sp-TALP microcentrifuge tube was dispensed into each IVF-TALP microdroplet (20  $\mu$ l/5-10 oocytes) and allowed to inseminated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) for 18 to 24 hours.

# 3.3.5.2 (h) In vitro culture (IVC) of activated and in vitro fertilised caprine/bovine embryos

Culture dish (35 mm) contains 7 microdroplets (80 µl/microdroplet) of KSOM working solution was overlaid with mineral oil and equilibrated in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) overnight. All the activated and fertilised embryos were washed thrice respectively in TL-Hepes followed by equilibrated KSOM after the few hours of the respective treatments in order to wash off the residue of activation medium (PA); sperm and cumulus cells (IVF). Activated oocytes and fertilised embryos were then transferred into KSOM microdroplet (10-15 oocytes/microdroplet) respectively, and subsequently cultured in CO<sub>2</sub> incubator (5%; 38.5°C) for later embryos development. The IVC medium was changed at day-3 and -5 with KSOM working solution supplemented with glucose (0.004g/10 ml; 2.85 mM). The embryos were checked at Day-3, -5 and -7 accordingly and their development was recorded.

#### **3.3.5.3** Hoechst Staining of Parthenotes

In order to ensure the specific embryonic developmental stage, the embryos were stained with Hoechst at the particular embryonic development stage. The number of nuclei in the blastomeres of the particular embryos was determined and counted using epifluorescence microscope. Basically, a five microdroplets of PBS (-) (100  $\mu$ l) and fixative solution (100  $\mu$ l) were made and overlaid with mineral oil on the Petri dish (60 mm). The cleaved embryos were washed in PBS (-) five times followed by in fixative solution thrice on stage warmer stereomicroscope (38.5°C). Then, the embryos were placed to the last droplet of fixative solution for 5 minutes at 25°C. Four small drops of Vaseline-wax mixture were made on the centre of the glass slide to make a border. After 5 minutes, the embryos were transferred on centre of the slide and the excessive fixative solution was slowly aspirated

out from the embryos before mounted with a coverslip. Hoechst stain solution (10  $\mu$ l) was sipped through the coverslip and leave for a while to let the embryos absorb the stain. The coverslip was sealed with a layer of nail polish, labeled, wrapped in aluminium foil and kept in refrigerator (4°C) before being examined under epifluorescence microscope.

#### **3.4 EXPERIMENTAL DESIGN**

The present study was carried out to investigate and evaluate the ability of the certain chemicals to activate murine, caprine and bovine oocytes artificially as well as to compare the development competency of the respective embryos activated by different activation chemicals and with control (*in vitro* fertilised embryo). Other factors that affect the development of parthenotes such as hormone administration on LOPU caprine donor, IVM duration of caprine oocytes and post-hCG duration on murine oocytes were also evaluated in this study.

# 3.4.1 Effect of Different Combinations of Activation Chemical on the Production of Parthenogenetic Murine Embryos as Model Animals (Experiment 1)

The objectives of this experiment were (i) to develop a protocol of parthenogenetic activation in murine as model animals, (ii) to compare effect of the different activation chemicals in term of combination, duration of treatment and chemical concentration on the murine embryonic development and to (iii) to determine the best activation chemical in order to activate murine oocytes in the optimal way. The naked murine oocytes with the first polar body were treated in several different combinations of activation chemicals (i) SrCl<sub>2</sub> (concentration: 2, 4, 6, 8 and 10 mM; incubation duration: 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 hours) + CB (5  $\mu$ g/ml) in CZB Ca<sup>2+</sup> free medium, (ii) CaI (5  $\mu$ M; 5 minutes) + 6-DMAP (2 mM; 4

hours), (iii) CaI (5  $\mu$ M; 5 minutes) + CHX (10  $\mu$ g/ml; 4 hours), (iv) CaI (5  $\mu$ M; 5 minutes) + CB (5  $\mu$ g/ml; 4 hours), and (v) EtOH (7, 8, and 9%; 5 minutes) + 6-DMAP (2 mM; 4 hours). At the end of this experiment, the development of the parthenotes activated by different combination treatments was compared. The parameters such as oocytes maturation rate, embryo cleavage rate and embryo developmental rate between different chemical treatments were also evaluated.

# **3.4.2** Effect of Post-hCG Duration on the Production of Murine Oocytes and its Subsequent Parthenote Development (Experiment 2)

The objective of this experiment was to compare the effect post-hCG duration on the maturation rate, cleavage rate and embryonic developmental rate of murine oocytes. There were two groups of post-hCG duration investigated (Group 1: 13-15 hours and Group 2: 16-18 hours). The parameters such as oocytes maturation rate and embryonic developmental rate between two different groups of post-hCG duration were determined.

# 3.4.3 Effect of Different Combinations of Activation Chemical on the Production of Parthenogenetic Bovine Embryos as a Model Species of Livestock Animals (Experiment 3)

The objectives of this experiment were (i) to develop a protocol of parthenogenetic activation in bovine as a model species of livestock animals, (ii) to compare effect of the different activation chemicals in term of combination, duration of treatment and chemical concentration on the bovine embryonic development and to (iii) to determine the best activation chemical in order to activate bovine oocytes in the optimal way. Naked bovine oocytes with the first polar body were treated in several different combinations of activation chemicals (i) CaI (5  $\mu$ M; 5 minutes) + 6-DMAP (2 mM; 4 hours), (ii) Iono (10  $\mu$ M; 5 minutes) + 6-DMAP (2 mM; 4 hours), (iii) EtOH (8%; 5 minutes) + 6-DMAP (2

mM; 4 hours) and (iv) Iono (10  $\mu$ M; 5 minutes) + CHX (10  $\mu$ g/ml; 4 hours). The embryonic development of the parthenotes activated by different combination treatments was compared in order to find the optimal treatment that induced bovine parthenogenesis *in vitro*. At the end of this experiment, the development of the parthenotes was also compared with the *in vitro* fertilised embryos as a control group. The effect of oocytes maturation rate and the embryonic developmental rate on the different oocytes grade were also compared. The parameters such as oocytes maturation rate, embryo cleavage rate and embryo developmental rate between different chemical treatments were evaluated.

# 3.4.4 Effect of Different Combinations of Activation Chemical on the Production of Parthenogenetic Caprine Embryos (Experiment 4)

In this experiment, single and combination treatment of chemicals were used in order to activate caprine oocytes artificially. The objectives of this experiment were (i) to develop a protocol of parthenogenetic activation in caprine, (ii) to compare effect of the different activation chemicals in term of single or combination treatments, duration of treatment and chemical concentration on the caprine embryonic development and (iii) to determine the best activation chemical in order to activate caprine oocytes in the optimal way. Naked caprine oocytes with the first polar body were treated in a single treatment: (i) Iono (10  $\mu$ M; 5 minutes) and (ii) CaI (5  $\mu$ M; 5 minutes) as well as in different combination treatments: (i) CaI (5  $\mu$ M; 5 minutes) + 6-DMAP (2 mM; 3, 4, 5 and 6 hours), (ii) Iono (10  $\mu$ M; 5 minutes) + 6-DMAP (2 mM; 3, 4, 5 and 6 hours), (ii) Iono (10  $\mu$ M; 5 minutes) + 6-DMAP (2 mM; 3, 4, 5 and 6 hours), (ii) Iono (10  $\mu$ M; 5 minutes) + 6-DMAP (2 mM; 3, 4, 5 and 6 hours), (ii) Iono (10  $\mu$ M; 5 minutes) + 6-DMAP (2 mM; 3, 4, 5 and 6 hours), (ii) Iono (10  $\mu$ M; 5 minutes) + 6-DMAP (2 mM; 3, 4, 5 and 6 hours), (iii) Iono (10  $\mu$ M; 5 minutes) + CB (5  $\mu$ g/ml; 3, 4, 5 and 6 hours) and (iv) Iono (10  $\mu$ M; 5 minutes) + CB (5  $\mu$ g/ml; 3, 4, 5 and 6 hours). The embryonic development of the parthenotes in each group was compared and the later comparison was with the best combination in each group in order to find the optimal treatment that induced caprine parthenogenesis *in vitro*. At the end of this

experiment, the development of the parthenotes was also compared with the *in vitro* fertilised embryos as a control group. The effect of oocytes maturation rate and the embryonic developmental rate on the different grade of oocytes were also compared. The parameters such as oocytes maturation rate, embryo cleavage rate and embryo developmental rate between different chemical treatments were evaluated.

# 3.4.5 Effect of *In Vitro* Maturation (IVM) Duration on the Production of Caprine Oocytes and its Subsequent Parthenote Development (Experiment 5)

The objective of this experiment was to compare the effect IVM duration on the oocyte grades, maturation rate and embryonic developmental rate of caprine oocytes from LOPU. There were two groups of IVM duration evaluated (18-21 and 22-25 hours). The parameters such as number of oocytes retrieved, oocytes maturation rate, embryo cleavage rate and embryo developmental rate between different groups and oocyte grades were evaluated.

# 3.5 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The data obtained were expressed as mean and Standard Error of Mean (mean±SEM) and a probability of P<0.05 were considered as significant for all statistical tests (Steel and Torrie, 1981). All data were analysed using one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). Difference between developmental rate in each treatment and embryo stage were further analysed using the Duncan Multiple Range Test (DMRT). The software used was SPSS (Statistics Package for Social Science) for Windows, (Version 17.0; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

For Experiment 1, effect of the factors (type of chemical used as activation medium, combination agent, duration of the activation treatment and concentration of the activation chemical of murine oocytes) on the parameters (cleavage rate at each particular embryonic developmental stage) were determined. For Experiment 2, effect of the factor (duration of post-hCG treatment in murine oocytes) on the parameters (maturation rate, cleavage rate at each particular embryonic developmental stage) were determined. For Experiment 3, effect of the factors (type of chemical used as activation medium, combination agent, duration of the activation treatment and concentration of the activation chemical of caprine oocytes) on the parameters (maturation rate, cleavage rate at each particular embryonic developmental stage as well as on the quality of oocytes) were determined. For Experiment 4, effect of the factor (duration of *in vitro* maturation duration of caprine oocytes) on the parameters (maturation rate, cleavage rate at each particular embryonic developmental stage as well as on the quality of oocytes) were determined. For Experiment 5, effect of the factors (type of chemical used as activation medium, combination agent, duration of the activation treatment and concentration of the activation chemical of bovine oocytes) on the parameters (maturation rate, cleavage rate at each particular embryonic developmental stage as well as on the quality of oocytes) were determined.



Figure 3.8: Flow chart of experimental design.

Chapter 4

4.0 RESULTS

#### Chapter 4

#### 4.0 **RESULTS**

### 4.1 EFFECT OF DIFFERENT COMBINATIONS OF ACTIVATION CHEMICAL ON THE PRODUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC MURINE EMBRYOS AS MODEL ANIMALS (EXPERIMENT 1)

A total of 5479 oocytes were recovered from 381 donor murine to collect oocytes as shown in Table 4.1. Out of this, 73.26% of oocytes were at MII stage (presence of polar body) and the rest 26.74% were absent of polar body (Figure 4.1).

Table 4.2 shows the comparison of murine embryonic development after activation of matured oocytes by using five different concentrations of strontium chloride (SrCl<sub>2</sub>). There were no significant differences (P>0.05) among all five concentrations of SrCl<sub>2</sub> at every embryonic developmental stages with the values of 80.96-89.06% (2-cell); 67.84-80.00% (4-cell); 55.29-69.79% (8-cell); 44.44-59.36% (morula) and 31.02-46.83% (blastocyst), respectively, when oocytes were treated with five different concentrations of SrCl<sub>2</sub> + 5 µg/ml CB in CZB Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free medium for 5 hours. However, treatment with 10 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> showed the highest cleavage (89.06±2.76%) and blastocyst (46.83±5.37%) rates.

Table 4.3 shows the comparison of murine embryonic development after activation of matured oocytes by using five different durations of 10 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB in CZB Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free medium. Even though there were insignificant differences (P>0.05), generally oocytes treated with 10 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB in CZB Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free medium for 3 hours incubation duration showed the highest cleavage rates 93.83±1.82% (2-cell); 84.30±3.06% (4-cell); 79.24±3.74% (8-cell); 68.78±4.56% (morula) and 60.42±4.92% (blastocyst), respectively, followed by 4, 5, 2 and 1 hours. Figure 4.2 shows the morphological changes

of cleaved parthenogenetic murine embryos activated by 10 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB in CZB Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free medium for 3 hours.

In evaluating optimal combination treatment after treated with calcium ionophore (A23187) (Table 4.4), the combination of A23187 + 6-DMAP shows the significantly (P<0.05) highest cleavage rates at all embryonic stages compared to the combination of A23187 + CB (2-cell:  $79.48\pm5.63\%$  vs.  $61.88\pm5.07\%$ ; 4-cell:  $59.83\pm6.29\%$  vs.  $43.53\pm5.08\%$ ; 8-cell:  $50.58\pm35.15\%$  vs.  $29.66\pm5.08\%$ ; morula:  $30.29\pm5.51\%$  vs.  $16.34\pm3.98\%$  and blastocyst:  $23.28\pm4.62\%$  vs.  $9.76\pm2.74\%$ , respectively). However, treatment with combination of A23187 + CHX only shows significant different (P<0.05) with treatment with combination of A23187 + 6-DMAP at 8-cell stage ( $50.58\pm35.15\%$  vs.  $31.14\pm4.79\%$ , respectively) until blastocyst ( $23.28\pm4.62\%$  vs.  $9.24\pm3.02\%$ , respectively).

In evaluating optimal concentration of ethanol (EtOH) as combination with 2 mM 6-DMAP for 4 hours incubation duration (Table 4.5), treatment with 8% EtOH exhibited the highest cleavage rates at all embryonic stages and only significantly (P<0.05) higher from the other two combinations at 8-cell stage ( $39.70\pm4.73\%$ ), morula ( $21.50\pm4.14\%$ ) and blastocyst stage ( $13.86\pm3.64\%$ ).

When comparing the optimal methods of activation protocols from each group of combination treatment (Table 4.6), combination of 10 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB gave significantly the highest (P<0.05) cleavage rates at all embryonic stages compared to the other two treatments. The cleavage rates were decreased in all cases from early to the later stages of embryonic development significantly (P<0.05).

Total no. of mice	Total no. of ovaries*	Total no. of oocytes	Total no. of oocytes/ovary	Percent of oocytes with polar body	Percent of oocytes without polar body
381	733	5479	7.47	73.26 (n=4014)	26.74 (n=1465)

**Table 4.1:** Number and percentages of oocytes obtained through oviduct oocytes retrieval

\* Total number of ovaries was based on ovaries that contain oocytes.





SrCl <sub>2</sub>	No. of oocyte	Percent of oocyte with polar body	Embryos cleavage rate (%)*					
concentration (mM)	retrieved	(%)	2-cell	4-cell	8-cell	Morula	Blastocyst	
2	347	75.79	86.82±3.19 <sup>az</sup>	$71.16 \pm 4.20^{az}$	56.02±5.50 <sup>ay</sup>	44.44±5.52 <sup>axy</sup>	33.42±5.11 <sup>ax</sup>	
2		(n=263)	(n=223)	(n=191)	(n=158)	(n=152)	(n=96)	
4	347	74.93	85.11±2.95 <sup>az</sup>	$67.84 \pm 4.64^{ay}$	$55.29 \pm 5.97^{axy}$	$45.14 \pm 6.42^{awx}$	$31.02 \pm 5.97^{aw}$	
4		(n=260)	(n=215)	(n=171)	(n=137)	(n=108)	(n=74)	
6	348	75.29	$88.80 \pm 2.70^{az}$	77.66±5.13 <sup>ayz</sup>	$66.20 \pm 5.44^{axy}$	$53.04 \pm 5.65^{awx}$	39.26±6.11 <sup>aw</sup>	
0		(n=262)	(n=224)	(n=193)	(n=162)	(n=133)	(n=102)	
0	348	75.00	80.96±3.99 <sup>az</sup>	$71.00{\pm}4.46^{ayz}$	$59.00 \pm 4.40^{axy}$	$50.80 \pm 4.48^{awx}$	$40.70 \pm 5.37^{aw}$	
8		(n=261)	(n=214)	(n=187)	(n=153)	(n=131)	(n=102)	
10	348	75.86	89.06±2.76 <sup>az</sup>	$80.00 \pm 3.21^{ayx}$	$69.79 \pm 3.75^{axy}$	59.36±4.48 <sup>ax</sup>	$46.83 \pm 5.37^{aw}$	
		(n=264)	(n=231)	(n=200)	(n=174)	(n=143)	(n=111)	

Table 4.2: Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of murine parthenotes after activation by using five different concentrations of SrCl<sub>2</sub>

n: no. of oocytes/embryos

n: no. of oocytes/embryos \* Cleavage rate was based on percent of oocyte with polar body <sup>a</sup> Means with similar superscripts in a column were insignificantly different (P>0.05) <sup>wxyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)

SrCl <sub>2</sub>	No. of oocyte	Percent of oocyte with polar body	Embryos cleavage rate (%)*					
duration (hours)	retrieved	(%)	2-cell	4-cell	8-cell	Morula	Blastocyst	
1	345	76.52	74.05±3.37 <sup>az</sup>	62.34±3.39 <sup>ay</sup>	48.46±3.48 <sup>ax</sup>	38.17±3.75 <sup>aw</sup>	29.62±3.73 <sup>aw</sup>	
1	545	(n=264)	(n=188)	(n=264)	(n=128)	(n=102)	(n=79)	
2	2 249	75.28	82.51±2.92 <sup>abz</sup>	$67.80 \pm 2.85^{aby}$	57.35±3.48 <sup>abx</sup>	$45.95 \pm 3.79^{abw}$	$33.39 \pm 4.48^{abv}$	
2	348	(n=262)	(n=215)	(n=176)	(n=150)	(n=116)	(n=82)	
3	2 240	75.28	93.83±1.82 <sup>cz</sup>	84.30±3.06 <sup>cyz</sup>	$79.24 \pm 3.74^{exy}$	$68.78 \pm 4.56^{cwx}$	$60.42 \pm 4.92^{cw}$	
3	348	(n=262)	(n=242)	(n=211)	(n=193)	(n=164)	(n=138)	
4	346	74.57	88.93±3.21 <sup>bcz</sup>	$78.70 \pm 4.59^{bcyz}$	$66.29 \pm 5.67^{bxy}$	$58.21 \pm 6.15^{bcwx}$	$48.00 \pm 7.18^{bcw}$	
4		(n=258)	(n=217)	(n=187)	(n=156)	(n=130)	(n=101)	
5	216	75.43	81.13±3.71 <sup>abz</sup>	$73.88 \pm 4.37^{bcyz}$	$61.82 \pm 5.00^{bxy}$	51.32±5.81 <sup>abwx</sup>	$40.19 \pm 5.83^{abw}$	
	346	(n=261)	(n=204)	(n=179)	(n=150)	(n=124)	(n=91)	

Table 4.3: Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of murine parthenotes after activation by using five different incubation durations of SrCl<sub>2</sub>

n: no. of oocytes/embryos \* Cleavage rate was based on percent of oocyte with polar body <sup>abc</sup> Means with different superscripts in a column were significantly different (P<0.05) <sup>vwxyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)

Table 4.4: Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of murine parthenotes after activation by using calcium ionophore (A23187), followed by different combination (6-DMAP, CHX or CB)

Combination	No. of oocyte	Percent of oocyte with polar body	Embryos cleavage rate (%)*					
	retrieved	(%)	2-cell	4-cell	8-cell	Morula	Blastocyst	
6-DMAP	370	68.38	79.48±5.63 <sup>bz</sup>	59.83±6.29 <sup>by</sup>	50.58±35.15 <sup>by</sup>	30.29±5.51 <sup>bx</sup>	23.28±4.62 <sup>bx</sup>	
		(n=253)	(n=216)	(n=174)	(n=147)	(n=97)	(n=52)	
СНХ	371	68.46	72.62±5.17 <sup>abz</sup>	45.26±4.10 <sup>aby</sup>	$31.14 \pm 4.79^{ax}$	$15.01 \pm 3.69^{aw}$	$9.24{\pm}3.02^{aw}$	
		(n=254)	(n=194)	(n=134)	(n=97)	(n=52)	(n=19)	
СВ	369	69.11	$61.88 \pm 5.07^{az}$	43.53±5.08 <sup>ay</sup>	$29.66 \pm 5.08^{ax}$	$16.34 \pm 3.98^{aw}$	$9.76 \pm 2.74^{aw}$	
		(n=255)	(n=172)	(n=125)	(n=95)	(n=54)	(n=15)	

n: no. of oocytes/embryos \* Cleavage rate was based on the percent of oocyte with polar body <sup>ab</sup> Means with different superscripts in a column were significantly different (P<0.05) <sup>wxyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)

EtOH concentration (%)	No. of oocyte	Percent of oocyte with polar body	Embryos cleavage rate (%)*					
	retrieved	(%)	2-cell	4-cell	8-cell	Morula	Blastocyst	
7	299	70.90	54.33±6.36 <sup>az</sup>	35.29±6.29 <sup>ay</sup>	23.20±4.93 <sup>ay</sup>	9.28±2.65 <sup>ax</sup>	4.10±1.62 <sup>ax</sup>	
/		(n=212)	(n=123)	(n=83)	(n=57)	(n=23)	(n=10)	
8	300	70.33	$77.07 \pm 4.21^{bz}$	$53.96 \pm 4.89^{by}$	$39.70 \pm 4.73^{bx}$	$21.50 \pm 4.14^{bw}$	$13.86 \pm 3.64^{bw}$	
0		(n=211)	(n=161)	(n=109)	(n=90)	(n=51)	(n=36)	
9	299	200	70.90	$64.37 \pm 4.52^{abz}$	39.56±5.41 <sup>aby</sup>	$24.87 \pm 4.28^{ax}$	$10.31 \pm 2.78^{aw}$	$5.12 \pm 1.82^{aw}$
		(n=212)	(n=141)	(n=90)	(n=60)	(n=30)	(n=16)	

Table 4.5: Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of murine parthenotes after activation by using three different concentrations of ethanol followed by 6-DMAP

n: no. of oocytes/embryos \* Cleavage rate was based on percent of oocyte with polar body <sup>ab</sup> Means with different superscripts in a column were significantly different (P<0.05) <sup>wxyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)

Embryos cleavage rate (%)\* Percent of oocyte No. of oocyte with polar body Combination retrieved 2-cell 4-cell 8-cell Morula Blastocyst (%) 84.30±3.06<sup>byz</sup> 79.24±3.74<sup>bxy</sup>  $68.78 \pm 4.56^{bwx}$ 75.28 93.83±1.82<sup>bz</sup>  $60.42 \pm 4.92^{bw}$  $SrCl_2 + CB$ 348 (n=211) (n=262) (n=242) (n=193) (n=164) (n=138) 79.48±5.63<sup>az</sup> 59.83±6.29<sup>ay</sup> 50.58±35.15<sup>ay</sup> 30.29±5.51<sup>ax</sup> 23.28±4.62<sup>ax</sup> 68.38 CaI + DMAP 370 (n=253) (n=216) (n=174) (n=147) (n=97) (n=52) 13.86±3.64<sup>aw</sup> 70.33 77.07±4.21<sup>az</sup> 53.96±4.89<sup>ay</sup>  $39.70 \pm 4.73^{ax}$ 21.50±4.14<sup>aw</sup> EtOH + DMAP 300 (n=211) (n=161) (n=109) (n=90) (n=51) (n=36)

 Table 4.6: Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of murine parthenotes between three best results of oocytes activation using SrCl<sub>2</sub>+CB, A23187+DMAP and EtOH+DMAP

n: no. of oocytes/embryos

\* Cleavage rate was based on the percent of oocyte with polar body

<sup>ab</sup> Means with different superscripts in a column were significantly different (P<0.05)

<sup>wxyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)



Figure 4.2: Morphological changes of parthenogenetic murine embryos activated by 10 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB in CZB Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free medium for 3 h at different cell stages at (a) 1-cell, (b) 2-cell, (c) 4-cell, (d) 8-cell, (e) morula, (f) expanding blastocyst, (g) fully expanded blastocyst, (h) hatching blastocyst and (i) hatched blastocyst stage.

## 4.2 EFFECT OF POST-hCG DURATION ON THE PRODUCTION OF MURINE OOCYTES AND ITS SUBSEQUENT PARTHENOTES DEVELOPMENT (EXPERIMENT 2)

Two groups (13-15 hours and 16-18 hours) of post-hCG duration were evaluated in this experiment to determine the effect of post-hCG administration durations on the oocyte retrieval. Subsequent maturation rate and embryonic development were also evaluated (Table 4.7). A total of 5479 oocytes were obtained from 381 donor murine which were further divided into two groups consisting of 2673 and 2806 oocytes for 13-15 hours and 16-18 hours durations, respectively.

Even though insignificance (P>0.05) in the percent of oocyte with polar body between these two groups of post-hCG duration (70.69 $\pm$ 1.04% vs. 70.08 $\pm$ 1.05%), group of 13-15 hours post-hCG duration were significantly (P<0.05) higher than group of 16-18 hours in all embryonic developmental stages (2-cell: 81.90 $\pm$ 1.53% vs. 76.41 $\pm$ 1.64%; 4cell: 67.87 $\pm$ 2.02% vs. 60.20 $\pm$ 1.92%; 8-cell: 55.50 $\pm$ 2.25% vs. 48.37 $\pm$ 1.96%; morula: 43.68 $\pm$ 2.42% vs. 35.19 $\pm$ 2.01% and blastocyst: 34.36 $\pm$ 2.34% vs. 26.04 $\pm$ 1.88%, respectively). The cleavage rates were decreased in all cases from early to the later stages of embryonic development significantly (P<0.05).
Post-hCG	No. of	Percent of oocyte with	Embryo cleavage rate (%)*					
duration (hour)		polar body (%)	2-cell	4-cell	8-cell	Morula	Blastocyst	
13-15	2673	70.69±1.04 <sup>a</sup>	81.90±1.53 <sup>bz</sup>	67.87±2.02 <sup>by</sup>	55.50±2.25 <sup>bx</sup>	$43.68 \pm 2.42^{bw}$	34.36±2.34 <sup>bv</sup>	
13-15	2073	(n=1979)	(n=1566)	(n=1318)	(n=1045)	(n=856)	(n=581)	
16 10	2006	$70.08 \pm 1.05^{a}$	$76.41 \pm 1.64^{az}$	60.20±1.92 <sup>ay</sup>	48.37±1.96 <sup>ax</sup>	35.19±2.01 <sup>aw</sup>	$26.04 \pm 1.88^{av}$	
16-18	2806	(n=2035)	(n=1607)	(n=1251)	(n=1021)	(n=737)	(n=533)	

Table 4.7: Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of murine parthenotes between two different post-hCG durations

n: no. of oocytes/embryos

\* Cleavage rate was based on the maturation rate <sup>ab</sup> Means with different superscripts in a column were significantly different (P<0.05) <sup>vwxyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)

# 4.3 EFFECT OF DIFFERENT COMBINATIONS OF ACTIVATION CHEMICAL ON THE PRODUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC BOVINE EMBRYOS AS A MODEL SPECIES TO LIVESTOCK ANIMALS (EXPERIMENT 3)

A total 918 oocytes were retrieved from 77 ovaries using ovary slicing procedure as shown in Table 4.8. As shown in Figure 4.3, 61.22% oocytes were matured (presence of polar body) and the rest 38.78% were not matured (absence of polar body).

Table 4.9 shows comparison of embryonic development after activation of matured oocytes by using combination of different types of chemical. Treatment with combination of 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 2 mM 6-DMAP indicated the highest embryonic cleavage rates with the values of 60.96±4.34% (4-cell), 42.38±4.90% (8-cell), 24.32±3.97% (morula) and 7.10±1.43% (blastocyst), compared to the other combination treatments. Treatment with Iono + CHX was significantly lower (P<0.05) than other combination treatments at 8-cell stage. There were significant differences (P<0.05) between combination of Iono + 6-DMAP with combination of Iono + CHX and IVF control at morula (24.32±3.97% vs. 8.80±2.89% and 24.32±3.97% vs. 3.40±1.97%, respectively) and blastocyst (7.10±1.43% vs. 2.16±1.56% and 7.10±1.43% vs. 0.00±0.00%, respectively) stages, respectively. Figure 4.4 shows the image of activated bovine oocyte with polar body, whereas Figure 4.5 shows the morphological changes of cleaved parthenogenetic bovine embryos activated by various combinations of chemical treatment.

Table 4.10 shows the development of bovine parthenotes according to the oocyte grades from every activation protocols. Grade B oocytes from A23187 + 6-DMAP treated group shows significant different (P<0.05) in maturation rates than Grades A, B and C oocytes those treated with Iono + CHX. Grade C oocytes from EtOH + 6-DMAP indicated significantly higher (P<0.05) cleavage rate (2-cell) than Grade B those treated with Iono + CHX. However, no differences (P>0.05) were observed in blastocyst rates for each oocyte

grade from every activation protocols and IVF control. Generally, Grade A oocytes from each activation protocol shows highest percentage in both maturation and cleavage rates (2-cell to blastocyst). The cleavage rates were decreased in all cases from early to the later stages of embryonic development significantly (P<0.05).

Total no. of ovaries*	Total no. of oocytes	Total no. of oocytes/ovary	Percent of oocytes with polar body (%)	Percent of oocytes without polar body (%)
77	019	11.92	61.22	38.78
11	918	11.92	(n=562)	(n=356)

 Table 4.8: Number and percentage of oocytes obtained from ovary slicing

\* Total number of ovaries was based on ovaries that contain oocytes.



Figure 4.3: Pie chart of percentage of bovine oocytes obtained from abattoir.

	No. of oocytes	Maturation		Embryo cleavage rate (%)*					
Treatment	retrieved	rate (%)	2-cell	4-cell	8-cell	Morula	Blastocyst		
CaI + DMAP	209	52.15	74.86±5.64 <sup>az</sup>	57.01±3.66 <sup>ay</sup>	41.79±4.33 <sup>bx</sup>	17.90±3.60 <sup>bcw</sup>	4.24±2.52 <sup>abv</sup>		
Cal + DMAP	209	(n=109)	(n=83)	(n=62)	(n=44)	(n=20)	(n=5)		
	223	65.92	73.60±4.68 <sup>az</sup>	60.96±4.34 <sup>ay</sup>	$42.38 \pm 4.90^{bx}$	$24.32 \pm 3.97^{cw}$	$7.10 \pm 1.43^{bv}$		
Iono + DMAP	223	(n=147)	(n=109)	(n=89)	(n=63)	(n=35)	(n=13)		
EtOH + DMAP	169	53.85	$74.20 \pm 2.84^{az}$	$55.97 \pm 3.46^{ay}$	$37.53 \pm 3.71^{bx}$	$18.55 \pm 4.49^{bcw}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{av}$		
EIOH + DMAP	109	(n=91)	(n=64)	(n=51)	(n=36)	(n=18)	(n=0)		
Iono + CHX	188	72.34	63.48±9.12 <sup>az</sup>	$46.28 \pm 7.09^{ay}$	19.66±4.44 <sup>ax</sup>	$8.80 \pm 2.89^{abx}$	$2.16 \pm 1.56^{abx}$		
10110 + CHX	188	(n=136)	(n=87)	(n=63)	(n=27)	(n=12)	(n=3)		
IVF**	120	61.24	$73.00 \pm 7.22^{az}$	$62.90 \pm 9.30^{az}$	$37.63 \pm 8.71^{by}$	$3.40 \pm 1.97^{ax}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ax}$		
174**	129	(n=79)	(n=53)	(n=45)	(n=29)	(n=4)	(n=0)		

Table 4.9: Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of bovine parthenotes after activation by various combination treatments

n: no. of oocytes/embryos

\* Cleavage rate was based on the maturation rate \*\* IVF was used as a control

\*\* IVF was used as a control <sup>abc</sup> Means with different superscripts in a column were significantly different (P<0.05) <sup>vwxyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)

	Oocyte	Total	Maturation		Embry	yos cleavage rate	(%)*	
Treatment	grade	oocyte retrieved	rate (%)	2-cell	4-cell	8-cell	Morula	Blastocyst
		0.0	60.74±4.09 <sup>abc</sup>	80.09±8.03 <sup>abz</sup>	64.04±5.76 <sup>ayz</sup>	49.45±8.86 <sup>bcy</sup>	20.75±4.33 <sup>abcdex</sup>	7.95±4.95 <sup>ax</sup>
A 72107 I	А	88	(n=53)	(n=45)	(n=36)	(n=27)	(n=12)	(n=4)
A23187 +	р	21	$50.27 \pm 6.54^{a}$	$86.12 \pm 9.04^{abz}$	58.33±9.38 <sup>ay</sup>	52.77±10.02 <sup>cy</sup>	25.00±9.38 <sup>bcdex</sup>	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{av}$
DMAP	В	31	(n=16)	(n=14)	(n=8)	(n=7)	(n=4)	(n=0)
(4 hr)	C	24	60.96±6.97 <sup>abc</sup>	84.53±7.80 <sup>abz</sup>	57.14±7.14 <sup>ay</sup>	29.76±8.50 <sup>abcy</sup>	16.67±8.91 <sup>abcdevx</sup>	$2.39 \pm 2.39^{av}$
	С	34	(n=20)	(n=16)	(n=11)	(n=6)	(n=3)	(n=1)
	٨	()	74.74±8.15 <sup>bcd</sup>	85.92±8.45 <sup>abz</sup>	69.23±9.93 <sup>ayz</sup>	$50.24 \pm 6.64^{bcy}$	28.70±1.63 <sup>cdex</sup>	$8.90 \pm 2.40^{av}$
Tenel	А	62	(n=49)	(n=40)	(n=31)	(n=22)	(n=14)	(n=5)
Iono +	В	69	$64.70 \pm 3.04^{abcd}$	$72.78 \pm 4.92^{abz}$	$63.40 \pm 4.19^{az}$	39.38±7.03 <sup>abcy</sup>	25.78±8.13 <sup>bcdey</sup>	$8.32 \pm 3.64^{ax}$
DMAP	В	09	(n=45)	(n=35)	(n=29)	(n=20)	(n=13)	(n=6)
(4 hr)	С	57	72.76±8.95 <sup>abcd</sup>	75.56±7.73 <sup>abz</sup>	$66.68 \pm 10.28^{ayz}$	$50.66 \pm 16.16^{bcyz}$	$34.66 \pm 16.44^{exy}$	3.56±2.29 <sup>ax</sup>
	C	37	(n=39)	(n=26)	(n=22)	(n=16)	(n=8)	(n=2)
	А	78	$62.37 \pm 6.99^{abc}$	77.22±6.96 <sup>abz</sup>	65.30±7.92 <sup>ayz</sup>	47.82±5.85 <sup>bcxy</sup>	$33.10 \pm 7.46^{dex}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{av}$
EtOH +	А	/8	(n=52)	(n=40)	(n=32)	(n=24)	(n=15)	(n=0)
DMAP	В	24	61.12±8.44 <sup>abc</sup>	81.95±8.72 <sup>abz</sup>	63.88±11.72 <sup>ayz</sup>	$51.38 \pm 16.73^{bcy}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ax}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ax}$
	D	24	(n=13)	(n=10)	(n=7)	(n=5)	(n=0)	(n=0)
(4 hr)	С	22	$56.25 \pm 4.00^{abc}$	$92.85 \pm 7.15^{bz}$	$73.23 \pm 15.53^{az}$	$13.40 \pm 7.77^{ay}$	$9.83{\pm}6.08^{abcdy}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ay}$
	C		(n=13)	(n=11)	(n=7)	(n=3)	(n=2)	(n=0)
								(continued)

 Table 4.10: Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of bovine parthenotes according to oocyte grades from every activation protocols

		1)
100	ntını	1001
		1011

			85.16±6.49 <sup>d</sup>	68.40±13.20 <sup>abz</sup>	49.52±10.17 <sup>ayz</sup>	19.08±4.09 <sup>abxy</sup>	$8.02 \pm 3.50^{abcx}$	1.43±1.43 <sup>ax</sup>
T I	А	55	(n=44)	(n=27)	(n=20)	(n=9)	(n=4)	(n=1)
Iono +	р	43	77.32±1.77 <sup>cd</sup>	$60.42 \pm 11.65^{az}$	$41.50 \pm 8.97^{az}$	20.92±6.91 <sup>abcz</sup>	$12.22\pm5.60^{abcdez}$	$2.86 \pm 2.86^{ay}$
	CHX B	43	(n=33)	(n=21)	(n=14)	(n=7)	(n=4)	(n=1)
(4 hr)	С	58	$78.94 \pm 2.78^{cd}$	$69.40 \pm 7.88^{abz}$	51.90±5.02 <sup>ay</sup>	20.76±5.27 <sup>abcx</sup>	$8.04 \pm 3.76^{abcvx}$	$2.00 \pm 2.00^{av}$
	C	58	(n=46)	(n=34)	(n=25)	(n=10)	(n=4)	(n=1)
	А	44	54.60±8.22 <sup>ab</sup>	79.05±13.03 <sup>abz</sup>	74.63±15.29 <sup>az</sup>	$42.70 \pm 4.61^{abcy}$	$4.43 \pm 2.60^{abcx}$	0.00±0.00 <sup>ax</sup>
	A	44	(n=27)	(n=17)	(n=15)	(n=10)	(n=2)	(n=0)
IVF**	В	41	58.55±9.32 <sup>abc</sup>	75.00±10.21 <sup>abz</sup>	$62.50 \pm 16.14^{acz}$	39.38±17.63 <sup>abcz</sup>	$3.13 \pm 3.13^{aby}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ay}$
1 V 1	D	41	(n=25)	(n=17)	(n=16)	(n=10)	(n=1)	(n=0)
	С	41	$64.25 \pm 6.93^{abcd}$	71.88±3.73 <sup>abz</sup>	55.63±7.93 <sup>acy</sup>	33.75±6.88 <sup>abex</sup>	3.13±3.13 <sup>abv</sup>	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{av}$
	C	71	(n=27)	(n=19)	(n=14)	(n=9)	(n=1)	(n=0)

n: no. of oocytes/embryos \* Cleavage rate was based on the maturation rate <sup>abcde</sup> Means with different superscripts in a column were significantly different (P<0.05) <sup>vwxyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)



Figure 4.4: Activated bovine oocytes with polar body.



Figure 4.5: Parthenogenetic bovine embryos at: (a) 2-cell, (b) 4-cell, (c) 8-cell, (d) compacting morula and (e) early blastocyst.

### 4.4 EFFECT OF DIFFERENT COMBINATIONS OF ACTIVATION CHEMICAL ON THE PRODUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC CAPRINE EMBRYOS (EXPERIMENT 4)

A total of 64 donor caprine were used in LOPU procedure in order to collect the oocytes. Some donors were used two to three times to carry out the LOPU procedure. Out of 136 ovaries collected, 837 oocytes were obtained (Table 4.11) in which 73.48% of oocytes were matured (presence of polar body) and the rest 26.52% were not matured (absence of polar body) (Figure 4.6).

Table 4.12 shows comparison of caprine embryonic development after activation of matured oocytes by using a single chemical. There were no significant differences (P>0.05) between these two chemicals (Iono vs. A23187) at each embryonic developmental stage in maturation rate (61.54% vs. 59.46%) and cleavage rates (2-cell:  $95.00\pm5.00\%$  vs.  $83.33\pm10.91\%$ ; 4-cell:  $95.00\pm5.00\%$  vs.  $83.33\pm10.91\%$ ; 8-cell:  $75.66\pm8.19\%$  vs.  $72.61\pm13.21\%$ ; morula:  $53.34\pm16.16\%$  vs.  $45.24\pm14.53\%$  and blastocyst:  $20.34\pm12.46\%$  vs.  $9.53\pm7.14\%$ , respectively).

Table 4.13 shows comparison of embryonic development after activation of matured oocytes by using combination of 5  $\mu$ M A23187 + 2 mM 6-DMAP with different incubation durations in 6-DMAP (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours). Similarly, there were no significant differences (P>0.05) among these combination treatments at every embryonic developmental stage with treatment of A23187 + 6-DMAP for 3 hours incubation duration gave embryonic cleavage rates of 95.25±4.75% (2-cell), 92.85±7.15% (4-cell), 90.07±7.14% (8-cell), 47.22±14.27% (morula) and 10.72±5.49% (blastocyst), compared to the other incubation durations.

As shown in Table 4.14 in comparison of combination treatment by using 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 2 mM 6-DMAP with different incubation durations in 6-DMAP (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours), treatment with the combination of Iono + 6-DMAP for 6 hours incubation duration, cleavage rates were naturally decreasing at each embryonic developmental stage as follows: 96.15±3.85% (2-cell), 84.28±10.89% (4-cell), 79.05±13.95% (8-cell), 56.35±12.15% (morula) and 35.00±13.72% (blastocyst). Blastocyst rate of 6 (35.00±13.72%) and 3 hours (24.66±10.40%) incubation durations in 6-DMAP was significantly higher (P<0.05) than those of 4 (0.00±0.00%) and 5 hours (0.00±0.00%) incubation durations.

In comparison of combination treatment by using 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 10  $\mu$ g/ml CHX with different incubation durations in CHX (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours) as shown in Table 4.15, treatment with Iono + CHX for 4 hours incubation duration apparently gave higher cleavage rates than the other incubation durations with the values of 91.67±4.82% (2-cell), 76.87±6.48% (4-cell), 68.50±10.20% (8-cell), 36.13±15.47% (morula) and 11.10±11.10% (blastocyst). As for morula stage, the incubation duration for 6 hours in CHX gave significantly higher (P<0.05) cleavage rate than 5 hours (14.93±9.16% vs. 49.35±3.57%, respectively).

In evaluating combination treatment by using 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB with different incubation duration in CB (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours) as shown in Table 4.16, treatment with Iono + CB for 5 hours incubation duration shows the highest embryonic cleavage rates with the values of 92.17 $\pm$ 7.83% (2-cell), 88.23 $\pm$ 11.77% (4-cell), 87.87 $\pm$ 12.13% (8-cell) and 55.80 $\pm$ 22.00% (morula). However, there was no embryo develop beyond morula stage at each incubation duration. The cleavage rates at 8-cell stage of 5 hours incubation duration duration were significantly different (P<0.05) from other incubation durations.

Table 4.17 shows that combination of 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 2 mM 6-DMAP for 6 hours generally gave higher cleavage rates in most cases followed by 5  $\mu$ M A23187 + 2 mM 6-DMAP for 3 hours, 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 10  $\mu$ g/ml CHX for 4 hours and 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB or 5 hours. In all cases, the cleavage rates were higher than those of IVF. Figure 4.7 shows image of activated oocyte with polar body whereas Figure 4.8 shows the morphological changes of cleaved parthenogenetic caprine embryos activated by various chemical combination treatments.

Table 4.18 shows the embryonic development of parthenotes according to the oocytes grades regardless the activation protocol used to activate oocytes. Grade C oocytes showed the highest number of total oocytes retrieved ( $40.30\pm2.29\%$ ) whereas Grade B oocyte showed the highest maturation rate ( $91.09\pm2.17\%$ ). The maturation rate of Grade B oocyte was significant (P<0.05) with Grades D and E oocytes. Cleavage rate ( $95.81\pm1.51\%$ ) of Grade B oocyte was the highest among the other grades. However, Grade A ( $12.35\pm3.29\%$ ) oocytes showed the highest blastocyst rate followed by Grades B, C, D and E. The cleavage rates were decreased in all cases from early to the later stages of embryonic development significantly (P<0.05).

Table 4.19 shows the development of caprine parthenotes according to the oocyte grades from the optimal activation protocol in each group. There were no significant differences (P>0.05) were observed in the maturation rate for each oocyte grade from every activation protocols. Grade A oocytes IVF control group was significantly lower (P<0.05) in cleavage rate (2-cell) from the other oocyte grades. However, no differences (P>0.05) were observed in morula and blastocyst rates for each oocyte grade from every activation protocols and IVF control. No differences (P>0.05) were indicated in maturation, cleavage (2-cell) and blastocyst rates for each oocyte grades from A23187 + 6-DMAP, Iono + 6-DMAP, Iono + CHX and Iono + CB treated groups. In contrast, Grade A

oocytes shows significant difference (P<0.05) in cleavage (2-cell) rate from other oocyte grades in IVF group. Generally, each grades of oocyte from every activation protocols and IVF control shows high percent in maturation, cleavage and blastocyst rates. The cleavage rates were decreased in all cases from early to the later stages of embryonic development significantly (P<0.05).

Total no. of goats*	Total no. of ovaries**	Total no. of oocytes	Total no. of oocytes/ovary	Percent of oocytes with polar body (%)	Percent of oocytes without polar body (%)
64	136	837	6.15	73.48	26.52
04	150	03/	0.15	(n=615)	(n=222)

**Table 4.11:** Number and percentages of oocytes obtained from LOPU

\* Some goats were used two to three times for LOPU.
\*\* Total number of ovaries was based on ovaries that contain oocytes.



Figure 4.6: Pie chart of percentage of caprine oocytes obtained from LOPU procedure.

	No. of oocytes	Maturation		Embi	ryo cleavage rate	e (%)*	
Treatment	retrieved	rate (%)	2-cell	4-cell	8-cell	Morula	Blastocyst
Iono	Iono 39	61.54	95.00±5.00 <sup>az</sup>	95.00±5.00 <sup>az</sup>	75.66±8.19 <sup>ayz</sup>	53.34±16.16 <sup>ay</sup>	20.34±12.46 <sup>ax</sup>
10110		(n=24)	(n=23)	(n=23)	(n=18)	(n=15)	(n=6)
A23187 37	27	59.46	83.33±10.91 <sup>az</sup>	83.33±10.91 <sup>az</sup>	$72.61 \pm 13.21^{ayz}$	$45.24{\pm}14.53^{ay}$	$9.53 \pm 7.14^{ax}$
	51	(n=22)	(n=18)	(n=18)	(n=16)	(n=11)	(n=2)

Table 4.12: Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of caprine parthenotes after activation by a single chemical

n: no. of oocytes/embryos

\* Cleavage rate was based on the maturation rate <sup>a</sup> Means with similar superscripts in a column were insignificantly different (P>0.05) <sup>xyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)

Table 4.13: Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of caprine parthenotes after activation by combination treatment using 5 µM A23187 (5 min) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours)

	No. of	Maturation	Embryo cleavage rate (%)*					
Treatment	oocytes retrieved	rate (%)	2-cell	4-cell	8-cell	Morula	Blastocyst	
$\mathbf{A}\mathbf{D}2107 + \mathbf{D}\mathbf{M}\mathbf{A}\mathbf{D}\mathbf{D}2\mathbf{h}\mathbf{r}$	40	77.55	95.25±4.75 <sup>az</sup>	92.85±7.15 <sup>az</sup>	90.07±7.14 <sup>az</sup>	47.22±14.27 <sup>ay</sup>	$10.72 \pm 5.49^{ax}$	
A23187 + DMAP (3 hr)	49	(n=38)	(n=36)	(n=35)	(n=34)	(n=13)	(n=4)	
$12197 \pm DMAD(4hr)$	67	58.21	93.33±6.68 <sup>az</sup>	$91.68 \pm 8.33^{az}$	$65.00{\pm}12.58^{ayz}$	$53.33 \pm 17.00^{ay}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ax}$	
A23187 + DMAP (4 hr)	67	(n=39)	(n=31)	(n=30)	(n=24)	(n=21)	(n=0)	
$\Lambda 22197 + DM \Lambda D (5 hr)$	41	82.93	92.37±3.58 <sup>az</sup>	79.17±6.93 <sup>ayz</sup>	$60.28 \pm 10.10^{axy}$	$40.82 \pm 12.05^{ax}$	$5.55 \pm 3.62^{aw}$	
A23187 + DMAP (5 hr)	41	(n=34)	(n=30)	(n=25)	(n=16)	(n=8)	(n=4)	
A23187 + DMAP (6 hr)	51	64.71	85.11±6.91 <sup>az</sup>	$83.93 {\pm} 4.85^{az}$	$63.70 \pm 9.48^{ay}$	$38.09 \pm 6.46^{ax}$	$1.79 \pm 1.79^{aw}$	
	51	(n=33)	(n=30)	(n=27)	(n=20)	(n=9)	(n=1)	

n: no. of oocytes/embryos \* Cleavage rate was based on the maturation rate <sup>a</sup> Means with similar superscripts in a column were insignificantly different (P>0.05) <sup>wxyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)

Table 4.14: Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of caprine parthenotes after activation by combination treatment using  $10 \mu M$  Iono (5 min) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours)

	No. of	Maturation	Embryo cleavage rate (%)*						
Treatment	oocytes retrieved	rate (%)	2-cell	4-cell	8-cell	Morula	Blastocyst		
Iono + DMAP (3 hr)	50	89.66	80.00±14.23 <sup>az</sup>	80.0±14.23 <sup>az</sup>	65.88±14.03 <sup>ayz</sup>	45.12±14.43 <sup>ayz</sup>	24.66±10.40 <sup>by</sup>		
	58	(n=52)	(n=47)	(n=47)	(n=43)	(n=28)	(n=18)		
$L_{nn} \perp DMAD(4hr)$	56	78.57	$93.52 \pm 4.34^{az}$	$90.7 \pm 5.82^{az}$	$79.04 \pm 8.35^{ayz}$	$66.43 \pm 10.56^{ay}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ax}$		
Iono $+$ DMAP (4 hr)	30	(n=44)	(n=41)	(n=39)	(n=34)	(n=27)	(n=0)		
$L_{nno} \perp DMAD(5 hr)$	48	75.00	$80.68 \pm 6.46^{az}$	78.40±7.69 <sup>az</sup>	$78.40 \pm 7.69^{az}$	49.33±16.15 <sup>ay</sup>	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ax}$		
Iono + DMAP $(5 hr)$	48	(n=36)	(n=31)	(n=30)	(n=30)	(n=18)	(n=0)		
Iono + DMAP (6 hr)	51	82.35	96.15±3.85 <sup>az</sup>	84.28±10.89 <sup>ayz</sup>	79.05±13.95 <sup>ayz</sup>	$56.35 \pm 12.15^{axy}$	$35.00 \pm 13.72^{bx}$		
	51	(n=42)	(n=40)	(n=35)	(n=32)	(n=21)	(n=12)		

n: no. of oocytes/embryos \* Cleavage rate was based on the maturation rate <sup>ab</sup> Means with different superscripts in a column were significantly different (P<0.05) <sup>xyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)

	No. of	Maturation		Em	bryo cleavage ra	nte (%)*	
Treatment	oocytes retrieved	rate (%)	2-cell	4-cell	8-cell	Morula	Blastocyst
	42	64.29	80.70±6.63 <sup>az</sup>	$80.70 \pm 6.63^{az}$	$61.68 \pm 10.74^{az}$	20.83±7.21 <sup>aby</sup>	11.80±6.84 <sup>ay</sup>
Iono + CHX $(3 hr)$	42	(n=27)	(n=21)	(n=21)	(n=15)	(n=5)	(n=3)
$Lang \perp CUV (1 hr)$	40	78.57	$91.67 \pm 4.82^{az}$	$76.87 \pm 6.48^{az}$	$68.50{\pm}10.20^{ayz}$	36.13±15.47 <sup>abxy</sup>	11.10±11.10 <sup>ax</sup>
Iono + CHX (4 hr)	42	(n=33)	(n=30)	(n=25)	(n=22)	(n=11)	(n=3)
$Lang \perp CUV (5 hr)$	27	72.97	90.88±5.51 <sup>az</sup>	$84.63 \pm 5.60^{az}$	47.10±8.62 <sup>ay</sup>	14.93±9.16 <sup>ax</sup>	3.13±3.13 <sup>ax</sup>
Iono + CHX (5 hr)	37	(n=27)	(n=24)	(n=22)	(n=12)	(n=5)	(n=1)
Iono + CHX (6 hr)	26	55.56	$82.85 \pm 6.07^{az}$	$77.85 \pm 8.44^{az}$	$71.60 \pm 4.25^{az}$	$49.35 \pm 3.57^{by}$	6.25±6.25 <sup>ax</sup>
	36	(n=20)	(n=17)	(n=16)	(n=15)	(n=10)	(n=1)

Table 4.15: Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of caprine parthenotes after activation by combination treatment using  $10 \,\mu\text{M}$  Iono (5 min) +  $10 \,\mu\text{g/ml}$  CHX (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours)

n: no. of oocytes/embryos \* Cleavage rate was based on the maturation rate <sup>ab</sup> Means with different superscripts in a column were significantly different (P<0.05) <sup>xyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)

	No. of	Maturation		Embryo cleavage rate (%)*						
Treatment	oocytes retrieved	rate (%)	2-cell	4-cell	8-cell	Morula	Blastocyst			
Iono + CB $(3 hr)$	20	76.32	71.57±3.43 <sup>az</sup>	65.70±9.30 <sup>az</sup>	49.50±14.87 <sup>ayz</sup>	16.67±16.67 <sup>abxy</sup>	0.00±0.00 <sup>ax</sup>			
	38	(n=29)	(n=20)	(n=17)	(n=11)	(n=2)	(n=0)			
$L_{ana} \perp CD (4 hr)$	42	79.07	$81.77 \pm 9.74^{az}$	63.80±12.16 <sup>ayz</sup>	$36.33 \pm 13.48^{axy}$	$6.67 \pm 6.67^{awx}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{aw}$			
Iono + CB (4 hr)	43	(n=34)	(n=26)	(n=20)	(n=10)	(n=1)	(n=0)			
Long + CD (5 hr)	38	92.11	92.17±7.83 <sup>az</sup>	88.23±11.77 <sup>az</sup>	87.87±12.13 <sup>bz</sup>	$55.80 \pm 22.00^{bz}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ay}$			
Iono $+$ CB (5 hr)	38	(n=35)	(n=31)	(n=29)	(n=25)	(n=16)	(n=0)			
Iono + CB (6 hr)	25	62.86	71.60±12.30 <sup>az</sup>	64.48±14.25 <sup>ayz</sup>	42.15±5.09 <sup>ay</sup>	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ax}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ax}$			
	35	(n=22)	(n=15)	(n=13)	(n=9)	(n=0)	(n=0)			

Table 4.16: Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of caprine parthenotes after activation by combination treatment using  $10 \,\mu\text{M}$  Iono (5 min) + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours)

n: no. of oocytes/embryos \* Cleavage rate was based on the maturation rate <sup>ab</sup> Means with different superscripts in a column were significantly different (P<0.05) <sup>wxyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)

Treatment	No. of oocytes retrieved	Maturation rate (%)	Embryo cleavage rate (%)*					
			2-cell	4-cell	8-cell	Morula	Blastocyst	
$A 22197 \perp DMAD (2 hr)$	40	77.55	95.25±4.75 <sup>az</sup>	92.85±7.15 <sup>az</sup>	$90.07 \pm 7.14^{bz}$	47.22±14.27 <sup>aby</sup>	$10.72 \pm 5.49^{abx}$	
A23187 + DMAP (3 hr)	49	(n=38)	(n=36)	(n=35)	(n=34)	(n=13)	(n=4)	
$\mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{n}} = \mathbf{D} \mathbf{M} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{D} ((\mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{n}}))$	51	82.35	$96.15 \pm 3.85^{az}$	$84.28 \pm 10.89^{ayz}$	$79.05 \pm 13.95^{byz}$	56.35±12.15 <sup>bxy</sup>	$35.00 \pm 13.72^{bx}$	
Iono $+$ DMAP (6 hr)		(n=42)	(n=40)	(n=35)	(n=32)	(n=21)	(n=12)	
$L_{res} \perp CUV (4 hr)$	42	78.57	$91.67 \pm 4.82^{az}$	$76.87 \pm 6.48^{az}$	$68.50 \pm 10.20^{byz}$	$36.13 \pm 15.47^{abxy}$	$11.10 \pm 11.10^{abx}$	
Iono + CHX (4 hr)		(n=33)	(n=30)	(n=25)	(n=22)	(n=11)	(n=3)	
$L_{ran} \perp CD (5 hr)$	38	92.11	92.17±7.83 <sup>az</sup>	88.23±11.77 <sup>az</sup>	$87.87 \pm 12.13^{bz}$	$55.80 \pm 22.00^{bz}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ay}$	
Iono $+$ CB (5 hr)		(n=35)	(n=31)	(n=29)	(n=25)	(n=16)	(n=0)	
IVF**	20	82.76	$71.00{\pm}10.90^{az}$	$67.00 \pm 10.81^{az}$	$30.66 \pm 6.60^{ay}$	$7.50 \pm 5.00^{ax}$	$0.00 \pm 0.00^{ax}$	
	29	(n=24)	(n=16)	(n=15)	(n=7)	(n=3)	(n=0)	

Table 4.17: Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of caprine parthenotes after activation by various optimal combination treatments and IVF control

n: no. of oocytes/embryos

\* Cleavage rate was based on the maturation rate

\*\* IVF was used as a control <sup>ab</sup> Means with different superscripts in a column were significantly different (P<0.05) <sup>xyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)

Oocyte	Total oocytes	Maturation	Embryos cleavage rate*						
Grade	retrieved	rate	2-cell	4-cell	8-cell	Morula	Blastocyst		
Α	35.95±2.35 <sup>bc</sup>	90.08±2.04 <sup>c</sup>	92.09±2.13 <sup>abz</sup>	87.75±2.75 <sup>bz</sup>	71.16±3.97 <sup>by</sup>	37.04±4.86 <sup>ax</sup>	12.35±3.29 <sup>aw</sup>		
А	(n=217)	(n=197)	(n=172)	(n=162)	(n=129)	(n=70)	(n=20)		
р	$28.28 \pm 2.34^{ab}$	91.09±2.17 <sup>c</sup>	95.81±1.51 <sup>bz</sup>	$92.70 \pm 2.01^{bz}$	$76.07 {\pm} 4.65^{by}$	$45.90 \pm 5.62^{ax}$	$8.47 \pm 2.59^{aw}$		
В	(n=150)	(n=128)	(n=119)	(n=113)	(n=94)	(n=54)	(n=13)		
С	$40.30 \pm 2.29^{\circ}$	$81.07 \pm 2.67^{bc}$	91.17±2.17 <sup>abz</sup>	85.70±2.93 <sup>bz</sup>	$72.79 \pm 4.42^{by}$	$47.04 \pm 4.87^{ax}$	6.46±2.16 <sup>aw</sup>		
C	(n=267)	(n=210)	(n=191)	(n=170)	(n=144)	(n=90)	(n=21)		
D	$19.45 \pm 2.11^{a}$	$77.17 \pm 4.55^{b}$	91.36±3.60 <sup>abz</sup>	$86.42 \pm 4.54^{bz}$	$64.20 \pm 8.74^{aby}$	25.92±8.17 <sup>ax</sup>	$3.70 \pm 2.57^{aw}$		
D	(n=48)	(n=42)	(n=34)	(n=31)	(n=22)	(n=8)	(n=2)		
Б	$53.10 \pm 7.13^{d}$	$50.09 \pm 10.21^{a}$	$83.32 \pm 10.91^{az}$	$71.41 \pm 13.48^{ayz}$	$47.61 \pm 14.74^{ayz}$	$40.47 {\pm} 17.00^{ay}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ax}$		
Е	(n=46)	(n=17)	(n=12)	(n=9)	(n=6)	(n=4)	(n=0)		

Table 4.18: Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of caprine parthenotes according to the oocyte grades regardless activation protocols

n: no. of oocytes/embryos

\* Cleavage rate was based on the maturation rate <sup>abc</sup> Means with different superscripts in a column were significantly different (P<0.05) <sup>wxyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)

Treatment	Oocyte	Total	Maturation	Embryos cleavage rate (%)*					
	grade	oocyte retrieved	rate (%)	2-cell	4-cell	8-cell	Morula	Blastocyst	
		10	93.34±6.66 <sup>a</sup>	96.00±4.00 <sup>bz</sup>	92.00±8.00 <sup>bcz</sup>	82.00±11.14 <sup>cz</sup>	24.00±19.39 <sup>ay</sup>	24.00±19.39 <sup>ay</sup>	
	А	12	(n=11)	(n=10)	(n=9)	(n=8)	(n=2)	(n=2)	
A23187 + DMAP	В	12	$96.00 \pm 4.00^{a}$	$100.00 \pm 0.00^{bz}$	$100.00 \pm 0.00^{cz}$	$100.00 \pm 0.00^{cz}$	$60.00 \pm 24.49^{ay}$	$10.00 \pm 10.00^{av}$	
(3 hr)	В	13	(n=11)	(n=11)	(n=11)	(n=11)	(n=7)	(n=1)	
	С	19	$81.12 \pm 8.50^{a}$	$100.00 \pm 0.00^{bz}$	$100.00 \pm 0.00^{cz}$	$100.00 \pm 0.00^{cz}$	47.23±16.34 <sup>ay</sup>	$16.67 \pm 10.54^{av}$	
	C	19	(n=14)	(n=14)	(n=14)	(n=14)	(n=4)	(n=2)	
	А	13	$88.75 \pm 6.57^{a}$	$100.00\pm0.00^{bz}$	87.50±12.50 <sup>abcyz</sup>	87.50±12.50 <sup>cyz</sup>	60.43±15.73 <sup>ay</sup>	20.83±12.50 <sup>a</sup>	
		15	(n=11)	(n=11)	(n=9)	(n=9)	(n=6)	(n=2)	
Iono + DMAP	В	9	$93.33 \pm 6.67^{a}$	$100.00 \pm 0.00^{bz}$	$91.67 \pm 8.3^{bcz}$	91.67±8.33 <sup>cz</sup>	$72.23 \pm 14.70^{az}$	19.43±10.01 <sup>a</sup>	
(6 hr)		9	(n=8)	(n=8)	(n=7)	(n=7)	(n=5)	(n=2)	
	С	20	$95.23 \pm 4.77^{a}$	$94.43 \pm 5.57^{bz}$	83.33±16.67 <sup>abcyz</sup>	$74.73 \pm 20.88^{cyz}$	$40.40 \pm 11.92^{axy}$	12.13±12.13 <sup>ax</sup>	
		20	(n=19)	(n=18)	(n=16)	(n=14)	(n=9)	(n=5)	
		10	91.67±8.33 <sup>a</sup>	$100.00\pm0.00^{bz}$	77.80±11.10 <sup>abcyz</sup>	66.67±19.25 <sup>cyz</sup>	22.23±22.23 <sup>ay</sup>	22.23±22.23ª	
Iono + CHX (4 hr)	А	10	(n=9)	(n=9)	(n=7)	(n=5)	(n=2)	(n=2)	
	B C	17 4	$100.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$	$85.7 \pm 8.26^{bz}$	65.07±4.21 <sup>abyz</sup>	$60.30 \pm 3.20^{bcyz}$	31.77±17.47 <sup>axy</sup>	$11.10 \pm 11.10^{a_2}$	
			(n=17)	(n=13)	(n=11)	(n=10)	(n=4)	(n=1)	
			$100.00\pm0.00^{a}$	$100.00 \pm 0.00^{bz}$	$100.00 \pm 0.00^{cz}$	$100.00 \pm 0.00^{cz}$	$66.67 \pm 33.33^{az}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ay}$	
			(n=4)	(n=4)	(n=4)	(n=4)	(n=3)	(n=0)	
								(continued)	

**Table 4.19:** Comparison of *in vitro* embryonic development of caprine parthenotes according to oocyte grades from the optimal activation protocol in each group

(continued)								
	٨	18	$100.00\pm0.00^{a}$	95.83±4.17 <sup>bz</sup>	95.83±4.17 <sup>bcz</sup>	80.97±19.03 <sup>cz</sup>	67.63±12.37 <sup>az</sup>	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ay}$
	А	18	(n=18)	(n=17)	(n=17)	(n=13)	(n=10)	(n=0)
Iono + CB	В	1	$100.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$	$100.00 \pm 0.00^{bz}$	83.33±16.67 <sup>abcz</sup>	83.33±16.67 <sup>cz</sup>	66.67±33.33 <sup>az</sup>	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ay}$
(5 hr)	D	4	(n=4)	(n=4)	(n=3)	(n=3)	(n=2)	(n=0)
	С	14	83.33±8.33 <sup>a</sup>	88.90±11.10 <sup>bz</sup>	83.33±16.67 <sup>abcz</sup>	83.33±16.67 <sup>cz</sup>	44.47±22.23 <sup>az</sup>	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ay}$
	C	14	(n=12)	(n=10)	(n=9)	(n=9)	(n=4)	(n=0)
	А	15	95.23±4.77 <sup>a</sup>	57.80±8.90 <sup>az</sup>	57.80±8.90 <sup>az</sup>	28.87±4.43 <sup>aby</sup>	12.23±6.19 <sup>axy</sup>	0.00±0.00 <sup>ax</sup>
	A	15	(n=14)	(n=8)	(n=8)	(n=4)	(n=2)	(n=0)
IVF**	В	1	$100.00 \pm 0.00^{a}$	83.33±16.67 <sup>bz</sup>	83.33±16.67 <sup>abcz</sup>	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ay}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ay}$	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ay}$
ΙνΓ	D	B 4	(n=4)	(n=3)	(n=3)	(n=09)	(n=0)	(n=0)
	С	6	83.33±16.67 <sup>a</sup>	$100.00 \pm 0.00^{bz}$	88.90±11.10 <sup>abcyz</sup>	77.77±22.23 <sup>cyz</sup>	33.33±33.33 <sup>axy</sup>	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{ax}$
	C	0	(n=5)	(n=5)	(n=4)	(n=3)	(n=1)	(n=0)

n: no. of oocytes/embryos \* Cleavage rate was based on the maturation rate <sup>abc</sup> Means with different superscripts in a column were significantly different (P<0.05) <sup>xyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)



Figure 4.7: Activated caprine oocytes with polar body.



**Figure 4.8:** Parthenogenetic caprine embryos at: (a) 2-cell, (b) 4-cell, (c) 8-cell, (d) compacting morula, (e) fully expended blastocyst and (f) hatched blastocyst.

### 4.5 EFFECT OF *IN VITRO* MATURATION (IVM) DURATION ON THE PRODUCTION OF CAPRINE OOCYTES AND ITS SUBSEQUENT PARTHENOTE DEVELOPMENT (EXPERIMENT 5)

Table 4.20 shows the comparison of *in vitro* development of caprine parthenote at different IVM durations according to the grade of oocytes derived from LOPU procedure. Only four grades of oocyte that gave the highest cleavage rates were selected for this evaluation which is Grades A, B, C and D whereas Grade E was not included as it shows low number of total oocytes as well as matured oocytes. There were two groups of IVM duration evaluated in this experiment (18-21 hours and 22-25 hours) before the activation procedure.

At 18-21 hours IVM duration, Grade D oocytes showed significantly lower (P>0.05) in maturation rate compared to Grades A and B oocytes. Similarly, at 22-25 hours IVM duration, the maturation rates of Grades A and B oocytes were significantly higher (P<0.05) than Grade D oocytes. In addition, maturation rate of Grades A and B oocytes from group of 18-21 hours IVM was significantly higher (P<0.05) than Grade D oocytes IVM was significantly higher (P<0.05) than Grade D oocytes from 22-25 hours IVM group. No differences (P>0.05) were observed in cleavage and blastocyst rates for all oocyte grades from group of 18-21 hours IVM duration. In contrast, at 22-25 hours IVM duration, cleavage rate (2-cell) of Grade C oocytes was significantly lower (P<0.05) from Grade D oocytes (84.75 $\pm$ 4.73% vs. 96.15 $\pm$ 3.85%, respectively), whereas blastocyst rate of Grade A oocytes was significantly higher (P<0.05) from Grade D oocytes was significantly hi

In addition, blastocyst rates for all grades from group 18-21 hours IVM duration were significantly different (P<0.05) from Grades A, B and C from 22-25 hours IVM group. At 18-21 hours IVM duration, Grade B oocytes gave the highest cleavage rates at all stages of embryonic development, followed by Grades C, A and D. Similarly, Grade B oocytes from the 22-25 hours IVM group gave the highest cleavage rates at all stages of embryonic development, followed by Grades A, C and D.

IVM duration (hours)	Oocyte	No.of	Maturation	Embryos cleavage rate (%)*					
	grade	oocytes	rate (%)	2-cell	4-cell	8-cell	Morula	Blastocyst	
	А	102	$91.61\pm2.70^{\circ}$	89.86±3.94 <sup>abz</sup>	84.17±4.74 <sup>ayz</sup>	71.64±6.07 <sup>ay</sup>	$32.52 \pm 7.08^{abx}$	3.43±2.05 <sup>aw</sup>	
	В	83	(n=94) 93.33±2.83°	(n=83) 96.87±1.70 <sup>bz</sup>	(n=76) 94.62±2.41 <sup>az</sup>	(n=61) 78.98±5.77 <sup>ay</sup>	(n=37) 47.97±7.98 <sup>bx</sup>	(n=3) 3.81±2.98 <sup>aw</sup>	
18-21	D	83	(n=73) 80.47±3.58 <sup>abc</sup>	(n=68) 94.21±2.17 <sup>abz</sup>	(n=64) 88.79±3.52 <sup>az</sup>	(n=51) 73.54±5.71 <sup>ay</sup>	(n=27) 48.38±6.30 <sup>bx</sup>	(n=2) 0.82±0.58 <sup>aw</sup>	
	С	149	(n=119)	(n=109)	(n=100)	(n=79)	(n=51)	(n=2)	
	D	32	$77.39\pm6.68^{ab}$ (n=23)	$86.91 \pm 5.84^{abz}$ (n=18)	$80.95 \pm 7.17^{az}$ (n=16)	$68.45 \pm 11.98^{ayz}$ (n=11)	$42.86 \pm 13.73^{by}$ (n=6)	$0.00\pm 0.00^{ax}$ (n=0)	
T - 4 - 1		200	86.80±1.84	92.93±1.55	88.25±2.06	73.96±3.26	43.24±3.94	2.28±1.02	
Total		366	(n=309)	(n=278)	(n=256)	(n=202)	(n=121)	(n=7)	
	А	105	$88.17\pm3.29^{bc}$ (n=83)	94.95 $\pm$ 2.59 <sup>abz</sup> (n=76)	$91.85\pm 3.47^{ayz}$ (n=72)	$78.99 \pm 5.31^{ay}$ (n=57)	$43.35\pm6.98^{bx}$ (n=30)	$23.22\pm6.36^{\circ}$ (n=17)	
	В	64	$86.29 \pm 3.65^{bc}$ (n=52)	$95.84\pm2.31^{abz}$ (n=49)	$90.91\pm 3.37^{az}$ (n=46)	$81.82\pm6.34^{az}$ (n=41)	$48.87\pm7.99^{by}$ (n=26)	$17.04\pm4.79^{bc}$ (n=11)	
22-25	С	92	82.87±4.21 <sup>abc</sup>	84.75±4.73 <sup>az</sup>	79.89±5.56 <sup>az</sup>	70.85±7.65 <sup>az</sup>	46.40±8.05 <sup>by</sup>	17.14±5.56 <sup>bc</sup>	
	D	26	(n=77) 73.08±6.41 <sup>a</sup>	(n=66) 96.15±3.85 <sup>bz</sup>	(n=61) 92.31±5.21 <sup>az</sup>	(n=52) 67.31±12.46 <sup>ay</sup>	(n=33) 15.38±8.74 <sup>ax</sup>	(n=16) 7.69±5.21 <sup>abz</sup>	
		20	(n=18)	(n=16)	(n=15)	(n=11)	(n=3)	(n=1)	
Total		287	84.11±2.08 (n=230)	92.62±1.78 (n=207)	88.50±2.24 (n=194)	75.82±3.60 (n=161)	41.47±4.08 (n=92)	17.85±2.99 (n=45)	

Table 4.20: Comparison of *in vitro* caprine parthenotes development at different IVM duration according to the grade of oocytes derived from LOPU

n: no. of oocytes/embryos \* Cleavage rate was based on the maturation rate <sup>abc</sup> Means with different superscripts in a column were significantly different (P<0.05) <sup>wxyz</sup> Means with different superscripts in a row were significantly different (P<0.05)

Chapter 5

5.0 DISCUSSION

#### Chapter 5

### **5.0 DISCUSSION**

## 5.1 EFFECT OF DIFFERENT COMBINATIONS OF ACTIVATION CHEMICAL ON THE PRODUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC MURINE EMBRYOS AS MODEL ANIMALS (EXPERIMENT 1)

When denuded oocytes were stimulated with 10 mM  $SrCl_2 + 5 \mu g/ml CB$  in CZB  $Ca^{2+}$ -free medium for 6 hours as suggested for the mice (Kishikawa *et al.*, 1999), most oocytes in this study were observed to undergo shrinking of cytoplasm, which was similar to that reported by O'Neill *et al.* (1991) with the lysis of oocytes. When cumulus-free oocytes were cultured in 1.6 mM  $SrCl_2$  for more than 20 minutes, their results showed that the lysed oocytes were reduced to 6%, similar to those co-cultured with high density of cumulus cells or cumulus-intact oocytes. Although the concentration and duration of  $SrCl_2$  treatments greatly differ among the studies (Marcus, 1990; O'Neill *et al.*, 1991; Bos-Mikich *et al.*, 1995a; Wakayama *et al.*, 1998; Otaegui *et al.*, 1999; Ono *et al.*, 2001; Kono *et al.*, 2004), Ma *et al.* (2005) reported that these factors had marked effect on the parthenotes development.

Ma *et al.* (2005) found that the best concentration for strontium chloride (SrCl<sub>2</sub>) treatment was when mouse oocytes were treated with 10 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> (cleavage rate: 95.2% and blastocyst rate: 56.1%) for 2.5 hours incubation duration. Krivokharchenko *et al.* (2003) showed that treatment of cumulus-free rat oocytes by 2 mM Sr<sup>2+</sup> for 15 minutes was sufficient for oocytes activation (3.4%), and increase in duration for 2 hours in 2 mM Sr<sup>2+</sup> resulted in a significant increase in oocytes activation (21.2%). In this experiment, concentration of 10 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> for 3 hours incubation duration was found to be optimal for

mouse oocytes activation without cytoplasmic shrinkage as well as high cleavage  $(93.83\pm1.82\%)$  and blastocyst  $(60.42\pm4.92\%)$  rates.

Strontium is a very effective agent and very popular used for parthenogenetic activation in murine oocytes (Krivokharchenko *et al.*, 2003). A short exposure of murine oocytes to medium contained 1.6 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> for 2-10 minutes can induced a high incidence of parthenogenesis. Even so, when oocytes were incubated in SrCl<sub>2</sub> for 20-60 minutes, the rate of oocytes activation was lower and a significant degree of oocyte degeneration was observed (O''Neill *et al.*, 1991). Still, many researchers have published great variances of strontium activation procedures for murine oocytes: 4.6 or 9.2 mM Sr<sup>2+</sup> for 30-40 minutes (Kline and Kline, 1992), 1.71 mM Sr<sup>2+</sup> for 1 hours (Bos-Mikich *et al.*, 1995b) , 10 mM Sr<sup>2+</sup> for 1.5 hours (Kono *et al.*, 1996), 10 mM Sr<sup>2+</sup> for up to 24 hours (Bos-Mikich *et al.*, 1997), 10 mM Sr<sup>2+</sup> for 6 hours (Kishikawa *et al.*, 1999), and 25 mM Sr<sup>2+</sup> for 1 hours (Otaegui *et al.*, 1999) and 10 mM Sr<sup>2+</sup> for 2.5 hours (Ma *et al.*, 2005).

As fertilisation involves an increase in intracellular calcium concentration  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$ and the activation of a calcium-dependent protein kinase, therefore it is important to induce the metaphase II (MII) arrested oocytes with the chemicals which can triggered these two kinds of intracellular mechanism. Calcium ionophore (A23187) was commonly used in oocytes activation in order to trigger the repetitive  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  to allowed oocytes exit MII and enter anapahase II (AII) subsequently resume meiosis. Oocytes later on will restart meiosis, undergo emission of second polar body, formation and migration of pronuclei, initiation of maternal mRNA translation and finally synthesis new DNA (Nuccitelli, 1991).

Ethanol (EtOH) has been used as activation agent in mammalian oocytes. However, ethanol alone is not sufficient to induce parthenogenesis in murine oocytes. The activation rate (38.91%) was the highest when activated by 9% EtOH compared to 7 and 8% EtOH. However, the embryo development was stopped at 8-cell stage at all three concentrations

in the study conducted by Ata"allah (2012). Even so, when 7, 8 and 9% EtOH was combined with 2 mM 6-DMAP, the combination of 9% EtOH with 6-DMAP gave the highest activation rate (73.76%). The embryos still could not reach the blastocyst stage as it stopped at morula stage (5.39%). In contrast, in the present study, when murine oocytes were activated by three different concentrations of ethanol (7, 8 and 9%) combined with 2 mM 6-DMAP for 4 hours, embryos could reach up until blastocyst stage for each treatment. The optimal cleavage (77.07±4.21%) and blastocyst rates (13.86±3.64%) were achieved from activation by 8% EtOH + 6-DMAP, even though Uranga *et al.* (1996) described that the activation of murine oocytes can be achieved by 7% EtOH alone for 5 minutes with 74.3% of oocytes cleaved and the cleaved embryos were able to achieved blastocyst stage (23.7%). Still, activation of murine oocytes by 5  $\mu$ M A23187 for 5 minutes indicated higher cleavage (76.2%) and blastocyst rates (32.3%) when compared to activation by ethanol (Uranga *et al.*, 1996).

Inconsistent results were obtained in regard to activation of rat oocytes by ethanol. Zernicka-Goetz (1991) and Jiang *et al.* (2002) reported that ethanol alone could activate rat oocytes but the later showed that parthenotes could not develop beyond 2-cell stage when diploidisation was omitted. Parthenogenetic activation was obtained only after combined treatment between ethanol with cycloheximide (CHX) (Hayes *et al.*, 2001), and the blastocyst formation was only observed when the rat oocytes were treated with ethanol and 6-dimethylaminopurine (6-DMAP) (Jiang *et al.*, 2002). In their study to compare the activation of rat oocytes by Iono + 6-DMAP and electrical stimulation + 6-DMAP, Mizutani *et al.*, (2004) described that both pronuclear formation (96.7% vs. 96.7%) and blastocyst rate (42.7% vs. 42.3%) did not differ between two activation procedures. However, activation by Iono + 6-DMAP exhibited higher both cleavage and blastocyst rates.

6-DMAP is a specific protein phosphorylation induced diploidisation in rat, whereas treatment of 6-DMAP with bovine oocytes after electroactivation suppressed the second reduction division. Therefore, it was suggested that karyokinesis did not occur and oocytes entered interphase of the first mitotic cycle as uniform diploid parthenotes (Susko-Parish et al., 1994). It was also found that 6-DMAP inhibited meiosis reinitiation in murine, bovine and porcine oocytes by preventing chromatin condensation and germinal vesicle breakdown (GVBD) (Liu et al., 1997). 6-DMAP itself does not induce the inactivation of histone H1 kinase in MII-arrested oocytes. Post-fertilisation events such as the formation of the interphase network of microtubules, the remodeling of sperm chromatin and pronucleus formation were controlled by 6-DMAP-sensitive kinases (Szöllösi et al., 1993). According to Liu et al. (1997), more than 70% activation rate could be obtained when murine oocytes were treated with 2 mM 6-DMAP for 2 to 4 hours. However, the highest blastocyst rate (20.3%) was obtained when murine oocytes were treated in 2 mM 6-DMAP for 2 hours. The cleavage rate of activated oocytes also declined gradually as the exposure time increased from 0.5 to 3 hours (Liu et al., 1997). In the present study, the combination of A23187 + 6-DMAP apparently (P>0.05) gave higher activation and blastocyst rates when compared to the combination of EtOH + 6-DMAP  $(79.48\pm5.63\% \text{ vs. } 77.07\pm4.21\%)$  and  $(23.28\pm4.62\% \text{ vs. } 13.86\pm3.64\%)$ , respectively. Previously, Mizutani et al. (2004) also found that although there were no significant differences between these two treatments, the cleavage and blastocyst rates tended to be higher when rat oocytes were activated by Iono + 6-DMAP rather than by electrical stimulation + 6-DMAP (77.3% vs. 66.3%) and (42.7% vs. 42.3%).

In a study conducted on parthenogenetic porcine oocytes by Jilek *et al.* (2000), the results indicated that the activation of porcine oocytes using calcium ionphore alone did not sufficiently suppress synthesis of the proteins that were responsible for blocking

meiosis at the MII stage, proving that activation with calcium ionphore did not provide a full activation stimulus to the oocytes. The highest activation rate was obtained when pig oocytes were exposed to a combined treatment of calcium ionphore (25 or 50 µM for 7 min) + CHX (10 µg/ml for 6 hours) (Jilek et al., 2000). Even so, when reconstructed bovine oocytes were activated with the combination of A23187 + 6-DMAP, the cleavage and blastocyst rates were significantly higher than those treated in the combination of A23187 + CHX + CB (98.9% vs. 79.6%) and (51.6% vs. 14.3%) (Shen et al., 2008). In the present study, the results showed that activation of murine oocytes with A23187 + DMAP exhibited better results than activation with A23187 + CHX in term of cleavage rate (79.48±5.63% vs. 72.62±5.17%) and significantly higher (P<0.05) at blastocyst formation (23.28±4.62% vs. 9.24±3.02%). Treatment of mouse oocytes with CHX resulted in oocytes activation, as assessed by emission of the second polar body and formation of a pronucleus (Siracusa et al., 1978; Clarke and Masui, 1983; Fulka et al., 1994). Oocytes activation induced by CHX presumably occurs by permitting the turnover of cyclin B that resulted in a concomitant decrease in cdc2/cyclin B kinase activity (Moos et al., 1996).

According to the study conducted by Ma *et al.*, (2005), even though the activation rates were no differences with the presence or absence of cytochalasin B (CB) (98.9% vs. 96.2%), there were more oocytes developed into blastocyst when CB was present during oocyte activation (56.3% vs. 15.6%). The reason why embryos more proned to develop until blastocyst with the presence of CB, it could be due to the diploidisation of the parthenotes, in which oocytes were activated in CB resulted in formation of two pronuclei, whereas most of those activated in the absence of CB contained only one pronucleus. Therefore, it was obvious that the CB in activation media induced a diploid parthenotes. It is well known that diploid parthenotes are less apoptotic and have greater developmental capacity compared to haploid parthenotes (Kaufman and Sachs, 1976; Cha *et al.*, 1997;

Latham *et al.*, 2002; Liu *et al.*, 2002b). Neuber *et al.* (2002) and Hao *et al.* (2004) mentioned that there was a higher percentage of apoptosis in parthenogenetic embryos, relative to IVF embryos. Nevertheless, apoptosis was not caused by parthenogenetic activation and parthenogenesis themselves. It was probably due to haploidy formation that increased the incidence of apoptosis in preimplantation embryos (Liu *et al.*, 2002a,b). In the present research, it was vividly shown that combination of  $SrCl_2 + CB$  gave higher cleavage (93.83±1.82% vs. 61.88±5.07%) and blastocyst (60.42±4.92% vs. 9.76±2.74%) rates rather as opposed to combination of A23187 + CB. This phenomenon could be due to the chemicals compatibility and integration among the chemicals in the medium.

It is well known that during fertilisation of the oocytes, an increase in  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  is a universal response elicited by the sperm (Whitaker and Patel, 1990). Based on this important theory of fertilisation, most of the currently used oocytes activation procedures depend on methods to induce an intracellular calcium;  $(Ca^{2+})_i$  increase. The capability of Ca<sup>2+</sup> rose to release oocytes from the meiotic arrest was related to the ability to trigger persistent inactivation of maturation promoting factor (MPF) and cytostatic factor (CSF), which was the result of c-mos and mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) activity (Collas et al., 1993a; Lorca et al., 1993). Collas et al. (1993a) and Lorca et al. (1993) mentioned that a single  $Ca^{2+}$  rise, which was evoked by most of the currently used activation procedures, caused only a transient decline of MPF and CSF activity, which was not adequate for full oocyte activation. Moreover, Vitullo and Ozil, (1992) previously demonstrated that the most effective stimuli were those which promoted multiple intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> peaks. Based on these findings, alternative methods of activation have been developed that combine a transient inactivation of MPF obtainable with a single  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  rise, with a persistent inhibition of MPF, induced by addition of either nonspecific kinase inhibitors (e.g. 6-DMAP; Liu et al., 1998a) or protein synthesis inhibitors

(e.g. CHX; Bos-Mikich *et al.*, 1995a). Non-specific protein kinase inhibitors inhibit kinase activity of MPF by inactivating MAPK (Motlik *et al.*, 1998; Gordo *et al.*, 2000) while protein synthesis inhibitors usually restrict the synthesis or re-accumulation of cyclin B, thus, blocking the re-synthesis of MPF activity (Presicce and Yang, 1994a,b). Combination treatments with different chemicals had been broadly used for reconstructed oocytes for parthenogenetic activation (ovine: Schnieke *et al.*, 1997; bovine: Cibelli *et al.*, 1998; caprine: Keefer *et al.*, 2001, 2002) to increase  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  (e.g. electric pulse, ethanol, calcium ionophore, or ionomycin) and inhibited protein synthesis (e.g. CHX) or MPF activity (e.g. 6-DMAP) (Shen *et al.*, 2008).

## 5.2 EFFECT OF POST-hCG DURATION ON THE PRODUCTION OF MURINE OOCYTES AND ITS SUBSEQUENT PARTHENOTE DEVELOPMENT (EXPERIMENT 2)

There were two groups (13-15 hours and 16-18 hours) of post-hCG duration evaluated in this experiment. Previous studies showed that most of the researchers using the range of 13-15 hours duration between post-hCG administration and ovulated-oocyte retrieval, specifically 13 hours (Hiller *et al.*, 1985), 14 hours (Martin-Coello *et al.*, 2008) and 14.5 hours (Vergara *et al.*, 1997). These durations were chosen because murine ovulation starts after 11 to 12 hours post-hCG administration (Hogan *et al.*, 1986). It was reported that the quality of oocytes was affected by several factors such as dose and timing of gonadotrophins (Edgar *et al.*, 1987a,b; Vergara *et al.*, 1997), strain of murine (Ainul Bahiyah, 2010), age of murine (Hogan *et al.*, 1986; Ozgunen *et al.*, 2001) and weight of murine (Hogan *et al.*, 1986).

Even though there was insignificant difference (P>0.05) in the percent of oocytes with polar body between two respective groups of post-hCG administration duration (70.69 $\pm$ 1.04% vs. 70.08 $\pm$ 1.05%) whereby 13-15 hours group showed higher percent of oocytes with polar body compared to 16-18 hours group. Ata''allah (2012) showed that percent of oocytes with polar body of 13-15 hours post-hCG duration was found to be significantly higher (P<0.05) than those undergo 16-18 hours and 19-21 hours post-hCG administration duration (78.6% vs. 61.4% and 36.1%%, respectively). The ovulation (MII stage; extrusion of first polar body) and fertilisation occurred optimally within 11-14 hours range of post-hCG treatment. It was suggested that subsequent extrusion of second polar body occurred at 17-23 hours of post-hCG administration (Hogan *et al.*, 1986). Therefore, matured oocytes (MII stage) should be fertilised within the time range of optimal fertilisation, which was shown to be variable depending on species, such as mice (8-12

hours), rats (12-14 hours), rhesus monkeys and humans (<24 hours) (Austin, 1974). Moreover, Miao *et al.* (2009) stated that if the oocytes are not fertilised within the fertilisation window, it will undergo a time-dependent deterioration in quality or commonly known as oocyte aging.

Ata" allah (2012) also showed that the cleavage rate of murine parthenote development from 13-15 hours post-hCG duration (52.78%) was significantly higher (P<0.05) than parthenotes from the other post-hCG groups of 16-18 hours (14.49%) and 19-21 hours (8.33%). In the present experiment, the cleavage rates of parthenotes from 13-15 hours were found to be significantly higher (P < 0.05) than group of 16-18 hours duration at all embryonic stages (2-cell: 81.90±1.53% vs. 76.41±1.64%; 4-cell: 67.87±2.02% vs. 60.20±1.92%; 8-cell: 55.50±2.25% vs. 48.37±1.96%; morula: 43.68±2.42% vs. 35.19±2.01% and blastocyst: 34.36±2.34% vs. 26.04±1.88%, respectively). These results clearly showed that the post-hCG administration duration at 13-15 hours was the optimal for oocyte retrieval and the subsequent parthenote development as oocyte aging might have occurred at 16-18 hours post-hCG duration. However, it has been demonstrated in the previous study on murine (Otaegui et al., 1999), bovine (Susko-Parrish et al., 1994; Presicce and Yang, 1994a,b) and rabbit (Collas and Robl, 1990) that the ability of oocytes to be parthenogenetically activated by chemicals with regard to post-hCG administration duration depended upon age of oocytes, and aged oocytes can be more efficiently activated. The differences between the post-hCG duration results of the current experiment and the previous ones may due to the difference in strains and activation protocols used.

In other study by Bos-Mikich *et al.* (1995a), 96% of hybrid (B6CB F1) murine oocytes were activated by treatment with 10 mM  $SrCl_2$  for 2 hours recovered after 15 hours post-hCG. Marcus (1990) reported that 86.3% of TRf mouse oocytes were activated when treated with 1.6 mM  $SrCl_2$  for 1 hour collected after 20-22 hours post-hCG, however,
only 42.4% ICR oocytes were activated under the same treatment. In the later study by Otaegui *et al.* (1999) on murine oocytes collected from C57BL/6 x CBA/Ca strain 18 hours post-hCG, 89% of oocytes were activated by treatment with 5 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> for 1 hour. Ma *et al.* (2005) reported that when the murine oocytes treated with 10 mM SrCl<sub>2</sub> (2.5 hours) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (3.5 hours) after 13 hours post-hCG injection, 94.1% were activated, with 60.1% of them developing into blastocysts. However, when oocytes were cultured in the same treatment after 18 hours post-hCG injection, the blastocyst rate of decreased significantly (28.3%), although the activation rate (92.7%) remained high. Activation of murine oocytes by SrCl<sub>2</sub> was dependent on the post-hCG duration, the concentration of SrCl<sub>2</sub>, and the incubation duration of SrCl<sub>2</sub> (Otaegui *et al.*, 1999). Ma *et al.* (2005) suggested that stronger stimuli might be needed to activate recently ovulated oocytes (young oocytes) than those oocytes present in the oviduct for at least a few hours (aged oocytes).

In the study of effect of post-hCG duration on parthenote-rat oocytes by Krivokharchenko *et al.* (2003), treatment with EtOH for parthenogenetic activation was highly effective only for aged oocytes (22-24 hours post-hCG) than young oocytes (12-14 hours post-hCG). The incidence of pronuclear formation and cleavage rate was significantly highest (73.5% and 94.7%, respectively). Electrical stimulation also was found to be less effective (P<0.05) in young (12-14 hours post-hCG) compared to aged rat oocytes (20-22 hours post-hCG), respectively, in parameters such as pronuclear formation (44.7 vs. 77.8%) and cleavage rate (38.2% vs. 66.4%). However, in a treatment with SrCl<sub>2</sub> for 15 minutes, the efficiencies of pronuclear formation and the cleavage rate was equal for all ages of oocytes. Similarly, treatment with SrCl<sub>2</sub> for 2 hours resulted in a significantly increase in proportion of active animals with increase in duration after hCG injection. The efficiencies of activation and cleavage were similarly high for oocytes of all ages, but the

cleavage rate was significantly (P<0.05) the highest (12-14 hours: 93.7% vs. 16-18 hours: 89.6% and 20-22 hours: 87.8%) for young oocytes (12-14 hours post-hCG) (Krivokharchenko *et al.*, 2003). Krivokharchenko *et al.* (2003) also found that without any treatment, rat oocytes could form pronuclear and subsequently cleaved. However, the ability to form a pronucleus and activated increased proportionally with the age of oocytes (>22 hours post-hCG).

Wilcox *et al.* (1998) stated that oocyte aging before fertilisation may result in low embryonic development as well as failure in early pregnancy in several mammalian species. Thus, it is advisable to avoid using aged oocyte during IVP procedure in order to achieve successful embryonic development and pregnancy.

#### 5.3 EFFECT OF DIFFERENT **COMBINATIONS** OF ACTIVATION CHEMICAL ON THE PRODUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC BOVINE EMBRYOS AS REFERENCE OF LIVESTOCK ANIMALS Α (EXPERIMENT 3)

In the study conducted by Abdalla *et al.* (2009), when bovine oocytes were treated in the combination of 5  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 1.9 mM 6-DMAP (3 hours), the cleavage rate (20% vs. 18%) obtained was higher than those treated with the combination of 5  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 10  $\mu$ g/ml CHX (5 hours) whereas only few cleaved oocytes developed to blastocyst (2% vs. 1%). In the present study, the cleavage (73.60±4.68% vs. 63.48±9.12%, respectively) and blastocyst (7.10±1.43% vs. 2.16±1.56%, respectively) rates obtained are comparatively higher compared with those reported by Abdalla *et al.* (2009) when bovine oocytes were treated with the combination of 10  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (4 hours) and 10  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 10  $\mu$ g/ml CHX (5 hours), respectively. Results in the present study showed that the combination treatment of Iono + 6-DMAP gave higher cleavage and blastocyst rates compared to those treated in the combination of Iono + CHX support the results obtained by Abdalla *et al.* (2009).

Previous study by Bhak *et al.* (2006) on activation of bovine oocytes showed that the cleavage (52% vs. 38%) and blastocyst (12% vs. 5%) rates of oocytes activated by combination of 5  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 1.9 mM 6-DMAP (3 hours) was significantly higher than those treated by the combination of 5  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 10  $\mu$ g/mL CHX (3 hours). This finding is in agreement with the current research where bovine oocytes treated with combination of Iono + 6-DMAP showed the better embryonic development. In a separate study, when bovine oocytes were treated with the combination of 5  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (3 hours), the pronuclear formation, cleavage and blastocyst rates were significantly higher (P<0.05) (67.1%, 69.2% and 28.0%, respectively) compared to other treatments (Wang *et al.*, 2008). In contrast, in the current study, the cleavage rate is higher (73.6% vs. 67.1%) when bovine oocytes treated with Iono + 6-DMAP than those by Wang *et al.* (2008), however lower in blastocyst rate (7.1% vs. 28.0%).

When bovine oocytes were treated with 5  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 7% EtOH (5 or 10 minutes) or 5  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 10  $\mu$ g/mL CHX (5 hours) post-ICSI, the cleavage rates of ICSI oocytes were higher than that of non-treated oocytes (69-78% vs. 39%, respectively) (Abdalla *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, the results showed that Iono + EtOH treatment significantly improved the proportions of ICSI oocytes developing into blastocysts until Day-8 (30%) compared with that of nontreated oocytes (12%). However, treating oocytes with EtOH alone, Iono alone, or Iono + 6-DMAP did not improve the cleavage rate (Abdalla *et al.*, 2009). Bhak *et al.* (2006) demonstrated that the cleavage rate (53% vs. 32%) of bovine oocytes activated by combination of 5  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 1.9 mM 6-DMAP (3 hours) post-SCNT was significantly higher than those treated by the combination of 5  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 10  $\mu$ g/mL CHX (3 hours) with blastocyst rate (16 vs. 13%). This finding is contradictory to the report by Abdalla *et al.* (2009) where the treatment with combination of Iono + 6-DMAP.

Previous study also reported that the treatment of bovine oocytes post-ICSI with combination of Iono + 6-DMAP effectively improved blastocyst yield (Rho *et al.*, 1998; Ock *et al.*, 2003; Oikawa *et al.*, 2005). Also, Galli *et al.* (2003) suggested that using CHX instead of 6-DMAP improved the cleavage rate but not the blastocyst yield. Moreover, both activation treatments (Iono + CHX or Iono + 6-DMAP) resulted in obviously low blastocyst rate (2-7%). Therefore, the significantly lower blastocyst yields might be due

the adverse effects of the inhibitors (CHX and 6-DMAP) on the activity of other kinases or other proteins synthesis involved in cell functions (Soloy *et al.*, 1997). Perecin *et al.* (2007) suggested that the side effects of CHX or 6-DMAP can be avoided by using more specific kinase inhibitors for cell cycle regulation.

Presicce and Yang (1994a,b) and Winger *et al.* (1997) reported that ethanol, ionomycin or calcium ionophore with or without combination of CHX were not sufficient to induce parthenogenetic development in bovine oocytes. Thus, induction of diploidisation by combining the calcium oscillation-inducing activators with cytochalasin or 6-DMAP was necessary to improve the parthenogenetic development of bovine oocytes (Liu *et al.*, 1998b; Meo *et al.*, 2004). The rate of blastocyst development in oocytes activated with Iono + DMAP was greater (P<0.05) than those in other treated groups. These findings are in agreement with previous studies, in that 6-DMAP treatment of artificially activated oocytes increased the developmental potential of the parthenotes in bovine, murine and porcines (Susko-Parrish *et al.*, 1994; Leal and Liu, 1998; Liu *et al.*, 1998a). Similarly, previous studies have shown that combining Iono + 6-DMAP was particularly effective in inducing bovine oocyte activation and has been used in nuclear transfer studies (Wells *et al.*, 1999; Bhak *et al.*, 2006).

Wang *et al.* (2008) indicated that bovine oocyte activation is more desirable for combination of Iono + 6-DMAP or EtOH + CHX than for other combination or single treatments. Presicce and Yang (1994a) reported that activation rates achieved with the combined EtOH + CHX treatment were high for both young and aging oocytes. The activation with ionomycin alone and in combination of CHX caused an increase in haploid parthenotes, whereas the 6-DMAP treatment resulted in diploid parthenotes (Szollosi *et al.*,

1993) is the reason why oocytes treated in 6-DMAP is more competent than CHX-treated oocytes.

# 5.4 EFFECT OF DIFFERENT COMBINATIONS OF ACTIVATION CHEMICAL ON THE PRODUCTION OF PARTHENOGENETIC CAPRINE EMBRYOS (EXPERIMENT 4)

Ethanol (Nagai, 1987), ionomycin and calcium ionophore (Jones et al., 1995a; Tesarik and Sousa, 1995) are chemical agents usually used to activate mammalian oocvtes. These chemicals elevate  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$ , similarly as observed in normal fertilisation after sperm penetration (Yoshida and Plant, 1992). Ionophores such as calcium ionophore and ionomycin induces a great single  $(Ca^{2+})_i$  rise in metaphase II (MII) oocytes from the internal deposits (Hoth and Penner, 1992) and resulted in activation of several calciumdependent proteolytic pathways which later lead to the destruction of cyclin B, reduction of MPF activity and resumption of meiosis (Rinaudo et al., 1997; Tomashov-Matar et al., 2005; Jellerette *et al.*, 2006). In the present experiment, two chemicals that help to elevate  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  which are calcium ionophore and ionomycin were compared in order to find out which ionophores gave the highest cleavage rates on the caprine parthenotes. Even though there were no significant differences (P>0.05) between these two chemicals at every embryonic developmental stages, treatment with ionomycin showed the highest embryonic cleavage rates (2-cell: 95.00±5.00% vs. 83.33±10.91%; 4-cell: 95.00±5.00% vs. 83.33±10.91%; 8-cell: 75.66±8.19% vs. 72.61±13.21%; morula: 53.34±16.16% vs. 45.24±14.53% and blastocyst: 20.34±12.46% vs. 9.53±7.14%, respectively), compared to treatment with calcium ionophore. Calcium ionophore increased  $(Ca^{2+})_i$  which in turn destroyed the existing Ca-sensitive CSF and resulted in the reduction of MPF activity (Swann and Ozil, 1994).

In a study conducted by Uranga *et al.* (1996) to compare the effect of two ionophores (calcium ionophore and ionomycin) to induce an increase in  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  in murine oocytes, calcium ionophore induced only slight activation at 1  $\mu$ M concentration; however,

incubation with 5  $\mu$ M for 5 minutes resulted in 56% of oocytes reached 2-cell stage and 40% when the treatment was lengthened to 10 minutes. However, when oocytes were treated with ionomycin either with 1  $\mu$ M or 5  $\mu$ M for 5 or 10 minutes, both indicated oocyte sensitivity to ionomycin treatment with 50-60% embryonic mortality. Their results also indicated that the cellular fragmentations and the death rate of embryos at 24 hours after exposure to the activating agents were higher with ionomycin than with calcium ionophore. According to Colonna *et al.* (1989), murine oocyte exposure to 1  $\mu$ M ionomycin yielded only 1  $\mu$ M increase in [(Ca<sup>2+</sup>)<sub>i</sub>]. This increase is five times smaller than the one obtained when oocytes were activated with ethanol (Cuthbertson *et al.*, 1981). On the other hand, calcium ionophore induced significant parthenogenetic activation yielding high rates of development to blastocyst (Uranga *et al.*, 1996).

Navara *et al.* (1994) and Susko-Parrish *et al.* (1994) stated that treatment with inhibitors of protein synthesis, protein phosphorylation, or histone kinase improved the efficiency of oocyte activation. Histone kinase inhibitor prevents re-accumulation of maturation promoting factor (Ongeri *et al.*, 2001). 6-DMAP, the histone kinase inhibitor, has been reported to accelerate and enhance the formation of pronuclei in non-aged MII oocytes and parthenogenetic development in murine and bovine oocytes by inhibiting protein kinase functions and promoting mitosis (Leal and Liu, 1998).

Results from the current caprine experiment showed that when oocytes were treated in the combination of 5  $\mu$ M A23187 + 2 mM 6-DMAP with different incubation durations in 6-DMAP (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours), there were no significant differences (P>0.05) among these combination treatments at every embryonic-developmental stages. However, treatment with A23187 + 6-DMAP for 3 hours incubation duration showed the highest cleavage rates with the values of 95.25±4.75% (2-cell); 92.85±7.15% (4-cell); 90.07±7.14% (8-cell); 47.22±14.27% (morula) and 10.72±5.49% (blastocyst), respectively, compared to the other incubation durations. In contrast, treatment with the combination of Iono + 6-DMAP for 6 hours incubation duration showed the highest cleavage rates with the values of  $96.15\pm3.85\%$  (2-cell);  $84.28\pm10.89\%$  (4-cell);  $79.05\pm13.95\%$  (8-cell);  $56.35\pm12.15\%$  (morula) and  $35.00\pm13.72\%$  (blastocyst), respectively, compared to the other incubation durations. Blastocyst rate of 6 hours incubation duration in 6-DMAP was significantly higher (P<0.05) with 4 and 5 hours incubation durations ( $35.00\pm13.72\%$  vs. 0% and 0%, respectively).

The present caprine results were in agreement with the study by Lan *et al.* (2005), whereby the best protocol for caprine oocyte activation (pronuclear formation: 87-95%) was obtained when oocytes were treated with 2.5  $\mu$ M ionomycin (1 minute) followed by 2 mM 6-DMAP (6 hours). Lan *et al.* (2005) found that the duration of 6-DMAP treatment could be reduced to 1 hour from 2 to 4 hours after ionomycin treatment to produce higher activation rates (>85%). Moreover, activated caprine oocytes began pronuclear formation at 3 hours and completed it by 5 hours post-ionomycin treatment. In addition, an extended incubation in 6-DMAP shows: (i) improvement in the development of caprine parthenotes; (ii) quickened both the release from metaphase arrest and the pronuclear formation; and (iii) inhibit the chromosome movement at anaphase II (AII) and telophase II (TII), leading to the formation of one pronucleus without extrusion of second polar body (PBII) (Lan *et al.*, 2005).

Previous study by Ongeri *et al.* (2001) showed that there were no significant differences (P>0.05) in cleavage (57.8% vs. 58.0%) and blastocyst (28.5% vs. 27.4%) rates when caprine oocytes were treated in the combination of Iono + 6-DMAP and EtOH + 6-DMAP, respectively. Therefore, Ongeri *et al.* (2001) suggested that these two combination treatments induced development rates for caprine oocytes efficiently. These two combination activation protocols also have been shown to be the most effective method for

inducing parthenogenesis of bovine oocytes, as both protocols mimic natural fertilisation process (Jones *et al.*, 1995b; Kim *et al.*, 1997; Rho *et al.*, 1998). However, Baguisi *et al.* (1999) stated that in caprine, oocytes that were activated by ethanol did not develop to term pregnancy despite good cleavage rates after SCNT. The reason for this phenomenon was not explained by the researchers. In the recent study by De *et al.* (2012), there were no significant differences found between the activation of caprine oocytes by 5  $\mu$ M A23187 (5 minutes) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (3 hours) and 2.31 kV/cm EP (15  $\mu$ s) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (3 hours) in the cleavage (70.44% vs. 72.10%) and blastocyst (21.09% vs. 23.11%) rates. Bhak *et al.* (2006) also demonstrated that parthenotes and SCNT embryos activated with Iono + 6 DMAP showed abnormal time-dependent patterns to cleavage stages and more rapid than other treatments. Particularly, approximately 30% of parthenotes and SCNT embryos treated with Iono + 6-DMAP cleaved at 19 hours post-activation, whereas few or none had cleaved in other chemical activation treatments (Bhak *et al.*, 2006).

Also, the incubation duration and type of parthenogenetic activation chemicals or agents were shown to influence chromosomal complement and subsequent development of caprine parthenotes (Van De Velde *et al.*, 1999). Although Van De Velde *et al.* (1999) found that there was no significant difference in the cleavage rate of oocytes activated by sequential treatment with A23187 + 6-DMAP for 3.5 hours versus the IVF controls, prolonged treatment with 6-DMAP for 6.5 hours resulted in a significantly lower proportion of diploid embryos complement with higher proportion of abnormal chromosomal composition compared to the IVF or short term 6-DMAP treatment. This finding suggested that 6-DMAP treatment induced diploid activation by preventing chromosomal separation and extrusion of the second polar body, while longer treatment in 6-DMAP might cause irreversible injury to normal microtubule spindle formation, which later resulting in abnormal division and abnormal ploidy (Liu *et al.*, 1998a). The authors

showed that the decrease in histone kinase activity, a prerequisite for oocyte activation, was more rapid in oocytes treated with a calcium ionophore followed by 6-DMAP, whereas the decrease was slower in oocytes treated with a calcium ionophore alone. Moreover, MAPK activity remained high in the calcium ionophore-treated oocytes and was comparable to MII control oocytes. Liu *et al.*, (1998a) also suggested that combination treatment with calcium ionophore and 6-DMAP resulted in one diploid pronucleus without second polar body extrusion. In addition, combination treatment of Iono + 6-DMAP also improved pronuclear formation after ICSI procedure in bovine oocytes (Rho *et al.*, 1998).

The combination of A23187 + 6-DMAP was found to induce high rates of oocyte activation, pronucleus formation and development to blastocyst in bovine (Liu *et al.*, 1998a) and ovine (Loi *et al.*, 1998). These findings are in agreement with previous studies, in that combination treatment with 6-DMAP successfully activated oocytes artificially as well as increased the developmental potential of the parthenotes in bovine, murine and porcine (Susko-Parrish *et al.*, 1994; Leal and Liu, 1998; Liu *et al.*, 1998a; Bhak *et al.*, 2006). Even though the reason of the abnormal time dependent rate of oocytes activated with lono + 6-DMAP remains unclear, Lonergan *et al.* (2000) suggested that it may be related to association of gene expression or re-entering of some nuclei to S-phase of the cell cycle without having passed through metaphase (De La Fuente and King, 1998). However, De La Fuente and King (1998) stated that there is one disadvantage when activating oocytes with Iono + 6-DMAP as it caused DNA injury which could be observed in abnormal pattern of karyokinesis at the first cell cycle.

Treatment of murine oocytes with CHX resulted in oocytes activation, as assessed by emission of the second polar body and formation of a pronucleus (Siracusa *et al.,* 1978; Clarke and Masui, 1983; Fulka *et al.,* 1994). Oocytes activation induced by CHX presumably occurs by permitting the turnover of cyclin B that resulted in a concomitant decrease in cdc2/cyclin B kinase activity (Moos *et al.*, 1996).

Results in the current experiment indicated that treatment with 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 10  $\mu$ g/ml CHX for 4 hour incubation duration showed the highest cleavage rates (2-cell: 91.67±4.82%; 4-cell: 76.87±6.48%; 8-cell: 68.50±10.20%; morula: 36.13±15.47% and blastocyst: 11.10±11.10%, respectively), compared to the other incubation durations. The significance was only shown at morula stage where incubation duration in CHX for 5 hours was significant (P<0.05) with 6 hours (14.93±9.16% vs. 49.35±3.57%, respectively).

In the assessment of activation protocols on bovine oocytes by Bhak et al. (2006), treatment with 5 µM Iono (5 minutes) + 1.9 mM 6-DMAP (3 hours) showed significantly greater (P<0.05) cleavage and blastocyst rates from the treatment with 5  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) and 5  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 10  $\mu$ g/ml CHX (cleavage: 85.5 vs. 30.3 and 57.9%; blastocyst: 12.3 vs. 0.7 and 5.3%, respectively). Results from the present study was in agreement with the finding by Bhak et al. (2006), whereby apparently the highest cleavage  $(96.15\pm3.85\%)$  and blastocyst  $(35.00\pm13.72\%)$  rates obtained from the oocytes treated with 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 2 mM 6-DMAP for 6 hours. Similarly, previous study by Alexander *et al.* (2006) showed that the blastocyst rate of parthenogenetic ovine embryos was significantly higher (P<0.05) in combination with 6-DMAP activated oocytes compared to those activated with combination of CHX (21.0% vs. 14.9%, respectively). However, no difference (P>0.05) was observed in blastocyst rate between the two activation treatment groups for SCNT embryos. Further chromosomal analysis demonstrated that all the parthenogenetic embryos derived from 6-DMAP treatment were chromosomally and significantly higher (P<0.05) than those treated in CHX (100.0 vs. 93.6%, respectively) (Alexander *et al.*, 2006).

The activation with ionomycin alone and in combination of CHX caused an increase in haploid parthenotes, whereas the 6-DMAP treatment resulted in diploid parthenotes (Szollosi *et al.*, 1993) which was the reason why oocytes treated in 6-DMAP was more competent than CHX-treated oocytes. This theory could be observed in the results of the present study, whereby when comparing various optimal combination treatments and IVF control, oocytes from the treatment with combination of 6-DMAP and CB achieved more than 50% cleaved embryos at morula stage in contrast with oocytes from the treatment with combination of CHX (morula: 36%). However, all embryos from CB-treated oocytes were unable to develop beyond morula stage. The reason for this happening could not be explained in the present experiment.

The current results indicate that treatment with 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 5  $\mu$ g/ml CB for 5 hours incubation duration showed the highest embryonic cleavage rates with the values of 92.17±7.83% (2-cell); 88.23±11.77% (4-cell); 87.87±12.13% (8-cell) and 55.80±22.00% (morula), respectively, when comparing different incubation duration in CB (3, 4, 5 and 6 hours). However, there was no embryo develop beyond morula stage at each incubation duration. The cleavage rates at 8-cell stage of 5 hours incubation duration were significantly different (P<0.05) from other incubation durations.

Similarly, in the study of comparison of different activation protocols on reconstructed bovine oocytes, there were no significant differences (P>0.05) were found in cleavage (84.4% vs. 87.1%) and blastocyst rates (36.7% vs. 33.3%) in reconstructed bovine oocytes activated by A23187 + 6-DMAP and Iono + 6-DMAP (Shen *et al.*, 2008). However, cleavage (98.9% vs. 79.6%) and blastocyst (51.6% vs. 14.3%) rates were found to be significantly higher (P<0.01) in oocytes activated by A23187 + 6-DMAP and A23187 + CHX + CB (Shen *et al.*, 2008). In the previous research to evaluate the effect of different protein synthesis inhibitors on the parthenogenetic development of porcine

oocytes (Yi and Park, 2005), cleavage (66.4%) and blastocyst (25.0%) yields were improved when oocytes were treated with combination of EtOH + CHX + CB + 6-DMAP than in other treatments (cleavage: 24.9-57.6%; blastocyst: 0.0-19.3%).

These results indicate that full activation of caprine oocytes requires inactivation of both MPF and MAPK activity. Oocytes only achieved partial activation (exit from MI1 arrest but no pronuclear formation) when MPF was inactivated but MAPK activity remained high (Liu *et al.*, 1998a). Therefore, exposure of oocytes to protein synthesis inhibitors such as 6-DMAP or CHX functions to inactivate MAPK activity. Furthermore, treatment of oocytes with 6-DMAP resulted in instant destruction of the spindle suggesting that MAPK is responsible for spindle assembly (Liu *et al.*, 1998a).

6-DMAP, a non-specific protein kinase inhibitor, inhibited kinase activity of MPF by inactivating MAPK (Motlik et al., 1998; Gordo et al., 2000). Activation treatment with 6-DMAP caused extrusion of the polar body, thus generating a diploid zygote (Susko-Parrish et al., 1994). Moreover, 6-DMAP could restrain the activity of MPF and CSF by hampering protein phosphorylation, which was required in spindle assembly; consequently, extrusion of the second polar body would be disrupted (Presicce and Yang, 1994a). It was reported that 6-DMAP could enhance the speed of pronuclear formation compared with CHX in bovine and ovine oocytes (De La Fuente et al., 1998; Alexander et al., 2006). On the other hand, CHX, a protein synthesis inhibitor, restricted the synthesis or re-accumulation of cyclin B and subsequently blocked the re-synthesis of MPF activity, as well as prohibited the synthesis of proteins such as CSF and MPF, resulting in low CSF concentration and decreased MPF activity (or inactivation) which later led to the resumption of second meiotic division and the activation of oocytes (Presicce and Yang, 1994b). In contrast, CB was reported to inhibit extrusion of the second polar body after activation of the oocytes as well as led to the occurrence of chromosomes segregation, thus further inhibited the cytokinesis which resulted in diploid zygotes with two pronuclei (Fukui *et al.*, 1992; Presicce and Yang, 1994a,b; Liu *et al.*, 1998a). Also, CB would help prevent fragmentation of embryos (Collas and Robl, 1990; Yang *et al.*, 1992).

When comparing the embryonic development of the parthenotes from the optimal treatment in each group of combination with IVF as a control, every activation treatment showed a significant difference (P < 0.05) with IVF control at 8-cell stage. Treatment with 10  $\mu$ M Iono + 2 mM 6-DMAP for 6 hours exhibited the highest cleavage (96.15 $\pm$ 3.85%) and blastocyst rates (35.00±13.72%) compared to other combination treatments and significantly higher (P<0.05) with IVF control from 8-cell stage to blastocyst. Results from the present experiment were in agreement with the earlier study by Ongeri et al. (2001), in which the cleavage (57.8% and 58.0% vs. 47.2%, respectively) and blastocyst (28.5% and 27.4% vs. 10.2%, respectively) rates of caprine oocytes activated by the combination of Iono + 6-DMAP and EtOH + 6-DMAP were significantly higher (P < 0.05) than the IVF control. Van De Velde et al. (1999) showed that bovine oocytes activated by combination of A23187 + 6-DMAP exhibited no difference from IVF in the cleavage rate. In a study by Boediono et al. (1995), bovine oocytes activated with ethanol alone or in combination with CB as well as with IVF oocytes, did not differ in cleavage and blastocyst rates. No embryos were observed to develop beyond morula stage from the IVF control in the present study that could be due to the numerous reasons including unavailable efficient IVF protocol as well as incompetence of the personnel carrying out the caprine IVF. Previous studies by Brackett and Oliphant (1975) and De Smedt et al. (1992) had reported that 8 to 20% polyspermy normally occurred in caprine IVF. In addition, Ongeri et al. (2001) suggested that penetration of multiple sperm into an oocyte could lead to fragmentation after a few cell divisions; and this phenomenon could explain why the

earlier stage cleavage rates were relatively much higher than the blastocyst rates. Similar patterns were observed in the present study.

# 5.5 EFFECT OF *IN VITRO* MATURATION (IVM) DURATION THE PRODUCTION OF CAPRINE OOCYTES AND ITS SUBSEQUENT PARTHENOTES DEVELOPMENT (EXPERIMENT 5)

Two groups of IVM durations were designed in this experiment (18-21 hours and 22-25 hours) before activation procedures were carried out. Grade D oocytes showed the lowest maturation rate for both IVM groups, whereas Grades B and A oocytes showed the highest maturation rates for 18-21 and 22-25 hours IVM, respectively. The range of IVM duration at 18-21 hours was chosen because at this range, the oocyte maturation rate was high. From the previous protocol of our laboratory, it was hypothesised that the oocyte donor caprine treated hormonally (60 hours of post-PMSG and 66 hours post-hCG) from LOPU procedure could give good quality oocytes which were developmentally competence. The present results clearly demonstrated that the duration of IVM as well as the quality of oocytes affected maturation rate, oocyte activation and subsequent embryonic development.

Cognie *et al.* (2003) showed that the maturation rate of caprine oocytes is 21 to 72% when *in vitro* matured at 16-24 hours. Phua (2006) obtained 31 to 56% maturation rate at 25-28 hours IVM duration with LOPU-derived caprine oocytes, whereas Chan (2008) reported that the maturation rate of caprine oocytes that were *in vitro* matured at 21-24 hours was significantly higher (P<0.05) from those matured at 25-28 hours (71.23% vs. 56.75%, respectively). This finding is in agreement with study by Kong (2010), where IVM duration of caprine oocytes at 22-25 hours showed better maturation rate compared to those *in vitro* matured at 26-29 hours (71.60% vs. 38.70%, respectively). However, in the present study, caprine oocytes *in vitro* matured at 18-21 hours apparently gave the higher maturation rate from those matured at 22-25 hours (86.80±1.84% vs. 84.11±2.08%). It is clearly shown that the maturation rate from the current study was improved than the

previous study by Chan (2008) and Kong (2010) (84.11% vs. 71.23% and 71.60%, respectively). As for slaughterhouse oocytes, the IVM duration suggested to be 24-27 hours (Kong, 2010) which was higher than LOPU oocytes (21-24 hours). The reasons for higher maturity in the current study using 18-21 hours IVM duration could not be explained, but it could be due to oocytes were already undergoing process of meiosis at the time of LOPU oocyte retrieval, resulting in at shortening of IVM duration. Besides this, it could be due to factors specific to the laboratories such as the method of IVM preparation, different IVM ingredients, duration of IVM as well as time interval between PMSG-hCG and LOPU commencement. From the results of present study, the duration of IVM at 18-21 hours from the present study is suggested to obtain for the LOPU oocytes before subsequent embryo procedures to be carried out in the caprine species.

When using the same range of IVM duration (21-25 hours) of LOPU materials in this study, the results of cleavage (92.62%) and morula (41.47%) rates of oocytes were found to be higher than that of Chan (2008) who produced *in vitro* fertilised caprine embryo at rates of 64.46 and 14.38%, respectively. By contrast, Lan *et al.* (2005) demonstrated that the best caprine oocyte activation from slaughterhouse (pronuclear formation: 87-95%), was obtained when oocytes matured *in vitro* for 27 hours were treated with 2.5  $\mu$ M ionomycin (1 minute) followed by 2 mM 6-DMAP (6 hours). In addition, activation rates of oocytes *in vitro* matured for 27, 30, and 33 hours were higher (P<0.05) than those matured 24 hours when treated with Iono + 6-DMAP (6 hours). However, activation of oocytes with Iono + 6-DMAP (4 hours) enhanced the activation rate of oocytes matured by 24 hours (Lan *et al.*, 2005).

Chan (2008) reported that the beneficial results obtained from ICSI as compared to IVF were due to the additional effect of the chemical activation of oocyte cleavage. The possible reasons related to the higher percentage of embryonic cleavage obtained by

parthenogenetic activation could be due to the additional effect of chemical activation treatment. This explanation might be applied to the current experiment as the present results showed higher cleavage and morula rates compared to those obtained by Chan (2008). It is well known that calcium ionophore, ionomycin and ethanol were able to mimic fertilisation very closely by elevating  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  levels in oocytes (Jones *et al.*, 1995b). Moreover, protein kinase inhibitor such as 6-DMAP helped in preventing reaccumulation of MPF, thus resulted in improvement the efficiency of oocyte activation (Susko-Parrish *et al.*, 1994). In addition, cysteamine used in IVM ingredients had been reported to improve oocyte maturation and subsequent embryonic development (Cognie *et al.*, 2002).

Regardless of IVM duration, oocytes from Grades A, B and C were apparently more competent to develop until morula stage compared to Grade D oocytes. These observations brought out the important role of cumulus cells in influencing maturation and the subsequent development of caprine embryo (Chan, 2008). The cumulus cells surrounding the immature oocytes played an important role in nuclear and embryonic development (Hashimoto *et al.*, 1998; Taghe *et al.*, 2002). Therefore, the integrity of (cumulus oocyte complexes) COCs during maturation was necessary for embryonic development (Shioya *et al.*, 1988; Vanderhyden and Armstrong, 1989). Maturation rates of Grades A and B oocytes were significantly higher (P<0.05) than Grade D oocytes at both IVM durations (18-21 hours:  $91.61\pm2.70\%$  and  $93.33\pm2.83\%$  vs.  $77.39\pm6.68\%$ , respectively; 22-25 hours:  $88.17\pm3.29\%$  and  $86.29\pm3.65\%$  vs.  $73.08\pm6.41\%$ , respectively). Moreover, it is believed that oocyte quality would influence the *in vitro* production of caprine embryos (Katska-Ksiazkiewicz *et al.*, 2007).

The present results showed that good quality oocytes which were surrounded by multi-layers of compact investment with homogenous ooplasm (Grades A, B and C) had

higher embryonic development rates up to blastocyst compared to those of poor quality oocytes (Grade D). This finding suggested the essential role of cumulus cells in promoting normal cytoplasmic maturation of oocytes necessary for activation, cleavage and the subsequent parthenote development. Eppig (1991) reported that cumulus cells were a subpopulation of granulosa cells surrounding the oocyte, providing nutrients and signals that regulated its growth and maturation. In addition, the presence of cumulus cells around the oocyte was essential to initiate the transport of nutrients and signals into and out of the oocytes (Moor and Seamark, 1986). Maedomari et al. (2007) also suggested that the presence of cumulus cells around the oocytes during IVM had been reported to be important to the blastocyst stage after IVC, where these abilities were regulated by intracytoplasmic glutathione which was synthesised by cumulus cells and accumulated in the oocytes during the later stage of maturation. Moreover, oocyte quality was determined by diverse scale such as the degree of expansion, texture of ooplasm and number of cumulus cells layers, where these criteria were found to have significant effects on the in vitro maturation, fertilisation and development (Tanghe et al., 2002). This theory was consistent with the current experiments whereby oocytes with 3 to 5 layers of cumulus cells and homogenous ooplasm (Grades A, B and C) indicated higher cleavage rates up to blastocyst compared to oocytes originating from <3 layers of cumulus cells (Grade D) though not significantly different. Besides, it has been demonstrated in some reports that removal of cumulus cells had adverse effect on oocyte maturation, fertilisation and embryonic development (Cecconi et al., 1996; Goud et al., 1998).

Regardless of oocyte grades, there were no significant differences observed in maturation and cleavage rates for all embryonic developmental stages between 18-21 and 22-25 hours IVM durations. These findings suggested that *in vitro* matured oocytes at 18-21 and 22-25 hours had same fertilisation and embryonic developmental ability. Although

there were no significant differences at all embryonic developmental stages in both IVM durations, 18-21 hours IVM duration gave higher results at all embryonic development stages (except morula stage) than 22-25 hours. It is well known that the degree of cytoplasm maturation will determine the developmental competence of IVM oocyte to undergo further embryonic development (Combelles *et al.*, 2002; Inoue *et al.*, 2008).

Apoptosis was also observed in some embryos in the present experiment, particularly in morula stage whereby these embryos were barely able to develop beyond the morula stage either the embryos were stopped at this stage or undergo fragmentation. Chan (2008) suggested that the reason could probably due to the sub-optimal culture medium. However, Jimenez-Macedo *et al.* (2007) suggested that one of the functions of apoptosis during development was to remove cells that are no longer required.

## 5.6 GENERAL DISCUSSION

The results of the current research showed the feasibility of obtaining parthenogenetic embryos by using various types of chemical activation in murine, bovine and caprine species. Generally, there are many factors that affect production of parthenogenetic embryos such as post-hCG duration (in mice), source of oocytes (in caprine), IVM duration (in caprine and bovine) hormonal administration, type of chemical used, duration of incubation in activation chemical, concentration of activation chemical and type of chemical used as combination treatment.

Although low percentages of blastocyst were obtained from the various chemical treatments, the performance of further studies could be improved if proper precautions and organisation are carried out, such as proper hormonal administration used, selection of high quality oocytes, proper handling of oocytes including aseptic techniques, meiotic stages of oocytes retrieved as well as choice of chemicals used for oocyte activation. The

following section will provide a brief discussion on other specific factors affecting parthenote developmental competence not covered in this study.

### 5.6.1 Summary of Significant Findings

In summary, all the objectives of this project were achieved. Parthenogenesis protocol in murine, bovine and caprine species was developed in ABEL laboratory that could be used integratively with other related embryo technologies in our laboratory. For murine study, combination of strontium chloride and cytochalasin B is the optimal way to produce parthenogenetic murine embryos, even though other chemicals have the same potential to produce parthenogenetic embryos which develop until blastocyst stage. Duration of 13-15 hours post-hCG administration was found to be a better choice to give higher percentage of oocytes with polar body and subsequent parthenote development in murine species. As for bovine study, treatment with combination of ionomycin and 6-DMAP was the optimal method to produce parthenogenetic bovine embryos although other chemicals could also produce bovine parthenotes. As for caprine species, combination of ionomycin and 6-DMAP was the optimal protocol to produce parthenogenetic caprine embryos even though other chemicals had the same potential to produce parthenogenetic embryos and develop until blastocyst stage. Duration of 18-21 hours IVM was a better choice to give higher percentage in maturation rate and subsequent parthenote development in caprine species. Grades A, B and C oocytes were found to be more competence than Grades D and E oocytes in both caprine and bovine species.

# 5.6.2 Oestrus Synchronisation and Superovulation

In order to produce large amount of oocytes as a source for production of parthenogenetic embryos, oestrus synchronisation and superovulation of the female oocyte donor are conventionally necessary. The efficiency of superovulation in female oocyte donors depends on several factors. The factors include the strains of donor, their physical condition such as age, weight and sexual maturity, the type of hormonal treatment, dose of gonadotrophins administered and timing of gonadotrophins administration (Hogan *et al.*, 1994) as well as external factors such as the presence of pheromones produced by male (Zarrow *et al.*, 1971). It was suggested that successful superovulation in donor animal requires the synergistic effects of both pregnant mare's serum gonadotrophin (PMSG) and human chorionic gonadotrophin (hCG) injection. PMSG mimics the effects of follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) produced which induce follicular growth and subsequently prepares them for ovulation whereas hCG mimics the luteinising hormone (LH) to stimulate the ovulation of mature ova (Christenson and Eleftheriou, 1972).

Oestrus synchronisation was successfully performed in caprine whereas superovulation was successfully performed in both caprine and murine in the present study as favourable number of total oocytes recovered was obtained. Nevertheless, some of the donors indicate poor response to the hormonal treatment. As for caprines that were used for LOPU, some of the donors underwent several repeated surgeries which mean repeated oestrus synchronisation and superovulation had been carried out to the same donor. Therefore, it is suggested that antibody formation to chorionic gonadotrophin might the possibility of the poor response to the hormonal treatment (Baril *et al.*, 1996; Herve *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, selection of the healthy donor, proper preparation and timing of the hormonal treatment, interval between the current and next LOPU cycles and post-LOPU treatment should be optimised in order to achieve good stimulation response, hence obtaining good quality and high yield of oocytes.

#### 5.6.3 Oocyte Quality

The quality of oocytes which was assessed by cumulus cells expansion and ooplasm homogeneity seemed to be adequate enough to differentiate between competent (Grades A, B and C) and incompetent oocytes (Grades D and E). Nevertheless, it should be noted that the morphology of cumulus cells and ooplasm might not be a precise indicator of oocyte developmental competence due to the several aspects that might be affect cumulus investment during oocytes retrieval such as vacuum pressure, type and diameter of needle used as well as the aspiration technique. It has been reported that COCs retrieved from LOPU might have few layers less cumulus cells than the actual layers due to the mechanical factors during LOPU procedure (Chan, 2008). Therefore, the reduction in the vacuum pressure during aspiration technique could improve the quality of oocytes.

In the current study, not all competence oocytes (Grades A, B and C) developed to the blastocyst stage. This phenomenon would suggest that developmental potential of the individual oocyte might not possibly be predicted based on the visual appearance of the oocytes (Blondin and Sirard, 1995; De Wit and Kruip; 2001). Other aspects had been reported to affect competency of oocytes such as diameter of the oocytes as well as morphology and size of both follicle and ovary (Jewgenow *et al..*, 1999; Hendriksen *et al.*, 2000).

# 5.6.4 In Vitro Culture (IVC) System

In the present study, oocytes from all three species (murine, bovine and caprine) were able to develop until blastocyst stage although low number of blastocyst was obtained. Despite the activation treatment used to activate oocytes, it could be suggested that the culture condition also contribute the developmental competence of parthenogenetic embryos. An optimal culture system was an essential requirement on the developmental potential of *in*  *vitro* produced embryos since the embryos underwent according critical events which were maturation, chemical activation, fertilisation, cleavage, embryonic genome activation, compaction of morula as well as blastocyst formation (Chan, 2008). Thus, improvement in IVC systems would likely produce better quality of embryos (Galli *et al*, 2001).

Moreover, it has been reported that the number of embryos in a culture droplet (Khurana and Niemann, 2000) as well as droplet size also influenced the developmental potential of embryos. In the present experiment, embryos were cultured in a small group according to the oocyte grades (bovine and caprine) for further identification throughout the experiments. Glucose was used as an energy substrate at the earlier stage of embryonic development in a culture media. However, earlier stages of embryo have a limited capacity to utilise glucose (Thompson et al., 1996). Kim et al. (1993) reported that glucose in the culture media has an adverse effect on embryonic development and it is not required until Day-3 or -4 of development. In contrast, Thompson et al. (1996) stated that high glucose concentration is also shows detrimental effect to embryonic development. Kwong et al. (2012) suggested that increasing glucose concentration (2.78 mM) in KSOM medium at later stage of embryonic development (8-cell onwards) could supported the hatching of caprine cloned blastocyst. The blastocyst rates of SCNT embryos were significantly higher (P < 0.05) when glucose was added into KSOM compared to those non-added glucose (Kwong et al., 2012).

Several studies have been carried out in order to optimise culture condition and many chemically-defined media had been proposed to support caprine embryonic development *in vitro*. Even so, knowledge about the exact requirements of culturing caprine embryos *in vitro* was not well recorded, hence the success rate of *in vitro* produced caprine embryos still varies widely. One of the main limitations *in vitro* produced embryos is the slow growth rate and low percentage of developing caprine embryos reaching blastocyst stage as compared to *in vivo* embryonic development.

## 5.6.5 Constraints of the Studies

During the research duration, numerous difficulties were encountered including:

#### 5.6.5.1 Skill attainment

Learning curve was done in murine model to practice in proper handling of oocytes/embryos, preparation of microtools and media which took approximately 5 months due to lack of model animals, facilities, chemicals, reagents and tools as well as lack in skills and expertise in the laboratory. Moreover, purchasing of hormones, chemicals and reagents also took a long period (approximately 3 months) as many bureaucratic processing procedures had to be gone through before approval of the purchase.

### 5.6.5.2 Facilities

As our laboratory comprised many post-graduate students, the facilities, equipment and reagents available were relatively inadequate to enable the current research to be carried out in a more comprehensive manner. The situation worsened due to sharing of equipment and facilities with other researchers that resulted in compromising the outcome of the experiments. For example, the author was needed to carry out LOPU procedures at different laboratories and therefore had to transport the oocytes from LOPU laboratory to the other embryo manipulation laboratory in order to carry out the subsequent experiments. The development of oocytes might be disrupted during the journey as well as in the transferring process. Electricity breakdown was common at the laboratory also could affect

the embryonic development as there was no back-up generator provided by the management.

#### 5.6.5.3 Source of oocytes

The consistency in the number of oocytes yield from every LOPU procedure was varied due to several factors such as age, breed, health and physiological status of caprine oocyte donors which could not be standardised throughout the research duration. Moreover, repeated LOPU procedures were done on the same animal due to difficulty in finding sufficient number of caprine donors might contribute to the adhesion problem of reproductive tract. Low productivity in caprine oocyte donor which later produced low number and quality in oocyte yielded was routinely experienced in this study. Since our laboratory comprises many post-graduate students, we have to share caprine oocytes from the same sources. Therefore, the number of oocytes obtained for experiments was relatively low per replicate.

## 5.6.5.4 Embryo developmental arrest

One of the major problems faced by almost researchers in this laboratory was to obtain blastocyst in their research. The embryo development was unable to develop beyond the morula stage when using mSOFaa as IVC medium previously. This unfavourable scenario was solved by using KSOMaa as a basal medium after a series of several inventions by using substitution of BSA with glucose and FBS (Kwong *et al.*, 2012).

# **5.6.6 Future Directions**

Although parthenogenetic embryos have much beneficial effect, however, it cannot be used to treat infertility alone, as parthenogenetic embryos would be non-viable at early post-implantation stage. The possible reason might be due to the absences of paternally imprinted which was a requirement in the developmental stage, especially for the formation of extra-embryonic tissues. Another deficiency of parthenogenetically activated oocytes that was oocytes tend to rely on the maturation time or oocytes age. As suggested in the literature, parthenogenetic activation was easier to be achieved in the aged oocytes. However, aging oocytes managed to alter oocyte cytoskeleton components, impairs enucleation, high frequency in producing fragmented oocytes, besides being responsible for causing cell apoptosis (Meo *et al.*, 2004).

Since the technique of nuclear transfer and cloning could greatly increase the efficiency of producing transgenic caprine in industry sector, therefore, it is needed to develop an effective protocol for oocyte activation that can be used during nuclear transfer in caprine. However, limited information is available in the literature on the efficient parthenogenesis and developmental competence of caprine parthenotes. In the present study, it is demonstrated that murine, bovine and caprine embryos could be generated through parthenogenesis approach using various types of chemical and further develop until blastocyst stage. However, numerous factors influencing the efficiency of caprine parthenotes development need to be identified and studied in details in order to be used in cloning, nuclear transfer and stem cell procedures for the production of better results for biological, medical research and industry application. Since it is difficult to obtain high percentage of caprine blastocyst in normal IVF, ICSI and SCNT techniques, thus, the optimised protocol of caprine parthenogenesis hopefully could be enhanced and improved in cloning, nuclear transfer and stem cell procedures. In addition, parthenotes have been used in co-transfer experiments for the establishment of pregnancies in studies of SCNT (De Sousa *et al.*, 2002).

Chapter 6

6.0 CONCLUSIONS

#### Chapter 6

#### 6.0 CONCLUSIONS

This study was carried out to produce embryos through parthenogenesis approach as well as to investigate the effect of different activation protocols using various single and combination treatments on the production and parthenotes developmental performance in murine, caprine and bovine species. Specific conclusions can be made based on the findings from this research as follows:

- a) This is the first comprehensive report of production of murine, caprine and bovine embryos through parthenogenesis approach using various combinations of activation chemicals in the local setting at Animal Biotechnology-Embryo Laboratory, University of Malaya, Malaysia.
- b) The optimal protocol for production of murine parthenotes is by using combination of 10 mM  $SrCl_2 + 5 \mu g/ml CB$  in CZB  $Ca^{2+}$ -free medium (3 hours) though other activation protocols in this study are able to activate oocytes and subsequently develop throughout the pre-implantation stage.
- c) Higher percent of oocytes with polar body was obtained from murine parthenotes derived from 13-15 hours post-hCG administration duration and significantly higher (P<0.05) in developmental competence compared to those derived from 16-18 hours post-hCG administration duration.
- d) The optimal protocol for production of bovine parthenotes is by using combination of 10  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (4 hours) though other activation protocols in this study are able to activate oocytes and subsequently develop throughout pre-implantation stage.

- e) Generally, maturation rates of Grades A, B and C bovine oocytes from abattoir sample were more than 50%. Bovine parthenotes derived from Grades A, B and C oocytes treated with various combination treatments showed high developmental capacity and able to develop untill blastocyst stage.
- f) Caprine parthenotes can be produced successfully until blastocyst using both single and combined activation chemical treatments.
- g) The optimal protocol for production of caprine parthenotes is by using combination of 10  $\mu$ M Iono (5 minutes) + 2 mM 6-DMAP (6 hours) though other activation protocols in this study are able to activate oocytes and subsequently develop throughout pre-implantation stage.
- h) Maturation rates of Grades A and B caprine oocytes from LOPU procedure were significantly higher (P<0.05) than Grades D and E oocytes. Caprine parthenotes derived from Grades A, B and C oocytes showed higher developmental competence than those derived from Grades D and E.
- i) Higher maturation rate was obtained from caprine parthenotes derived from 18-21 hours IVM duration than those derived from 22-25 hours of IVM duration. However, both IVM durations had the same potential in the development of caprine parthenotes.
- j) In a nutshell, murine, caprine and bovine parthenotes were successfully *in vitro* produced until blastocyst stage using various chemical activation treatments.

REFERENCES

## REFERENCES

Abdalla, H., M. Shimoda, M. Hirabayashi and S. Hochi. 2009. A combined treatment of ionomycin with ethanol improves blastocyst development of bovine oocytes harvested from stored ovaries and microinjected with spermatozoa. Theriogenology. 72: 453-460.

Abe, H. and H. Hoshi. 2003. Evaluation of bovine embryos produced in high performance serum free media. Journal of Reproduction Development. 49: 193-202.

Abecia, J.A., S.M. Rhind, T.A. Bramleyand S.M. McMillen. 1995. Steroid production and LH receptor concentrations of ovarian follicles and corpora lutea and associated rates of ova wastage in ewes given high and low levels of food intake before and after mating. Animal Science. 61: 57-62.

Abramczuk, J., D. Solter and H. Koprowski. 1977. The beneficial effect of EDTA on development of mouse one-cell embryos in chemically defined medium. Developmental Biology. 61(2): 378-383.

Adenot, P.G., M.S. Szöllösi, P. Chesné, S. Chastant S and J.P. Renard. 1997. *In vivo* aging of oocytes influences the behavior of nuclei transferred to enucleated rabbit oocytes. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 46(3): 325-336.

Agrawal, K.P., T. Sharma, C. Sexena and N. Sharma. 1995. Chronology of first meiotic events of caprine oocytes matured *in vitro*. Indian Journal of Animal Sciences. 65: 285-288.

Ainul Bahiyah, A.B. 2010. *In vitro* and *in vivo* developmental competence of intact, *in vitro*-derived and cryopreserved murine embryos. Ph.D Thesis. University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur.

Akshey, Y.S., D. Malakar, A. K. De, M. K. Jena, S. K. Pawar, R. Dutta and S. Sahu. 2011. Effect of roscovitine treated donor cells and different activation methods on development of handmade cloned goat (*Capra hircus*) embryos. Theriogenology 75: 1516-1524.

Alberio, R., V. Zakhartchenko, J. Motlik and E. Wolf. 2001. Mammalian oocyte activation: lessons from the sperm and implications for nuclear transfer. International Journal of Developmental Biology. 45:797-809.

Alexander, B., G. Coppola, D. Di Berardino, G.J. Rho, J.E. St, D.H. Betts and W.A. King. 2006. The effect of 6-dimethylaminopurine (6-DMAP) and cycloheximide (CHX) on the development and chromosomal complement of sheep parthenogenetic and nuclear transfer embryos. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 73: 20-30.

Alm, H., H. Torner, W. Kantz and K. Roschlau. 2008. Influence of oocyte recovery method, *in vitro* fertilization method and serum source on embryonic development of *in vitro* matured bovine oocytes. Arch Tierz. 51(3): 224-234.

Amoah, E.A. and S. Gelaye. 1990. Superovulation, synchronisation and breeding of does. Small Ruminant Research. 3: 63-72.

Anguita B., M.T. Paramio, R. Morato, R. Romaguera, A.R. Jimenez-Macedo, T. Mogas and D. Izquierdo. 2009. Effect of the appoptosis rate observed in oocytes and cumulus cells on embryo development in prepubertal goats. Animal Reproduction in Science. 116: 95-106.

Armstrong, D.T., A.P. Pfitzner, G.M. Warnes and R.F. Seamark. 1983. Superovulation treatments and embryo transfer in Angora goats. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 67: 403-410.

Armstrong, D.T., P. Holm, B. Irvine, B.A. Peterson, R.B. Stubbings, D. McLean, *et al.* 1992. Pregnancies and live birth from *in vitro* fertilization of calf oocytes collected by laproscopic follicular aspiration. Theriogenology. 38:667-678.

Assey, R.J., P. Hyttel, J.F Roche and M. Boland. 1994. Oocyte structure and follicular steroid concentrations in superovulated versus unstimulated heifers. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 39: 8-16.

Ata"allah, G.A. 2012. Comparison between single and combined chemical activation treatments on *in vitro* developmental competence of mouse embryos. B.Sc. Dissertation. University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.

Austin. C.R. 1974. Concept of Development . Whitter J.R. (*Ed.*). Sineur Associates Inc., Publisher.

Avery, B., A. Hay-Schmidt, P. Hyttel and T. Greve. 1998. Embryo development. Oocyte morphology and kinetics of meiotic maturation in bovine oocyte exposed to 6-dimethykaminopurine prior to *in vitro* maturation. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 50: 334-344.

Ayres, S.L., W. Gavin, E. Memili and E. Behboodi. 2012. Superovulation in goats during the second follicular wave, with or without exogenous progesterone. Small Ruminant Research. 104: 146-150.

Baguisi, A., E. Behboodi, D.T. Melican, J.S. Pollock, M.M. Destrempes, C. Cammuso, J.L. Williams, S.D. Nims, C.A. Porter, P. Midura, M.J. "Palacios, S.L. Ayres, R.S. Denniston, M.L. Hayes, C.A. Ziomek, H.M. Meade, R.A. GodkeW.G. Gavin, E.W. Overstrom and Y. Echelard.1999. Production of goats by somatic cell nuclear transfer. Nature Biotechnology. 17: 456-461.

Balakier, H. and R.F. Casper. 1993. Experimentally induced parthenogenetic activation of human oocytes. Human Reproduction. 28: 740-743

Baldassarre, H., D.G. de Matos, C.C. Furnus, T.E. Castro and E.I. Cabrera Fische. 1994. Technique for efficient recovery of sheep oocytes by laparoscopic folliculocentesis. Animal Reproduction Science. 35: 145-150.

Baldassarre, H., B. Wang, N. Kafidi, C.L. Keefer, A. Lazaris and C.N. Karatzas. 2002. Advances in the production and propagation of transgenic goats using laparoscopic ovum pick-up and *in vitro* embryo production technologies. Theriogenology 57: 275-284.

Baldassarre, H. and C.N. Karatzas. 2004. Advanced assisted reproduction technologies (ART) in goats. Animal Reproduction Science. 82-83: 255-266.

Ball, G.D., M.L. Leibfried, R.W. Lenz RW, R.L. Ax, B.D. Bavister and N.L. First. 1983. Factors affecting successful *in vitro* fertilization of bovine follicular oocytes. Biology of Reproduction. 28: 717-725.

Baril, G., J.L. Pougnard, V.J.B. Freitas, B. Leboeuf and J. Saumande. 1996. A new method for controlling the precise time of occurrence of the preovulatory gonadotropin surge in superovulated goats. Theriogenology. 45: 697-706.

Bates, G.W., A. Saunders and A.E. Sowers. 1987. Electrofusion. *In*: Cell Fusion. (*Ed.*) Sower, A.E. Plenum Press, New York. pp. 367-395.

Bavister, B.D. 1995. Culture of preimplantation embryos: facts and artifacts. Human Reproduction Update. 1: 91-148.

Beatty, R.A. 1957. Parthenogenesis and Polyploidy in Mammalian Development. Cambridge: University Press.

Bebbere, B., L. Bogliolo, F. Ariu, S. Fois, G.G. Leoni, S. Succu, F. Berlinguer and S. Ledda. 2010. Different temporal gene expression patterns for ovine pre-implantation embryos produced by parthenogenesis or *in vitro* fertilization. Theriogenology. 74: 712–723.

Beker-van Woudenberg, A.R., H.T.A. van Tol, B.A.J. Roelen, B. Colenbrande and M.M. Bevers. 2004. Estradiol and its membrane-impermeable conjugate (estradiol-bovine serum albumin) during *in vitro* maturation of bovine oocytes: effects on nuclear and cytoplasmic maturation, cytoskeleton, and embryo quality. Biolology of Reproduction. 70: 1465-1474.

Bevacqua, R.J., F.P. Bonnet, R.F. Martin and D.F. Salamone. 2010. High rates of bovine blastocyst development after ICSI-mediated gene transfer assisted by chemical activation. Theriogenology. 74: 922-931.

Bhak, J.S., S.L. Lee, S.A. Ock, B.M. Kumar, S.Y. Choe and G.J. Rho. 2006. Developmental rate and ploidy of embryos produced by nuclear transfer with different activation treatments in cattle. Animal Reproduction Science. 92: 37-49.

Blondin, P. and M.A. Sirard. 1995. Oocyte and follicular morphology as determining characteristics for developmental competence in bovine oocytes. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 41: 54-62.

Boediono, A., S. Saha, C. Sumantri and T. Suzuki. 1995. Development *in vitro* and *in vivo* of aggregated parthenogenetic bovine embryos. Reproduction, Fertility and Development. 7: 1073-1079.

Bordignon, V. and L.C. Smith. 1998. Telophase enucleation: an improved method to prepare recipient cytoplasts for use in bovine nuclear transfer. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 49(1): 29-36.

Bos-Mikich, A., D.G. Whittingham and K.T. Jones. 1997. Meiotic and mitotic  $Ca^{2+}$  oscillations affect cell composition in resulting blastocysts. International Journal of Developmental Biology. 182: 172-179.

Bos-Mikich, A., K. Swann, and D.G. Whittingham. 1995a. Calcium oscillations and proteinsynthesis inhibition synergistically activate mouse oocytes. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 41: 84-90.

Bos-Mikich, A., M.J. Wood, C.J. Candy and D.G. Whittingham. 1995b. Cytogenetical analysis and developmental potential of vitrified mouse oocytes. Biology of Reproduction. 53: 780–785.

Brackett, B.G. and G. Oliphant. 1975. Capacitation of rabbit spermatozoa *in vitro*. Biology of Reproduction. 12: 260-274.

Braden, A.W.H. and C.R. Austin. 1954a. Reactions of unfertilized mouse eggs to some experimental stimuli. Experimental Cell Research. 7: 277-280.

Braden, A.W.H. and C.R. Austin. 1954b. Fertilization of the mouse egg and the effect of delayed coitus and of hot-shock treatment. Australian Journal of Biological Sciences. 7: 552-565.

Byers S.L., S.J. Payson and R.A. Taft. 2006. Performance of ten inbred mouse strains following assisted reproduction technologies (ARTs). Theriogenology. 65: 1716-1726.

Callesen, H., T. Greve and P. Hyttel. 1986. Preovulatory endocrinology and oocyte maturation in superovulated cattle. Theriogenology. 25: 71-86.

Callesen, H., T. Greve and P. Hyttel. 1987. Premature ovulations in superovulated cattle. Theriogenology. 28: 155-166.

Carroll, D.J., C.S. Ramarao, L.M. Mehlmann, S. Roche, M. Terasaki and L.A. Jaffe. 1997. Calcium release at fertilization in starfish eggs is mediated by phospholipase. Journal of Cell Biology. 138: 1303-1311.

Cecconi, S., R. D"Aurizio and R. Colonna. 1996. Role of antral follicle development and cumulus cells on *in vitro* fertilization of mouse oocytes. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 107: 207-214.

Cevik, M., A. Tas, T. Akkoc, H. Bagis and S. Arat. 2009. A comparative study of parthenogenetic activation and *in vitro* fertilisation of *in vitro* matured bovine oocytes. Turkish Journal Veterinary and Animal Science. 33(5): 393-399.
Cha, S.K., N.H. Kim, S.M. Lee, C.S. Baik, H.T. Lee and K.S. Chung. 1997. Effect of cytochalasin B and cycloheximide on the activation rate, chromosome constituent and *in vitro* development of porcine oocytes following parthenogenetic stimulation. Reproduction, Fertility and Development. 9: 441-446.

Chan, W.K. 2008. Developemental competence of *in vitro* fertilized embryos following hyperstimulation procedure and vitrification of *in vitro* produced caprine embryos. M.Sc. Dissertation. University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur.

Chatot, C.L., C.A. Ziomek, B.D. Bavister, J.L. Lewis and I. Torres. 1989. An improved culture medium supports development of random-bred 1-cell mouse embryos in vitro. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 86: 679-688.

Cheek, T.R., O.M. McGuinness, C. Vincent, R.B. Moreton, M.J. Berridge and M.J. Johnson. 1993. Fertilisation and thimerosal stimulate similar calcium spiking patterns in mouse oocytes but by separate mechanisms. Development. 119: 179-89.

Cheng, Y., Z. Zhong and K.E. Latham. 2012. Strain-specific spontaneous activation during mouse oocyte maturation. 98(1): 200-206.

Choi, Y.H., E.M. Carnevale, G.E. Seidel Jr. and E.L. Squires. 2001. Effects of gonadotropins on bovine oocytes matured in TCM-199. Theriogenology. 56: 661-670.

Christenson, C. M. and B. E. Eleftheriou. 1972. Dose-dependence of superovulation response in mice to two injections of PMSG. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 29: 287-289.

Chung, J.T. 1999. Activation of bovine oocytes following intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI). M.Sc. Thesis. McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada.

Cibelli, J.B., S.L. Stice, P.J. Golueke, J.J. Kane, J. Jerry, C. Blackwell, F.A.P. Ponce De Leon and J.M. Robl. 1998. Cloned transgenic calves produced from nonquiescent fetal fibroblast. Science. 280: 1256-1258.

Clarke, H. J. and Y. Masui. 1983. The induction of reversible and irreversible chromosome decondensation by protein synthesis inhibition during meiotic maturation of mouse oocytes. Developmental Biology. 97: 291-301.

Cognie, Y., N. Poulin, C. Pisselet and D. Monniaux. 1995a. effect of atresia on the ability of follicular fluid to support cytoplasmic maturation of sheep oocytes *in vitro*. Theriogenology. 43: 188. (abstract)

Cognie, Y., N. Poulin, P. Pignon, J. Sulon, J.F. Beckers and Y. Guerin. 1995b. Does heparin affect developmental ability of IVP goat oocytes? Proceedings of 11<sup>th</sup> Meeting AETE. pp. 146. (abstract)

Cognie, Y. 1999. State of the ART in sheep-goat embryo transfer. Theriogenology. 51: 105-116.

Cognie, Y. and N. Poulin. 2000. Developemntal competence of goat oocytes is increased after *in vitro* maturation with follicular fluid from goats stimulated by gonadotrophins. Proceeding of 14<sup>th</sup> Congress of Animal Reproduction. 18: 39. (abstract)

Cognie, Y., N. Poulin and P. Mermillo. 2002. Cysteamine improves in vitro goat oocyte maturation in defined medium. Proceedings of 18<sup>th</sup> Meeting AETE. pp. 154. (abstract) Cognié, Y., G. Baril, N. Poulin and P. Mermillod, 2003. Current status of embryo technologies in sheep and goat. Theriogenology. 59: 171-188.

Collas, P., J.J. Balise, G.A. Hofmann and J.M. Robl. 1989. Electrical activation of mouse oocytes. Theriogenology. 32(5): 835-844.

Collas, P. and J.M. Robl. 1990. Factors affecting the efficiency of nuclear transplantation in the rabbit embryo. Biology of Reproduction. 43(5): 877-884.

Collas, P., E.J. Sullivan and F.L. Barnes. 1993a. Histone H1 kinase activity in bovine oocytes following calcium stimulation. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 34: 224-231.

Collas, P., R. Fissore, J.M. Robl, E.J. Sullivan and F.L. Barnes. 1993b. Electrically induced calcium elevation, activation and parthenogenetic development of bovine oocytes. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 34: 212-223.

Colonna, R., C. Tatone, A. Malgaroli, F. Eusebi and F. Mangia. 1989. Effects of protein kinase C stimulation and free  $Ca^{2+}$  rise in mammalian egg activation. Gamete Research. 24: 171-183.

Combelles, C.M., N.A. Cekleniak, C. Racowsky, and D.F. Albertini. 2002. Assessment of nuclear and cytoplasmic maturation in *in vitro* matured human oocytes. Human Reproduction. 17: 1006-1016.

Conner, S.J., L. Lefievre, D.C. Hughes, and C.L. Barratt. 2005. Cracking the egg: increased complexity in the zona pellucida. Human Reproduction. 20: 1148-1152.

Coonrod, S.A., G. Foxworth, J.F. Flares Moreno, M. Westhusin, S.R. Byrd and D.C. Kramer. 1994. Birth of American red sheep lambs to domestic sheep following interspecific transfer of IVM-IVF derived embryos. Theriogenology. 41: 182. (abstract)

Corteel, J.M. and B. Leboeuf. 1990. Evolution technico-economique de l'insemination artificielle caprine. Elev. Insem. 237: 3-17.

Creed, J., T.G. McEvoy, J.J. Robinson, R.P. Aitken, R.M. Palmer and I.S Robertson. 1994. The effect of pre-ovulatory nutrition on the subsequent development of superovulated sheep in ova in an *in vitro* culture system. Animal Production. 58: 447. (abstract)

Crister, J.K., F.C. Gunsett and R.P. Winch. 1979. Factors affecting ova transfer in Limousin, Maine-anjou and Simmental cattle. Theriogenology. 11: 95. (abstract)

Crozet, N., V. De Smedt, M. Ahmed-Ali and C. Sevelec. 1993. Normal development following *in vitro* oocyte maturation and fertilization in the goat. Theriogenology. 39: 206. (abstract)

Crozet, N., M. Ahmed-Ali and M. P. Dubos. 1995. Developmental competence of goat oocytes from follicles of different size categories following maturation, fertilization and culture *in vitro*. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 103: 293-298.

Crozet, N., M. Dahirel and L. Gall. 2000. Meiotic competence of *in vitro* grown goat oocytes. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 118: 367-373.

Cuthbertson, K.S.R., D.G. Whittingham and P.H. Cobbold. 1981. Free Ca<sup>2+</sup> increases in exponential phases during mouse oocyte activation. Nature 294: 754-757.

Cuthbertson, K.S.R. and P.H. Cobbold. 1985. Phorbol ester and sperm activate mouse oocytes by inducing sustained oscillations in cell  $Ca^{2+}$ . Nature. 316: 541-2.

Damiani, P., R.A. Fissore, J.B. Cibelli, C.R. Long, J.J. Balise, J.M. Robl, *et al.* 1996. Evaluation of developmental competence, nuclear and ooplasmic maturation of calf oocytes. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 45: 521-534.

De, A.K., D. Malakar, M.K. Jena, R. Dutta, S. Garg and Y.S. Akshey. 2012. Zona-free and with-zona parthenogenetic embryo production in goat (*Capra hircus*) - effect of activation methods, culture systems and culture media. Livestock Science. 143: 35-42.

Deb, S.M. and S.L. Goswami. 1990. Cytogenic analysis of goat oocytes cultured *in vitro*. Italian Journal of Animal Science. 5: 137-143.

de La Fuente, R. and W.A. King. 1998. Developmental consequences of karyokinesis without cytokinesis during the first mitotic cell cycle of bovine parthenotes. Biology of Reproduction. 58: 952-962.

de Matos, D.G., D. Nogueira, R. Cortvrindt, C. Herrera, T. Adriaenssens, R.S. Pasqualini and J. Smitz. 2003. Capacity of adult and prepubertal mouse oocytes to undergo embryo development in the presence of cysteamine. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 64: 214-218.

De Smedt, V, N. Crozet, M. Ahmed Ali, A. Martino and Y. Cognié. 1992. *In vitro* maturation and fertilization of goat oocytes. Theriogenology. 37: 1049-1060.

De Smedt, V., N. Crozet and L. Gall. 1994. Morphological and functional changes accompanying the acquisition of meiotic competence of ovarian goat oocytes. Journal of Experimental Zoology. 269: 128-139.

De Sousa, P.A., J.R. Dobrinsky, J. Zhu, A.L. Archibald, A. Ainslie, W. Bosma, J. Bowering, J. Bracken, P.M. Ferrier, J. Fletcher, B. Gasparrini, L. Harkness, P. Johnston, M. Ritchie, W.A. Ritchie, A. Travers, D. Albertini, A. Dinnyes, T.J. King and I. Wilmut. 2002. Somatic cell nuclear transfer in the pig: control of pronuclear formation and

integration with improved methods for activation and maintenance of pregnancy. Biology of Reproduction. 66: 642-650.

De Wit, A.A.C. and T.A.M. Kruip. 2001. Bovine cumulus-oocyte-complex-quality is reflected in sensitivity of  $\alpha$ -amanitin, oocyt-diameter and developmental capacity. Animal Reproduction Science. 65: 51-65.

Deng, M.Q. and B.Q. Fan. 1994. Intracellular free calcium changes of mouse oocytes during activation induced by ethanol or electrical stimulations and parthenogenetic development. Journal of Experimental Biology. 27: 289-297.

Dieleman, S.J., T.A.M. Kruip, P. Fontijne, W.H.R. De Jong and G.C. Van der Weyden. 1983. Changes in oestradiol, progesterone and testosterone concentrations in follicular fluid and in the micromorphology of preovulatory bovine follicles relative to the peak of luteinizing hormone. Journal of Endocrinology. 97: 31-42.

Dobrinsky, J.R., L.A. Johnson and D. Rath. 1996. Development of a culture medium (BECM-3) for porcine embryos: effects of bovine serum albumin and fetal bovine serum on embryo development. Biology of Reproduction. 55: 1069-1074.

Dominko, T. and N.L. First. 1997. Timing of meiotic progression in bovine oocytes and its effect on early embryo development. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 47: 456-467.

Dominko, T., A. Chan, C. Simerly, C.M. Luetjens, L. Hewitson, C. Martinovich, *et al.* 2000. Dynamic imaging of the metaphase II spindle and maternal chromosomes in bovine oocytes: implications for enucleation efficiency verification, avoidance of parthenogenesis, and successful embryogenesis. Biology of Reproduction. 62(1): 150-154.

Donahue, R.P. 1972. The relationship of oocyte maturation to ovulation in mammals. *In* Oogenesis. J.D. Biggers and A.W. Schuetz. (*Eds.*). University Park Press, Baltimore. pp. 412-438.

Donaldson, L.E. 1984. The effect of the age of the donor cow on embryo production. Theriogenology. 21: 963-967.

Downs, S.M., S.A.J. Daniel and J.J. Eppig. 1988. Introduction of maturation in cumulus cell-enclosed mouse oocyte by follicle stimulating hormone and epidermal growth factor: Evidence for a positive stimulus of somatic cell origin. Journal of Experimental Zoology. 245: 86-96.

Drion, P.V., V. Furtoss, G. Baril, E. Manfredi, F. Bouvier and J.L. Pougnard. 2001. Four years of induction/synchronization of estrus in dairy goats: effect on the evolution of eCG binding rate in relation with the parameters of reproduction. Reproduction Nutrition Development. 41: 401-412.

Duby, R.T., P. Damiani, C.R. Looney, C.R. Long, J.J. Balise and J.M. Robl. 1995. Cytological characterization of maturation and fertilization in prepubertal calf oocytes. Theriogenology. 43: 202. (abstract) Ducibella, T. 1998a. Biochemical and cellular insights into the temporal window of normal fertilisation. Elsevier Science Inc. Theriogenology. 49: 53-65.

Ducibella, T. 1998b. The cortical reaction and development of activation competence in mammalian oocytes. Human Reproduction and Embryology. 2(1): 29-42.

Ducibella, T., D. Huneau, E. Angelichio, Z. Xu, R.M. Schultz, G.S. Kopf, R. Fissore, S. Madoux and J.P. Ozil. 2002. Egg-to-embryo transition is driven by the differential responses to  $Ca^{2+}$  oscillation number. Developmental Biology. 250: 280-291.

Eagle, H. 1955. Nutrition needs of mammalian cells in tissue culture. Science: 122(3168): 501-514.

Edgar, D.H., K.M. Whalley and J.A. Mills. 1987a. Effects of high-dose and multiple-dose gonadotrophin stimulation on mouse oocyte quality as assessed by preimplantation development following *in vitro* fertilisation. Journal of *In Vitro* Fertilisation and Embryo Transfer. 4(5): 273-276.

Edgar, D.H., K.M. Whalley and J.A. Mills. 1987b. Preimplantation development following *in vitro* fertilisation of mouse oocytes: Effects of timing of superovulation and preincubation *in vitro*. Journal of *In Vitro* Fertilisation and Embryo Transfer. 4(2): 111-115.

Edwards, R.G., E.D. Wilson and R.E. Fowler. 1963. Genetic and hormonal influences on ovulation and implantation in adult mice treated with gonadotrophins. Journal of Endocrinology. 26: 389-399.

Edwards, R.G. 1965. Maturation *in vitro* of mouse, sheep, cow, pig, rhesus monkey and human ovarian oocytes. Nature. 208: 349-351.

El-Gayar, M. and W. Holtz. 2001. Technical note: Vitrification of goat embryos by the open pulled-straw method. Journal of Animal Science. 79: 2436-2438.

Ellington, J.E., E.W. Carney, P.B. Farell, M.E. Simkin and RH. Foote. 1990. Bovine 1 to 2-cell embryo development using a simple medium in three oviduct epithelial cell coculture systems. Biology of Reproduction. 41: 268-276.

Elsheikh, A.S., Y. Takahashi, M. Nagano and H. Kanagawa. 2003. Manipulated mouse embryos as bioassay system for water quality control. Reproduction Domestic Animal. 38(3): 204-208.

Eppig, J.J. 1991. Intercommunication between mammalian oocytes and companion somatic cells. Bio Essays. 13: 569-574.

Erbach, G.T., J.A. Lawitts, V.E. Papaioannou and J.D. Biggers. 1994. Differential growth of the mouse preimplantation embryo in chemically defined media. Biology of Reproduction. 345: 1027-1033.

Eyestone, W.H. and H.A. de Boer. 1993. FSH enhances developmental potential of bovine oocytes matured in chemically defined medium. Theriogenology. 39: 216. (abstract)

Fahrudin, M., M.D. Varisanga, M. Murakami, T. Otoi, and T. Suzuki. 2000. Assessment of developmental competence nuclei from bovine parthenogenetic embryos. Journal of Reproduction and Development. 46(1): 51-56.

Fissore, R.A., C. Pinto-Correia and J.M. Robl. 1995. Inositol triphophateinduced  $Ca^{2+}$  release in the generation of calcium oscillations in bovine eggs. Biology of Reproduction. 53: 766-774.

Fissore, R. A., C.R. Long, R.P. Duncan and J.M. Robl. 1999. Initiation and organization of the first cell cycle in mammalians: Applications in cloning. Cloning. 1: 89-100.

Fissore, R. A., J. Smyth, M. Kurokawa and P. Collas. 2002a. Activation of mammalian oocytes *In* Principle of Cloning. Elsevier Science. pp. 21-45.

Fissore, R.A., M. Kurokawa, J. Knott, M. Zhang and J. Smyth. 2002b. Mechanisms underlying oocyte activation and postovulatory ageing. Reproduction. 124: 745-754.

Florman, H.M. and T. Ducibella. 2006. Fertilisation in mammals. *In* Physiology of Reproduction. *(Eds.)* Knobil and Neill"s. pp. 55-112.

Fonseca, J.F., J.H. Bruschi, I.C.C. Santos, J.H.M. Viana and A.C.M. Magalhaes. 2005. Induction of estrus in non-lactating dairy goats with different estrous synchrony protocols. Animal Reproduction Science. 85: 117-124.

Fowler, R.E. and R.G. Edwards. 1957. Induction of superovulation and pregnancy in mature mice by gonadotrophins. Journal Endocrinology. 15: 374-348.

Freitas, V.J.F., G. Baril and J. Saumande. 1997. Estrus synchronization in dairy goats: use of fluorogestone acetate vaginal sponges or norgestomet ear implants. Animal Reproduction Science. 46: 237-244.

Fukuda, A., Y. Noda, S. Tsukui, H. Matsumoto, J. Yano and T. Mori. 1987. Influence of water quality on *in vitro* fertilisation and embryo development for the mouse. Journal *In Vitro* Fertilisation Embryo Transfer. 4(1): 40-45.

Fukui, Y., A.M.M. Glew and R.M. Moor. 1988. *In vitro* culture of sheep oocytes matured and fertilized *in vitro*. Theriogenology. 29: 883-891.

Fukui, Y., K. Sawai, M. Furudate, N. Sato, Y. Iwazumi and K. Ohsaki. 1992. Parthenogenetic development of bovine oocytes treated with ethanol and cytochalasin B after *in vitro* maturation. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 33: 357-362.

Fulka, J., R.M. Moor and J. Fulka, J. 1994. Sister-chromatid separation and the metaphaseanaphase transition in mouse oocytes. Developmental Biology. 165: 410-417. Gall, L., V. De Smedt, N. crozet, D. Ruffini and C. Sevellec. 1996. Meiotically incompetent and competent goat oocytes: Timing of nuclear events and protein phosphorylation. Theriogenology. 46: 825-835.

Galli, C., G. Crotti, C. Notari, P. Turini, R. Duchi and G. Lazzari. 2001. Embryo production by ovum pick up from live donors. Theriogenology. 55: 1341-1357.

Galli C., I. Vassiliev, I. Lagutina, A. Galli and G. Lazzari. 2003. Bovine embryo development following ICSI: effect of activation, sperm capacitation and pre-treatment with dithiothreitol. Theriogenology . 60: 1467-1480.

Gandolfi, F., E. Milanesi, P. Pocar, A.M. Luciano, T.A.L. Brevini, F. Acocella, *et al.* 1988. Comparative analysis of calf and cow oocytes during *in vitro* maturation. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 49: 168-175.

Gapco, D.G. 1996. Specialisation in cytoskeletal function during early development. The Cytoskeleton. 2: 59-112.

Gardener, D.K. 1994. Mammalian embryo culture in the absence of serum or somatic cell support. Cell Biology International. 18: 1163-1179.

Gardner, D.K., M. Lane, A. Spitzer and P.A. Batt. 1994. Enhanced rates of cleavage and development for sheep zygotes cultured to the blastocyst stage *in vitro* in the absence of serum and somatic cells: amino acids, vitamins, and culturing embryos in groups stimulate development. Biology of Reproduction. 50: 390-400.

Gasparrini, B., L. Boccia, A.D. Rosa, R.D. Palo, G. Campanile and L. Zicarelli. 2004. Chemical activation of buffalo (*Bubalus bubalis*) oocytes by different methods: effects of aging on post-parthenogenetic development. Theriogenology. 62: 1627-1637.

Gates, A.H. and J.L. Bozarth. 1978. Ovulation in the PMSG-treated immature mouse: Effect of dose, age, weight, puberty, season and strain (BALB/c, 129 and C129 F1 hybrid). Biology of Reproduction. 18: 407-505.

Ginther, O.J., M.A. Beg, F.X. Donadeu and D.R. Bergfelt. 2003. Mechanism of follicle deviation in monovular farm species. Animal Reproduction Science. 78: 239-257.

Gliedt D.W., C.F. Rosenkrans Jr., R.W. Rorie, A.L. Munyon, J.N. Peirson, G.F. Miller and J.M. Rakes. 1996. Effect of media, serum, oviductal cells and hormones during maturation on bovine embryo development *in vitro*. Journal of Diary Science. 79: 536-542.

Gonzalez-Bulnes, A., J.A. Carrizosa, C. Diaz-Delfa, R.M. Garcia-Garcia, B. Urrutia, J. Santiago-Moreno, M.J. Cocero and A. Lopez-Sebastian. 2003a. Effects of ovarian follicular status on superovulatory response of dairy goats to FSH treatment. Small Ruminant Research. 48: 9-14.

Gonzalez-Bulnes, A., R.M. Garcia-Garcia, J. Santiago-Moreno, V. Dominguez, A. Lopez-Sebastian, and M.J. Cocero. 2003b. Reproductive season affects inhibitory effects from

large follicles on the response to super-ovulatory FSH treatments in ewes. Theriogenology. 60: 281-288.

Gonzalez-Bulnes, A., D.T. Baird, B.K. Campbell, M.J. Cocero, R.M. Garcia-Garcia, E.K. Inskeep, A. Lopez-Sebastian, A.S. McNeilly, J. Santiago-Moreno, C.J.H. Souza and A. Veiga-Lopez. 2004. Multiple factors affecting the efficiency of multiple ovulation and embryo transfer in sheep and goats. Reproduction, Fertility and Development. 16: 421-435.

Gordo, A.C., H. Wu., C.L. He and R.A. Fissore. 2000. Injection of sperm cytosolic factor into mouse metaphase II oocytes induces different developmental fates according to the frequency of  $[(Ca^{2+})_i]$  oscillations and oocyte age. Biology of Reproduction. 62: 1370-1379.

Goud, P.T., A.P. Goud, C. Qian, H. Laverge, J. Van Der Elst, P. De Sutter and M. Dhont. 1998. *In vitro* maturation of human germinal vesicle stage oocytes: Role of cumulus cells and epidermal growth factor in the culture medium. Human Reproduction. 13: 1638-1644.

Goulding, D., D.H. Williams, J.F. Rochle and M.P. Boland. 1996. Factors affecting superovulation in heifers treated with PMSG. Theriogenology. 45: 765-773.

Grabiec, A., A. Max and M. Tischner. 2007. Parthenogenetic activation of domestic cat oocytes using ethanol, calcium ionophore, cyclohexamide and magnetic field. Theriogenology. 67: 795-800.

Graff, K.J., M. Meintjes, V.W. Dyer, J.B. Paul, R.S. Denniston, C.A. Ziomek and R.A. Godke. 1999. Transvaginal ultrasound-guided oocyte retrieval following FSH stimulation of domestic goats. Theriogenology. 51: 1099-1119.

Graham, C. F. 1970. Parthenogenetic mouse blastocysts. Nature. 226: 165-167.

Greve, T., H. Callesen, P. Hyttel, R. Hoier and R. Assey. 1995. The effects of exogenous gonadotrophins on oocyte and embryo quality in cattle. Theriogenology. 43: 41-50.

Greyling, J.P. and C.H. Van Niekerk. 1986. Synchronization of oestrus in the Boer goat does: Dose effect of prostaglandin in the double injection regime. South African Society for Animal Science. 16: 146-150.

Guler, A., N. Poulin, P. Mermillod, M. Terqui and Y. Cognie. 2000. Effect of growth factors. EGF and IGF-I, and estradiol on *in vitro* maturation of sheep oocytes. Theriogenology. 54: 209-218.

Gupta, V. R.S. Manik, M.S. Chauhan, S.K. Singla, Y.S. Akshey and P. Palta. 2006. Repeated ultrasound-guided transvaginal oocyte retrieval from cyclic Murrah Buffaloes (*Bubalis bubalis*): Oocyte recovery and quality. Animal Reproduction Science. 91: 89-96.

Habsah, B. 1996. Studies of some factors affecting meiotic resumption *in vitro* in bovine oocytes. M.Sc. Dissertation. University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur.

Hafez, B. and E.S.E. Hafez (*Eds.*). 2000. Reproduction in Farm Animals. 7<sup>th</sup> edition. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. United State of America.

Hagemann, L.J., F.L. Hillery-Weinhold, M.L. Leibfried Rutledge and N.L. First. 1995. Activation of murine oocytes with  $Ca^{2+}$  ionophore and cycloheximide. Journal of Experimental Zoology. 271: 57-61.

Hagemann, L.J., S.E. Beaumont, M.Berg, M.J. Donnison, A. Ledgard, A.J. Peterson, A. Schurmann and H.R. Tervit. 1999. Development during single IVP of bovine oocytes from dissected follicles: interactive effects of estrous cycle stage, follicle size and atresia. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 53: 451-458.

Han, Z.B., G.C. Lan, Y.G. Wu, D. Han, W.G. Feng, J.Z. Wang and J.H. Tan. 2006. Interactive effects of granulose cell apoptosis, follicle size, sumulus-oocyte complex morphology and cumulus expansion on the developmental competence of goat oocytes: A study using the well-in-drop culture system. Reproduction. 132: 749-758.

Hannoun, A., G., Ghazir, A., Abu Musa, T.G., Zreik, F., Hajameh and J., Awwad. 2010. Addition of sphingosine-1-phosphate to human oocyte culture medium decreases embryo fragmentation. Reproductive Biomedical Online. 3: 24-238.

Hashimoto, S., K. Saeki, Y. Nagano, N. Minami, M. Umada and K.Utusmi. 1998. Effect of cumulus cells density during *in vitro* maturation on the developmental competence of bovine oocytes. Theriogenology. 49: 1415-1463.

Hashlamoun, L.A. and G.J. Killian. 1985. Effects of timing of ovum recovery, cumulus cells, sperm preincubation time and pH on *in vitro* fertilisation in C57BL/6 mice. Archive of Andrology. 15: 159-171.

Hasler, J.F. 1992. Current status and potential of embryo transfer and reproductive technology in dairy cattle. Journal of Dairy Science. 75: 2857-2879.

Hayes, E., S. Galea, A. Verkuylen, M. Pera, J. Morrison, O. Lacham-Kaplan and A. Trounson. 2001. Nuclear transfer of adult and genetically modified fetal cells of the rat. Physiological Genomics. 5: 193-204.

Heindryckx, B., D.G. Stefanies, G. Jan, D. Marc and D.S. Petra. 2008. Efficiency of assisted oocyte activation as a solution for failed intacytoplasmic sperm injection. Reproductive Biomedicine Online. 17(5): 662-668.

Hendriksen, P.J.M., P.L.A.M. Vos, W.N.M. Steenweg, M.M. Bevers and S.J. Dieleman. 2000. Bovine follicular development and its effect on the in vitro competence of oocytes. Theriogenology. 53: 11-20.

Herve, V., F. Roy, J. Bertin, F. Guillou and M.C. Maurel. 2004. Antiequine chorionic gonadotropin (eCG) antibodies generated in goats treated with eCG for the induction of ovulation modulate the luteinizing hormone and follicle-stimulating hormone bioactivities of eCG differently. Endocrine. 154: 294-303.

Heytens, E., R. Soleimani and P.D. Sutter. 2008. Oocyte activation: the impact of calcium signals on fertilisation. Iranian Journal of Reproductive Medicine. 6(4): 171-174.

Hiller, S.G., A.K.S. Siddiquey and R.M.L. Winston. 1985. Fertilization *in vitro* of cumulus enclosed mouse oocytes: effect of timing of the ovulatory hCG injection. International Journal of Fertility. 30: 34-38.

Hogan, B., F. Constantini and E. Lacy. 1986. Manipulating the mouse embryos. A Laboratory Manual. 1<sup>st</sup> edition. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory. USA.

Hogan, B.L., R. Beddington, F. Constantini and E. Lacy. 1994. Manipulating the Mouse Embryo. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Plainview, New York.

Holness, D.H.M, D.H. Hale and C.T. McCable. 1980. Ovarian response to pregnant mare serum gonadotrophin and prostaglandin F2 in Africander and Meshona Cows. Theriogenology. 14: 375-381.

Holtz, W., B. Sohnrey, M. Gerland and M.A. Driancourt. 2008. Ovsynch synchronization and fixed-time insemination in goats. Theriogenology. 69: 785-792.

Hoque, S.A.M., S.K. Kabiraj, M.A.M. Khandoker, A. Mondal and K.M.A. Tareq. 2011. Effect of collection techniques on cumulus oocyte complexes (COCs) recovery, *in vitro* maturation and fertilization of goat oocytes. African Journal of Biotechnology. 10(45): 9177-9181.

Hoshi, K., K. Yanagida, H. Yazawa, H. Katayose and A. Sato. 1995. Intracytoplasmic sperm injection using immobilised or motile human spermatozoon. Fertility and Sterility. 63(6): 1241-1245.

Hosseini, S.M., M. Hajian, F. Moulavi, A.H. Shahverdi and M.H. Nasr-Esfahani. 2008. Optimized combined electrical-chemical parthenogenetic activation for *in vitro* matured bovine oocytes. Animal Reproduction Science. 108: 122-133.

Hoth, M. and R. Penner. 1992. Depletion of intracellular calcium stores activates a calcium current in mast cells. Nature. 355: 353-355.

Hao, Y., L. Lai, J. Mao, G.S. Im, A. Bonk and R.S. Prather. 2004. Apoptosis in parthenogenetic preimplantation porcine embryos. Biology of Reproduction. 70: 1644-1649.

Hou, Y.P., Y. Liu, Y.P. Dai, R. Li, W.Q. Shi, H.P. Wang, L.I. Wang, N. Li and S.E. Zhu. 2009. Improved parthenogenetic development of vitrified-warmed bovine oocytes activated with 9% ethanol plus 6-DMAP. Theriogenology. 72: 643-649.

Hunter, R.H.F. 1989. Aging of the unfertilized cow egg *in vivo*: how soon is fertility comprised. The Veterinary Record. 124: 489-490.

Hunter, R.H.F. and T. Greve. 1997. Could artificial insemination of cattle be more fruitful? Penalties associated with aging eggs. Reproduction in Domestic Animals. 32: 137-142.

Hyttel, P., H. Callesen and T. Greve. 1988. Ultrastructure of *in vivo* fertilization in superovulated cattle. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 82: 1-13.

Hyttel, P., T. Fair, H. Callesen and T. Greve. 1997. Oocyte growth, capacitation and final maturation in cattle. Theriogenology. 47: 23-32.

Ikuta, Y., N. Katayama, L. Wang, T. Okugawa, Y. Takahashi, M. Schmitt, X. Gu, M. Watanabe, K. Akiyoshi, H. Nakamura, K. Kuribayashi, J. Sunamoto and H. Shiku. 2002. Presentation of a major histocompatibility complex class 1-binding peptide by monocytederived dendritic cells incorporating hydrophobized polysaccharide–truncated HER2 protein complex: implications for a polyvalent immuno-cell therapy. Blood. 99(10): 3717-3724.

Inoue, A. R. Nakajiman, M. Nagata, and F. Aoki. 2008. Contribution of the oocytes nucleus and cytoplasm to the determination of meiotic and developmental competence in mice. Human Reproduction. 23: 1377-1384.

Ireland, J.J. and J.F. Roche. 1982. Development of antral follicles in cattle after prostaglandin induced luteolysis. Changes in serum hormones, steroid in follicular fluid and gonadotrophin receptors. Endocrinology. 111: 2077-2086.

Iwamatsu, T. and M.C. Chang. 1971. Factors involved in the fertilisation of mouse eggs *in vitro*. Journal of Reproducion and Fertility. 26: 197-208.

Iwamatsu, T. 1992. Egg activation. The Fish Biology Journal Medaka. 4: 1-9.

Izquierdo, D., P. Villamediana, M. Lopez-Bejar and M.T. Paramio. 2002. Effect of *in vitro* and *in vivo* culture on embryo development from prepubertal goat IVM-IVF oocytes. Theriogenology. 57: 1431-1441.

Jaffe, L.A., A.F. Giusti, D.J. Carroll and K.R. Foltz. 2001. Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling during fertilization in echinoderm eggs. Cell and Developmental Biology. 12: 45-51.

Jellerette, T., D. Melican, R. Butler, S. Nims, C. Ziomek, R. Fissore and W. Gavin. 2006. Characterization of calcium oscillation patterns in caprine oocytes induced by IVF or an activation technique used in nuclear transfer. Theriogenology. 65: 1575-1586.

Jena, M.K., D. Malakar, A.K. De, S. Garg, Y.S. Akshey, R. Dutta, S. Sahu, A.K. Mohanty and J.K. Kaushik. 2012. Handmade cloned and parthenogenetic goat embryos - a comparison of different culture media and donor cells. Small Ruminant Research. 105: 255-262.

Jewgenow, K., B. Heerdegen and K. Muller. 1999. In vitro development of individually matured bovine oocytes in relation to follicular atresia. Theriogenelogy. 51: 745-756.

Jiang, J.Y., S. Mizuno, E. Mizutani, H. Sasada and E. Sato. 2002. Parthenogenetic activation and subsequent development of rat oocytes *in vitro*. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 61: 120-125.

Jilek, F., R. Huttelova, J. Petr, M. Holubova and J. Rozinek. 2000. Activation of pig oocytes using calcium ionophore: effect of protein synthesis inhibitor cycloheximide. Animal Reproduction Science. 63: 101-111.

Jimenez-Macedo, A.R., D. Izquierdo, B. Anguita and M.T. Paramio. 2005. Comparison between intracytoplasmic sperm injection and *in vitro* fertilisation employing oocytes derived from prepubertal goats. Theriogenology. 64: 1249-1262.

Jimenez-Macedo, A.R., M.T. Paramio, B. Anguita, R. Morato, R. Romaguera, T. Mogas and D. Izquierdo. 2007. Effect of ICSI and embryo biopsy on mbryo development and apoptosis according to oocytes diameter in prepubertal goats. Theriogenology. 67: 1399-1408.

Johnson, J., B.M. Bierle, G.I. Gallicano and D.G. Capco. 1998. Calcium/calmodulindependent protein kinase II and calmodulin: regulators of the meiotic spindle in mouse eggs. Developmental Biology. 204: 464-477.

Jones, K.T., J. Caroll and D.G. Whittingham.1995a. Ionomycin, thapsigargin, ryanodine and sperm-induced  $Ca^{2+}$  release increase during meiotic maturation of mouse oocytes. Journal of Biological Chemistry. 270: 6671-6677.

Jones, K.T., J. Carroll, J.A. Merriman, D.G. Whittingham and T. Kono. 1995b. Repetitive sperm-induced  $Ca^{2+}$  transients in mouse oocytes are cell cycle dependent. Development. 121: 3259-3266.

Jones, K.T. and D.G. Whittingham. 1996. A comparison of sperm- and IP3-induced Ca<sup>2+</sup> release in activated and aging oocytes. Developmental Biology. 178: 229-237.

Jones, K.T., C. Soeller and M.B. Cannell. 1998. The passage of  $Ca^{2+}$  and fluorescent markers between the sperm and egg after fusion in the mouse. Development. 125: 4627-4635.

Joshi, H.C. 1998. Microtubule dynamics in living cells. Current Opinion in Cell Biology. 10: 35-44.

Ju, J.Y., C.Y. Park, M.K. Gupta, S.J. Uhm, E.C. Paik, Z.Y. Ryoo, Y.H. Cho, K.L. Chung and H.T. Lee. 2008. Establishment of stem cell lines from nuclear transferred and parthenogenetically activated mouse oocytes for therapeutic cloning. Fertility and Sterility. 89(5): 1314-1323.

Kajihara, Y., E.G. Blakewood, W.W Myers, N. Kometani, K. Gotto and R.A. Godke. 1991. *In vitro* maturation and fertilization of follicular oocytes obtained from calves. Theriogenology. 35: 220. (abstract)

Katayose, H, K. Yanagida, T. Shinoki, T. Kawahara, T. Horiuchi and A. Sato. 1999. Efficient injection of bull spermatozoa into oocytes using a piezo-driven pipette. Theriogenology. 52: 1215-1224.

Kato, M., M. Hirabayashi, T. Aoto, K. Ito, M. Ueda and S. Hochi. 2001. Strontiuminduced activation regimen for rat oocytes in somatic cell nuclear transplantation. Journal of Reproduction and Development. 47: 407-13.

Kato, Y. and Y. Tsunoda. 1994. Effects of culture density of mouse zygotes on the development *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Theriogenology. 41: 1315-1322.

Katska, L. And Z. Smorg. 1984. Number and quality of oocytes in relation to age of cattle. Animal Reproduction Science. 72: 624-635.

Katska-Ksiazkiewicz, L., J. Opiela and B. Rynska. 2007. Effect of oocyte quality, semen donor and embryo co-culture system in the efficiency of blastocyst production in goats. Theriogenology. 62: 576-586.

Kaufman, M. H. 1973. Parthenogenesis in the mouse. Nature. 242: 475-476.

Kaufman, M.H. 1975. Parthenogenetic activation of mouse oocytes following avertin anaesthesia. Journal Embryology and Experimental and Morphology. 33(4): 941-946.

Kaufman, M.H. and L. Sachs. 1976. Complete preimplantation development in culture of parthenogenetic mouse embryos. Journal of Embryology and Experimental Morphology. 35: 179-190.

Kawamura, T. 1939. Artificial parthenogenesis in the frog. I. Chromosome numbers and their relation to cleavage histories. Journal of Science of the Hiroshima University. 6: 115-218.

Keefer, C.L., H. Baldassarre, R. Keyston, B. Wang, B. Bhatia, A.S. Bilodeau, J.F. Zhou, M. Leduc, B.R. Downey, A. Lazaris and C.N. Karatzas. 2001. Generation of dwarf goat (*Capra hircus*) clones following nuclear transfer with transfected and nontransfected fetal fibroblasts and *in vitro*-matured oocytes. Biology of Reproduction. 64: 849-856.

Keefer, C.L., R. Keyston, A. Lazaris, B. Bhatia, I. Begin, A.S. Bilodeau, F.J. Zhou, N. Kafidi, B. Wang, H. Baldassarre and C.N. Karatzas. 2002. Production of cloned goats after nuclear transfer using adult somatic cells. Biology of Reproduction. 66: 199-203.

Keskintepe, L., G.M. Darwish, A.T. Kenimer and B.G. Brackett BG. 1994. Term development of caprine embryos derived from immature oocytes *in vitro*. Theriogenology. 42: 527-535.

Kharche, S.D., P. Goel, B.K. Jha, A.K. Goel and S.K. Jindal. 2011. Factors influencing *invitro* embryo production efficiency of caprine oocytes: a review. Indian Journal of Animal Science. 81(4): 344-361.

Kharche, S.D., A.K. Goel, S.K. Jindal, B.K. Jha and P. Goel. 2012. Assessment of parthenogenetic embryo production by activation of *in vitro* matured caprine oocytes with different concentrations of ethanol. Small Ruminant Research. *Article in Press*.

Khatir, H., P. Lonnergan, C. Carolan and P. Mermillod. 1996. Prepubertal bovine oocyte: a negative model for studying oocyte developmental competence. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 45: 231-239.

Khurana, N.K. and H. Niemann. 2000. Effects of oocyte quality, oxygen tension, embryo density, cumulus cells and energy substrates on cleavage and morula-blastocyst formation of bovine embryos. Theriogenelogy. 54: 741-766.

Kikuchi, K., Y. Izaike, J. Noguchi, T. Furukawa, F.P. Daen, K. Niato, *et al.* 1995. Decrease of histone H1 kinase activity in relation to parthenogenetic activation of pig follicular oocytes matured and aged *in vitro*. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 105: 325-330.

Kikuchi, K., A. Onishi, N. Kashiwazaki, M. Iwamoto, J. Noguchi, H. Kaneko, T. Akita and T. Nagai. 2002. Successful piglet production after transfer of blastocysts produced by a modified *in vitro* system. Biology of Reproduction. 66: 1033-1041.

Kim, J.H., K. Niwa, J.M. Lim and K. Okuda. 1993. Glucose requirements at different developmental stages of *in vitro* fertilised bovine embryos cultured in semi-defined medium. Theriogenology. 39: 875-886.

Kim, N.H., S.J. Moon, R.S. Prather and B.N. Day. 1996. Cytoskeletal alteration in aged porcine oocytes and parthenogenesis. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 43(4): 513-518.

Kim, N.H., S.J. Uhm, J.Y. Ju H.T. Lee and K.S. Chung. 1997. Blastocoel formation and cell allocation to the inner cell mass and trophectoderm in haploid and diploid pig parthenotes developing in vitro. Zygote. 5: 365-370.

Kimura, Y. and R. Yanagimachi. 1995. Intracytoplasmic sperm injection in the mouse. Biology of Reproduction. 52: 709-720.

Kishigami, S. and T. Wakayama. 2007. Efficient strontium-induced activation of mouse oocytes in standard culture media be chelating calcium. Journal of Reproduction and Development. 53(6): 1207-1215.

Kishikawa, H., T. Wakayama and R. Yanagimachi. 1999. Comparison of oocyte-activating agents for mouse cloning. Cloning. 1(3): 153.

Kite, S., A. Iritani and B.D. Bavister. 1997. Effects of volume, culture media and type of culture dish on *in vitro* development of hamster 1-cell embryos Theriogenology. 47: 541-548.

Kline, D. and J.T. Kline. 1992. Repetitive calcium transients and the role of calcium in exocytosis and cell cycle activation in the mouse egg. Developmental Biology. 149: 80-89.

Kline, D. 1996. Activation of the mouse egg. Theriogenology. 45: 81-90.

Koh, C.J., D.M. Delo, J.W. Lee, M.M. Siddiqui, R.P. Lanza, S. Soker, J.J. Yoo, and A. Atala. 2008. Parthenogenesis-derived multipotent stem cells adapted for tissue engineering applications. Methods. 47(2): 90-97.

Kojima, N., T.T. Stumpf. A.S. Cupp, L.A. Werth, M.S. Roberson, M.W. Wolfe, R.J. Kittok and J.E. Kinder. 1992. Progestins and exogenous progesterone do not mimic the corpus luteum in regulation in LH and  $17\beta$ -estradiol in circulation of cows. Biology of Reproduction. 47: 1009. (abstract)

Komar, A. 1973. Parthenogenetic development of mouse eggs activated by heat-shock. Reproduction, Fertility and Development. 35: 433-443.

Kong, S.C. 2010. *In vitro* production of caprine embryos through intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) technique. M.Sc. Dissertation. University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur.

Kono, T., Y. Obata, Q. Wu, K. Niwa, Y. Ono, Y. Yamamoto *et al.* 2004. Birth of parthenogenetic mice that can develop to adulthood. Nature. 428: 860-864.

Krisher, R.L., M. Lane and B.D. Bavister. 1999. Developmental competence and metabolism of bovine embryos cultured in semi-defined and defined culture media. Biology of Reproduction. 60: 1345-1352.

Krivokharchenko, A., E. Popova, I. Zaitseva, L. Vil"ianovich, D. Ganten and M. Bader. 2003. Development of parthenogenetic rat embryos. Biology of Reproduction. 68: 829-836.

Kubiak, J.Z. 1989. Mouse oocytes gradually develop the capacity for activation during the metaphase II arrest. Developmental Biology. 136(2): 537-545.

Kwong, P.J., R.B. Abdullah and W.E. Wan Khadijah. 2012. Increasing glucose in KSOMaa basal medium on culture Day 2 improves *in vitro* development of cloned caprine blastocysts produced via intraspecies and interspecies somatic cell nuclear transfer. Theriogenology. 78: 921-929.

Lan, G.C., D. Han, Y.G. Wu, Z.B. Han, S.F. Ma, X.Y. Liu, C.L. Chang and J.H. Tan. 2005. Effects of duration, concentration, and timing of ionomycin and 6-dimethylaminopurine (6-DMAP) treatment on activation of goat oocytes. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 71(3): 380. (abstract)

Landa, V. and V. Kopeeny. 1995. DNA synthesis and distribution in parthenogenetic bovine embryos. Theriogenology. 43: 871-881.

Lane, M. and D.K. Gardner. 1992. Effect of incubation volume and embryo density on the development and viability of mouse embryos *in vitro*. Human Reproduction. 7: 558-562.

Latham, K.E., H. Akutsu, B. Patel and R. Yanagimachi. 2002. Comparison of gene expression during preimplantation development between diploid and haploid mouse embryos. Journal Biology of Reproduction. 67: 386-392.

Lawitts, J.A. and J.D. Biggers. 1991. Overcoming the 2-cell block by modifying standard components in a mouse embryo culture medium. Biology of Reproduction. 45: 245-251. Lawitts, J.A and J.D. Biggers. 1993. Culture of preimplantation embryos. Methods in Enzymology. 255: 153-164.

Lawrence, Y., M. Whitaker and K. Swann. 1997. Sperm-oocyte fusion is the prelude to the initial  $Ca^{2+}$  increase at fertilization in the mouse. Development. 124: 223-241.

Lazzari, G., C. Galli and R.M. Moor. 1994. Functional changes in the somatic and germinal compartments during follicle growth in pigs. Animal Reproduction Science. 35: 119-130.

Leal, C.L. and Liu, L., 1998. Differential effects of kinase inhibitor and electrical stimulus on activation and histone H1 kinase activity in pig oocytes. Animal Reproduction Science. 30: 51-61.

Leboeuf, B., Y. Forgerit, D. Bernelas, J.L. Pougnard, E. Senty and M.A. Driancourt. 2003. Efficacy of two types of vaginal sponges to control onset of oestrus, time of preovulatory LH peak and kidding rate in goats inseminated with variable numbers of spermatozoa. Theriogenology. 60: 1371-1378.

Lechniak, D., D. Cieslak and J. Sosnowski. 1998. Cytogenetic analysis of bovine parthenotes after spontaneous activation in vitro. Theriogenology. 49: 779-785.

Lechniak, D., D. Kaczmarek, D. Stanisawski and T. Adamowicz. 2002. The ploidy of *in vitro* matured bovine oocyte. Theriogenology. 57: 1303-1308.

Lee, S.H., T.H. Ko, P. Monaghan, P. Lonergan, M. Gallagher and I. Gorden. 1992. Successful *in vitro* development of ethanol activated bovine oocytes to the blastocyst stage following *in vitro* maturation. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 9: 56. (abstract)

Lee, S.R., J.W. Kim, B.S. Kim, M.O. Kim, S.H. Kim, D.H. Yoo, M.J. Shin, S.L., Y.S. Park, Y.B. Park, J.H. Ha and Z.Y. Ryoo. 2007. The parthenogenetic activation of canine oocytes with Ca-EDTA by various culture periods and concentrations. Theriogenology. 67: 698-703.

Lee, T.H. and M.W. Kirschner. 1996. An inhibitor of p34cdc2/cyclin B that regulates the G2.M transition in *Xenopus* extract. Cell Biology. 93: 325-356.

Leeuwenhoek, A. 1690. The select works of Antony van Leeuwenhoek: containing his microscopical discoveries in many of the works of nature. Hoole S. *(Ed.)*. G. Sidney, London.

Lehtonen, E. and R. Kankondi. 1987. Rate of gonadotrophin-induced abnormalities in mouse ova is related to the site of hormone administration. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 80: 613-617.

Lenz, R.W., G.D. Ball, M.L. Leibfried, R.L. Ax and N.L. First. 1983. *In vitro* maturation and fertilisation of bovine oocytes are temperature-dependent processes. Biology of Reproduction. 29: 173-179.

Lerner, S.P., W.V. Thayne, B.D. Baker, T. Henschen, S. Meredith, E.K. Inskeep, R.A. Daily, P.A. Lewis and R.L. Butcher. 1986. Age, dose of FSH and other factors affecting superovulation in Holstein cows. Journal of Animal Science. 63: 176-183.

Leyva, V., B.C. Buckrell and J.S. Walton. 1998. Regulation of follicular activity and ovulation in ewes by exogenous progestagen. Theriogenology. 50: 395-416.

Lim, J.M., B.C. Reggio, R.A. Godke and W. Hansel. 1999. Development of *in vitro* derived bovine embryos cultured in 5%  $CO_2$  in air or in 5%  $O_2$ , 5%  $CO_2$  and 90%  $N_2$ . Human Reproduction. 14: 458-464.

Liu, C.T., C.H. Chen, S.P. Cheng and J.Y. Ju. 2002a. Parthenogenesis of rabbit oocytes activated by different stimuli. Animal Reproduction Science. 70: 267-276.

Liu, L., J.R. Trimarchi and D.L. Keefe. 2002b. Haploidy but not parthenogenetic activation leads to increased incidence of apoptosis in mouse embryos. Biology of Reproduction. 66: 204-210.

Liu, G., Y. Kato and Y. Tsunoda. 2007. Aging of recipient oocytes reduces the development of cloned embryos receiving cumulus cells. Journal of Reproduction and Development. 53(4): 785-790.

Liu, H., B. Hehai and F. Wang. 1997. Parthenogenetic activation of mouse oocytes by 6dimethylaminopurine.Theriogenology. 47: 208. (abstract)

Liu, L., J.C. Ju and X. Yang. 1998a. Differential inactivation of maturation-promoting factor and mitogen activated protein kinase following parthenogenetic activation of bovine oocytes. Biology of Reproduction. 59(3): 537-545.

Liu, L., J.C. Ju and X. Yang. 1998b. Parthenogenetic development and protein patterns of newly matured bovine oocytes after chemical activation. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 49(3): 298-307.

Liu, S., H.L. Feng, D. Marchesi, Z.J. Chen and A. Hershlag. 2010. Effect of gonadotrophins on dynamic events and global deoxyribonucleic acid methylation during *in vitro* maturation of oocytes: an animal model. Fertility and Sterility. pp. 1-7.

Loeb, J. 1913. Artificial Parthenogenesis and Fertilisation. The University of Chicago Press. Chicago, Illinois, USA.

Loeb, J. 1989. On the nature of the process of fertilization and the artificial production of normal larvae (plutei) from the unfertilized eggs of sea urchins. The American Journal of Physiology. 3: 135-138.

Loi, P., S. Ledda, J. Fulka Jr., P. Cappai and R.M. Moor. 1998. Development of parthenogenetic and cloned ovine embryos: effect of activation protocols. Biology of Reproduction. 58: 1177-1187.

Lonergan, P., P. Monagham, D. Rizos, M.P. Boland and L. Gordon. 1994. Effect of follicle size if bovine oocyte quality and developmental competence following maturation, fertilisation and culture *in vitro*. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 37: 48-53.

Lonergan, P., H. Khatir, C. Carolan and P.Mermillod. 1997. Bovine blastocyst production *in vitro* after inhibition of oocyte meiotic resumption for 24 h. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 109: 355-365.

Lonergan, P., A. Gutierrez-Adan, B. Pintado, T. Fair, F. Ward, J.D. Fuente and M. Boland. 2000. Relationship between time of first cleavage and the expression of IGF-I growth factor, its receptor, and two housekeeping genes in bovine two-cell embryos and blastocysts produced in vitro. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 57: 146-152.

Looney, C.R., P. Damiani, B.R. Lindsey, C.R. Long, C.L. Gonseth, D.L. Johnson, *et al.* 1995. Use of prepubertal heifers as oocyte donors for IVF: effect of age and gonadotrophin treatment. Theriogenology. 43: 269. (abstract)

Lorca, T., F.H. Cruzalegui, D. Fesquest, J.C. Cavadore, J. Mery, A. Means and M. Doree. 1993. Calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II mediates inactivation of MPF and CSF upon fertilization of *Xenopus* eggs. Nature. 366: 270-273.

Loutradis, D., P. Drakakis, K. Kallianidis, N. Sofikitis, G. Kallipolitis, S. Milingos, N. Makris and S. Michalas. 2006. Biological Factors in Culture media affecting *in* vitro fertilisation preimplantation embryo development and implantation. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 900: 325-335.

Lu, K.H., I. Gordon I, M. Gallagher and H. McGovern. 1987. Pregnancy established in cattle by transfer of embryos derived from *in vitro* fertilization of oocytes matured *in vitro*. Veterinary Report. 121: 259-260.

Ma, S.F., X.Y. Liu, D.Q. Miao, Z.B. Han, X. Zhang, Y.L. Miao, R. Yanagimachi and J.H. Tan. 2005. Parthenogenetic activation of mouse oocytes by strontium chloride: A search for the best conditions. Theriogenology. 64: 1142-1157.

Macháty, Z., H. Funahashi, M.A. Mayes, B. Day and R.S. Prather. 1996. Effects of injecting calcium chloride into *in vitro*-matured porcine oocytes. Biology of Reproduction. 54: 316-322.

Macháty, Z., W.H. Wang, B.N. Day and R.S. Prather. 1997. Complete activation of porcine oocytes induced by the sulfhydryl reagent, thimerosal. Biology of Reproduction. 57: 1123-1127.

Madan, M.L., S.K. Singla, M.B. Chauhan and R.S. Manik. 1994. *In vitro* production and transfer of embryos in buffaloes. Theriogenology. 41: 139-143.

Maedomari, N., K. Kikuchi, M. Ozawa, J. Noguchi, H. Kaneko, K. Ohnuma, M. Nakai, M. Shino, T. Nagai and N. Kashiwazaki. 2007. Cytoplasmic glutathione regulated by cumulus cells during porcine oocytes maturation affects fertilization and embryonic development *in vitro*. Theriogenology. 67: 983-993.

Mahmood, S., G.L. Koul and J.C. Biwas. 1991. Comparative efficacy of FSH-P and PMSG on superovulation in Pashmina goats. Theriogenology. 35: 1181-1196.

Majeed, A.F., I.H. Saied and M.N. Al-Saigh. 2011. Effect of collection techniques on recovery and *in vitro* maturation of Black Iraqi Goats oocytes. Al-Anbar Journal of Veterinary Sciences. 4(2): 178-181.

Malhotra, S.K. and T.K. Shnitka. 1996. The cytoskeleton-microtubules and microfilaments: A biological perspective. Principle of Medical Biology. 4(4): 1-41.

Malik, R.K., I.S. Lohan, O.P. Dhanda, O.K. Hooda and S. Singh. 1999. Peritoneal fluid from rabbits or goats as media for *in vitro* maturation, fertilisation and initial culture of caprine oocytes. Animal Reproduction Science. 54: 195-201.

Mantovani, R., W.J. Enright, M.G. Keane, J.F. Roche and M.P. Bolan. 1993. Effect of nutrition and dose of follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) on superovulatory response in beef heifers. Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> AETE Meeting. Lyon, France. pp. 234. (abstract)

Marchal, R., J.M. Feugang, C. Perreau, E. Venturi, M. Terqui and P. Mermillod. 2001. Meiotic and developmental competence of prepubertal and adult swine oocytes. Theriogenology. 56: 17-29.

Marcus, G.J. Activation of cumulus-free mouse oocytes. 1990. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 26: 159-162.

Marieb, E.N. and K. Hoehn. 2010. Human Anatomy and Physiology. 8th edition. Pearson International Edition.

Marston, J.H. and M.C. Chang. 1964. The fertilisable life of ova and their morphology following delayed insemination in mature and immature mice. Journal of Experimental Zoology. 15: 237-251.

Martin-Coello, J., R. Gonzalez, C. Crespo, M. Gomendio and E.R.S. Roldan. 2008. Superovulation and *in vitro* oocyte maturation in three species of mice (*Mus musculus, Mus spretus,* and *Mus spicilegus*). Theriogenology. 70: 1004-1013.

Martino, A., T. Mogas, M.J. Palomo and M.T. Paramio. 1994. Meiotic competence of prepubertal goat oocytes. Theriogenology. 41: 969-980.

Martino, A., M.J. Palomo, T. Mogas and M.T. Paramio. 1995a. Influence of the collection technique of pre-pubertal goat oocytes on *in vitro* maturation and fertilization. Theriogenology. 42: 859-873.

Martino, A., T. Mogas, M.J. Palomo and M.T. Paramio. 1995b. *In vitro* maturation and fertilization of prepubertal goat oocytes. Theriogenology. 43: 473-485.

Masui, Y. and C.L. Markert. 1971. Cytoplasmic. control of nuclear behavior during meiotic maturation of frog oocytes. Journal of Experimental Zoology. 177: 129-145.

Maurer, R.R. and R.H. Foote. 1971. Maternal ageing and embryonic mortality in the rabbit. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 25: 329. (abstract)

McEvoy, T.G., J.J. Robinson, R.P. Aitken, P.A. Findlay, R.M. Palmer and I.S. Robertson. 1995. Dietary-induced suppression of pre-ovulatory progesterone concentrations in superovulated ewes. Animal Reproduction Science. 39(2): 89-107.

McGaughey, R.W. 1977. The maturation of oocytes in minimal defined culture media with variedmacromolecular supplements and varied osmolarity. Experimental Cell Research. 109: 25-30.

Meo, S.C., C.L.V. Leal and J.M. Garcia. 2004. Activation and early parthenogenesis of bovine oocytes treated with ethanol and strontium. Animal Reproduction Science. 81: 35-46.

Meo, S.C., W. Yamazaki, C.R. Ferreira, F. Perecin, N.Z. Saraiva, C.L.V. Leal and J.M. Garcia. 2007. Parthenogenetic activation of bovine oocytes using single and combined strontium, ionomycin and 6-dimethylaminopurine treatments. Zygote. 15: 296-306.

Meyers-Brown, G.A., P.M. McCue, K.D. Niswender, E.L. Squires, C.A. Deluca, L.A. Bidstrup, M. Colgin, T.R. Famula and J.F. Roser. 2010. Superovulation in mares using recombinant equine follicle stimulating hormone: ovulation rate, embryo retrieval, and hormone profiles. Journal of Equine Veterinary Science. 30(10): 560-568.

Miao, Y.L., K. Kikuchi, Q.Y. Sun and H. Schatten. 2009. Oocyte aging: cellular and molecular changes, developmental potential and reversal possibility. Human Reproduction. 15(5): 573-585.

Miller, B.G. and D.T. Armstrong. 1981. Effects of a superovulatory dose of pregnant mare serum gonadotrophin on ovarian function, serum oestradiol and progesterone levels and early embryo development in immature rats. Biology of Reproduction. 25: 261-271.

Mishra, V., A.K. Mishra and R. Sharma. 2008. A Comparative study of parthenogenic activation and *in vitro* fertilization of bubaline oocytes. Animal Reproductive Science. 103: 249-259.

Mitalipov, S.M., K.L. White, V.R. Farrar, J. Morrey and W.A. Reed. 1999. Development of nuclear transfer and parthenogenetic rabbit embryos activated with inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate. Biology of Reproduction. 60: 821-827.

Miyano, T., R.E. Hiro-oka, K. Kano, M. Miyake, H. Kusunoki and S. Sato. 1994. Effects of hyaluronic acid on the development of 1- and 2- cell porcine embryos to the blastocyst stage *in vitro*. Theriogenology. 41(6): 1299-1305.

Miyazaki, S. 1988. Inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate-induced calcium release and guanine nucleotide-binding protein-mediated periodic calcium rises in golden hamster eggs. Journal of Cell Biology. 106: 345-353.

Mizutani, E., J.Y. Jiang, S. Mizuno, I. Tomioka, T. Shinozawa, J. Kobayashi., H. Sasada and E. Sato. 2004. Determination of the optimal condition for the parthenogenetic activation and subsequent development of rat oocytes. Journal of Reproduction and Development. 50: 139-146.

Mogas, T., A. Martino, M.J. Polomo and M.T. Paramia. 1992. Effect of method of recovery on the number and type of oocytes obtained for IVM. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 9: 53. (abstract)

Mogas, T., M.J. Palomo, D. Izquierdo, A. Martino and M.T. Paramio. 1993. Effect of hormone on the *in vitro* maturation, fertilization and early cleavage of prepubertal goat oocytes. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 11: 67. (abstract)

Mogas, T., M.J. Palomo, M.D. Izqueirdo and M.T. Paramio. 1997. Morphological events during *in vitro* fertilisation of prepubertal goat oocytes matured *in vitro*. Theriogenology. 48(8): 815-829.

Mohd Noor Hisham, M.N. 2006. Effect of oestrus synchronisation and superovulation on progesterone and oestradiol levels in relation to oocytes recovery in goats. M.Sc. Dissertation. University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur.

Moor, R.M. and A.O. Trounson. 1977. Hormonal anf follicular factors affecting maturation of sheep oocytes *in vitro* and their subsequent development capacity. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 49: 101-109.

Moor, R.M., J.C. Osborn and I.M. Crosby. 1985. Gonadotrophin-induced abnormalities in sheep oocytes after superovulation. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 74: 167-172.

Moor, R.M. and R.F. Seamark. 1986. Cell signaling, permeability and microvascularity changes during antral follicle development in mammals. Journal of Diary Scienece. 69: 927-943.

Moor, R.M., Y. Dai, C. Lee and J. Fulka Jr. 1998. Oocyte maturation and embryonic failure. Human Reproduction. 4: 223-236.

Moos, J., G.S. Kopf and R.M. Schultz. 1996. Cycloheximide-induced activation of mouse eggs: effects on cdc2/cyclin Band MAP kinase activities. Journal of Cell Science. 109: 739-748.

Moos, J., P.E. Visconti, G.D. Moore, R.M. Schultz and G.S. Kopf. 1995. Potential role of mitogen-activated protein kinase in pronuclear envelope assembly and disassembly following fertilization of mouse eggs. Biology of Reproduction. 53: 692-699.

Moses, R.M. and D. Kline. 1995. Release of mouse eggs from metaphase arrest by protein synthesis inhibition in the absence of a calcium signal or microtubule assembly. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 41: 264-273.

Motlik, J., J. Fulka and J.E. Flechon. 1986. Changes in intracellular coupling between pig oocytes and cumulus cells during maturation *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 76: 31-38.

Motlik, J., A. Pavlok, M. Kubelka, J. Kalous, P. Kalab. 1998. Interplay between CDC2 kinase and MAP kinase pathway during maturation of mammalian oocytes. Theriogenology. 49: 461-469.

Mount, E. and B.A. List. 1994. Milestones in Science and Technology: The Ready Reference Guide to Discoveries, Inventions and Facts. Universities Press.

Nagai, T. 1987. Parthenogenetic activation of cattle follicular oocytes *in vitro* with ethanol. Gamete Research. 16: 243-249.

Nagao, Y., K. Saeki, M. Hoshi, Y. Takahashi and H. Kanagawa. 1995. Effects of water quality on *in vitro* fertilisation and development of bovine oocytes in protein-free medium. Theriogenology. 44: 433-444.

Nakada, K. and J. Mizuno. 1998. Intracellular calcium responses in bovine oocytes induced by spermatozoa and by reagents. Theriogenology 50: 269-282.

Nanassy, L., K. Lee, A. Javor and Z. Machaty. 2007. Changes in MPF and MAPK activities in porcine oocytes activated by different methods. Theriogenology. 68: 146-152.

Nasr-Esfahani, M.H. and M.H. Johnson. 1992. Effects of glucose, glutamine, ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid and oxygen tension on the concentration of the reactive oxygen species and on development of the mouse preimplantation embryo *in vitro*. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 96: 219-231.

Navara, C.S., N.L. First and G. Schatten. 1994. Microtubule organization in the cow during fertilization, polyspermy, parthenogenesis, and nuclear transfer: the role of the sperm aster. Developmental Biology. 162: 29-40.

Navarro, P.A.A.S., L. Liu, J.R. Trimarchi, R.A. Ferriani and D.L. Keefe. 2005. Noninvasive imaging of spindle dynamics during mammalian oocyte activation. Fertility and Sterility. 83(1): 1197-1205.

Negrao, S., M. Nibart and P. Humblot. 1997. Negative effects of overfeeding on superovulatory response and embryo production in dairy heifers. Proceeding of the 13<sup>th</sup> AETE Meeting. Lyon, France. pp. 186. (abstract)

Neuber, E., C.M. Luetjens, A.W.S. Chan and G.P. Schatten. 2002. Analysis of DNA fragmentation of *in vitro* cultured bovine blastocysts using TUNEL. Theriogenology. 57: 2193-2202.

Nishizuka, Y. 1984. The role of protein kinase C in cell surface signal transduction and tumour promotion. Nature. 308: 693-698.

Nonogaki, T., Y. Noda, K. Narimoto, Y. Umaoka and T. Mori. 1991. Protection from oxidative stress by thioredoxin and superoxide dismutase of mouse embryos fertilized *in vitro*. Human Reproduction. 6: 1305-1310.

Nowshari, M.A., E. Yuswiati, M. Puls-Kleingeld and W. Holtz. 1992. Superovulation *In* peripubertal and adult goats treated with PMSG or pFSH. *(Ed.)* R.R. Lokeshwar. Recent Advances in Goat Production. Nutan Printers, New Delhi. pp. 1358-1363.

Nowshari, M.A., J.F. Beckers and W. Holtz. 1995. Superovulation of goats with purified pFSH supplemented with defined amounts of pLH. Theriogenology. 43: 797-802.

Nussbaum, D.J. and R.S. Prather. 1995. Differential effects of protein synthesis inhibitors on porcine oocyte activation. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 41: 70-75.

O'Callaghan, D., H. Yaakub, P. Hyttel, L.J. Spicer and M.P. Boland. 2000. Effect of nutrition and superovulation on oocyte morphology, follicular fluid composition and systemic hormone concentrations in ewes. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 118: 303-313.

Ock, S.A., J.S. Bhak, S. Balasubramanian, H.J. Lee, S.Y. Choe and G.J. Rho. 2003. Different activation treatments for successful development of bovine oocytes following intracytoplasmic sperm injection. Zygote. 11: 69-76.

Ocon, O.M. and P.J. Hansen. 2010. Disruption of Bovine oocytes and preimplantation Embryos by urea and acidic pH. Journal of Dairy Science. 86(4): 1194-1200.

Oikawa, T., N. Takada, T. Kikuchi, T. Numabe, M. Takenaka and T. Horiuchi T. 2005. Evaluation of activation treatments for blastocyst production and birth of viable calves following bovine intracytoplasmic sperm injection. Animal Reproduction Science. 86: 187-94.

O'Neill G.T., L.R. Rolfe and M.H. Kaufman. 1991. Developmental potential and chromosome constitution of strontium-induced mouse parthenogenones. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 30: 214-219.

Ongeri, E.M., C.L. Bormann, R.E. Butler, D. Melican, W.G. Gavin, Y. Echelard, R.L. Krisher and E. Behboodi. 2001. Development of goat embryos after *in vitro* fertilization and parthenogenetic activation by different methods. Theriogenology 55:1933-1945.

Ono, Y., N. Shimozawa, M. Ito and T. Kono. 2001. Cloned mice from fetal fibroblast cells arrested at metaphase by a serial nuclear transfer. Biology of Reproduction. 64: 44-50.

Otaegui, P.J., G.T. O'Neill and I. Wilmut I. 1999. Parthenogenetic activation of mouse oocytes by exposure to strontium as a source of cytoplasts for nuclear transfer. Cloning. 1: 111-117.

Otio, T., K. Yamamoto, N. Koyama, S. Hayashi and T. Suzuki T. 1995. Developmental capacity of bovine follicular oocytes collected from ovaries of pubertal heifers obtained through a spay device. Journal of Reproduction and Development. 41: 109-111.

Ozgunen, K.T., S. Erdogan, N. Mazmanoglu, I. Pamuk, G. Logoglu and T. Ozgunen. 2001. Effect of gonadothrophin dose on oocyte retrieval in superovulated BALB/c mice. Theriogenology. 56: 435-445.

Ozil, J.P. 1990. The parthenogenetic development of rabbit oocytes after repetitive pulsatile electrical stimulation. Development 109: 117-127.

Palma, G.A., C. Segewald and H. Krefft. 1993. *In vitro* production of cattle embryos from calf oocyte. Theriogenology. 39: 278. (abstract)

Papadopoulus, S., P. Lonergan, V. Gath, K.M. Quinn, A.C. Evans, D. O'Callaghan and M.P. Bolan. 2001. Effect of diet quantity and urea supplementation on oocyte and embryo quality in sheep. Theriogenology. 55: 1059-1069.

Paramio, M.T. 2010. *In vivo* and *in vitro* embryo production in goats. Small Ruminant Research. 89: 144-148.

Paria, B.C. and S.K. Dey. 1990. Preimplantation embryo development in vitro: cooperative interactions among embryos and role of growth factors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 87: 4756-4760.

Parr, R.A., I.F. Davis, R.J. Fairclough and M.A. Miles. 1987. Overfeeding during early pregnancy reduced peripheral progesterone concentration and pregnancy rate in sheep. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 80: 317-320.

Pavlok, A., A. Lucas-Hahn and H. Niemann. 1992. Fertilization and developmental competence of bovine oocytes derived from different categories of antral follicles. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 31: 63-67.

Pavlok, A., V. Kopecny, A. Lucas-Hahn and H. Niemann. 1993. Transcriptional activity and nuclear ultrastructure of 8-cell bovine embryos developed by *in vitro* maturation and fertilization of oocytes from different growth categories of antral follicles. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 35: 233-243.

Pawshe, C.H., S.M. Totey and S.K. Jain. 1994. A comparison of three methods of recovery of goat oocytes for *in vitro* maturation and fertilization. Theriogenology. 42: 117-125.

Pawshe, C.H., A. Palanisamy, M. Taneja, S.K. Jain and S.M. Totey. 1996. Comparison of various maturation treatments on *in vitro* maturation of goat oocytes and their early embryonic development and cell numbers. Theriogenology. 46: 971-982.

Perecin, F., S.C. Meo, C.L.V. Leal and J.M. Garcia. 2007. Oocyte activation and preimplantaion development of bovine embryos obtained by specific inhibition of cyclindependent kinases. Brazilian Journal of Veterinary and Animal Science. 59: 280-287.

Phua, A.C.Y. 2006. Developmental of a PCR-based method for sex determination of caprine embryos produced from *in vitro* maturation, fertilisation and culture techniques. M.Sc. Dissertation. University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur.

Pincus, G. 1930. Observation of the living eggs of the rabbit. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. 107: 132-167.

Pincus, G. and E.V. Enzyman. 1935. The comparative behaviour of mammalian eggs *in vivo* and *in vitro*. The activation of ovarian eggs. Journal of Experimental Medicine. 62: 665-671.

Pincus, G. 1950. Recent experimental studies in mammalian reproduction. Annual Report of the New York State Association of Milk Sanitarians. 24: 63-65.

Presicce, G.A. and X. Yang. 1994a. Nuclear dynamics of parthenogenesis of bovine oocytes matured *in vitro* for 20 and 40 hours and activated with combined ethanol and cycloheximide treatment. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 37(1): 61-68.

Presicce, G.A. and X. Yang. 1994b. Parthenogenetic development of bovine oocytes matured *in vitro* for 24 hour and activated by ethanol and cycloheximide. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 38: 380-385.

Presicce, G.A., S. Jiang, M. Simkin, X. Yang and L. Zang. 1995. Oocyte quality and embryo development in prepubertal calves. Biology of Reproduction. 52: 127. (abstract)

Presicce, G.A., S. Jiang, M. Simkin, L. Zang, C.R Looney, R.A Godke, *et al.* 1996. Age and hormonal dependence of acquisition of oocyte competence for embryogenesis in pubertal calves. Biology of Reproduction. 56: 386-392.

Prochazka, R., J. Kanka, P. Sutovsky, J. Fulka and J. Motlik. 1992. Development of pronuclei in pig oocytes activated by a single electric pulse. Journal of Reproduction & Fertility. 96: 725-734.

Qian, Y., W.Q. Shi, J.T. Ding, B.Q. Fan and Y. Fukui. 2001. Effect of follicle size on cumulus-expansion, *in vitro* fertilization and development of porcine follicular oocytes. Journal of Reproduction and Development. 47: 145-152.

Rahman, A.N.M.A, R.B. Abdullah, W.E. Wan Khadijah. 2008. Recovery and grading of oocytes with special reference to laparoscopic ovum pick-up technique: A review. Biotechnology. 7: 612-622.

Rahman, A.A., R. Abdullah and W.E. Wan Khadijah. 2009. Effects of oocyte source on the developmental competence of *in vitro* matured goat oocytes fertilized by intracytoplasmic sperm injection technique. Turkish Journal of Veterinary and Animal Sciences. 33(4): 323-331.

Rajikin, M.H., M. Yusoff and R.B. Abdullah. 1994. Ultrastructural studies of developing goat oocytes *in vitro*. Theriogenology. 42: 1003-1016.

Rajikin, M.H. 1995. *In vitro* studies of maturation and fertilisation of oocytes and subsequent culture of embryos in goats. Ph.D. Thesis. University of Malaya. Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.

Revel, F., P. Mermillod, N. Peynot, J.P. Renard and Y. Heyman. 1995. Low developmental capacity of *in vitro* matured and fertilized oocytes from calves compared with that of cows. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 103: 115-120.

Rhind, S.M., W.A.C. McKelvey, S.R. McMillen, R.G. Gunn and D.A. Elston. 1989. Effect of restricted food intake, before and/or after mating, on the reproductive performance of Greyface ewes. Animal Production. 48: 149-155.

Rho, G.J., S. Kawarsky, W.H. Johnson, K. Kochhar and K.J. Betteridge. 1998. Oocyte treatments to improve the formation of male and female pronuclei and subsequent development following intracytoplasmic sperm injection into bovine oocytes. Biology of Reproduction. 59: 918-924.

Rho, G.J., A.C. Hahnel and K.J. Betteridge. 2001. Comparisons if oocyte maturation times and of three methods of sperm preparation for their effects on the production of goat embryos *in vitro*. Theriogenology. 56: 503-516.

Rinaudo, P., J.R. Pepperell, S. Buradgunta, M. Massobrio and D.L. Keefe. 1997. Dissociation between intracellular calcium elevation and development of human oocytes treated with calcium ionophore. Fertility and Sterility. 68: 1086-1092.

Ringer, S., D. Buxton. 1887. Upon the similarity and dissimilarity of the behaviour of cardiac and skeletal muscle when brought into relation with solutions containing sodium, calcium and potassium salts. Journal of Physiology. 8: 288-295.

Rogers, N.T., G. Halet, Y. Piao, J. Carroll, M.S.H. Ko and K. Swann. 2006. The absence of a  $Ca^{2+}$  signal during mouse egg activation can affect parthenogenetic preimplantation development, gene expression patterns, and blastocyst quality. Reproduction. 132: 45-57.

Roh, S., Y.J. Choi and B.M. Min. 2008. A novel microtube culture system that enhances the *in vitro* development of parthenogenetic murine embryos. Theriogenology. 69: 262-267.

Rosenkrans, C.F. and N.L. First. 1991. Culture of bovine zygotes to the blastocyst stage: effect of amino acids and vitamins. Theriogenology. 35: 266. (abstract)

Roy, F., M.C. Maurel, B. Combes, D. Vaiman, E.P. Cribiu, I. Lantier, *et al.* 1999. The negative effect of repeated equine chorionic gonadotrophin treatment on subsequent fertility in Alpine goats is due to a humoral immune response involving the major histocompatibility complex. Biology of Reproduction. 60: 805-813.

Saeki, K., M.L. Leibfried-Rutledge and N.L. First. 1990. Are fetal calf serum and hormones necessary during *in vitro* maturation of cattle oocytes for subsequent development. Theriogenology. 33: 316. (abstract)

Salustri, A. and G. Siracusa. 1983. Metabolic coupling, cumulus expansion and meiotic resumption in mouse cumuli oophori cultured *in vitro* in the FSH or dbCAMP, or stimulated *in vivo* by hCG. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 68: 335-341.

Samake, S., E.A. Amoah, S. Mobini, O. gazal and S. Gelaye. 2000. *In vitro* fertilisation of goat oocytes during the non-breeding season. Small Ruminant research. 35: 49-54.

Scaramuzzi R.J., J.A. Downing, B.K. Campbell and Y. Cognie. 1988. Control of fertility and fecundity of sheep by means of hormonal manipulation. Australia Journal Biological Science. 41: 37-45.

Scaramuzzi, R.J. and J.F. Murray. 1994. The nutrient requirements for the optimum production of gametes in assisted reproduction in ruminants animals. In Proceedings of the 10<sup>th</sup> AETE Meeting. Lyon, France. pp. 85-103.

Schafer, T.W., A. Pascale, G. Shimonaski and P.E. Came. 1972. Evaluation of gentamicin for use in virology and tissue culture. Applied Microbiology. 23: 565-570.

Schmitt, A. and A.R. Nebreda. 2002. Inhibition of *Xenopus* oocyte meiotic maturation by catalytically inactive protein kinase A. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, USA. 99(7): 4361-4366.

Schnieke, A.E., A.J. Kind, W.A. Ritchie, K. Mycock , A.R. Scott, M. Ritchie, I. Wilmut, A. Colman and H.S. Campbell. 1997. Human factor IX transgenic sheep produced by transfer of nuclei from transfected fetal fibroblasts. Science. 278: 2130-2133.

Schultz, R M. and G.S. Kopf. 1995. Molecular basis of mammalian egg activation. Current Topics in Developmental Biology. 30: 21-62.

Sharma, G.T., A.C. Majumdar and S.W. Bonde. 1996. Chronology of maturational events in goat oocytes cultured *in vitro*. Small Ruminant Research. 22: 25-30.

Shea, B.T., J.P.A. Latour and K.N. Bedirian. 1976. Maturation *in vitro* and subsequent penetrability of bovine follicular oocytes. Journal of Animal Science. 43: 809-815.

Shen, P.C., S.N. Lee, J.S. Wu, J.C. Huang, F.H. Chu, C.C. Chang, J.C. Kung, H.H. Lin, L.R. Chen, J.W. Shiau, N.T. Yen and W.T.K. Cheng. 2006. The effect of electrical field strength on activation and development of cloned caprine embryos. Animal Reproduction Science. 92: 310-320.

Shen, P.C., S.N. Lee, B.T. Liu, F.H. Chu, C.H. Wang, J.S. Wu, H.H. Lin and W.T.K. Cheng. 2008. The effect of activation treatments on the development of reconstructed bovine oocytes. Animal Reproduction Science 106: 1-12.

Sherrer, E.S., T.J. Rathbun and D.L. Davis. 2004. Fertilization and blastocyst development in oocytes obtained from prepubertal and adult pigs. Journal of Animal Science. 82: 102-108.

Shimada, M. and T. Terada. 2001. PI 3-kinase in cumulus cells and oocytes is responsible for activation of oocyte MAP kinase during meiotic progression beyond the MI stage in pigs. Biology of Reproduction. 64: 1106-1114.

Shimada, M., N. Kawano and T. Terada. 2002. Delay of nuclear maturation and reduction in developmental competence of pig oocytes after mineral oil overlay of *in vitro* maturation media. Reproduction. 124: 557-564.

Shoiya, Y., M. Kuwayama, M. Fukushima, S. Iwasaki and A. Hanada. 1988. *In vitro* fertilization and cleavage capability of bovine follicular oocytes classified by cumulus cells and matured *in vitro*. Theriogenology. 30: 643-648.

Simili, M., P. Pellerano, S. Pigullo, G. Tavosanis, L. Ottaggio, L.D. Saint-Georges and S. Bonatti. 1997. 6-DMAP inhibition of early cell cycle events and induction of mitotic abnormalities. Mutagenesis. 12(5): 313-319.

Siracusa, G., D.G. Whittingham, M. Molinaro and E. Vivarelli. 1978. Parthenogenetic activation of mouse oocytes induced by inhibitors of protein synthesis. Journal of Embryology and Experimental Morphology. 43: 157-166.

Sirotkin, A.V. 1992. Involvement of steroid hormones in bovine oocytes maturation *in vitro*. Journal *of* Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology. 41:855-858.

Snyder, D.A. and R. Dukelow. 1974. Laparoscopic studies of ovulation, pregnancy diagnoses, and follicle aspiration in sheep. Theriogenology. 2: 143-148.

Sogorescu, E., S. Zamfierescu, A.H. Anghel and N. Dorina. 2010. The influence of new media on the developmental competence of goat and sheep oocytes. Romanian Biotechnological Letters. 15(3): 19-25.

Soloy, E., J. Kanka, D. Viuff, S.D. Smith, H. Callesen and T. Greve. 1997. Time course of pronuclear deoxyribonucleic acid synthesis in parthenogenetically activated bovine oocytes. Biology of Reproduction. 57: 27-35.

Spearow, J. 1988. Major genes control hormone-induced ovulation rate in mice. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 82: 787-797.

Staigmiller, R.B. 1988. *In vitro* methods for production of viable oocytes. Journal of Animal Science. 66: 54-64.

Steel, R.G.D. and J.H. Torrie. 1981. Principles and Procedures n Statistics. *In* Bimedical Approach. Mc Graw-Hill. New York.

Steeves, T.E. and D.K. Gardner. 1999. Metabolism of glucose, pyruvate, and glutamine during the maturation of oocytes derived from pre-pubertal and adult cows. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 54: 92-101.

Steeves, T.E., D.K. Gardner, K.A. Zuelke, T.S. Squires and R.C. Fry. 1999. *In vitro* development and nutrient uptake by embryos derived from oocytes of pre-pubertal and adult cows. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 54: 49-56.

Stice, S., C. Keefer and L. Matthews. 1994. Bovine nuclear transfer embryos: oocyte activation prior to blastomere fusion. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 38: 61-68.

Sun, Q.Y., L.Lai, G.M. Wu, K.W. Park, B.N. Day, R.S. Prather and H. Schatten. 2001. Microtubule assembly after treatment of pig oocytes with taxol: correlation with chromosomes, gamma-tubulin, and MAP kinase. Molecular Reproductive Development. 60(4): 481-490.

Sun, Q.Y. 2003. Cellular and molecular mechanisms leading to cortical reaction and polyspermy block in mammalian eggs. Microscopy Research and Technique. 61(4): 342-348.

Susko-Parrish, J.L., M.L. Leibfried Rutledge, D.L. Northey, V. Schutzkus and N.L. First. 1994. Inhibition of protein kinases after an induced calcium transient causes transition of bovine oocytes to embryonic cycles without meiotic completion. Developmental Biology. 166: 729-739.

Suttner, R., V. Zakhartchenko, P. Stojkovic, S. Mtiller, R. Alberio, I. Medjugorac, G. Brem, E. Wolf and M. Stojkovic. 2000. Intracytoplasmic sperm injection in bovine: effects of oocytes activation, sperm pretreatment and injection technique. Theriogenology. 54: 935-946.

Swain, J. E. 2010. Optimising the culture environment in the IVF laboratory: impact of pH and buffer capacity on gamete and embryo quality. Reproductive BioMedicine Online. 21(1): 6-16.

Swann, K. and J.P. Ozil. 1994. Dynamics of the calcium signal that triggers mammalian egg activation. International Review of Cytology. 1152: 183-222.

Swann, K. and K.T. Jones. 2002. Membrane events of egg activation *in* Fertilisation. pp. 319-346.

Snyder D.A. and R. Dukelow. 1974. Laparoscopic studies of ovulation, pregnancy diagnosis and follicle aspiration in sheep. Theriogenology. 2: 143-148.

Szollosi, M.S., J.Z. Kubiak, P. Debey, H. de Pennart, D. Szollosi and B. Maro. 1993. Inhibition of protein kinases by 6-dimethylaminopurine accelerates the transition to interphase in activated mouse oocytes. Journal of Cell Science. 104: 861-872.

Szybek, K. 1972. *In vitro* maturation of oocytes from sexually immature mice. Journal of Endocrinology. 54: 527-528.

Taghe, S., A. Van Soom, H. nauwynck, M. Coryn and A. De Kruif. 2002. Mini review: function of the cumulus oophorus during oocyte maturation, ovulation and fertilization. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 61: 414-424.

Takahashi, Y. and N.L. First. 1992. *In vitro* development of bovine one-cell embryos: influence of glucose, lactate, pyruvate, amino acids and vitamins. Theriogenology. 37: 963-978.

Takano, H., K. Koyama, C. Kozai, Y. Kato and Y. Tsunoda. 1993. Effect of aging of recipient oocytes on the development of bovine nuclear transfer embryos *in vitro*. Theriogenology. 39(4): 909-917.

Takano, H., K. Koyama, C. Kozai, S. Shimizu, Y. Kato and Y. Tsunoda. 1996. Effects of cell cycle stage of donor nuclei on the development of bovine nuclear transferred embryos. Journal of Reproduction and Development. 42(1): 61-65.

Takeuchi, A., M. Kato, K. Ito, Ken. Kimura, A. Hanada, M. Hirabayashi and S. Hochi. 2002. Effect of  $Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+}$ - free culture condition on spontaneous first cleavage of rat oocytes. Journal of Reproduction and Development. 48 (3): 243-248.

Talbot, N.C., A.M. Powell M.C. and A.D. Ealy. 2007. Establishment of a bovine blastocyst-derived cell line collection for the comparative analysis of embryos created *in vivo* and by *in vitro* fertilization, somatic cell nuclear transfer, or parthenogenetic activation. *In Vitro* Cellular and Developmental Biology Animal. 43:59-71.

Talmor-Cohen, A., E. Eliyahu and R. Shalgi. 2002. Signaling in mammalian egg activation: role of protein kinases. Molecular *and* Cellular Endocrinology. 187: 145-149.

Taniguchi, T., R. Taniguchi and H. Kanagawa. 1996. Influence of oocyte aging on developmental ability of reconstituted embryos produced from oocyte cytoplast and single blastomeres of two-cell stage embryos. Journal of Veterinary Medical Science. 58(7): 635-640.

Tarkowski, A.K., A. Witkowska and J. Nowicka. 1970. Experimental parthenogenesis in the mouse. Nature. 226: 162-165.

Tatemoto, H. and T.Terada. 1996. Activation of p34cdc2 kinase around the meiotic resumption in bovine oocytes cultured *in vitro*. Theriogenology. 45: 427-437.

Tejera, A., M. Molla, L. Muriel, J. Remohi, A. Pellicer and J.L.D. Pablo. 2008. Successful pregnancy and childbirth after intracytoplasmic sperm injection with calcium ionophore oocyte activation in a globozoospermic patient. Fertility and Sterility. 90(4): 1202-1205.

Teotia, A., G.T. Sharma and A.C. Majumdar. 2001. Fertilisation and development of caprine oocytes matured over granulose cell monolayers. Small Ruminant Research. 40: 165-177.

Tervit, H.R., D.G. Whittingham and L.E.A. Rowson. 1972. Successful culture *in vitro* of sheep and cattle ova. Journal of reproduction and Fertility. 30: 493-497.

Tervit, H.R. 1996. Laparoscopy/laparotomy oocyte recovery and juvenile breeding. Animal Reproduction Science. 42: 227-238.

Tesarik, J. and C. Mendoza. 1995. Nongenomic effects of 17-estradiol on maturing human oocytes; relation to oocytes developmental potential. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism. 80:1438-1443.

Tesarik, J. and M. Sousa. 1995. More than 90% fertilization rates after intracytoplasmic sperm injection and artificial induction of oocyte activation with calcium ionophore. Fertility and Sterility. 63: 343-349.

Thibault, C. and M. Gerard. 1973. Cytoplasmic and nuclear maturation of rabbit oocyte *invitro*. Annales de Biologie Animale Biochimie Biophysique. 13: 145-156.

Thibault, C., D. Szollosi and M. Gerard. 1987. Mammalian oocyte maturation. Reproduction, Nutrition and Development. 27: 865-895.

Thompson, J.G., R.J. Patridge, F.D. Houghton, C.I. Cox, and H.J. Leese. 1996. Oxygen uptake and carbohydrate metabolism by *in vitro* derived bovine embryos. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 196: 299-306.

Tian, J.H., Z.H. Wu, L. Liu, Y. Cai, S.M. Zeng, S.E. Zhu, G.S. Liu, Y. Li and C.X. Wu. 2006. Effects of oocyte activation and sperm preparation on the development of porcine embryos derived from *in vitro*-matured oocytes and intracytoplasmic sperm injection. Theriogenology. 66: 439-448.

Tomashov-Matar, R., D. Tchetchik, A. Eldar, R. Kaplan-Kraicer, Y. OroN and R. Shalgi. 2005. Strontium-induced rat egg activation. Reproduction. 130: 467-474.

Tong, C., H.Y. Fan, D.Y. Chen and Q.Y. Sun. 2002. Parthenogenetic, cycloheximide induced of mouse eggs is calcium dependent and can be blocked by okadaic acid. Current Zoology. 48(6): 749-753.

Torres, S., Y. Cognie and G. Colas. 1987. Transfer of superovulated sheep embryos obtained with different FSH-P. Theriogenology. 27: 407-419.

Tosti, E., R. Boni and A. Cuomo. 2002. Fertilization and activation currents in bovine oocytes. Journal of the Society for Reproduction and Fertility. 124: 835-846.

Totey, S.M., G. Singh, M. Taneja, C.H. Pawshe and G.P. Talwar. 1992. *In vitro* maturation, fertilization and development of follicular oocytes from buffalo (*Bubalus bubalis*). Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 95: 597-607.

Totey, S.M., C.H. Pawshe and G.P. Singh. 1993. *In vitro* maturation and fertilization of buffalo oocytes (*Bubalus bubalis*): effect of media, hormone and sera. Theriogenology. 39: 1153-1171.

Toyoda Y., M. Yokoyama and T. Hoshi. 1971. Studies on the fertilization of mouse eggs *in vitro*. I. *In vitro* fertilization of eggs by fresh epididymal sperms. Japanese Journal of Animal Reproduction. 16: 147-151.

Tsaadon, A. E. Eliyahu, N. Shtraizent and R. Shalgi. 2006. When a sperm meets and egg: Block to polyspermy. Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology. 252: 107-114.

Tsafiri, A. 1978. Oocytes maturation in mammals. *In* The Vertebrate Ovary: Comparative Biology and evolution. R.E. Jones. *(Ed.)*. Plenum Press, New York. pp. 409-433.

Tsafiri, A. and C.P. Channing. 1975. Influence of follicle maturation and culture conditions on the meiosis of pig oocytes *in vitro*. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 43: 149-152.

Tsunoda, Y. and Y. Kato. 1993. Nuclear transplantation of embryonic stem cells in mice. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 98: 537-540.

Uranga, J.A., R.A. Pedersen and J. Arechaga. 1996. Parthenogenetic activation of mouse oocytes using calcium ionophores and protein kinase C stimulators. International Journal of Developmental Biology. 40: 515-519.

Van De Velde, A., L. Liu, P.E.J. Bol, M. Ysebaert, X. Yang. 1999. Cell allocation and chromosomal complement of parthenogenetic and IVF bovine embryos. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 54: 57-62.

van der Valk, J., D. Brunner, K. De Smet, Å.F. Svenningsen, P. Honegger, L.E. Knudsen, T. Lindl, J. Noraberg, A. Price, M.L. Scarino, G. Gstraunthaler. 2010. Optimization of chemically defined cell culture media - replacing fetal bovine serum in mammalian *in vitro* methods. Toxicology *in Vitro*. 24: 1053-1063.

Vanderhyden, B.C. and Armstrong, D.T. 1989. Role of cumulus cells and serum on the *in vitro* maturation, fertilization and subsequent development of rat oocytes. Biology of Reproduction. 40: 720-728.

Varga, E., R. Pataki, Z. Lorincz, J. Koltai and A.B. Papp. 2008. Parthenogenetic development of *in vitro* matured porcine oocytes treated with chemical agents. Animal Reproduction Science. 105(3): 226-233.

Veiga-Lopez, A., A. Gonzalez-Bulnes, R.M. Garcia-Garcia, V. Dominguez and M.J. Cocero. 2005. The effects of previous ovarian status on ovulation rate and early embryo development in response to superovulatory FSH treatments in sheep. Theriogenology. 63: 1973-1983.

Veiga-Lopez, A., A. Gonzalez-Bulnes, J.A.F. Tresguerres, V. Dominguez, C. Ariznavarreta, M.J. Cocero. 2006. Causes, characteristics and consequences of anovulatory follicles in superovulated sheep. Domestic Animal Endocrinology. 30: 76-87.

Velilla, E., M. Lopez-bejar, E. Rodriguaz-Gonzalez, F. Vidal and M.T. Paramio. 2002. Effect of Hoechst 33342 staining on developmental competence of prepubertal goat oocytes. Zygote. 10: 201-208.

Vergara, G.J., M.H. Irwin, R.J. Moffatt and C.A. Pinkert. 1997. *In vitro* fertilisation in mice: strain differences in response to superovulation protocols and effect of cumulus cell removal. Theriogenology. 47: 1245-1252.

Vermeiden, J.P.W. and A. Bast. 1995. Antioxidants in IVF culture media. Human Reproduction. 10: 697-698.

Vitullo, A.D. and J.P. Ozil. 1992. Repetitive calcium stimuli drive meiotic resumption and pronuclear development during mouse oocyte activation. Developmental Biology. 151(1): 128-136.

Vivanco, H.M., K.B. Greaney and H. Varela. 1994. Explaining the viability in superovulatory responses and yield of transferable embryos in sheep embryo transfer. Theriogenology. 41: 329. (abstract)

Wakayama, T., A.C.F. Perry, M. Zuccotti, K.R. Johnson and R. Yanagimachi. 1998. Fullterm development of mice from enucleated oocytes injected with cumulus cell nuclei. Nature. 394: 369-374.

Walton, E.A., and D.T. Amstrong. 1981. Ovarian function and early embryo development in immature rats given a superovulatory dose of PMSG, later neutralized by antiserum. Biology of Reproduction. 25: 272-280.

Wang, B., H. Baldassarre, J. Pierson, F. Cote, K.M. Rao and C.N. Karatzas. 2003. The *in vitro* and *in vivo* development of goat embryos produced by intracytoplasmic sperm injection using tail-cut spermatozoa. Zygote. 11: 219-227.

Wang, Z.G., Z.R. Xu and S.D. Yu. 2007. Effect of oocyte collection techniques and maturation media on *in vitro* maturation and subsequent embryo development in Boer goat. Czech Journal of Animal Science. 52: 21-25.

Wang. Z.G, W. Wang, S.D. Yu and Z.R. Xua. 2008. Effects of different activation protocols on preimplantation development, apoptosis and ploidy of bovine parthenogenetic embryos. Animal Reproduction Science. 105: 292-301.

Wani, N.A., G.M. Wani, M.Z. Khan and M.A. Sidiqi. 1999. Effect of different factors on the recovery rate of oocytes for *in vitro* maturation and *in vitro* fertilisation procedures in sheep. Small Ruminant Research. 34: 71-76.

Wani, N.A., G.M. Wani, M.Z. Khan and S. Salahudin. 2000. Effect of oocyte harvested techniques on *in-vitro* maturation and *in-vitro* fertilization in sheep. Small Ruminant Research. 36: 63-67.

Wani, N.A. 2002. *In vitro* maturation and *in vitro* fertilization of sheep oocytes. Small Ruminant Research, 44: 89-95.

Wani, N.A. 2008. Chemical activation of *in vitro* matured dromedary camel (*Camelus dromedarius*) oocytes: optimization of protocols. Theriogenology. 69: 591-602.

Ware, C.B., F.L. Barnes, M. Maiki-Laurila and N.L. First. 1989. Age dependence of bovine oocyte activation. Gamete Research. 22(3): 265-275.

Warriach, H.M. and K.R. Chohan KR. 2004. Thickness of cumulus cell layer is a significant factor in meiotic competence of buffalo oocytes. Journal of Veterinary Science. 5: 247-251.

Wassarman, P.M., W.J. Josefowicz and G.E. Letourneau. 1976. Meiotic maturation of mouse oocytes *in vitro*: inhibition of maturation at specific stage of nuclear progression. Journal of Cell Science. 22: 531-545.

Wassarman, P.M., L. Jovine and E.S. Litscher. 2001. Profile of fertilization in mammals. Nature Cell Biology. 3: 59-64.

Wei, H. and Y. Fukui. 2002. Births of calves derived from embryos produced by intracytoplasmic sperm injection without exogenous oocyte activation. Zygote. 10: 149-153.

Wells, D.N., P.M. Misica and H.R. Tervit, H.R. 1999. Production of cloned calves following nuclear transfer with cultured adult mural granulosa cells. Biology of Reproduction. 60: 996-1005.

Westergaard, L., A.G. Byskov, C.Y. Anderson, J. Grinsted and K.P. McNatty. 1984. Is resumption of meiosis in human preovulatory oocyte triggered by a meiosis-inducing substances (MIS) in the follicular fluid. Journal Fertility and Sterility. 41(3): 377-384.

Whitaker, M. and R. Patel. 1990. Calcium and cell cycle control. Development. 108: 525-542.

Whitaker, M.J. and K. Swann. 1993. Lighting the fuse at fertilization. Development. 117: 1-12.

White, K.L. and C. Yue. 1996. Intracellular receptors and agents that induce activation in bovine oocytes. Theriogenology. 45: 91-100.

Whitley, N.C. and D.J. Jackson. 2004. An update on estrus synchronization in goats: a minor species. Journal of Animal Science. 82: 270-276.

Whitten, W.K. 1956. Modification of the oestrus cycle of the mouse by external stimuli associated with the male. Journal of Endocrinology. 13: 399-404.

Whitten, W.K. 1971. Nutrients enquirements for the culture of preimplantation embryos *in vitro*. Advancement in Bioscience. 6: 129-141.

Whittingham, D.G. 1971. Survival of mouse embryos after freezing and thawing. Nature. 233: 125-126.

Whittingham, D.G. and G. Siracusa. 1978. The involvement of calcium in the activation of mammalian ocytes. Experimental Cell Research. 113: 311-317.

Wilcox, A.J., C.R. Weinberg, D.D Baird. 1998. Post-ovulatory ageing of human oocyte and embryo failure. Human Reproduction. 13: 394-397.

Wiley, L.M., S. Yamami and D. Van Muyden. 1986. Effect of potassium concentration, type of protein supplement and embryo density on mouse preimplantation development *in vitro*. Fertility and Sterility. 45: 111-119.

Winger, Q.A., R. De La Fuente, W.A. King, D.T. Armstrong and A.J. Watson. 1997. Bovine parthenogenesis is characterized by abnormal chromosomal complements: implications for maternal and paternal co-dependence during early bovine development. Developmental Genetics. 21: 160-166.

Winnerger, J.D. 2004. Parthenogenetic stem cells *In* Handbook of Stem Cells. Elsevier Inc. Houston, Texas, USA. pp. 635-637.

Witkowska, A. 1973. Parthenogenetic development of mouse embryos *in vivo*. I. Preimplantation development. Journal of Embryology and Experimental Morphology. 30: 519-545.

Wolgemuth, D.J., E. Laurion and K.M. Lele. 2002. Regulation of the mitotic and meiotic cell cycles in the male germ line. The Endocrine Society. pp. 75-101.

Wu, B., G. Ignotz, W.B. Currie and X. Yang. 1997. Dynamics of maturation promoting factor and its constituent proteins during *in vitro* maturation of bovine oocytes. Biology of Reproduction. 56: 253-259.

Wun, I.C. and R.E. Dittman. 2008. Human somatic cell nuclear transfer. Chinese Journal of Physiology. 51(4): 208-213.

Xing, F., Z. Fang, B. Qin, Y. Li, J. Hou and X. Chen. 2009. Parthenogenetic embryonic stem cells derived from cryopreserved newborn mouse ovaries: a new approach to autologous stem cell therapy. Fertility and Sterility. 91(4): 1238-1244.

Xu, K.P., T. Greve, H. Callasen and P. Hytel. 1987. Pregnancy resulting from cattle oocytes matured and fertilized *in vitro*. Journal of Reproduction and Fertility. 81: 501-504.

Yanagida, K.Y. Fujikura and H. Katayose. 2008. The present status of artificial oocyte activation in assisted reproduction technology. Reproductive Medicine and Biology. 7: 133-142.

Yang, X., S. Jiang and Z. Shi. 1992. Improved activation by combined cycloheximide and electrical pulse treatment of bovine follicular oocytes matured *in vitro* for 23-24 h. Biology of Reproduction. 46: 117. (abstract).

Yazawa, S., Y. Aoyagi, M. Konishi and T. Takedomi. 1997. Characterization and cytogenetic analysis of Japanese Black calves produced by nuclear transfer. Theriogenology. 48(4): 641-650.

Yi, Y.J. and C.S. Park. 2005. Parthenogenetic development of porcine oocytes treated by ethanol, cycloheximide, cytochalasin B and 6-dimethylaminopurine. Animal Reproduction Science. 86: 297-304.

Yin, S., M. Hishinuma, K. Hamana and J. Sekine. 2005. Parthenogenetic activation of porcine oocytes by Calcium Ionophore A23187. Arch. Tierz. 48(1): 60-67.

Yoshida, S. and S. Plant. 1992. Mechanism of release of  $Ca^{2+}$  from intracellular stores in response to ionomycin in oocytes of the frog *Xenopus laevis*. Journal of Physiology. 458: 307-318.

Yoshioka, K., C. Suzuki, S. Ito, K. Kikuchi, S. Iwamura and H. Rodriguez-Martinez. 2003. Production of piglets derived from *in vitro* produced blastocysts fertilised and cultured in chemically defined media: effects of theophylline, adenosine and cysteine during *in vitro* fertilisation. Biology of Reproduction. 69: 2092-2099.

Young, W.C. 1961. The mammalian ovary. *In* Sex and Internal Secretions. W.C. Young. *(Ed.)*. William and Wilkins Co., Baltimore, Maryland. pp. 449-496.

Younis, A.I., B.G. Brackett and R.A. Fayrer-Hosken. 1989. Influence of serum and hormones on bovine oocytes maturation and fertilization *in vitro*. Gamete Research. 23:189-201.

Younis, A.I., K.A. Zuelke, K.M. Harper, M.A.L. Oliveira and B.G. Brackett. 1991. *In vitro* fertilization of goat oocytes. Biology of Reproduction. 44: 1177-1182.

Zarrow, M. X., C. M. Christenson and B. E. Eleftheriou. 1971. Strain differences in the ovulatory response of immature mice to PMS and to the pheromonal facilitation of PMS-induced ovulation. Biology of Reproduction. 4: 52-56.

Zernicka-Goetz M. 1991. Spontaneous and induced activation of rat oocytes. Molecular Reproduction and Development. 28: 169-176.

Zernicka-Goetz, M., M. Weber and B. Maro. 1993. Full activation of the rat oocyte by protein synthesis inhibition requires protein phosphorylation activity. International Journal of Developmental Biology. 37: 273-277.

Zernicka-Goetz, M., M.A. Ciemerych, J.Z. Kubiak, A.K. Tarkowski and B. Maro. 1995. Cytostatic factor inactivation is induced by a calcium-dependent mechanism present until the second cell in fertilised but not in parthenogenetically activated mouse eggs. Journal of Cell Science. 108: 469-474.

Zhang, L., R.S. Denniston and B.A. Godke. 1992. A simple method of *in vitro* maturation, *in vitro* fertilization and co-culture of bovine oocytes. Journal of Tissue Culture Methods. 14: 107-112.

Zheng, P. 2007. Effects of *in vitro* maturation of monkey oocytes on their developmental capacity. Animal Reproduction Science. 98: 56-71.

Zhou, H., S.H. McKiernan, W. Ji and B.D. Bavister. 2000. Effect of antibiotics on development *in vitro* of hamster pronuclear ova. Theriogenology. 54: 999-1006.

Zimmermann, U., and J. Vienken. 1982. Electric field-induced cell-to-cell fusion. Journal of Membrane Biology. 67: 165-182.

Zimmermann, U., and J. Vienken, J. Halfmann and C.C. Emeis. 1985. Electrofusion: a novel hybridization technique. *In* Advances in Biotechnological Processes. Mizrath A. and A.L. van Wezel. *(Eds.)* Alan R. Liss, New York. pp. 79-150.

Zuckermann, S. 1960. Origin and development of oocytes in foetal and mature mammals. Endocrinology. 7: 63-65.

Zudova, D., A.J. Wyrobek, J. Bishop and F. Marchetti. 2004. Impaired fertility in T-stock female after superovulation. Journal of Reproduction. 128: 573-581.

Zuelke, K.A. and B.G. Brackett. 1990. Luteinizing hormones enhanced *in vitro* maturation of bovine oocytes with and without protein supplementation. Biology of Reproduction. 43: 784-787.